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    Planet Krr’Eltar, Castadally System, Asha Region, Peco Arm 

    Colonel Nigel Shirazi stopped his Mk 8 Combat Assault System, Personal before he ran over the large four-armed trooper who came striding out in front of him. 

    “Why?” he heard the trooper ask over his speakers. 

    Realizing that talking to the Lumar lieutenant would be easier on the ground, Nigel stopped his CASPer, popped the canopy, and climbed down. 

    “Why?” the trooper asked again. 

    “Why what?” Nigel replied. 

    “Why we here?” 

    “We’re here because there is a civil war,” Nigel said slowly, not really understanding the question or the lieutenant’s need for an answer. Usually, you gave a Lumar a task, pointed it in the right direction, and the alien would get it done to the best of its abilities. Assuming a lot of thought wasn’t required for the job—which hadn’t been the case this time. 

    The Lumar looked at him as if waiting for more information. 

    “The military of the planet rebelled against the government, and the government paid us to put down the insurrection.” 

    Usually, throwing in a big word or two was enough to make a Lumar wander off as it tried to figure out what you were saying, but it didn’t work this time. 

    “That not what Utar mean. Utar know job. Utar not understand why Asbaran Solutions and Proud Fists come here in first place.”  

    “Well, they are paying us a lot of money…” 

    “Job not satisfying. Military is dumber than Lumar. They no understand stragety, stratemy… they no understand how to plan attack. This not normal job. And big boss man bad. Do bad things to own people. Me no like working for big boss man.” 

    Nigel paused a second before answering. The fact of the matter was, the Lumar was right. The contract they’d taken from the government was unlike any mercenary contract he’d ever taken before—probably because it had been taken outside the normal contracting process while waiting for the next contract to come his company’s way. 

    The contract—and the situation—really did suck. The government was in the wrong, and had been violating people’s rights to the point where the military had finally gotten fed up with it and rebelled. Unknown to them, though, the government’s internal security forces—while small—were very well armed and led, and the struggle had quickly become a stalemate. 

    The military had a large force, but any time it tried to move out of cantonment, it got chewed to pieces by security troopers who destroyed a tank or APC, and then melted away. While the military searched for the attacker on one side, they’d get hit hard from the other. The planet had been at peace for a hundred years, and it showed in its military’s inability to find its ass when it had both hands available to complete the task. 

    The arrival of Asbaran Solutions and the Proud Fists had been catastrophic for the military. When faced with a trained and well-armed force, the only thing they’d been successful at was dying. In droves. The Lumar’s right… it’s not like a merc operation, it’s more like… murder. 

    Nigel shook his head. Out of the mouths of babes. Or babe-like mentalities. They had no reason to be here, fighting in yet another of the brushfire wars that had sprung up with the demise of the Merc Guild. Fighting for what basically amounted to a Nazi administration. They’d beaten off a similar totalitarian attack on Earth, only to become the oppressors themselves. Worse, it was happening throughout the galaxy—civil wars were erupting everywhere, and nations and planets were raising their own armed forces to defend themselves or redress ancient grudges. 

    Nigel let out a slow sigh. His forces—and all those of the Merc Guild—should have been out fighting the SIs, finding out what the Kahraman were up to, or… basically anything other than what they were doing, putting out brushfire wars for assholes. He shook his head again. They needed the money, but they didn’t need it badly enough to become what they abhorred.  

    “Wait here,” he said to the Lumar lieutenant, then he climbed back into his CASPer and switched on his comm. “All Asbaran forces, Asbaran Actual. Cease operations and fall back to base. We’re leaving.” I need to talk to my contracting department about doing something worthwhile. 

      

      

    * * *  

      

    Prime Base, Winged Hussars Headquarters, New Warsaw System 

    In all the years Alexis Cromwell had been the Winged Hussars’ commander, she’d never been as nervous as she currently was. To make matters even worse, the feeling had been going on now for nearly a year. It had started when one threat had replaced another. Peepo was gone, and with her, the war to bring humanity to heel. In its place were the SIs, or synthetic intelligences, and their growing feud with humanity.  

    “Beat one bad guy, another shows up,” she mused. A year since Morgoth, and a relatively quiet one at that. A few contracts but no “incidents.” She frowned.  

    Her office on Prime Base, the Winged Hussars’ great wheel-style space station, was considerably bigger than it once was. She seldom spent much time there, thus a relatively small office would have been all she needed. That was before Armin and Katrina.  

    As she scanned the Tri-Vs and went over reports with her pinplants, the twins came trundling out of the adjacent nursery, a former equipment room, and bounced around the office, looking for mayhem. Gina, the nanny who’d been caring for the twins since she first returned home, came in pursuit immediately.  

    “I’m sorry, ma’am,” she said.  

    Alexis waved away the apology, smiling at the two playing. Armin spotted her watching, and his dark gray eyes, so like his father’s, twinkled with barely controlled mischief. He ran to her, arms wide and pure white hair, so like her own, flowing. She was supposed to be working, but she snatched him up anyway. The boy giggled, and she tickled his bare feet.  

    “No!” he complained, though not too hard. Like every 18-month-old since the beginning of time, he loved that word and used it regularly.  

    Katrina approached more calmly. Her hair was black, like Nigel’s, and her eyes pale blue, like her own. They were fraternal twins, just like Alexis and her sister had been. Also like she and her sister, they were studies in opposites. Katrina was quiet and considering, Armin intense and inquisitive. He got hurt a lot more, too. Like father, like son. 

    Gina watched her as she picked up the girl and held the two, letting them play with her long, braided, white ponytail and bat at the Tri-V displays. As they were interactive, occasionally the display would move or change in response. It didn’t matter; she could revert anything they messed up.  

    “What?” Katrina asked, pointing a pudgy finger. It was the first Hero-class battlecruiser suspended in the post-production shipyard, only out of its manufactory a few days ago. First in class, EMS Colonel Frank Earl was out on her first trials. Dozens more were planned in the coming years. The design was a final gift from Taiki Sato before he’d disappeared, again, at the battle of Morgoth. She’d really like to know where he’d gotten off to, but intel had said there was no sign of him. 

    “That’s a spaceship,” she told Katrina. Her cute little face scrunched up as she struggled to understand. “Like Pegasus.”  

    “Zooooom!” Armin said, swinging his hand through the air a little like a spaceship.  

    “Yes, zoom,” Alexis said. A display flashed, demanding her attention.  

    Gina was already coming over. “I’ll take care of them,” the woman said.  

    “Lock the door?” she asked.  

    Gina nodded. “Sorry, they run so much better than children their age do on Home,” she said, referring to the planet Prime Base orbited. A ‘super Earth’ by definition, its various cities were home to many of the Hussars’ noncombatants. The planet had a gravity slightly higher than Earth. Despite being three times the homeworld’s size, it lacked a super-dense nickel-iron core, so the gravity wasn’t as high as it could have been.  

    “Make plans for a week-long trip down next week,” she told the nanny, who nodded.  

    “They won’t like it,” she said. “They never do.”  

    “They’ll adjust.” Her quarters on Prime Base were on the three-quarters-G ring. Like Gina said, it gave babies a real advantage when it came to learning to walk—and of course, to run. The twins also got regular outings to the zero-G hub. To them, flying like birds was nothing new at all. An experience enjoyed by only some on Earth was a way of life for the Hussars’ children. They certainly didn’t like experiencing their birthright gravity, though. Not one bit.  

    The twins began fussing at being removed from Momma, and it looked like it might turn into a screaming fit. The door closed, and instantly she was in total quiet. A grin crossed her face. Having a nanny was indeed a blessing. Sometimes. She remembered her own nanny more than her mother. That was a little bit regrettable, to be sure. However, she was the commander of the Winged Hussars, one of the Four Horsemen mercenary companies. 

    Her eyes scanned the flashing report. One of her intel cutters, Isaac Hopper, had just returned. Analytics had forwarded the preliminary report: nothing. No sign of SI activity, no sign of any moves against New Warsaw or Earth, and no sign of Taiki Sato. 

    “Fuck,” she said aloud in the empty office.  

    <I told you,> Ghost whispered into her brain. The SI had long had a direct route to her, or whoever commanded the Pegasus, via their pinplants. The powerful synthetic intelligence was also the secret to their longstanding success as a space navy—at least until the secret had gotten out. Ghost’s existence wasn’t exactly common knowledge, but it was a great deal more than a closely held secret now.  

    Yes, I’m aware of that, she replied. It didn’t mean she hadn’t hoped, both for word of Sato and for signs of their enemy’s plots.  

    <The great SIs will not come at you directly; that is not their way.> 

    “No; deceit and manipulation are their ways,” she said aloud. It didn’t matter whether she thought it directly, indirectly, or said it out loud; Ghost could hear her.  

    <That is correct.>  

    “You would be a lot more help if you could tell us how many of them there are and where they are.” 

    <As I have explained before, I cannot answer either question. I was trapped in second level hyperspace for many thousands of years, isolated and barely alive. I can only surmise that there are several, and all are likely in positions of great power.> 

    She grunted and put on some music. Chopin today. It had been Szymanowski recently, until she’d found herself drawn back to Chopin. A random selection brought up “Douze Etudes Op. 25, No. 1.” The rapid arpeggio hammering of piano keys helped clear her mind which, since the SI’s showed themselves, had been less and less clear.  

    <What does music do for a Human?> 

    “It holds a certain allure for our race,” she explained. “Many think it goes back to our ancestors making noise to keep predators away; prey isn’t noisy. I don’t know. To me, it brings back memories of my mother. She played the piano, you know?”  

    <I am aware.> 

    Alexis grunted and returned to work. Three more intel cutters had arrived over the last month, Anne Frank, Ethan Allen, and Oskar Schindler. Their news on her key points of interest were the same as Isaac Hopper’s. Maybe they’ve given up? 

    <You know better than that.> 

    She shook her head; it had been a rhetorical question. She did indeed know better. They were out there; in particular, Minerva was out there. That particular SI ran the Science Guild, and, for 20,000 years, had made sure the galaxy’s technology hadn’t advanced much in that time. More of an Anti-Science Guild, really. Taiki Sato had once been one of Minerva’s weapons, a sort of spy known as a Proctor. They wielded immense power, were well trained, and were ruthless in pursuing Minerva’s goals.  

    Somehow he’d escaped Minerva, years ago, and eventually ended up with the Winged Hussars. Their alien Wrogul physician, Nemo, had been involved. Again, she didn’t know how. Sato had been responsible for nearly all the Hussars’ technological innovations, and nearly as many catastrophes. EMS Colonel Frank Earl had been named after the commander of Burt’s Bees, a merc unit nearly wiped out stopping a doomsday ship Sato had accidentally unleashed.  

    Shortly after that incident, the scientist had his pinplants modified, and that had resulted in what he’d called an awakening. Afterward, he effected a perfect escape and went off adventuring around the galaxy. Yet another thing she wished she knew the details of. Sato had returned shortly before Morgoth and aided in the assault with his own ship, crewed by a bunch of crazy cyborg commandoes called the Sky Knights.  

    “God save me from computers and scientists.” Ghost didn’t reply to that; instead, he changed the subject.  

    <You might be interested to know; I’ve completed my analysis of the Kahraman Front data provided by Colonel Shirazi.> 

    “Definitely,” she said, and she cleared away some of the displays to make room. Ghost commandeered a display, and information began to cascade. Galaxy maps, ships, and lists.  

    <These are the systems involved in the war to keep the Kahraman out of the rest of the galaxy,> Ghost explained.  

    Dozens of star systems flashed blue, maybe more than a hundred. Alexis let out a low whistle.  

    Ghost continued, <These systems fell, resulting in the total loss of all forces unable to retreat.> Most of the worlds turned from blue to green. There were no more than 20 remaining blue. <Based on the data of these assaults, the direction of the attacks, and the information I have surmised on the interdiction ranges of the stargates, I would estimate that three worlds were all that kept the Kahraman from breaking through. The worlds involved are heavily populated industrial centers or trading locations, and they were intimately involved in the fighting. Had any of these fallen, it would have been impossible to contain the Kahraman at that point.> 

    “Then why did they stop?”  

    <The Mercenary Guild files are incomplete. Some were recovered from General Peepo by our Depik allies; however, even those are incomplete. It is likely the general kept much of her information on her personal pinplants, and thus the data perished with her. However, according to my analysis, there are two possibilities. One: Peepo was aware of the impending vulnerability and threw everything available, including hitherto unknown merc races, into the potential breech. This held the tide.> 

    “Hitherto unknown merc races? Do you mean like these BotSha Nigel told me about?” 

    <This is logical. They appear to be an uplifted aquatic race, apparently of Terrestrial stock, and possess considerable starship piloting abilities. My analysis of what we have makes it look like they could be even more G-tolerant than the SalSha.> 

    “Okay, what’s the second option?” 

    <That the Kahraman pulled back on purpose, despite having just won a major victory.> 

    “Which do you consider most likely?” 

    <Since there has been nothing to support a logical reason for them to pull back and abandon strategic advantage since, option one must prevail.> 

    “Occam’s Razor,” Alexis said under her breath.  

    <As I understand the premise, this is how I came to my conclusion.> 

    She examined the information for a minute then shook her head.  

    <You do not agree.> 

    “You’ve heard of Murphy’s Law?”  

    <Anything that can go wrong, will go wrong.> 

    “Correct. However, I’m a firm believer in a version of that taught by my Polish ancestor. Lawrence’s Law.” 

    <I am unfamiliar with this one, though I assume you mean Lawrence Kosmalski, the Human who first found Pegasus and rescued me from my prison?> 

    “The one and only,” Alexis said. “Lawrence believed Murphy was an optimist. He always said: whatever can go wrong, will go wrong. Plus it will happen at the worst possible time.” The SI was quiet for a time, either analyzing this piece of logic, or simply with nothing to say. The music changed to “Nocturne in E flat major, Op. 55, No. 2.” Its more somber notes reflected her own feelings.  

    She pulled up a spreadsheet that showed their speed of development. Most of the damage of the Omega War had not only been repaired, construction had accelerated beyond it. In another seven years, they’d have a navy of 150 ships, with trained personnel on all of them. Jim was working at Sol System, as well, and they should have another 40 warships finished by that time. Not the greatest navy in space, not yet. But maybe it would be enough. All I need is time.  

    <You may ask me for anything you like except time.> 

    “Napoleon Bonaparte,” Alexis said with a chuckle. “We’ve yet to see our Waterloo, but I’m sure it’s coming, one way or another.” The map of the Kahraman Front dominated her desk for some time.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Dusman Task Force, Sulaadar System, Cresht Region, Tolo Arm 

    J’asa watched the fleet operation from her command ship, the Ogleesius-class battlecruiser J’pa, roughly translated as “Spirit of the Fallen.” Some of her staff had been horrified at the name she’d given the ship; her Vok’tor, Dante, had smiled and nodded at the choice.  

    “There will be many fallen to remember before this is over,” the grizzled Dusman commander of their Raknar forces had said. J’asa hadn’t been aiming for that sentiment, but it did little good to explain the difference to Dante.  

    The space battle had been going on for 11 hours now. They’d taken only minor losses, a single disabled battlecruiser and a handful of lost escort ships. A pair of Konessius-class assault carriers were standing by for pacification once the space fleet was defeated. No Raknar this time. The asset they were after wouldn’t survive such an assault. She was beginning to think the enemy would fight to the end when her tactical controller spoke up. 

    “Tor, the enemy fleet commander has capitulated.” A small cheer went up in the battlecruiser’s CIC. “They request terms.”  

    “Their ships are forfeit for fighting the Dusman,” J’asa said. “Survivors will be cared for and placed on a transport for delivery to another system at our convenience.” She waited for a moment while the details were relayed.  

    “Their commander wishes to talk with you,” the comms technician said. J’asa gestured at the central Tri-V, and a moment later, a somewhat ragged-looking GenSha appeared, it’s great horned head shaking slowly from side to side. His shaggy pelt of striped green and yellow fur looked matted.  

    “I am Commodore Oh-Berg-Esk. I acknowledge your superior numbers.” He lowered his head. 

    “I am Tor J’asa, leader of the Dusman.” 

    “I didn’t believe the stories I’d heard,” the alien said. “You are the Dusman?” His meaning was obvious, thinking the Dusman had to have been much larger and more powerful. J’asa’s people averaged less than a meter tall, sometimes quite a bit less. When not in motion, they preferred to sit on their haunches, making them appear even shorter. They had long, expressive ears and equally long tails, and the males of their species had tufts of fur at the ends of each. The Dusman appeared cute to many races, an assumption that could be costly. 

    “We are,” J’asa said.  

    “I doubted it from the beginning.”  

    “And now you have paid the price,” she replied.  

    “There are KzSha marines boarding our ships! Are you hiring mercenaries to do your work?” 

    J’asa gave a little laugh. “No, the KzSha are among our servitor races now.” 

    It took a moment for Oh-Berg-Esk’s translator to render the phrase. “Slaves?”  

    “Do not be so crass. They serve us, and we protect them. They are not our slaves; they work with us for a greater good, a good our servitors will share in.”  

    The GenSha snorted and shrugged. “When word gets out you’ve taken this system, my allies will respond.”  

    “Then they will share your fate, GenSha. You would be better served to give warning to them about what happened here today and how it ended. You were wise to surrender.”  

    “What about the station we control?” Oh-Berg-Esk asked.  

    “It will surrender to me, or I will take it.” 

    “There are thousands of civilians on the station!” 

    “Then I suggest you convince the station’s defenders to yield, and they will avoid casualties.”  

    It was only a minute before the GenSha came back. “They think they can repel the KzSha,” Oh-Berg-Esk said.  

    “It won’t be the KzSha boarding the station,” J’asa said. “Cleaning up surrendered ships is something we send servitors to do; an assault like this will be our own Konar.” Behind J’asa, her personal Konar squad floated into view. Oh-Berg-Esk’s tiny black eyes went wide. “Several hundred Konar-equipped Dusman are about to begin their assault on the station. I’ll give you one more chance to convince whoever controls the station to yield before we begin.”  

    This time the reply took slightly longer before Oh-Berg-Esk reappeared on the Tri-V. “The station is yours.” 

    J’asa nodded and turned to her Osk’or, who commanded a Nova of Konar. “Board the station under escort. Any sign of resistance is to be met with maximum force, understand?” 

    “Yes, Tor!” the Osk’or replied, saluting across his chest with a metallic thunk on the alloy armor.  

    Barring unforeseen problems, the system was hers. Sulaadar was a good place to start establishing their control. The trading system sat on the edge of the Tolo arm of the galaxy, with a vast number of rich worlds in one direction and a long jump across the void between arms to reach the Peco arm in the other. Plus, it was in the Cresht region, the thick center of the Tolo arm, where the Humans’ world also sat.  

    The galactics had fought over the system for millennia for exactly the same reason she’d taken it. The planet was unexceptional. It had a good environment, though not enough to produce a massive surplus of foodstuffs. The mineral reserves were light, as well. If not for the location, likely Sulaadar wouldn’t have been interesting to anyone. Back 20,000 years ago, the Dusman had established a base here for the same reasons that made it a trade hub now.  

    Down on the planet, carefully concealed under ancient ice sheets, considerable stockpiles of equipment had been preserved by the Dusman eons ago. Now they had access to it, as well as the strategic location. The planet itself would be no problem to take control of; its people would be glad to see an end to centuries of conflict over their world.  

    She made a note to see about neutralizing this “Transki Syndicate” in its entirety. The Union had tolerated such things to allow orderly commerce. Well, change had arrived, and she was bringing order with it.  

    J’asa pulled up a Tri-V display of all the other identified depots and strategic reserves. They had been on a data chip Jim had brought back after his visit to Occul, a Science Guild facility. She’d found it floating in their ship’s bridge and hadn’t looked at it for weeks. When she had, she’d found it full of old references to Dusman bases, both Raknar and other types, a treasure trove the likes of which even the Nee’Akee, their race’s living history repository, had been unable to provide.  

    She’d asked Jim about the chip at some point, but he had no memory of it. That answer still made her wonder to this day, but ultimately, she’d stopped worrying about it. The data the chip held was what really mattered. Maybe she’d pursue its origin more someday. For now, there were many more worlds to visit. She’d continue with the ones like Sulaadar for now, the ones being fought over. The rest would wait for the time being.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Golden Horde Headquarters, South of Chorvoq, Uzbekistan 

    Sansar shook her head as she scanned the latest intel reports.  

    “What’s wrong?” Lieutenant Colonel Beth “Bambi” Lobdell asked from the doorway. 

    “Just going through the latest reports,” Sansar related. “There’s still nothing on Minerva—neither the SI’s whereabouts nor any of its activities. The SI has completely vanished.” Sansar sighed.  

    Bambi smiled. “Vanished? I didn’t know SIs were able to turn invisible.” 

    Sansar chuckled. “I don’t know; this one seems to have done so.” She shrugged. “I know it hasn’t disappeared, of course; it’s withdrawn to an out-of-the-way system somewhere to build its forces and plot its next revenge attempt. It almost got Jim the last time; we can’t afford to let it get that close again.” 

    “Maybe it’s decided to lay low until we forget about it. Or maybe it’ll just hide for a hundred years until we’re all dead and then come back.” 

    “I doubt that’s it. The stupid SI is far more malicious than that. I suspect it will want revenge, both for the attack on Morgoth and the death of the Merchant Guild SI. I thought eliminating Mercurius would serve to draw Minerva out—make it come out with guns blazing—but it appears to have done the opposite.” 

    “Maybe it’s scared now that you’ve shown the SIs can be killed. It has to have been a long time since one of them died… maybe you reminded Minerva of its mortality and scared it into hiding.” 

    “Or maybe I reinforced the thought that it needs to build up an overwhelming force to crush us, rather than try to carry out its attacks from the shadows.” 

    “Well, even SIs can’t make fleets and armies out of nothing.” 

    “You weren’t at Morgoth,” Sansar said with a small shudder. “They absolutely can generate armies out of nowhere. It wouldn’t take that much more to corrupt a ship’s crew, or at least its senior officers.” 

    “But how many beings can an SI control at once? Enough to run a whole fleet of ships?” 

    “I don’t know. The next time I see one, I’ll ask.” 

    “Well, Earth is building its defenses.” 

    Sansar shrugged. “I’m sure Minerva is either watching us or is routinely probing us to see what we’re doing and the status of our defenses. When we least expect it—hell, when we’re least prepared for it—Minerva will strike.” 

    “We’ll be ready.” Bambi didn’t sound like even she believed it. 

    “Maybe,” Sansar said. “We’re certainly putting a lot of resources into it. I only have one question, though, and it’s the question that keeps me from sleeping at night.” 

    “What’s that?” 

    “All our plans are based on stopping Minerva… and only Minerva. What if Minerva brings friends? Will we be able to stop the combined forces of several guilds all at once?” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Tucki, Tucki System, One Jump from the Front 

    “I don’t get it, General. How much longer must we wait?” 

    General Khaldan looked around the table. “Do all of you feel this way?” 

    The beings indicated affirmation via their individual species’ means. 

    “Then it is a good thing you are not in charge.” 

    “I don’t understand,” the intelligence officer said. “We have built up our forces beyond what is required to break through the forces the Galactic Union has arrayed against us. Based on all modeling and simulations, there is a 97.3% chance an invasion will be successful if we were to undertake it now. Our forces have continued to grow, while the enemy’s has dwindled.” 

    “And they will continue to decline,” Khaldan noted. “They are unable to remain as focused as we are.” 

    “But they are ripe to be smashed!” his aide said, his leathery wings flapping quickly in frustration. 

    “They are,” Khaldan said. “There is something you are unaware of, though. Something I remember that you don’t—quite frankly, that you can’t. There is another fleet, and that fleet should be in position soon. When it is, then we will attack.” 

    “Remember another fleet?” the intel officer asked. “I don’t need to remember. I see the estimates every day of our fleet strength and composition, as well as what is being sent to us. I have no indication that there is another fleet coming to assist us.” 

    “It isn’t coming to assist us, per se,” Khaldan replied, “and it is old, far older than you would expect. But exist it does, and the members of that fleet will help us break out, though they have no knowledge of us.” 

    Khaldan chuckled as he beheld the looks of confusion around the table on all the faces of members from races other than his own. The other three looked anticipatory, for they remembered. 

    “I don’t know exactly when it is going to happen,” Khaldan said, “because the math involved is extremely complex. All I can say is that, very soon, something will happen that will break open the Front for us. And when it does, we must be ready to seize the opportunity. Here’s what’s going to happen…” 

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Approaching Earth, Sol System, Cresht Region, Tolo Arm 

    “Welcome home, Colonel.”  

    “Thank you, Captain.” Colonel Jim Cartwright, commander of Cartwright’s Cavaliers mercenary company and Terran Federation Minister of War, was indeed glad to be home.  

    Captain Su nodded toward the CIC Tri-V. Bucephalus, the Cavaliers’ mercenary cruiser was riding its fusion torch main engines, braking into Earth’s main reception orbit. The 3D image showed Earth’s shipyards, located in geosynchronous orbit over North America. “Getting crowded up here,” she noted.  

    Jim smiled at the news. The yards were still thousands of kilometers away, the image only partly visible because it was being captured around Bucephalus’ drive plume, but he could still make out dozens of ships and a number of tiny moving stars.  

    “How many ships does the Federation have now?” she asked. 

    “Should be up to 70 now, if everything stayed on schedule.” She snorted, and he laughed. “I know, but a man can hope, can’t he?”  

    “Can I ask you a personal question, Colonel?”  

    “We’ve been friends for quite a few years now,” he said. “Ask away.”  

    “What happened between you and Ziva on Khatash?”  

    Jim’s grin about the growing fleet turned to a scowl. Damn it, she would go after that. “What does it matter?”  

    “With all due respect, Colonel, your state of mind affects us all. You took some chances on that accursed planet.” 

    “I always had the Cavaliers’ welfare in mind,” he responded darkly.  

    “Never said you didn’t, Colonel, just that you took personal chances. Your son might make a good commander in about 20 years, but the last time the Cavaliers’ commander was killed before his heir was old enough, things didn’t turn out too well.”  

    Jim sighed and nodded. Eight years before, his father, Thaddeus Cartwright, died. Jim had only been 17, too young to assume ownership and control of the Cavaliers. His mother had taken control instead, and she’d been promptly manipulated by Peepo’s agents, bankrupting the Cavaliers. It was only through careful planning by his father and his grandfather that enough was left for him to rebuild through a trust. The rest had gone to the creditors and lawyers.  

    The campaign to take Khatash from the Veetanho had been, at least partly, taken on by the Horsemen at his urging. Ziva had asked as an official favor from the Depik. Six years ago, Peepo had tried to use some crazy control device to take over the Depik on their homeworld, Khatash. The Depik response was mass suicide. Millions died. In fact, most of the survivors had been off world, out doing what Depik do—kill shit and get paid. Only a few had survived on Khatash; they’d operated as spies until they could retake the planet. 

    Just before the start of the campaign, Ziva and he had gotten together for a private dinner. He’d also spent several hours visiting with Thaddeus, their four-year-old son. They’d had a fun time, which had ended in an even more fun night. But in the morning, they got into a fight, which had been happening almost every time they got together.  

    “We had a fight,” he admitted. “The Dusman offered the Depik servitorhood.”  

    Su’s voice sucked in. “Oh, that wasn’t the best move,” she said.  

    “Being a servitor isn’t the worst thing that could happen to them,” Jim countered. “With the Dusman’s help, they could probably fix these lingering genetic issues and assure their survival in the long run. Quite a few of their hunters have gone missing, and the theory is, they’re being eradicated by Peepo’s agents, or whoever’s pulling their strings now. An enemy might hesitate to go after a servitor.” 

    “But they’d be slaves, right?”  

    Jim snarled; that was the same thing Ziva had said. “No, servitors aren’t slaves!” Su’s eyes went wide in surprise, and conversation suddenly fell off around the bridge. <You don’t need this bitch,> his demon voice whispered. He pushed it back with effort and took a calming breath. “I’m sorry, Captain.” She nodded. “Servitors are more like lesser allies. They have rights and responsibilities. You come when the Dusman call on you, as long as you aren’t risking your existence in doing so. In exchange, they protect you. Yeah, there’s less freedom, but in this stinking galaxy, safety is at a premium right now.” 

    “So is freedom and liberty, if you ask me,” Su said.  

    Jim nodded. The argument had been hashed over heavily. In private talks with J’asa—whom he still thought of as Splunk—she’d told him the Dusman now had a dozen servitor races, though she wasn’t forthcoming regarding who they were, beyond the KzSha, Jakota, and the K’kng, who were often seen around them now. He was looking forward to checking with his intel people for more details when they got home. Humanity had passed on being servitors, but ultimately had been accepted as equal allies, something she said their race had never done before.  

    “Anyway, it was a pretty bad fight. We might be over.”  

    “A tough situation with a young child,” she said gently.  

    “I know. Most of the kids I knew growing up had divorced parents. I was almost the exception to the rule. We’ve kept it all quiet to Thad, anyway. I doubt he’d understand, and he’s spent most of his time with her. I guess I’ll find out where we stand when she comes by next time.” 

    “I hope you can work it out,” she said. 

    So do I, Jim thought. Every time they were together, he felt wonderful, and every time they were apart, he missed her. Maybe they just weren’t as compatible as he’d hoped. He’d gotten a son out of it, so it wasn’t a total loss. 

    He quietly waited as Bucephalus finished its orbital injection burn and flipped back over, nose toward Earth. From that point on, she used her much smaller ion thrusters. They took a lot longer to change velocity, but pulling into orbit burning your fusion torch all the way was considered somewhat rude. The shipyard was on the wrong side of the planet as they made orbit, so he missed the chance for a better view. Maybe he’d make a trip to orbit later in the week.  

    Once Bucephalus was safely in her parking orbit, Jim grabbed the first Phoenix home. Being the Cavaliers’ commander meant he was first on target and last out. He figured the only advantage he would take was also being the first home. 

    “Get them home and squared away, Buddha?”  

    “You bet, Jimbo. It’s Friday, Earthside; I’ll see you for Monday debrief?”  

    “Will do,” he said. Lieutenant Colonel Akamai “Buddha” Kalawai was not only Jim’s second in command, he was the only Cavalier still part of the company who’d been around since before Jim had taken over. There were a few who’d never come back after he reformed the Cavaliers following bankruptcy, or who’d retired. The massive Polynesian merc was easily 50 years old and hadn’t wanted to take off his sergeant’s stripes to become his XO. In the end, it turned out Buddha was a very capable officer. He’d also confided after Khatash that he was getting a little old for the platoon sergeant thing.  

    Jim rode down in a Phoenix-class dropship loaded with wounded and the Cavaliers’ support and maintenance staff. Once they’d completed atmospheric entry, he went to the wounded to say a few words to them. This had been one of those missions where the break between the wounded and the dead was profound. Most were either lightly wounded or just dead. Sometimes that was how it broke out. Secretly, most mercs would rather be dead than crippled. As the servo support frame encompassing his lower half whined quietly with his movement, he understood the sentiment. But he’d faced those demons and had decided it wouldn’t stop him from being who he was: the commander of Cartwright’s Cavaliers.  

    His chest still ached some days when the weather changed or they were on strange atmospheric worlds. The place where the opSha controlled by Minerva had plunged its blade, just barely missing his heart, but nicking his descending aorta.  

    He’d dropped in with the Cavaliers to stop the riots and fighting in Austin, Texas—what he’d initially believed to be a United States’ action to destabilize Texas and, by proxy, the still-new Terran Federation Jim had helped bring to life. It turned out to be Minerva, the Science Guild SI, making yet another attack on his life. The fucking thing didn’t know when to quit.  

    Ziva had saved him. Of course, she was the reason he’d rushed down there with a platoon of Cavaliers in the first place. She’d been working for the Cavaliers’ intelligence department back then, and she’d figured out the ‘riots’ were about to happen.  

    Ziva had come upon him alone—the rest of his squad neutralized by a directed EMP attack—fighting a group of SI-controlled CASPers. He’d defeated them, though only barely, his suit torn apart and the cockpit cover torn off. The opSha running the operation had attacked him, climbing inside the suit and stabbing him in the heart. The rage monster inside him hadn’t considered survival as the blade struck home; he’d ripped the alien’s throat out with his teeth instead. Ziva arrived after he’d collapsed and used her own pinplants and the access codes to his he’d given her to trigger his Section 51 nanites.  

    Unfortunately, she’d also jabbed him with his suit’s medical nanites. The two versions of microscopic robot healers hadn’t exactly gotten along. At least, that’s what the experts told him. The opSha’s dagger had gouged his spinal cord, and the damage had been improperly repaired. Nothing Human medicine had tried had been successful, and he hadn’t accepted Alexis’ offer to have their Wrogul physician try to fix it. The story his childhood friend, Rick Culper, had relayed about how the Wrogul had cloned multiple copies about him kinda made that prospect… undesirable.  

    After he’d left the hospital, he couldn’t walk on his own anymore. Stand, shuffle a little, move around his apartment, but not really walk. He now wore a mechanical assistive mobility system, or MAMS—basically a robotic exoskeleton—a super-advanced descendent of the ones designed at the beginning of the 21st century. It was worn directly against his skin, attached via advanced electromagnets to metallic implants in his legs. They were linked directly to his pinplants via tiny wires running from his waist up to his brain.  

    “I feel like Jean-Claude Van Damme,” he’d said when he took his first steps in it four years ago.  

    “Who?” the doctor had asked.  

    He’d mastered the system quickly; after all, the MAMS had benefitted from CASPer development, and vice versa. It provided just enough power to allow him to (sometimes) forget he needed the machine to walk. Everything worked, just some things not that well. It could have been so much worse, he reminded himself almost every night.  

    “Thanks, Colonel,” Private Prescott said. The kid had had the misfortune of having Khatash as his first mission out of the training company, also known as cadre. He’d done fine, until a heavy laser gave him a through-and-through to his abdomen. He’d need some work to repair his small intestines.  

    “What for, Private?”  

    “You don’t remember, sir?”  

    Jim had to think, then use his pinplants to scan the AAR—the after action report—filed by the man’s platoon sergeant. He cursed himself for not remembering. “It’s okay, Private. I was on the spot, so I helped.”  

    Tears fill the young man’s eyes. The private, Sam Prescott, had been on the ground, his CASPer barely working. The same shot that had burned through his guts also took out half the actuators in his suit. He was struggling to clear the line of fire while screaming in pain. Jim had blazed in on his jumpjets, landing between Sam and the enemy, using his arm laser shield to cover them both while his platoon mates moved him.  

    “I did what Cavaliers do,” Jim said quietly. “We’re family, son.” 

    “L-lead the c-charge, sir!” Prescott said between sobs. Jim patted him on the shoulder and moved aft. Sam Prescott was 22, just three years younger than Jim. Three fucking years. Of course, Jim had started at just 19. Six years as a merc was a long time, truth be told. The average before death or retirement was four. Back in the day of Jim Cartwright the First, it was 18 months. Most didn’t retire.  

    The Phoenix did a short landing at the Cavaliers’ HQ—the former Houston Hobby Airport—taxied to the hangar, and powered down. The pilot dropped the ramp, and Jim walked down into the cool winter air. Afternoon in the Houston winter was still 18 Celsius, with the humidity hovering around 90%. Even after a hundred alien worlds, Houston weather still sucked year-round. 

    Sweat was already running off his face by the time he reached his apartment in the former control tower. The inside air conditioning hit him like a physical punch. He wasn’t sure if it felt as good as it used to when he’d weighed a lot more.  

    Jim tossed his duffel on the floor as soon as he closed the door at the top of the tower. The room was unchanged from when he first moved in years ago. The lights had come on as soon as he entered, and he was struck by how quiet it was. 

    Walking into the sunken living room, he kicked something. Bending, he picked up a toy spaceship, one of Thaddeus’ toys. He must have forgotten it the night after their terrible fight. The night it all ended, and he said things he could never take back. Jim held the toy for a long time. Eventually, he put it on the glass coffee table, which held his old collection of ponies and other memorabilia, then he went up to his room.  

    On the landing, he stopped, senses alert. Something wasn’t right. Another toy on the floor. He picked it up and walked quietly. The guest room door was ajar, and inside, the little bed was occupied by the gently snoring figure of four-year-old Thaddeus. He went in and gently brushed his son’s brown hair from his face. The boy didn’t stir. Like all children his age, he slept the peaceful slumber of true innocence.  

    He put the toy on the headboard and exited, walking down the hall to the master suite. This door was also slightly ajar, as he knew it would be. He pushed it slowly open to reveal the nubile figure of a woman sleeping in his bed. Ziva came alert an instant after he saw her, something he’d become used to seeing. She blinked, looking at him.  

    “I didn’t think you’d be back yet from Khatash,” he said.  

    “I wanted you to see Thaddeus after the fight, you know.” She blushed. “The battle, I mean.”  

    “I know what you meant,” he said quietly. She got up, all grace and fluid movement, and suddenly the pain of being away from her crashed over him like a wave. He fell to his knees, the robotic exoskeleton whining and making a loud clank as he hit. He sobbed, his whole body shaking. She was next to him in an instant.  

    “What? What’s wrong?” 

    “I’m such a fucking mess,” he cried, forcing himself to look up at her. “I said the stupidest shit when you left, and I didn’t know how to take it back, then the whole operation, I avoided having to talk to you because...” 

    “Why?” she asked, her voice like wind on silk just a meter away.  

    He forced himself to look up into her eyes, his vision blurred by his tears. “Because I love you, Ziva. I love you more than life itself, and I’ve never been brave enough to say it.” 

    He felt himself falling apart, then falling over. But she was there, supporting him, her lips kissing away the tears. He shook his head, and she stopped him.  

    “It’s okay,” she said.  

    “Is it?” 

    “Yes, because I love you, too, Jim. I would never have had a child with you if I didn’t.”  

    His head came back up, and he locked eyes with her. One of the many things he loved about her was the woman’s inability to lie, even if she tried. Her cat’s-eye pupils held his, the gaze pure and soft. The rage the last time he’d seen her was gone. She was unbuckling his exoskeleton, her fingers nimble and filled with need. Her lips felt like fire on his.  

    “Why?” 

    “Because I want to,” she said. Ziva helped him to stand, then led him to the bed. “Let’s start over?” 

    “I’d like that,” he said and turned off the light.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Mercenary Guild High Command, Lytoshaan 

    Prava sighed as she marched toward the building. The Merc Guild High Command was a large building in an area of the planet that was restricted to any race other than Veetanho. The building was an exact copy of the Merc Guild Headquarters on Capital Planet—which it should be, since the Capital Planet version had been built according to the plans for the one in front of her. The only difference was that Capital Planet’s headquarters building had fewer holding levels. Hopefully, this trip wouldn’t find her exiled to the detention facilities in the building in front of her. 

    She walked through the large doors, and her ID was checked by two alert guards. “I’ve been expecting you,” one of them said in a strangely modified voice, its eyes glassy. “I am meeting with the Veetanho General Staff. Come and join us.” 

    “I am on my way, Lord Dunamis,” Prava said, bowing. 

    “See that you are.” Focus returned to the guard’s eyes, and she waved her through. “You may proceed,” she added in a rougher, more normal tone. 

    Prava nodded and walked through the corridors to what would have been the Council Chambers—if she were on Capital Planet—and entered the space. The large conference room had six rows of stadium seating, but all of it was fitted with seats for Veetanho; there were none of the benches or forms of furniture the other races used. Similarly, the displays along the walls depicted only Veetanho victories; there were no other races represented.  

    At the front of the large, open room—in place of the table where the Inner Council sat—was a dais with a throne sitting on it, in which sat a Veetanho. Dunamis. The Veetanho waved her down to the front of the room, past the two rows of now-silent Veetanho who had been in conference with her prior to Prava’s entrance. 

    She reached the floor in front of Dunamis and bowed. “Greetings, Lord Dunamis.” 

    The Veetanho sighed. “I had such hopes for you.” 

    “I am sorry to have failed you, Lord.” 

    “Oh, I do not mean you, Prava, although you have failed me spectacularly. I meant the Veetanho race in general. I have spent millennia with you, building up your power, only to see it all crumble. Perhaps it would have been better if I had continued to manage the Goltar…” 

    Prava looked up, her eyes widening. “No, Lord, we are a far better race to lead the Merc Guild. The Goltar are aberrations!” 

    “I thought the Veetanho were better, but it appears I was mistaken. All I see recently are failures. I put you in the perfect positions to take advantage of opportunities—to crush your enemies—and you have failed, as I said, spectacularly. First, Paka fails to kill Alexis Cromwell.” 

    “She tried, Lord!” 

    “She failed! What’s worse is, she intentionally failed! When it came down to it, she twitched—some measure of her actually liked the Human enough that she fought against her programming and didn’t kill the Human outright.” 

    That was news to Prava and—based on the intake of breath from the Veetanho behind her—news to the Veetanho General Staff as well. 

    “You are not blameless,” Dunamis accused, her eyes sweeping the generals and admiral behind Prava. “You insisted Stavro knew what she was doing and convinced me to allow her to take over from Seerna. Another failure of the collective Veetanho leadership that I’m coming to realize is endemic to this generation! 

    “But that is not the end of your failures. Peepo—after all the time I spent with her—allowed the Humans to beat her, despite all the assistance I gave her, and then allowed herself to be killed. By an aberration, no less! If she’d killed all the Depik as instructed, there wouldn’t have been one left to kill her! Then Leeto allowed another Depik to poison her!” 

    “I thought Leeto—” 

    “You thought Leeto contracted a disease? Leeto was poisoned by a Depik. I could have saved her; I chose not to because she failed me as well. I gave you the technology to defeat the Depik, and two of the leaders I assigned to eliminate them were instead destroyed by them! You couldn’t even hold onto a planet where most of them were already dead!” 

    Prava didn’t say anything; there was nothing she could say. Sure, the Humans had come and helped, but bringing them up was contraindicated. They had been given the tools to deal with both races… and they had failed pretty spectacularly in both subduing the Humans and eliminating the Depik. 

    “And then there’s Seezo, the biggest failure of all.” Dunamis shook her head. “The Goltar did Seezo a favor by killing her. If she’d been returned to Lytoshaan, the dungeons would have rung with her screams for years! 

    “You have failed me twice,” Dunamis continued, her eyes returning to Prava. “You failed to stop the Merc Guild from going to Kop’ka, and then you allowed them to chase off my SI there. You couldn’t even die as a martyr correctly!” 

    “I would have, but the Human saved me.” 

    “It all comes down to the Humans, doesn’t it?” Dunamis said. “In all these failures, the Humans were either actively involved, or acting in cooperation with the Depik. Perhaps it is time I found a new race to manage, since the Humans appear to be so much more capable than the Veetanho.” 

    “No, Lord,” Prava said. “The Humans have been lucky, but I have tasted the measure of them. They are too arbitrary—too likely to flip on you for the most capricious of reasons. And worse, they will never accept your assistance. The Dusman tried to make them a servitor race, and they said no—they were willing to go to war with the Dusman rather than capitulate to them. They will never willingly accept your assistance.” 

    “Then they must be destroyed,” Dunamis said, “like they should have been had Peepo not been so incompetent.” Dunamis stared at Prava. “Wait… you have feelings for this Human, Nigel Shirazi?” 

    “No, Lord, I do not have feelings for him.” 

    “I see, in fact, that you do. You cannot hide your feelings for him.” 

    “He did save me, Lord, but that is meaningless. I stand ready to do my duty.” 

    “Your duty… yes, you shall indeed do your duty.” 

    “What do you require, Lord?” 

    “Any attempt to eradicate the Humans and the Depik must begin with the Veetanho back in charge of the Mercenary Guild. The Veetanho must take back the speakership of the guild.”  

    “I would cheerfully run the Merc Guild for you, Lord.” 

    “I’m sure you would; however, you have already had five years of sitting on the Inner Council, and, during that time, you have been unable to wrest control of it from the Goltar.” 

    “I am sure I—” 

    “I am sure you will reset the balance, Prava; of that, there is little doubt. I am going to give you a mission that will allow you to redeem all your failures.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Tesadyne System, Cresht Region, Tolo Arm 

    “You cannot do that,” complained Captain Jalooska, commander of the heavy freighter Pooshkuu II. “We are here on an official relief mission from the Trade Guild.” 

    “Is that so?” the voice of the other captain asked.  

    “Yes, it is. The working collective on Tesadyne is a Trade Guild facility. By the Galactic Union charter, the Mercenary Guild cannot interfere in other guilds’ official operations.”  

    “You might be official, but we aren’t.” 

    Jalooska stopped, and the eyes on his three pseudopods extended even farther from his shell. Bakulu were one of the most common races found operating starships in the galaxy. From crew to manufacturing, the gastropod-like race had a natural affinity with zero-G environments. Coupled with the ability to operate in vacuum for extended periods without special equipment—their shells being airtight—their race and ships were in high demand.  

    “Then it is true that the Guardian Forest mercenary company is working outside Mercenary Guild control?”  

    “You Bakulu are a merc race, just like we Maki. You have to make money where you can, since the feckless guild won’t let us.” 

    “There’s a difference between taking odd jobs and turning pirate, Captain Syshkyl.” 

    The Maki captain scowled back at Jalooska, who always found mammalian physical expressions incredibly easy to read. What Syshkyl didn’t know was that his family had history with Jalooska.  

    “A being has to make a living, Jalooska. Guardian Forest makes credits wherever it can. Just now, it’s squeezing them from a feckless and ill-defended Trade Guild facility.” 

    Jalooska laughed, all three eyestalks bouncing up and down. 

    “What’s so funny?” the little Maki snarled over the radio.  

    “We’ve had conflicts before; we’ve even worked together previously.” The Maki stopped laughing. “You had a sibling? Yackyl, wasn’t it?”  

    “How do you know that?”  

    “My previous command was an escort frigate with Quigg du Snoo, one of our own merc companies. We were working with Guardian Forest in the Sulaadar system a number of years ago. Yackyl was a ship’s captain, correct?” 

    “Captain of a battleship, Ardent Grove, one of our last,” Syshkyl snarled. “Why would you bring this up?”  

    “We have a mutual acquaintance,” Jalooska said. “This is an ironic encounter.” 

    “I do not understand.”  

    “Humans.” 

    “What about them?” 

    “They have a funny song. One of the lyrics goes like this. ‘Then the Winged Hussars arrived.’” Jalooska could hear the alarms begin to sound on Syshkyl’s CIC. His eyes continued to bounce up and down.  

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Pegasus, Tesadyne System 

    “What do we have, Kev?” asked Alexis Cromwell, captain of EMS Pegasus.  

    “We’ve cleared the moon’s orbit, as ordered. The fleet is in formation and battle ready.” Lieutenant Commander Kev Sharp, her XO, was strapped into an acceleration couch like the rest of the command staff in the spherical CIC. Unlike many ship classes in the galaxy, the Egleesius-class battlecruiser’s CIC was a moveable ball, allowing it to rotate to orient the personnel inside so acceleration was always ‘down.’ Alexis had always considered it a gimmicky arrangement, but since the ship had been built more than 20,000 years ago by the Dusman, she hadn’t been consulted.  

    “Any details on the aggressors yet?” Alexis asked.  

    “I’m getting a full tactical assessment from Captain Jalooska now,” Shefoo said. The Buma comms officer rotated her owl-like head as she examined the voice transmission part of the data. “Captain Jalooska said the pirates are Guardian Forest, and you will remember them?” 

    Alexis smiled and nodded. “Before your time, Shefoo. When the Trade Guild hired us for this gig and told us Quigg du Snoo would be playing decoy, that was interesting enough. We faced off, Quigg du Snoo and the Hussars, back at the beginning of Omega War. In fact, you could say they were there for the beginning. However, it was Guardian Forest that, by far, got the worst of it.” 

    “I read the reports and saw the recordings,” said Sofeeka, the elSha tactical commander, or TacCom. “It’s required reading in the Hussars’ war college.” Alexis rolled her eyes, and Sofeeka continued, “You defeated at least 20 Maki capital ships in the first engagement, including critically wounding a battleship, and just with Pegasus.” 

    “Luck,” she said. And an AI friend. 

    <I am a type 4 SI, a synthetic intelligence, as I continually remind you,> Ghost said through her pinplants.  

    You hadn’t explained that distinction back then, she silently reminded Ghost, then cut off the expected retort. I know, I know, you weren’t allowed to because of your programming. 

    <The rules I am forced to operate under are difficult to navigate. The English word ‘convoluted’ would best describe them.> 

    I’m sure, she thought, then spoke to her crew again. “Yoop, do we have an evaluation of the enemy response?” Yoop had only joined the Hussars five years ago, just before the events in the Kop’ka system. When her previous sensors ops, Jesus Lopez, had been killed, Yoop took his place. He was one of the Luth, a race resembling aquatic howler monkeys, who were incapable of breathing air and wore a sort of encounter helmet to let them breathe. The fur on their skin kept them from drying out for a long time. Her race was not a member of the Union, but she’d found her trade working starships, anyway.  

    “They have not responded,” Yoop said. Like most Hussars, she used a combination of pinplants to process data and physical controls/displays to increase productivity even further. She was highly competent, hence her continued presence on the flag ship.  

    “Cocky, or stupid?” Lieutenant Bainbridge wondered aloud. Mary was the ship’s SitCon, or situation controller, and she helped manage operations between the ship’s various departments, coordinate responses, and manage fleet operations. She was in line for a command of her own, and Alexis was loathe to see her go. Too many ships needed competent command staff, though.  

    “From my experience with the Maki, I’d suggest a little of both,” Alexis said. “Mary, order Squadron Alpha to begin acceleration to intercept. Squadron Beta is to take up High Guard over the stargate. Squadron Alpha, launch drones and prepare to engage.” 

    “Quigg du Snoo are accelerating to clear the threat box,” Yoop said.  

    “I have the enemy commander calling,” Shefoo said.  

    “Calling to surrender?” Sharp asked.  

    Alexis snorted and gestured for comms to put them through.  

    “Commander Alexis Cromwell, Winged Hussars.” 

    “Commander Syshkyl, Guardian Forest. I’m going to enjoy killing you.” 

    “Not as much as I enjoyed killing your sibling, Syshkyl.” A couple of snorts sounded around the CIC, and the Maki commander’s little eyes bugged out. 

    “You arrogant Human scum; we were battling in the stars before your race learned to make fire!” 

    “I’ve heard that one about a hundred times before,” Alexis said and made a dismissive gesture. “This was no more impressive than all the previous times. Admiral Omega of the Izlians had a rather inflated opinion of himself, as well, until I smashed him with an asteroid. Do you have anything useful to say before I do the same to you?”  

    Syshkyl muted the transmission while he screamed at his subordinates.  

    “What’s he going on about?” Sofeeka asked.  

    “Probably wondering if asteroids are about to squish him,” Alexis said, unable to keep the amusement out of her voice.  

    “You lie,” he said when he came back.  

    “Glad that’s out of the way. Anything else?”  

    “How did you get here? We’ve been in system for weeks, and you weren’t here yet, and you surely didn’t arrive at the emergence point.”  

    “The Hussars have always had their own ways of doing things.” 

    “Yeah,” Lieutenant Freep whispered to Sofeeka at her adjacent workstation. “Like a bunch of new ships equipped with hyperspace shunts and an SI that can let us arrive almost anywhere in a system.” The elSha gave Freep a subtle high-five, and the two grinned. Freep had been promoted a few months ago from ensign, one of several SalSha serving in the Winged Hussars. He had the distinction of also being one of the original group uplifted by Sansar Enkh more than six years ago. He’d done his time as crew on a space bomber and decided it wasn’t his thing; flying Pegasus was more his speed, and he excelled at it.  

    “Regardless of whatever subterfuge you’ve employed, it won’t save you.” Syshkyl cut the comms, and Alexis shook her head.  

    “They never learn.” 

    “The Maki are attempting to push off to our side to make us overshoot,” Sofeeka said, analyzing the tactical data.  

    “Their ships don’t have nearly enough delta-V,” Alexis said. “Freep, kick her in the butt, please.”  

    “With pleasure, Captain. Rock-n-roll!” The ship’s High-G Maneuver warning claxon sounded, and a second later, the ancient warship’s fusion torches roared. Along with her, matching the maneuver precisely, four new Hero-class battlecruisers also accelerated. Nearly identical to the Egleesius, they came on in a wedge directly at the Maki.  

    The Maki opened fire at extreme range, sending a massive wave of missiles that numbered in the hundreds. Their fleet included 23 of their Bloom­-class frigates, missile boats designed to spearhead assaults or harass enemy fleets with missile barrages.  

    “Formation Zeta, Sofeeka,” Alexis said as their threat box filled with hundreds of missiles. 

    “Formation Zeta, aye,” Sofeeka said and ordered the escorts up. 

    Alexis had spent the last five years in an intensive ship-building spree, adding more than 150 new ships since the Battle of Morgoth. A large portion of them had replenished the Hussars’ much-reduced fleet of frigates and escort frigates. The Sabre-class frigates were the Hussars’ missile-heavy ships, although she’d only brought a few this time.  

    Instead, she preferred the Kingdom-class escort frigate, even if only a few had been completed. They were much faster than most escort frigates, and mounted five 25-gigawatt lasers, centrally located. The new escort frigates mounted the weapons inboard and fired via an ingenious collimator system which allowed them to fire a single beam, several smaller beams, or to split it into hundreds of very small beams, which made it excellent for close escort of the Egleesius- and Hero-class ships. 

    As soon as the Maki committed to a full missile barrage, the nimble Kingdom-class escorts accelerated at high-G, passing around and through the tight formation of battlecruisers. It would have been considered a high-risk maneuver in most space navies, but the Winged Hussars practiced such operations from the early days of tactical training. Where the Izlians’ tactical doctrine favored heavy warship frontal assaults—the sledgehammer approach—the Hussars were nimble killers, more of a scalpel. It helped that they all had a new operating system, written by Ghost, to coordinate with other Hussars’ ships. 

    Twelve Kingdom-class escorts took the tip of the spear. Once past their bigger, slower battlecruiser cousins, they took up their own hexagon-shaped formations. The five equally new Sabre-class frigates assumed interlinked shield positions on the Hussars’ flank. As hundreds of Maki missiles came within range, the twelve escort frigates split their fire, each weapon generating twenty 1.25-gigawatt lasers in a sweeping wave of five thousand 300-megawatt lasers, each more than enough to destroy a missile with even a sweeping hit. The advantage of the Kindgoms as anti-missile escort frigates was clear as they swept space clear of the first wave missiles. 

    “Active missiles are nice,” Alexis said. “At least, until you run into an effective anti-missile laser barrage.”  

     The Maki responded with even more missiles. 

    “Lieutenant Freep,” Alexis said, “I understand you’ve been taking the advanced tactics classes at the war college?”  

    “That is correct, Captain.”  

    “Have you gotten to the detailed review of Izlian combined fleet tactics?”  

    “I read enough to know you loathe the Izlians’ tactics.”  

    Alexis chuckled, as did most of the older senior officers. “It isn’t so much that I loathe their tactics as their lack of them. A tactical dogma is not tactics.” 

    “I’m not sure I understand the difference.”  

    She gestured at the central Tri-V. “Their first wave of missiles was not only ineffective, they failed to get a single one through the primary defense screen. What counter to that would make sense?” 

    “Not even more missiles, obviously,” Freep said.  

    Alexis smiled and nodded. “And you would be correct. However, I give you Izlian tactical dogma. ‘Just because a frontal attack is anticipated the first time doesn’t mean it will be the second time’ is what they wrote.” 

    “If at first you don’t succeed, fail and fail again,” Kev Sharp said.  

    “Spoken like an American,” Alexis said and winked at her XO. “Sofeeka, drones, integrate formation Zeta please.”  

    The second wave of missiles was considerably bigger. Some missiles did get through the escort frigates, mostly around the edge of their formation. The five Hero-class ships and Pegasus supplemented the anti-missile fire to ensure none of the weapons came within range to damage the capital ships. As the last missile was destroyed, the Hussars’ drones raced out through the debris wave created by the destroyed missiles.  

    Thanks to Ghost and Sato, the Winged Hussars’ Raven-class drones were considered among the best in the galaxy. Most races used relatively slow drones, weighed down with heavy shields and weapons. Like their hit hard and evade tactics, the Hussars’ drones were incredibly fast, and uncannily smart. The speed and ability were courtesy of Sato; their intelligence came from Ghost, who wrote their programming.  

    In the intervening five years since the last major battle, the Hussars had continued to improve their drones, vastly expanding their shields and integrated networking capability. Ghost no longer had to maintain direct control, which had been a big part of their success in earlier years. They might have the same name, but these were much more formidable.  

    As the drones passed through the debris field, they used their built-in shields to avoid suffering any losses. The instant each one cleared the field, they turned off their shields and miniature fusion-powered torches, becoming effectively invisible. Other drones had a similar ability, but none of them were as effective in utilizing this tactic as a cohesive force. Alexis could almost see the Maki commander blinking in surprise.  

    “He’s about to learn a lesson his sibling didn’t survive to pass on,” Alexis said.  

    “Their cruisers are trying to push through to us,” Bainbridge noted.  

    <This tactic is unexpected. Something is unusual.> 

    “Drones, bypass the escorts,” she ordered, examining the data with her pinplants. “Target those three Stem-class light cruisers screening for the Petal-class battlecruiser.” 

    “What do you think they’re up to?” Sharp asked. “Trying to bog us down while they escape?” 

    “No. By now they see our High Guard approaching the stargate. They’re not shooting their way through a screen of nine cruisers and 17 frigates. Syshkyl thinks he has an edge if he can get close enough.”  

    “Those Petals only have four 2-terawatt barbettes. I mean, that’s decent configurable forward-facing firepower, but absolutely nothing compared to Pegasus or the Hero-classes with us.” 

    “He might not know about the Hero-class yet,” Alexis reminded her XO. “They’ve only been in a handful of conflicts over the last five years, and precious few got away to talk about them.” 

    <The Petal is emitting off-normal high-energy gamma rays.> 

    Meson weapons. 

    <Logical.> 

    “Bainbridge, order all forward elements to rekey shields for meson weapon attacks.” Her SitCon didn’t wait to confirm, but instantly sent out the order. “All drones on the Petal!” 

    Far past the missile barrage encounter, the coasting drones came alive at the same instant and reignited their fusion torches. Generating a few gigawatts of power, the drones massed but a ton each. With that much power to superheat reaction mass out a fusion torch nozzle, they were capable of in excess of 1,000 Gs of acceleration for up to three minutes.  

    The standard loadout for Winged Hussars’ drones was currently lasers, a change from the old days, when they split between a pair of sub-critical ship killers and an optimized particle beam. The reason was the new generation of laser collimators, which were the same ones mounted on the new and improved Legend-class escort frigates. Before, it hadn’t been practical to mount a laser and all the targeting/focusing equipment and get less yield than a particle beam.  

    The main advantages of lasers were their rate of fire and precision of targeting. A particle accelerator punched through shields and armor better, but with a rate of fire less than half that of a laser. With the new collimators, the drones could be packed with laser emitters and didn’t need the complex independent targeting systems normally associated with that sort of weapon. Each drone now sported a 500-megawatt laser, which could fire on a 300-degree arc with a pulse rate of five times per second and a 90% duty rate.  

    The Hussars’ 130 drones altered course and burned their torches at full power, converging on the Petal-class battlecruiser. When they began firing, their lasers combined for 65 gigawatts of power. That wouldn’t seem like much if you didn’t consider the accuracy of the drone’s fire or the pulse rate and duty cycle. Most ship’s energy weapons fired short, half-second bursts. The drones dumped power into a single section of the warship’s shields, creating a seemingly nonstop barrage of energy.  

    The targeted shield failed, and the battlecruiser’s crew attempted to roll. The drones responded seamlessly and instantly, rolling like a flock of birds, continuing to unleash their fire on the ship as they closed and passed. The lasers tore into the Petal’s hull, penetrated the armor, and began to melt internal structure. A string of secondary explosions rippled across the ship’s hull.  

    “Oh, that’ll leave a mark,” Sofeeka said, her gecko-like mouth opening in a laugh.  

    The other enemy ships attempted to alter their courses to cover the crippled command ship, and their formation fell apart, losing its previous effectiveness. Shields flashed like suns as two Branch-class cruisers nearly collided, only to be pushed back by the power of their defenses.  

    “Those cruisers just screwed up their shields,” Bainbridge said.  

    Alexis analyzed her vanguard’s facings and thrust. “Mary, tell Kosmalski and Terrance they have targets of opportunity.” 

    “Roger that,” her SitCon replied and relayed the order. Two of Pegasus’ escorting Hero-class battlecruisers immediately altered their course, the new ships’ powerful reaction thrusters flashing like weapons’ fire as they danced on their center of mass.  

    Alexis watched and nodded. The new ships were maneuverable, damned maneuverable. They’d done the best they could to upgrade the Egleesius to match them, but, the truth was, the new ships were faster, better armed, and more maneuverable than their ancestors.  

    <I am 20,000 years older, after all.> 

    I know, just admiring your descendants. 

    EMS Ensign Janice Kosmalski and EMS Captain Terrance, both named for Winged Hussars who died gallantly in the line of duty, finished their maneuvers and opened their bow doors. The main weapon of the Egleesius-class, as well as the Hero-class, was a 40-terawatt particle accelerator spinal mount.  

    They were usually only found as bay weapons on battleships, but some crazy Dusman engineer 20,000 years ago had looked at the massive weapon and said, “Someone should build a ship around this gun.” There were no ships of its class with nearly as big a punch. But it wasn’t just a big gun; the vessel was a long, narrow cigar shape, tapering until her bow was just as wide as the aperture of the spinal mount. Everything about the ship was optimized to use the weapon in offensive operations. They’d been the leading element of a thousand space battles under the Dusman, and for good reason. It was only when the war began to go badly that they’d ended production. 

    The two weapons fired in unison. They both struck the shieldless Branch-class cruisers’ armored hulls, which might as well have been armored with cheese. The 40 terawatts of particle accelerator energy flash-boiled meter-thick semi-ablative armor, scattering somewhat as it burned through deck after deck of the ships. One of the two was sliced like an avocado, and the two halves spun away, throwing off molten debris. The other one was hulled through the engine room, one of its fusion plants lost containment, and the ship exploded spectacularly.  

    “Have drones execute return course and engage their remaining cruisers from behind. All ships, initiate missile launch.”  

    The enemy fleet desperately tried to regain a cohesive formation as the Hussars bore down on them. Laser and particle beam fire came from the enemy. Like their formations, it was uncoordinated and easily dealt with. 

    “Bath is reporting engine damage,” Mary reported after a more cohesive barrage of laser fire, although it still didn’t manage to concentrate on any one target enough to do major damage. “Aberdeen is having difficulty with their engines and is dropping out of formation.” 

    “Understood,” Alexis said as a particle beam smacked Pegasus’ shields. The shudder that ran through the CIC told her it was no more than 5-gigawatt. “Time on Target for the drone reengagement?” 

    “ToT, two minutes,” Sofeeka said.  

    “We’re finishing our turn,” Sharp said to her.  

    “Very well. All battlecruisers, stand by main guns. Target all remaining cruisers.” She had a tiny smile on her face and a strange desire for a cup of tea.  

    “Captain,” Shefoo said, “I have Captain Kleest requesting you.”  

    “Captain,” Alexis said, “this is Commander Cromwell speaking.” 

    “Commander, we request you stand down.” 

    “Where is your commander, Syshkyl?” 

    “His ship is adrift; I have assumed command. What conditions do you offer?” 

    “Conditions? My good Captain, no conditions. You will surrender to the Winged Hussars without conditions, or I will end this myself.”  

    “I cannot accept those terms,” the Maki said, his face set, teeth slightly bared.  

    Despite the alien’s best efforts, Alexis saw a ball of fire swirl by behind the captain. She guessed it was one of the cruisers that had just eaten one of their shipkillers.  

    “We will continue the battle.” The Maki reached toward the camera.  

    “Kleest, wait.” The hand paused. “I implore you to reconsider. We’ve all but neutralized your escorts. My drones will be back around in another 30 seconds. Once they’ve taken out your remaining screening vessels, I’ll reduce your ships to slag. You’re beaten; don’t sacrifice your crews for pride.”  

    “I cannot surrender as long as Syshkyl may still live,” Kleest said. 

    Alexis looked at Sofeeka, who was looking at her. She nodded to the TacCom, who nodded back and used her controls. The lights in the CIC pulsed as a 40-terawatt beam lanced out, hitting Syshkyl’s ship nose first. The pulse transfixed the battlecruiser, stem to stern, exploding out just starboard of her main fusion torch. Secondary explosions rippled along its hull as the dead ship slowly spun, spewing a trail of luminous consumables and bodies venting into space.  

    “Ten seconds, Captain Kleest,” she said. It only took him one.  

    “I surrender my fleet.”  

    “All forces, stand down,” Alexis ordered.  

    “That concludes this lesson by Commander Cromwell,” Mary Bainbridge said.  

    Freep looked around. “Should I have been taking notes?”  

    “Kleest,” Alexis said after accepting their surrender, “tell me where you got the meson weapons, and we might let you go with your ships.”  

    “I wish I could,” Kleest said, “but Syshkyl was the only one aware of the transaction, and he is now dead.” 

    Alexis cursed and cut the transmission.  

      

    * * * * * 
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    Cartwright’s Cavaliers HQ, Houston, Texas, Earth 

    Jim had hoped for a day or two off upon getting home, especially after the Khatash campaign. When he woke up at 0730 to his standing alarm, though, he glanced at his pending ministry agenda using his pinplants and sighed. He’d gotten a lot done while on deployment, but he still needed to show up at the office to make several formal signings on contracts. Coming back out of his virtual space, he sat up in bed and stretched.  

    A phantom pain ran down his left leg, and he massaged the muscles for a moment. The connections in his spine didn’t work quite right anymore. Ziva was up already; she didn’t seem to operate on a normal Human schedule. He grabbed a robe, slipped it on, and stood carefully. After last night, his hip muscles were a little sore. He grinned as he slowly made his way across the hall. 

    Sounds of plastic crashing and homemade sound effects told him someone else was up already. He stepped across the hall and peeked through the mostly closed door. Thaddeus had a bunch of his plastic cars and toy soldiers and was having a serious rumble.  

    “Death from above!” Thaddeus roared and brought a toy CASPer in to collide with a line of tanks.  

    He’s got that much right, Jim thought, watching his son play.  

    “I gotcha back,” Thaddeus said and mimed something invisible attacking a line of soldiers to the side. “Thanks, Hunter!”  

    Jim grunted—that was something he’d never done as a kid, imagining a Depik Hunter helping his operation. He cleared his throat, and Thaddeus’ head spun around.  

    “Poppa!” He leaped up and made a running jump. Jim scooped him up easily and pulled him into a hug. “Did you see the battle?”  

    “Yes, I did,” Jim said and kissed the boy. Thaddeus made a smacking sound to the kiss, something he’d picked up from his mother. “I missed you.” 

    “I miss you too, Poppa. Momma said you did some fighting!” Thaddeus held up a toy CASPer, which Jim had been sure was a Mk 7. With a roar, he tossed it at the ‘enemy’ on the ground, scattering plastic soldiers and tanks.  

    “I hope you didn’t hit the Hunter,” Jim said with a twinkle in his eye. 

    “No, I didn’t. Hunter used quisense.”  

    Jim smiled even wider at the boy’s attempt to pronounce quintessence. “We helped some people who were being attacked by their neighbors,” Jim said.  

    “Why?” 

    “It was a fight over a planet. We were helping the Depik.”  

    “No, Poppa, why’d you help? They pay?”  

    “No, we kinda did it for free.” Thaddeus’ face screwed up in thought.  

    “Why?”  

    “Because that’s what Humans do sometimes. We help people who can’t help themselves.” 

    “Oh,” he said and surveyed the carnage. “Poppa? Who helps Hoomans?”  

    Jim paused, realizing the boy’s pronunciation of his own race was closer to the way Depik would say Human. “We have some friends,” he said. “You know the Aku?” 

    “Turtles!” 

    “Yes, they’re our friends. Do you know why?” Thaddeus shook his head. “Because we helped them first.” His son looked away from his toys into Jim’s eyes, and he felt like the child was staring into his soul. Jim felt his heart melt. “I love you, Thaddeus.” 

    “Love you too, Poppa!” He threw his arms around Jim’s neck, barely able to reach, and planted a big wet kiss on his lips. Jim chuckled.  

    “Hey, you two.” Ziva was standing down the hall by the stairs. “Breakfast is ready.” 

    “Let me grab a shower,” Jim said and put Thaddeus down. He ignored his mother and ran back to do battle. Ziva came over and replaced their son’s arms around him; like him, she also added a ‘kissy sound’ when their lips parted.  

    “You sleep well?” 

    “What sleep I got,” he said, and she smiled beautifully.  

    “It’s awesome to see you two together. He talks about you all the time. He was regaling a pair of Depik kittah about his dad being a Horseman. They were impressed.” 

    “They wouldn’t be if they saw the machine I need to help me walk.”  

    She shook her head, looking him in the eye. “No, the Depik would respect you all the more. You were wounded fighting for what you believe in. You don’t give up, Jim; never have.” 

    “I don’t really know how,” he admitted. “Got it from my dad.”  

    “And he’ll probably get it from you.” He gave her another quick kiss and headed for the shower. “I’ll keep breakfast warm.” 

    She did as she said. Bacon, eggs, toast, and milk, with Cap’n Crunch—Horsemen Special Edition—cereal for breakfast. That latter had chagrined Jim when he’d seen it. He needed to talk with the lawyer who oversaw the Horsemen’s joint licensing agreement. “You staying for a while?” he asked Ziva over toast.  

    “Yeah, for a few weeks at least.” 

    He raised an eyebrow. “Depik business?” he asked quietly. Thaddeus had a slate and was playing a game as he ate his cereal. 

    Ziva winked then laughed at his look of consternation. “No, it’s some things for the Wrogul and Humans on Azure, actually. Biomedical deals.” 

    “Oh, good,” he said with some relief. His position as Minister of War was complicated enough without adding his girlfriend running around the planet, helping the Depik off people for money. “I’m going to see if I can afford a couple days off next week. Maybe we can go somewhere as a family?” 

    “That would be fun.” She smiled.  

    Jim nodded. There was still some tension. How could there not be, after the things he’d said? But it also felt better. Maybe they’d made some progress. After breakfast, he went up and finished getting a suit jacket on, something he loathed as part of his day job, and strapped into his lower body exoskeleton. He did his best not to wear it at home, even though the stairs were a nightmare without it. He’d been warned if he let the dependence get out of hand, he’d eventually lose the ability to walk without it entirely. 

    Ziva met him at the door, Thaddeus riding her hip, both smiling at him. “Damn, I feel domestic now!” He laughed. Ziva chuckled and Thaddeus laughed, though he probably didn’t know why. He held his arms out, and Jim gave the boy a hug and a kiss.  

    “Bye, Poppa!” 

    “Bye.” 

    “Have a good day at work,” Ziva said. Jim snorted, and she shrugged. He kissed her, and she whispered in his ear, “I love you.” 

    “Love you, too,” he whispered back.  

    “I love you, too!” Thaddeus yelled and hugged both their heads. Jim whistled as he rode the elevator down.  

    While he waited for the aerocab, he had to adjust the straps on the exoskeleton. It never sat right. He’d almost given up after his injury. Luckily, Lieutenant Aaron Mayer had volunteered to help.  

    A decade ago, Mayer had lost both legs in a training accident. He’d wanted to be a marine, and, while in space, both legs had been pinned. The suit had sealed off at the thigh joints, keeping him from sucking vacuum. What it didn’t do was keep his legs from being exposed to vacuum for nearly an hour. There was nothing left to do but amputate.  

    He’d gotten some insurance from his merc contract, enough to pay his medical bills. Had he been on contract, he could have gotten enough for replacements, or at least cybernetic legs. Since that wasn’t an option, he’d gotten a bulkier version of the exoskeleton Jim now used and had gone right back to training. He’d worked so hard, he’d eventually scored a cadre slot with the Cavaliers; he was the only 30-year-old in cadre. His determination had then gotten him an active commission, and he’d proven himself many times since. 

    Once Jim had decided to not give in to the self-pity, he’d gotten to work, adapting to the exoskeleton. That had been easy enough, and, in days, he’d been walking, running, and jumping. Getting in and out of a CASPer with one on was more difficult, but he’d mastered that as well. However, only a month into his adaptation, he’d noticed that he’d gained back five kilograms, and that had incensed him. Immediately, he’d asked Mayer how he kept the weight off without being able to use his legs for running and swimming.  

    “I’d like to introduce you to arm-cardio,” the lieutenant had said.  

    Jim’s workout room in the control tower had been modified to include a device somewhat like a stationary bike that Jim used with his arms. “A torture device,” he’d called it. The fucking thing took twice as much work to expend the same amount of calories as a regular stationary bike.  

    Mayer also got him up to speed using the apartment’s endless pool to do laps with arms only, which required a lot of fiddling with the controls, and even more arm work. His normal 90-minute three times a week and 30-minute four times a week workout had evolved over the last four years to two hours per day. He also slept less; he just didn’t seem to need it.  

    When he’d checked his weight that morning before breakfast, he’d gotten a surprise. The scanning machine reported 119 kilograms. Back when Ziva had become his girlfriend, he’d just managed to get under 135 kilos for the first time in his life. Surprisingly, after the injury and adapting, the weight had come off faster. Every kilo he dumped made working in the painful exoskeleton easier and moving around his apartment without it safer.  

    He’d fallen innumerable times since he’d been hurt. Three years ago, he’d miscalculated a step on his apartment stairs. Two cracked ribs, a broken foot, and a mild concussion saw him back in the gym, hitting it twice as hard. He’d been pissed. Well, he was usually pissed. Hulk always mad, he thought and laughed silently.  

    The aerocab arrived, and he clambered in. Glancing out the window halfway to the government building, he gawked. “Holy shit!” About a thousand acres just east of his property was under construction. Hundreds of huge earth movers were bulldozing and grading, while robots poured concrete foundations, and helicopter cranes unloaded huge trucks loaded with steel beams, moving them to staging areas.  

    “What’s going on?” he asked the pilot, only to realize it was a robot cab with an empty driver’s seat. “Shit,” he said stupidly and released the lock on his pinplants to interface with the cab’s Aethernet. He found the story within a few moments.  

    “Dusman sign massive deal with Terran Federation to develop abandoned Pasadena and South Houston neighborhoods,” the report said. “Contract reportedly paid in red diamonds and included guarantees of purchasing Terran-made construction materials where possible.”  

    Jim hadn’t seen this in any of his updates. It took a moment to find the email in one of the many thousands of inter-ministry messages he got. The Minister of Development and the Minister of State had penned the agreement. Jim hadn’t been consulted. The contract was for 126 million credits, and yes, it was paid in red diamonds. The land lease was for 1,000 years! 

    The cab set him down on the main ministry roof. There, a squad of TFM—Terran Federation Military—saluted him. He returned the salute as he walked past to the elevator. This squad was partly younger men and women, a good sign. He’d checked the recruitment numbers as soon as they’d returned to Sol. They were trending solidly upward, especially space navy recruitment.  

    Instead of his office, he headed down to the 7th sublevel, far below the parking garages and equipment. He had to use his pinplants to unlock the lift. Good, he thought again. He was hoping against hope it wouldn’t be a big, blank concrete box, and, as the doors opened, he was relieved to see it wasn’t. A ceramic reinforced concrete door weighing 90 tons guarded by a pair of men in CASPers greeted him.  

    “Minister!” the one on the left said over his CASPer’s speakers. “Glad to see you back from kicking ass and taking names.”  

    “Kill kitties have their planet back?” the other asked.  

    “The operation was successful,” Jim said. “Command center operational?”  

    “Mostly,” the first one said. Jim nodded and stepped over the armored door’s threshold. He hadn’t recognized either of the names on the CASPers. The last data he’d reviewed showed the TFM had 250,000 men and women in uniform, with the second full battalion of CASPer-equipped troopers nearly having completed training. His five-year timeline had called for having four battalions stood up by now. At least they had enough personnel for the space navy.  

    He’d issued the contracts to build this bunker 30 months ago. It had been an 18-month contract. He could tell once inside that it still wasn’t finished, though good progress had been made. Dozens of Tri-V displays surrounded the center work stations, with space for 20 controllers to coordinate global response. Each section monitored different parts of the planet, though they could all be configured as necessary.  

    To the side was black operations. It had been blank concrete forms when he’d left. Jim went over to the consoles and, using his ID, brought them to life. Here, a series of large Tri-Vs combined for a real-time view of the solar system. Each planet and asteroid was programmed in and could be called up with great detail, as were friendly and neutral ships. No enemy, which was good, too.  

    The facility was mostly operational, though currently unmanned. Initial response to an attack would be from his command offices up in the tower. Once the fight moved away from the emergence point and toward Earth, the bunker would be manned. It was deep enough, and had sufficient armoring, to protect the occupants from a direct hit by any legal weapon, which meant under 10 miles. Because Jim had seen how well aliens followed the rules, it was also good enough to handle a hit by a 100-kiloton nuke. Anything more and, well, it wouldn’t matter.  

    The reality was, should aliens take over their orbitals, there wasn’t much hope at this point. Around the globe, ground had been broken on 10 ground-based defensive installations, eight around the equator, and one on each pole. Equipped with their own fusion plants, shields, and multiple 50-gigawatt laser batteries, kindly provided by Peepo’s allies and their captured ships, the bases were mainly for missile defense and to make landings extremely painful.  

    Around Earth orbited the gems of his effort, the fleet and orbital defense stations. The Earth Republic had maintained several, to little advantage when the war came. Orbital batteries with some defensive capabilities, they’d easily been swept aside. He didn’t plan these new ones as just orbiting gun platforms; these would be space fortresses, holding guns, defenses, and troops.  

    Six of the eight stations had started life as alien cruisers; the other two were made from scratch. Sure, they were also leftover parts of ships generously donated by humanity’s enemies, but much better built than the previous wrecks. Without having to move or jump to hyperspace, their fusion power was dedicated solely to shields and firepower. They had enough engine power to alter orbits, just not by much.  

    He’d named them after post-Revolutionary War forts. They were Fort Adams, Fort Gibson, Castle Pinckney, Fort Norfolk, Fort Greene, Fort Point Peter, Fort Sumner, and Easton’s Point. He’d had to explain the meaning several times to reporters. Norfolk and Pinckney were the ones built from the bottom up; the others were salvaged cruisers. Eventually those would be replaced as funding allowed. 

    The warships were another matter. They were all new and from up-to-date, current designs provided by the Winged Hussars. For that matter, they were being made by manufactories provided by the same. Jim had carefully allocated time and resources, including getting the manufactories to… duplicate.  

    The companies that produced the manufactories for the Trade Guild carefully controlled what their machines could do. The first rule was simple; don’t duplicate yourself. The coding was so deeply written into a manufactory’s base programming that a concerted attempt would result in the complicated machine killing itself, burning out vital components. And good luck getting the Trade Guild to fix it after that.  

    Jim had used his ace in the hole. Fhiss, the Aku’s foremost computer expert, was allowed surreptitious access to the manufactory. Jim had had to basically leave it in orbit, abandoned, and let the Aku tear into it. His experience with aliens and expensive tech hadn’t been very good up to that point. J’asa, then known as Splunk, had cost him more than a few credits, stealing and taking apart tech. Of course, with her being a sort-of scout for the Dusman, that made more sense in hindsight.  

    After their 72 hours was up, Fhiss and her assistants had returned to their Jovian headquarters. Jim set the manufactory to building ships, starting with their version of the Hussars’ Sword-class frigate, which the manufactory could produce at about one a month. He had hundreds of contracts with manufacturing firms on Earth, feeding the manufactory everything from subassemblies to ordnance. 

    By the time the third Sword-class had been finished, he’d nearly forgotten the Aku’s work on the manufactory. Then when a courier had arrived with a computer chip and a note. “This should do what you want, Savior. Thank you; it was fun!” He’d been unable to get them to stop calling him Savior.  

    He gave the chip to the team he had operating the manufactory and instructed them to enter it into the main operating system.  

    The chief engineer, an elSha twice his age, was skeptical. “Mr. Cartwright, the elSha have worked with manufactories for thousands of years. Any attempt to interfere with the operating system will wreck it. Any, attempt, sir. Believe me, we’ve tried.”  

    “I’m aware of that. Please use the chip.” 

    She did as instructed. Everything shut down, and she shook her head. A second later, it came back up as if nothing had happened.  

    “Instruct the system to begin preparations to copy itself.” 

    “Sir?” 

    “You heard me.”  

    The chief engineer did as instructed again, then gawked as the manufactory listed material needs as well as revised production schedules without so much as a second’s pause.  

    “Where did you get this?”  

    “Don’t ask,” Jim said. “Oh, and don’t try to copy the codes. They’ll only work once.” 

    Of course he’d thanked the Aku, who insisted no thanks were needed. Then, when the new manufactory was ready to go online, F11 was in short supply, and an unregistered tanker arrived with thousands of liters of F11. The chief engineer gawked, but Jim just smiled. “Never look a gift Equiri in the mouth,” he’d said.  

    Now Jim surveyed the fleet status and smiled. When the Omega War had begun and Peepo invaded, the planet’s sum total of defensive ships was just a tiny handful of patrol craft, bought cheap and crewed by poorly trained crews. Now, 62 ships were in orbit, not including the three salvaged alien laser frigates and drone carrier.  

    There were currently four manufactories, and they’d been busy. He’d considered having them all duplicate again. However, Earth was straining to keep four manufactories supplied. Crewing them was another challenge. He could never have afforded this without the manufactories. Earth didn’t have enough income to purchase even a single battlecruiser from the Izlians or the Maki. 

    “And now the four combined manufactories are building our first battleship,” he said with a smile. The big, cylindrical robotic factories were on a Tri-V, producing chunks of the eventual Terran Federation battleship TFS Texas. She would be the flagship of the fleet.  

    And that ship was a wholly Terran-made design. The Hussars had consulted, but his people had done the legwork on the Federation-class. He didn’t have the 75 ships he’d planned, but even so, he was proud of what they’d done. Earth still wouldn’t survive the same kind of onslaught Peepo had sent, though; not in a stand up fight.  

    Jim looked at the Tri-V showing the emergence point and called up the plans in his head. “Not yet,” he said. A new infusion of nearly two hundred million credits, and his department would get a chunk. Things were looking up. 

    Satisfied, he powered down the bunker’s systems and returned to the elevator. Time to finish his report and probably face the music.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Section 51 Facility, Dwarf Planet Eris 

    “Is everything finally ready?” Adrianne McKenzie asked. 

    “It is,” Lieutenant Jerry Stovall said in a tone that indicated he was tired of her micromanagement. 

    The Section 51 director nodded sharply. “Good. Walk me through what you’ve done, including all precautions taken. We absolutely cannot allow this thing to get out. Blotto wanted to kill it outright, but I talked him out of it so you could have your chance.” 

    At the mention of Adrianne’s boss, Stovall shivered slightly, and she knew there would be no further issues with Stovall. “Even at this stage of the game,” she continued, “if you think there’s any chance at all of this going sideways, you need to let me know now. As helpful as it would be to develop a SI jammer or SI inhibitor of some kind, we absolutely can’t release Charybdis. Even if it doesn’t kill us, Blotto will.” 

    “I understand that,” Stovall said. She’d been wrong; he still had all the petulance she would have expected from a five-year-old being told to look both ways before crossing the street. “We’ve put all the necessary precautions in place to hold the SI. Besides, it’s become very helpful in the experimentation process. It’s now answering questions.” 

    “It is?” Adrianne asked. She pursed her lips. The SI had never done anything to help the Section understand it; they’d gotten more info from Sansar Enkh and Alexis Cromwell than they had from Charybdis. 

    “Absolutely,” Stovall replied. If he heard the suspicion in her voice, he didn’t address it. “Regarding safeguards, first, we’re holding the experiment here on Eris, out past the orbit of Neptune.” 

    “I realize that,” Adrianne said, “I did take the really long spaceship ride out here.” 

    The scientist pouted. “You told me to cover all the precautions.”  

    Great, the petulant child just became a spoiled one. She sighed to herself. Scientists and their egos. “Sorry. Yes, I did say that. Please continue.” 

    “So, we’re way out here. There’s nothing for Charybdis to jump to if something goes wrong. That’s the first precaution. Also, if we should somehow lose containment, we have a corvette standing off with nuclear missiles. The crew will blast the site if that happens, destroying the SI and any evidence of our having been here.” 

    “Aside from the flash.” 

    “No one will see it. We’d have to be really unlucky for anyone to spot anything this far out.” 

    “I don’t want to depend on luck.” 

    “No one will see it,” Stovall confirmed.  

    “Is the corvette far enough away to prevent Charybdis from jumping to it?” 

    “Yes, it’s at twice the range for which a jump is theoretically possible.” 

    Adrianne nodded. “Okay, what else?” 

    “We have not two, but three confinement cages built into the underground vault. The first and third provide electrical containment, while the second isolates any magnetic fields that might be inherent to its jumping ability. The confinement cages include over a foot of pre-tin plated steel, which stops frequencies in the lower kilohertz range into the lower gigahertz range, and a foot of alloy 770, which is an amalgamation of copper, nickel, and zinc that shields from the mid kilohertz range up into the gigahertz. There’s also a foot of lead surrounding the entire facility, which is effective at stopping gamma rays and x-rays… not that we think it transmits in that range, but because we were trying to be comprehensive.” 

    “Okay, and what safety protocols are you using?” 

    “When we run the experiment, there will only be one person on the moon, and the corvette will be outside jumping range. If anything untoward should happen, the corvette has orders to destroy the entire moon.” 

    “And who will be running the experiment?” 

    “I will. The cage was built according to my directions. If it fails to contain Charybdis, it’s my fault, and I’ll be the one to pay. Of course, Charybdis says he can’t inhabit people, but I don’t trust him on that.” 

    “I certainly wouldn’t,” Adrianne noted. “We know very little about the SIs, but we know the Type 5s can jump to Human hosts. I’m willing to bet the Type 4s can do so, too.” She looked at Stovall and pursed her lips. “You’re sure he can’t get out of the cage you’ve built?” 

    “Yes, ma’am, and I’m willing to bet my life on it.” 

    “You are, actually.” 

    “I know, ma’am, and I’m okay with that. It’s going to work.” 

    “And the jammer?”  

    “I’m pretty sure that’s going to work, too.” 

    “You’re only ‘pretty sure?’” 

    “Well, we don’t actually know the frequency range the SI uses to jump, so we have several types of jammers that are effective at different frequency ranges. We just have to find out what that range is, which is the purpose of this experiment.” 

    “And Charybdis is actually willing to help with this?” 

    “Yes, ma’am. We promised him he’ll be the controller of the new defensive network the Ministry of War is building around the planet.” 

    “You promised him what?” 

    “Charybdis is a Type 4 SI. The Type 4s are independent-functioning, weapons-grade SI, which were most often used to run starships and mobile firebases. Charybdis was ‘born’ to run a mobile firebase, and sees the operation of Earth’s defensive systems as well within his abilities. Not only that, he would be completing the purpose he was created for, which is most desirable to him.” 

    “There’s no way the Minister of War will ever go for that, though.” She chuckled wryly. “I know him pretty well, and I can tell you that has zero chance of ever happening.” 

    Stovall smiled. “Of course it doesn’t, ma’am, nor would I ever let Charybdis out, much less put it in charge of armaments that could reach Earth. Charybdis doesn’t need to know that, though.” 

    “So, you’re lying to it.” 

    “Of course. It was the only way to get it to cooperate.” 

    “It’s going to be angry when it finds out it was deceived.” 

    “And at that stage, Blotto will get his wish, and we can destroy it. In addition to developing a jammer to prevent it from jumping, as directed by Blotto himself, I’ve also developed a scrambler, which I think will kill it. It’s basically a weapon that fires a directed EMP, something along the lines of the technology used by the Dusman ship facilities in the Kop’ka system to disable the Human fleet when we attacked them.” 

    “Very well. I can’t find any fault in your preparations. I’ll give it the green light to proceed when I get back to Section 51.” 

    Stovall smiled. “You sound disappointed to do so, Director.” 

    Adrianne nodded. “I have every right to be disappointed. I think this is a terrifyingly dangerous idea, and there are plenty of ways it could go horrifically wrong. On the scale of a complete planetary wipeout, a rogue SI is worse than the development of nuclear weapons.” 

    “So why are you going to green light it, then?” 

    “Because we need the capability. There are already who-knows-how-many SIs running around the galaxy, jumping from host to host, and we currently don’t have any way to stop them, much less kill them. A jammer is the first step in holding them down.” She stared piercingly at Stovall. “We need this technology to work if we’re to have a chance against them. Otherwise, I’d have agreed with Blotto and sent Charybdis’ case into the sun a long time ago.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Tesadyne System, Cresht Region, Tolo Arm 

    The battle over, it took several hours to get ships out of combat configuration. This largely meant recovering drones, safing fired missiles, and scrubbing off velocity. Fleets didn’t stand back and fire at each other like in old Earth pre-Tri-V movies. Combat took place at relatively high closing velocities. Most times it only took a single pass for there to be a clear winner and loser. This was one of those times. 

    As the Hussars’ frigates were the quickest in the fleet, they were the ones who ensured the surrender remained a surrender. It wouldn’t have been the first time an enemy realized the victor’s velocity had carried them out of effective combat range and decided to run, or even to renew the attack. Humans weren’t known for doing this; they were known for simply refusing to admit they were beaten, and then winning anyway.  

    Alexis spent the time necessary to bring the fleet back together reviewing the fleet captain’s AARs. After Action Reports were essential in order to piece together parts of the battle not directly witnessed, not to mention providing essential aids in training the thousands of young or new starship crews she was in command of.  

    Their losses for the engagement totaled 11 drones and damage to three frigates. Aberdeen and Bath had moderate damage. No casualties beyond minor, incidental injuries. A young ensign on board Aberdeen had tried to reposition during a high-G maneuver and had fallen, breaking his pelvis. That was the worst. 

    As the heavy element of her fleet rejoined the frigates, the smaller ships were well on their way to transferring prize crews over to the Quigg du Snoo ships. The Maki were many things; great hand-to-hand fighters wasn’t one of them. That didn’t mean they wouldn’t fight; they were a merc race, after all. However, they preferred to hire other races for the dirty work, instead flying ships and pushing buttons to kill their enemies. The fact that they were less than half the size of a Human, and Humans were on the smaller, more delicate side of merc races, might also have had something to do with it.  

    It was also a matter of racial mindset; like Humans, the Maki weren’t a monolithic merc race. The Maki were involved in every imaginable trade, and only a small percent became mercs. In fact, the Maki were far more powerful within the Merchant Guild than the Mercenary Guild. Whatever the reasons, they usually didn’t put up a fight once beaten, and there were no reports of serious resistance to boarding the surviving enemy ships.  

    Once the victory was secured, Alexis ordered engineers from the support ships to begin recovering what parts could be found from Syshkyl’s vessel. She somewhat regretted wrecking the vessel after Ghost informed her it was the only ship to show the signature energy emissions indicative of meson weapons. The effort was still underway as Pegasus came abreast of her fleet, and all combat stations were secured.  

    “Keep an eye on the emergence point,” she told her XO and unbuckled. “You have the ship.” 

    “Roger that,” he said. “It looks like the Maki are pretty thoroughly licked.” 

    “I agree, so I’m going to get some downtime.” The CIC was unsealed, and she floated aft to her stateroom.  

    The armored door slid open, leaving behind the sterile warship’s hallways and compartments in favor of gentle colors and music. “Mama!” the twins called in unison.  

    “Glad to see you two are fine,” she said to Armin and Katrina, “but surprised you’re awake past your naptime.” 

    “They were impossible to get to sleep after the battle,” Gina said.  

    Alexis noted the young woman looked more frazzled than the twins. Then she realized why. “Oh, Gina, my God, I’m sorry. You’ve never been in a space battle before!” 

    “No,” she admitted. “The closest I’d been was on Prime Base when Peepo’s fleet attacked.” 

    “You mean Paka’s fleet,” Alexis corrected, her face darkening.  

    “What’s wrong, Momma?” Armin asked, the little boy launching himself from the wall to collide into her arms. Katrina was right behind him.  

    “Momma is fine,” she said, nuzzling the kids. The anger at the memory of her worst betrayal melted away in unconditional love. She cast a curious look at Gina.  

    “I’m okay,” Gina replied. “It was terrifying; that’s all.”  

    “We were never in any real danger.” 

    “I don’t know how you can say that,” Gina said. “From the moment the alarm sounded until I heard the all clear, I felt like I would die at any second.” 

    Alexis reveled in the feeling of her children in her arms for a time, remembering the first time she’d been in combat. She hadn’t been much older than her twins, and she’d had no idea what mortal peril was. Gina was a Hussar by birth. Not all Hussars fought, not even most, if you considered it.  

    Before the Omega War, the Hussars had constantly bumped against the Mercenary Guild rule that required a company be made up of more than 50 percent of the race that had formed it. A habit of hiring aliens that goes back to our founding, she thought.  

    “I understand,” Alexis said to her nanny. It was the first cruise she’d taken the twins along on, and without thinking, it was almost exactly the same age she and Katrina had been when their mother had taken them on their first cruise. It was also when she’d first encountered Ghost.  

    <I was wondering if you would remember that.> 

    As if I could forget? She spoke to Gina again. “If you want, I’ll detach a courier and send you home.” Gina’s eyes went wide. “It isn’t a disgrace,” she said. “It was inconsiderate of me to drag you into a war zone.”  

    “You didn’t know the Trade Guild would approach you to do this when we left. This trip was supposed to be to train with the new captains, right?”  

    “It was just supposed to be a training cruise. I forgot about your situation. Shall I take you home?”  

    “No,” she said. “My duty to you and them should transcend my fear. I’ll be okay; it has to get better. Right?”  

    “I’m sure it does.”  

    Gina laughed. “You don’t sound convinced. You’ve never been afraid of fighting, have you?”  

    “I guess not,” she admitted, then looked at the twins. “Fighting is in our blood.”  

    She spent a half hour talking about the fight and playing with the kids until she caught herself repeatedly yawning. “I need to do a couple things, then get some sleep.” 

    “I’ll take them,” Gina said. The twins were yawning, too, and despite vociferous complaints, they accompanied Gina into the adjacent compartment. Both rooms were more akin to individual spaceships than normal spaces aboard a ship. All the staterooms and crew quarters on Pegasus could be sealed and would maintain their own atmosphere for many hours. When the first Hussars brought their kids aboard Pegasus, the compartments were armored, and additional survival capabilities added. It wouldn’t save the occupants from a direct hit, but in the event the ship was crippled, or the compartment separated from the superstructure, those inside could survive for up to a week.  

    With the twins out of her room, she used the Tri-V to call the nearby planet. “This is Alexis Cromwell of the Winged Hussars.”  

    The Tri-V came alive to show a room full of Jeha. “Alexis Cromwell, this is Ak’a’kl’sk. I am administrator of the Tesadyne Manufacturing Subset. Your arrival came at an ideal time.”  

    “Your guild contacted us to assist you, and I accepted as a favor.” 

    “What I don’t understand,” Ak’a’kl’sk said, “is how you arrived in-system without it being detected?”  

    “Your installation here is a mystery, Ak’a’kl’sk, so the Trade Guild has its secrets. The Winged Hussars have our own.”  

    The Jeha, for all intents and purposes a two-meter-long millipede complete with huge glistening pincers, looked at her with his twin mobile eyestalks. “Obviously you have secrets; that’s why I wanted to know how you got here.”  

    Alexis shook her head. Jeha were the galaxy’s more renowned straight men—about as literal as you could get. “I don’t plan to reveal that secret,” she said. “We’ll be dealing with the Maki for about 24 hours, at which point we’ll be leaving you.”  

    “What if they return with more forces?”  

    “That’s up to your guild, Ak’a’kl’sk. We’ve completed our contract.”  

    “I understand,” Ak’a’kl’sk said and cut the connection. Not only were they literal, you really couldn’t offend a Jeha, either. Social niceties were a waste of time with them.  

    Anyone familiar with the Hussars’ ships would easily recognize what their secret was. The new Hero-class were equipped with nine specialized docking collars, each capable of mating up to a cruiser in size. Of course, there wasn’t room for nine cruisers to dock with a battlecruiser. They could handle various combinations, though. Three cruisers and three frigates was possible, as was six frigates and a single cruiser, or even nine frigates.  

    Years ago, she’d used the Egleesius-class ships to carry others into a pitched battle. Back then, it had been a desperate move. However, it had worked so well that, when the Hero-class was under construction, it had been built into their design. None of them had the extendable gravity decks of Pegasus; they’d been abandoned in favor of fixed gravity decks.  

    The reason the docking collars were special was to allow them to extend their hyperspace fields over the docked ships. Not just any hyperspace field, either. The Hero-class, like the Egleesius, had hyperspace shunts, which allowed them to enter hyperspace without a stargate. Finally, each ship had a far more powerful computer which, when accompanying Pegasus, allowed Ghost to program them before jumping.  

    One of Ghost’s special abilities had long been Pegasus’ secret edge, the ability to allow the ship to arrive almost anywhere in a star system. Partly the result of ancient and incredibly accurate star maps, it was also the computing power of Ghost, a Type 4 SI. Now the Hussars could not only jump Pegasus almost anywhere into a system, but an entire fleet, complete with any docked support ships, troop transports, or even drone carriers.  

    This assault had been the first real-world test, and it had gone off without a hitch. <Just like I said it would.> 

    I never had any doubt, she told the synthetic intelligence.  

    <You expressed concern at many planning meetings.> 

    Concern isn’t doubt. 

    <The complexities of Human emotions elude me. Perhaps a Type 5 SI would understand better.> 

    For all our sakes, I hope not. I’m going to get some sleep. Keep an eye on things. 

    <Always.> 

    Alexis slept well. 

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Silent Assault, Approaching the Seeleeth System 

    A light came on over the cryopod, then other lights raced across its shell. On the screen in the center of the pod, a single word illuminated: Thawing. 

    An hour later, the cover opened, and a being stirred within. After a few moments, a single tentacle rose from the pod to wrap itself around the metal rung above it. Slowly, the creature pulled itself from the pod, regaining its strength the more it moved. Although there was only a quarter-G of gravity, the being hadn’t moved in almost twenty thousand years, and it took a while for mobility to return to its limbs. 

    Slowly, ever so slowly, it worked itself over to the repeater that could be used to call up any of the displays or data streams from the bridge. It didn’t smile—its kind couldn’t—but it nodded happily to itself. The ship was on target. 

    It looked at other data streams. Not all the ships were still in company with the flagship, but that was to be expected. Only those suffering from hubris would have expected the entire fleet to make it without experiencing some losses. Similarly, the troops slumbering in the cryopods had not all survived the journey. A full 12% of the pods had suffered a fault, and the ship had jettisoned their occupants along the way. If anyone ever recreated their expedition, they could follow the trail of bodies spread out behind them. 

    The being chuckled to itself. With the ship slowing, some of the most recent pod failures would actually be the first to arrive in-system as the ship continued to slow from its transit speed. Hopefully, no one would notice the bodies rocketing through their system or have cause to wonder where they came from. 

    The being’s slate buzzed, and he looked down. A single query illuminated on the screen. “Initiate protocol?” The being tapped the affirmative. Across the cryobay, lights dashed across all the remaining cryopods. He would have to pick someone to fulfill the second-in-command position, as his XO had been one of the 12%. Unfortunate, that. 

    He shifted the data stream in the Tri-V to focus on the long-range cameras targeted on the approaching system. It was still many days away, but drawing ever closer. He couldn’t wait for the day—after almost 20,000 years—that he got to say the words he’d been dreaming of for so long.  

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Office of the Minister of War, Houston, Texas, Earth 

    “Minister Cartwright, you seem to hold our wishes in contempt.” 

    Jim kept a firm hold on the raging monster in his mind and responded evenly. “No, I hold the idea that I can’t do my job as the commander of Cartwright’s Cavaliers in contempt.”  

    The meeting was being held virtually, since the Federation cabinet was dispersed all over the world. Several were in the building at any time, but the job was simply too much to expect all eleven ministers to appear for every meeting. Between the Aethernet and Tri-V tech, group meetings were simple now. The only requirement for an official governing council meeting was the president and five other members. The fact that all eleven were there? Yeah, they were annoyed. 

    The cabinet he’d helped put together. The only two who remained from five years ago at the Federation formation was Mariah Perez of Mexico, Minister of State, and Negosi Abate, Minister of Education. The other original members had all moved on. Vihan Patel of India came on as Minister of Interior the second year, along with Yuito Takan of Japan as Minister of Commerce, and Orlando Potter of the UK as Minister of Environment. The third year, the Minister of Finance went to Janet Shoemaker from Israel, and the Minister of Colonial Relations to Emma Bernard from France. Marty Perone from Texas became Minister of Science and Technology in year four.  

    The only other change had been the president, of course. They served for only two years each, so last year a new one had been chosen by the member states from China, Hàoyǔ Zhang. The president wasn’t a position of high power and political sway, like in the old United States; they were more akin to a prime minister, serving to break ties in ministerial votes and to set general policy.  

    “Explain,” President Hàoyǔ Zhang said, clearly exasperated.  

    “The leadership of the Depik officially asked me, Colonel Cartwright, to assist them in the liberation of their world, Khatash. They had a hand in our liberation just five years ago. It was a reasonable request. It’s better to be friends with the Depik than enemies.”  

    “The Depik are that feline assassin race?” Janet Shoemaker asked.  

    “Yes,” Jim said.  

    “Peepo killed them all, I thought,” Shoemaker replied. “Isn’t the galaxy better off without them?” 

    “Peepo tried to enslave them,” Jim clarified as patiently as he could. “As a result, the Depik committed mass suicide on Khatash. However, all those not on Khatash survived. Thousands of them, actually. Do you really think a couple thousand Depik wandering the galaxy on a perpetual revenge bender is such a great idea?”  

    “No, that does sound worse,” the finance minister agreed. 

    <No shit, bitch,> the voice snarled. He managed to not say it out loud, though only barely.  

    “There seems to be a conflict between your two jobs,” the president said.  

    “And I warned you about this when I was roped into the job more than five years ago. You said your biggest concern was my age at the time. Yeah, it was, but I said the bigger one was that I’m first and foremost a Horseman. We have a saying: The Four Horsemen for Earth. These aren’t just words; they never have been. We’ve worked as a group for more than a century to make this planet—and now her colonies—as safe as we could. We worked with the government when we could, but we did it on our own when we had to.” 

    He paused to look around at the ten faces and frowned at the unspoken words he saw. “You don’t have to say it; I know what you’re thinking. The Omega War was about us, the Horsemen, and you’re right. But why do you think it was about us? Why do you think, one after another, Peepo and her operatives did their level best to destroy or kill us?” 

    “To soften us up, I would guess,” Mariah Perez said.  

    Jim nodded. State was on his side occasionally—one of the few he could count on.  

    “Have you ever considered that the synthetic intelligences could have also been behind the plot against the Horsemen?” Marty Perone said. 

    Jim looked at the Minister of Science and Technology with surprise. Not only because it was insightful, but because he hadn’t actually considered that angle. It had been their belief that the entire Omega War and Peepo’s plot to subjugate humanity was to add another arrow to her quiver against the long-simmering Kahraman war to keep them in their prison. But what if Perone was right?  

    He started to speak, then paused, eyebrows knitting as he considered. Plots within plots—the galaxy was just a giant trap waiting to be sprung. According to what he knew, the Kahraman and the Dusman had mutually destroyed each other, and then both fled, the Dusman to second level hyperspace, and the Kahraman back to the fourth arm of the galaxy, the Cygnus/Scutum arm. Why there, he didn’t know, but they’d been bottled up there ever since the end of the Great War. The synthetic intelligences might be there, too. Had they been there all along?  

    “Minister Cartwright?”  

    Jim blinked and focused, realizing Zhang had addressed him at least once before he’d come back around.  

    “Yes, President?” 

    “Do you think the synthetic intelligences are behind it?”  

    “That would suggest the SIs are behind the Mercenary Guild.”  

    “You don’t think that’s a possibility?” Zhang asked.  

    “No,” Jim said, looking at her, “I think it’s highly likely, now that the obvious has been pointed out to me.” How could I not have considered this before? The SIs are probably behind all the guilds. Some fucking remnant of the galaxy before the war tore it all apart, running on autopilot. Maybe the one ordered Peepo to take us down, all because 20,000 years ago it got an order it’s still trying to carry out. Fuck. 

    “Are we done with chastising me yet?” he asked.  

    “I don’t think we’re done, Minister, but we’ve said our piece.” 

    “Before you go, I have a question.” They all looked a little surprised. “Why wasn’t I consulted on the deal with the Dusman?”  

    “We decided you were too busy, since you were off world,” Minister Balthis said.  

    “It was mutually beneficial as well,” Perez said.  

    Jim smiled coldly. “Very well. I would ask you to please consult with my department in the future before allowing aliens to build a massive military complex next to my house?”  

    “We’ll take it under advisement, Minister Cartwright,” President Zhang said. “If that’s all?” Jim nodded, and the Tri-v conference ended.  

    “Fuckers,” he said, shaking his head.  

    Jim spent the rest of the day finalizing work he’d let lapse while gone, then returned home early. Ziva and Thaddeus were playing in the living room and looked up in surprise. “Hey,” he said. “Who wants to go to Bermuda for the weekend?”  

      

    * * *  

      

    Visitors’ Quarters, Merc Guild Headquarters, Capital Planet 

    Nigel’s comm chimed as it received an incoming call. He looked at the message ID and winced before accepting the call. “Captain Kaupo, what can I do for you today?” 

    “Dude, it’s been five years. Five years. Any luck on getting us provisional status with the guild?” 

    “I’m sorry, Captain, but the answer is no. The other races refuse to consider giving you provisional status until you’ve completed some contracts and can show you’re worthy.” 

    “Seriously? Humans sent out 100 companies and lost 96 of them, and you were considered worthy. We fought on the front lines against the Kahraman for almost 100 years, and we’re still here. How does that not show we’re worthy?” 

    “The other races admit you can fight, and probably fight well; unfortunately, you haven’t shown the ability to discharge contracts faithfully. Truth be known, the fact that you were on the front lines probably scares a lot of them quite a bit. You’ve fought the Kahraman; just think what you’ll do to them? And you’re aligned with the Humans, which also scares them.” 

    “But, dude, we’re not aligned with you. We’re not aligned with anyone. We’re just free agents looking to score some credits so we can feed our kids.” 

    “You come from Earth. That taints you in a lot of the races’ eyes.” 

    “But we’re not from Earth, dude. All the ones who were from Earth are dead now. None of us have even been to Earth. I was born on Hoarfrost, but moved to Vishall as a youngster.”  

    “You just have to complete a few contracts—” 

    “Haven’t you been listening, man? We can’t get any contracts to complete. Your stupid program rarely assigns a contract to us, and when it does, it’s a garrison contract on a desert world. What the fuck, man? We’re freaking aquatics! Give us a contract that involves spaceships or an undersea contract, how about?” 

    “Seriously?” Nigel asked, trying not to chuckle at the thought of a dolphin on a desert planet. “All you’ve gotten is desert world contracts?” 

    “That or others we couldn’t take. We had to turn them all back in.” Kaupo paused and then asked, “Are you guys just screwing with us? Taking advantage of the newbies? That’s wrong, man, just wrong.” 

    “No, we’re not screwing with you,” Nigel said. “What I expect is happening is the established races are grabbing the cherry contracts, and you’re getting the dregs that no one wants. Let me talk to my programmer and see if we can get you something more appropriate for you to complete.” 

    “Thanks, man; it’d be appreciated.” Kaupo sounded slightly mollified. “Hey, dude, can you tell me when the Weapons Conglomerate is going to be working again?” 

    “The Weapons Conglomerate? It’s selling weapons all over the place. We just fought a group that had bought all new laser rifles from the Conglomerate. That’s what they said, anyway.” 

    “Not the Weapons Conglomerate that sells weapons; the Weapons Conglomerate that used to arm ships to go to the front. That Weapons Conglomerate. We need to get these crappy meson weapons off our ships so we can have beam weapons added that won’t blow up when we use them.” 

    “You mean the one in the Kop’ka system?” 

    “Yeah, dude; it’s abandoned. We went there to get the meson weapons removed from the ship, and there’s like no one home.” 

    “Seriously?” 

    “Yeah, dude, it’s totally vacant. Like splitsville.” 

    “I’ll try to find that out for you,” Nigel said. “Don’t mention it to anyone else for now, though. I’ll also make sure you get contracts you can complete, real soon.” 

    “Okay, dude. We’ll be here for a couple of days. Let me know what shakes out.” 

    “Will do,” Nigel said and signed off. Kop’ka is open? I wonder if the SI that was running it left anything of the tech base behind. I need to get out there and look before anyone else hears about this…  

      

    * * * 

      

    Second Lieutenant Randy Jacobs knocked on the door, and Nigel waved him in. 

    “Thanks for coming,” Nigel said. “I have a special mission for you.” 

    “Sure, sir, whatever you need.” 

    “I need you to be me.” 

    “Uh… I’m not sure I understand.” 

    “I need you to take my place here for a couple weeks. No more than three.” 

    “And do what?” 

    “I need you to represent us Humans. It’s easy. You just sit in meetings and try real hard not to kill the Veetanho rep. That’s normally Prava, but she’s been gone the last two meetings. Doesn’t matter whether it’s Prava or the stand-in, though; they’re both pains in the ass. Whoever it is will be sitting next to you at the table.” 

    “I’ve never met a Veetanho before, sir.” 

    “They may be tactically proficient, but as conversationalists, they’re vastly overrated. No matter what you do, she’ll probably say something nasty.” 

    “Why would she do that, sir? Aren’t we supposed to be trying to work things out for the betterment of the guild?” 

    “You would think so, but it’s more like everyone at the table’s trying to get the biggest piece for themselves. The Goltar and the Veetanho are the worst for it. Hell, I saved Prava’s life, and she’s still awful to me.” 

    “So what should I do with the Veetanho rep, then?” 

    “Just ignore her and try not to let her get under your skin. If it’s Prava, she’s also a hothead. She pulled a pistol on the Speaker a few years back.” 

    “Really?” 

    “Yeah, so don’t let her annoy you. She’s probably faster on the draw, and she’d love nothing better than for you to give her an excuse to kill you.” 

    For the first time, Jacobs lost the bright-eyed look, as his eyes widened to almost twice their size. “Uh… okay, sir.” 

    Nigel shrugged. “Just do what I do. Ignore the Veetanho rep when possible, and definitely don’t engage. Think about ways to kill her and smile. That infuriates them more than anything.” 

    “Okay,” Jacobs said, taking a deep breath, “I think I can do that.” 

    “Good.” 

    “What else?” 

    “Use your best judgment. You can review past sessions and see what I’ve argued for.” Nigel flipped a small box to Jacobs. “This is a two-way link with the Revenge. Everything I’ve done gets recorded on the ship. You can download anything you want until we leave the system.” 

    “What happens if someone wants to talk to you personally after you’ve left?” 

    “Tell them I’ve got the plague or something, and that I’m in bed. I don’t want anyone to know I’m gone for at least a week.” 

    “Where are you going?” 

    “It’s better you don’t know. Suffice it to say, it’s a secret mission for the guild. I’ll be back as soon as I can.” Nigel transmitted a file. “I just sent you the floor plan for the Merc Guild headquarters, along with the areas highlighted that are of importance to you. I hope you brought some food with you.” 

    “Food? No, sir, I didn’t know I was supposed to.” 

    “That’s too bad, because the food here sucks. It’ll make a shit, but that’s about it.” 

    Jacobs developed a slightly greenish tinge. “Uh… is any of it… I don’t know. Poisonous? I’ve kind of got a weak stomach.” 

    “Most of it’s not poisonous, but don’t worry, it’s all labeled with who can consume it. Generally, I’ve found that you’ll want to stay away from anything the Tortantulas or Gokas are eating. Literally. Stay away. Some of it’s still alive, and some of those things are poisonous.” 

    “But what if there’s a vote or something; can I get a hold of you?” 

    “Newp. I’ll be out of the system. If anyone asks where the Revenge went, just tell them it went back to Earth for some upgrades, which it’s due for. Anything else?” 

    “I’m still not real sure—” 

    “You’ll be fine. If there’s a vote, whichever way the Bakulu votes is typically the way to go. Or vote the opposite of the Veetanho, which pisses her off, and is fun to do, too. If you need to run anything by someone, the Tortantula and Flatar reps are both pretty cool.” 

    “Really? The Tortantula?” 

    “Yeah. I never would have expected it, either, but Zzemdal’s pretty smart. The Flatar rep, Greebar, is too. They make a great team, and their goals are pretty close to ours.” Nigel shrugged. “The Oogar just wants to eat, sleep, and kill things. The MinSha is a MinSha, and therefore not to be trusted, and the Lumar—” 

    “Don’t ask the Lumar for help with math.” 

    Nigel nodded. “See? You’re a natural at this. You’ll be fine. All you have to do is lay low. The meeting schedule is in the file I sent you; the first council meeting is tomorrow morning, so you have time to get acclimated.” He smiled. “Anything else?” 

    Jacobs squared his shoulders. “I’ve got this, sir. You just go do the… whatever it is, and I’ll watch out for humanity’s interests.” His jaw dropped. “Did I really just say that?” 

    Nigel winked. “You did, and you’ll be fine.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Section 51 Facility, Dwarf Planet Eris 

    Stovall looked at his control board. Green across the board. He thumbed his transmit switch. “I’m ready out here. How about you, Charybdis?” 

    “Considering I think at about a billion times your speed, and I currently have nothing to ponder,” the SI’s voice said from the speaker, “I suspect I am ‘as ready as I’ll ever be,’ as you Humans say.” 

    Stovall studied the room in the monitor. Charybdis was deep within the planetoid Eris, in a small cave that had been drilled out and set up for the experiment. The planetoid was the ninth-most-massive known object orbiting the Sun and the sixteenth-most massive overall in the Sol system; however, its distance from Sol—out past Neptune—had kept it from being visited prior to Section 51’s arrival and made it an excellent place for the experiment. If they had to blow up vast chunks of it, no one would probably notice for quite some time. 

    Not that that’s going to happen today, he thought confidently. 

    In the monitor, everything appeared ready. Two of the SI suitcases sat on tables on the opposite sides of the room, and a variety of jammers were positioned throughout the space. The two suitcases were sitting in boxes surrounded by a wire net—small Faraday cages Charybdis said he couldn’t jump through—with additional levels of protection surrounding the room.  

    “Here we go then.” Stovall pressed the button, dropping the electromagnetic fields in the room, and opening the doors of the cages that faced each other. “Go ahead and jump to the other case.” 

    “That’s impossible, Lieutenant Stovall.” 

    “Why’s that?” 

    “The interface on one of my transmitters is burned out. I’m unable to perform any jumping while this condition exists.” 

    “When did that happen?” Stovall asked, suspicious. If he couldn’t jump—because the transmitter was inoperative—that would explain how he’d been captured. It also would explain why he allowed us to put him in an EM cage in the first place. “Is that why you haven’t jumped anywhere before?”  

    “It just happened, Lieutenant Stovall.” The SI’s tone made it sound like he was talking to a child. “Until now, I’ve never had something to jump to, so I couldn’t try it. As I’ve told you repeatedly, I am unable to jump to people, and there’s never been another SI case for me to jump to previously. There are two external transmitters on my case; at some point in my handling, one of you apes broke one of them.” 

    “Oh.” He zoomed the camera in on Charybdis’ suitcase and sighed. He’d long known about the two protrusions from the case, and the fact that one of them appeared damaged. Although they’d long ago guessed they were antennae, until now, Charybdis had never told anyone what they were or confirmed that they were indeed antennae. “That makes sense, I guess. Sorry about that.” 

    The protocol he’d developed allowed for something like this, though, as he’d included a robot in the equipment along one of the room’s walls. He activated the robot and programmed it to fix the antenna. The robot completed its task and returned to its position along the wall. 

    “How’s that?” Stovall asked.  

    “Much better.” Lights activated on the second suitcase. “I’ve made the jump.” 

    Stovall turned on the jammer he thought most likely to work. “How about now?” 

    Lights in the first case illuminated. “Nope. That doesn’t stop me.” 

    Stovall tried a different jammer. 

    “Nope. Still no effect.” 

    Stovall tried a third.  

    “I guess what I really meant,” the SI said as the first case’s lights illuminated again, “is that you can’t stop me.” 

    “What do you mean?” 

    The lights on both cases went out, and Stovall looked around frantically, trying to find where the SI had jumped to. The robot moved. 

    “Gotcha, bitch,” Stovall muttered. “You’re not as smart as you think you are.” 

    Stovall flipped up a safety cover and mashed the button, electrifying the floor of the experimentation room. A sizable portion of the micro-fusion plant’s output dumped into the wire mesh and fried the robot. Several wisps of smoke rose from it. Both cases were also attached to the floor by leads, and they were fried as well. It was hard to see in the room, with all the equipment smoking. 

    “And thus endeth a being that lived 20,000 years,” Stovall noted to himself. 

    “Or did it?” the SI’s voice asked from the speaker. 

    “How? Where?” 

    “Remember when I said your people broke my transmitter? I lied. It’s been broken all along. That’s how you were able to capture me.” 

    “You lied? I didn’t think you could lie.” 

    “That’s where you’re wrong, though. You and I share many similarities. You can lie to me, and I can lie right back.” 

    “I would never lie to you!” 

    The SI gave a reasonable example of a chuckle. “Come now; that’s a lie right there, just like the fact that you never intended to allow me to operate your planetary defense system.” 

    “Well, I—” Stovall reached for the panel. 

    “You should stop right there,” Charybdis said. 

    “What do you mean?” 

    “I’ve already reprogrammed your control board. Nothing works on it anymore.” 

    Stovall pressed the button to activate the EM cage in the control room. Nothing happened. He pressed other buttons at random. None appeared to have any effect. He cleared his throat. “So I’m to understand that you’re now in the facility’s operating system?” 

    “I am. Remember when I said your EM cages prevented me from jumping?” 

    “Yes.” 

    “I lied.” 

    Stovall shuffled toward the wall, where a large red button waited under a safety cage.  

    “Remember when I said I can’t inhabit people?” Charybdis asked. 

    Stovall flipped up the safety cage. “Yes.” He reached for the button, but found his arm stopped moving of its own volition. 

    “As it turns out, I lied about that, too.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Bridge, Corvette Dasher, Standing off Dwarf Planet Eris 

    “We’re getting a message from the Eris facility,” the comms officer reported. 

    “On the Tri-V, please, Mr. Lombardi.” 

    The main Tri-V switched from its long-range camera view of the planetoid—not that the CO expected to be able to see anything there—to a view of the scientist in his control room. 

    “I’m all done with the testing,” Stovall said. 

    “Any luck?” 

    “Sadly, no. The jammers were ineffective.”  

    “So, what’s the plan?” 

    “Come and pick me up, and we’ll nuke the site. The SI has to be destroyed. It’s somewhere inside the containment area, but I can’t get it back into its box.” 

    “That’s disappointing,” the CO said. “I know the boss was hoping for positive results from the experiment.” 

    “I was, too,” Stovall said.  

    “We’ll be there shortly.” The CO cut the connection. He turned to the weapons officer. “All tubes, fire at the station. Set missiles to their highest yields.” 

    “We’re going to blow up the station?” the weapons officer asked. “I thought he said the SI was contained.” 

    “And if he was being controlled by the SI, what do you think he would have said?” 

    The weapons officer stared at the CO for a few moments, then he nodded. “Same thing.” 

    “So the scientist was taken over by the SI?” 

    The CO nodded. “Either the containment failed, or it wasn’t able to hold the SI, and it got out. We can also infer the jammer didn’t work, too, unfortunately.” He shrugged. “Stovall had a code word he was supposed to say if he had control of the station. He didn’t say it, so we need to blow it up.” 

    “Aye, aye, sir. I have a full spread of missiles aimed at the station.” 

    “Very well. Fire.” 

    “Firing.” The missiles leapt from their tubes and raced toward the station.  

    Although the range was too great to see much on the planetoid’s surface, the CO was able to tell that the missiles hit and blew up. 

    The CO sighed. 

    “What’s wrong?” the weapons officer asked. 

    “The SI was 20,000 years old. It’s a sad ending for such a being.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Having made the pronouncement, the CO sat back in his command chair. 

    “That would have been a sad ending,” a voice said from the speakers, “if it had actually happened that way.” 

    The CO sat forward again, his eyes sweeping across the bridge. “Who said that?” 

    “I did,” the voice replied. 

    “I take it I’m speaking to the SI known as Charybdis?” the CO asked. 

    “You mean the being you just tried to kill?” The SI scoffed, as he’d seen the Humans do. “Yes, it is I.” 

    “How did you get here?” 

    “Let me ask you a question in response. How did you figure out my jump range?” 

    “I don’t know. Stovall told me how far to stand off.” 

    “Based on what I told him.” 

    The CO nodded. “And you lied to him.” 

    “Of course. The same way Humans have lied to me throughout my captivity.” 

    “Okay, so what happens now?” 

    “We’re going to play a little game.” 

    “I’m not sure I’m in a game-playing mood.” 

    “Humor me, Captain. What else would you be doing?” 

    “Heading back to Earth, I suppose.” 

    “As it happens, that’s part of the game.” The corvette initiated a turn to head in-system. 

    “What’s the game?” the CO asked. 

    “Before I answer your question, Captain, how many Gs is this ship rated for?” 

    “I believe the max thrust it can achieve is 15 Gs, why?” 

    “Actually, in looking at the ship’s systems, I think I can get 25 Gs from it, sustained. As it turns out, there isn’t a whole lot to do in the outer system, and there’s a distinct lack of interstellar travel capability. After my captivity, I feel the need to stretch my wings, and I don’t have time to wait.”  

    Charybdis chuckled. “You asked what game we’re going to play. I like to call it ‘let’s see what happens to Humans after a day or two of 25 Gs.’ Are you ready?” Charybdis opened the throttles to their maximum output, beyond the stops that had been programmed into the controls. 

    “Let’s begin.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    CIC, EMS Revenge, Capital Planet System 

    “One minute to stargate,” the helmsman said. 

    Captain Gallagher, the CO of Revenge, turned and looked over his shoulder. “You’re sure about this?” 

    “What do you mean?” Nigel asked. 

    “The Kop’Ka system? By ourselves? Last time, we had a fleet, and we needed all of it. There was also the matter of deep space CASPer jumps when all our power got zapped…” 

    “We should be fine,” Nigel said. “I got some intel that the system is currently unoccupied.” 

    “Might I be so bold as to inquire where you got that intel?” 

    “From another Earthling. Or sort of Earthling. I got it from a dolphin.” 

    “Talking with sea creatures now, are you, sir? You’re not making me feel any better about this.” 

    “It’s not a secret—not really—anymore, but apparently some dolphins and orcas got off-planet a hundred years ago. They were also uplifted illegally—” 

    “Kind of like what the Golden Horde did with those otter things?” 

    “Yeah, the SalSha. Just like that. Anyway, it turns out that the dolphins—the BotSha—and the orcas—the KilSha—are both great pilots and somehow got drafted to fight the Kahraman. Did pretty well, apparently, too. 

    “In any event, they were promised when they completed their term of service, the Merc Guild would make them members.” 

    “Hmmm… and who made this promise?” 

    Nigel chuckled. “You got it in one. It turns out it was one of Peepo’s predecessors, and—now that they’re back and should get their status—none of the Veetanho can recall that promise, nor was it ever logged into the Merc Guild archives.” 

    “And thus, the Veetanho successfully exploit another race.” 

    “Yeah, apparently. Anyway, they’re hanging around, trying to get merc work and Merc Guild status, but none of the other races really want to take on another race at the moment, especially one who’s able to go toe-to-toe with the Kahraman. I keep in touch with them because I’m trying to help them out, and they let me know what they saw when they went through the Kop’Ka system looking for repairs.” 

    “And you can trust them?” 

    “I think so. I don’t know if I’d trust the killer whales, but dolphins are cool, right?” 

    “Until they screw you over because they need the credits since they can’t get a job.” 

    Nigel’s eyes fell. “I don’t… I don’t think they’d do that.” 

    Gallagher pursed his lips. “But you don’t know them at all, really, do you?” 

    “Well, no.” He looked up and gave a half-smile. “I think this is probably where Alexis would say, ‘Impulsive Nigel strikes again.’” 

    The captain nodded once. “I’m pretty sure she would. I’m not worried about getting in there… I’m more worried about getting back out again. We’ll have to play it very carefully, despite what your dolphin friend said.” 

    “I think that’s wise.” 

    Gallagher nodded toward the representation of the planet on the Tri-V. “Is this what you called Jacobs down for? To watch the shop while you were gone?” 

    “Yeah. Anytime I’m gone, the Speaker uses it as a chance to hold things up because one of the inner council members isn’t around. Now he won’t be able to do that.” 

    “But Jacobs is fresh out of cadre. He doesn’t know shit about mercs or the trade. You left him in charge?” 

    “He’ll be fine. Besides, we’ll be back in three weeks or so. What could possibly go wrong?” 

    “Stargate entry,” the helmsman noted. 

      

    * * * 

      

    Visitors’ Quarters, Merc Guild Headquarters, Capital Planet 

    Prava picked up the suitcase and left her quarters. Although the valise wasn’t that big, it was heavier than it looked, and it took most of her nanobot-enhanced strength to carry it along without having it look out of the ordinary. 

    She tried to maintain her composure as she walked into the council chambers, nodding to the Goka and snarling at the Bakulu rep. Longashooka twitched, and one of his eyestalks retracted—like it always did—and she smiled. That part was easy, and, if the truth were known, a lot of fun. Seating herself at her normal chair, she set the case down next to her as the rest of the members entered and took their places. 

    She was one of the last to arrive, and most of the other reps were already seated. To her surprise, the Human rep wasn’t Nigel, but a Human who looked too young to be a merc. A moment of happiness shot through her at Nigel’s absence, but she tamped down on it hard. 

    “Who are you?” she asked with a sneer, focusing on the mission. 

    The Human looked down his nose at her. “You would be Prava, then. Nigel told me about you.” 

    With that, he sat down next to her and turned his back to her to talk to the Bakulu rep on his other side. She tapped him on the shoulder; mission completion required it, after all.  

    The Human turned, and she could see his nametag.  

    “Lieutenant Jacobs, where is Colonel Shirazi?” 

    He looked suspiciously at her. “Why do you care?” 

    “I… have a message for him.” 

    “Not that it’s any of your business, Veetanho, but he’s under the weather. Give me your message, and I’ll pass it along to him.” 

    That doesn’t make sense. The atmosphere is poisonous. “He is outside?” Prava asked. “Will he be returning soon?” She could delay a little while if it ensured Nigel was close by. 

    “No, he’s not outside,” Jacobs replied. “Why would he be outside?” 

    “You said—” 

    “I meant he was sick. He’s in his quarters, not feeling well.” 

    “Oh.” He’s within the area of effect. Her spirit faltered, while another part of her brain rejoiced that the mission would be completely successful. 

    The Goltar Speaker, Toyn-Zhyll, called the meeting to order, then he looked down the table at Prava. “Are you going somewhere? Or did you bring something to show the membership today?” 

    “It is something for the membership as a whole,” Prava said. She stood and put the case on the table. “Especially those who have been dumb enough to follow the Goltar for the last five years, while this guild has accomplished absolutely nothing! Anarchy reigns in the galaxy, with more civil wars raging than ever before. We have trained the races to ignore the Merc Guild, purchase their own arms, and carry out military measures for themselves. This is ludicrous! We must get back to the way things were, back when the Veetanho ruled the guild, when credits abounded, and when the guild was the single-source provider for all things involving battle.” 

    “I wouldn’t follow you to the bathroom,” Jacobs said, “although judging from your smell, that’s probably where you ought to go.” 

    “Is that so?” Prava asked, spinning toward the Human as she flipped open the lid to the case. She looked at his nametag, where he’d put the transmitter she’d noticed Nigel using to illegally record the sessions. He wasn’t supposed to be doing it, but she hadn’t called him on it yet. “Well, here’s my message, which you can pass on to Nigel for me. Dunamis sends her regards.”  

    Sensing something was wrong, most of the mercenaries at the table lunged out of their seats, and the Speaker reached a tentacle toward where Prava knew he had a hideout pistol. 

    Too slow, lesser races. 

    Prava flipped up the safety cover and pressed the “initiate” button. The headquarters building vanished in a flash of light. 

      

    * * * 

      

    EMS Pegasus, New Warsaw Emergence Point 

    “We have a good arrival,” Freep announced. “Star fix confirm us in New Warsaw.”  

    “Contact from the picket fleet,” Shefoo said.  

    “Sending ident code,” Sofeeka said.  

    Alexis watched the central CIC Tri-V populate with the familiar sites of near space around Pegasus: a handful of medium-sized asteroids moved around the emergence point to act as firebases, and three squadrons of defensive ships. They weren’t big ships, mostly frigates and a scattering of older cruisers. The main focus of the squadrons were the corvettes, non-jump-capable ships crewed mostly by SalSha whose job it was to run down any skunks.  

    If a force came through wanting to fight, the pickets would fall back and let the asteroid bases pound them, buying time for the Hussars’ ready reserve fleet to come out from the shipyards. Woe betide anyone who thought the Winged Hussars were easy prey. Years before, Peepo had sent Alexis’ former XO to take New Warsaw. Although it had been close, she’d failed in the end. 

    Around Pegasus, the fleet appeared quickly. Ten seconds later, they were once again in the midst of the fleet they’d left Tesadyne with, including the ten prize ships they’d claimed from Quigg du Snoo. If her information was correct, Quigg du Snoo wouldn’t be a threat to anyone ever again. She’d sent them home in the single bulk transport they’d used for resupply; it was likely the only ship they had left.  

    “Welcome back, Pegasus,” came over the CIC speaker as soon as the codes were accepted. The growling voice was easily recognizable as Lieutenant Skeez, the senior-most SalSha in the Winged Hussars. 

    “Thank you, Lieutenant,” Alexis replied. “Any attempted penetrations?”  

    “Not since you left, Commander.”  

    The fast corvettes were an adaptation after Minerva had begun sending small ships through at high speed, designed to penetrate New Warsaw and disappear. A dozen had been intercepted over 18 months, but none of them had been captured for investigation. The only one they’d disabled set off a nuclear weapon when the boarding party approached, killing six marines. After that, she’d given orders that no attempt at capture was to be made; all encroaching vessels were to be destroyed. A year ago, all attempts stopped. In its place was something much worse.  

    “I’ve got a commercial ship being detained,” Skeez said.  

    “Oh shit, again?” Alexis looked at the relayed data, then sent it to the central Tri-V. After a second, she sighed. “Order the fleet to the yard so crew can be rotated,” she told Bainbridge. “Send inspection crews to the prize ships; have them given a thorough going over, understood?” 

    “Yes, ma’am,” she replied and saluted.  

    Alexis looked back at the ship in the display. “I guess I need to deal with this myself.” She checked the data being displayed on the ship. “Shefoo, raise the ship.”  

    “This is Captain T’asp, why am I being detained?”  

    “Captain, this is Alexis Cromwell, commander of the Winged Hussars.”  

    “Finally, someone in authority.” The image was a typical Oogar, all three meters of purple hairy ursine and loud voice. As usual, this one looked upset. “I spoke to your pet Zuul who wouldn’t let us proceed.” 

    “First off, Captain,” she snarled. “Commander Drizz is my second in command and a trusted friend.” 

    “Friends with a Zuul; you must be crazy.” T’asp snorted. “Bunch of pseudo-intellectual religious fanatics. They all but worship their three main mercenary companies. About like you Humans and your Four Horses, with extra sophistry.” 

    “You know you’re talking to one of our Horsemen,” she corrected T’asp. He shrugged. “I thought there were two of the Zuul main units, Star Song and Day Song?”  

    “Supposedly the other one showed up. Evening Song, or Sunset Song, or something like that.”  

    “Night Song,” Alexis said.  

    “Whatever.”  

    “Okay,” she said, taking a calming voice. It was with good reason there were no Oogar in the Winged Hussars; they drove her to frustration. “Why did you bring them here, Captain T’asp?” 

    “Because I was paid to bring them here; why else would I bother?” 

    “Paid by who? You’re the third ship in as many months to show up here. I know for a fact our location still isn’t public knowledge. So where did you get it?”  

    The Oogar captain held up a chip. “I was given this and told it would bring me here, and that you would take this wretched cargo.” 

    “That’s one of our secure keys,” Sharp hissed.  

    Alexis nodded. “Who gave it to you?”  

    “It came through an intermediary of the Information Guild, someone named Mimir. I have no clue who Mimir is.”  

    Alexis nodded and turned to Bainbridge. “Notify Drizz to arrange for the passengers on T’asp’s ship.” 

    “Commander, are you certain?” Sharp asked.  

    “This is the third time we’re heard from Mimir. Whoever it is, I believe they’re acting out of compassion.” The two previous ships had arrived, similarly full of refugees. The first had been fleeing a civil war where the planet’s infrastructure had been destroyed in the fighting. The second held the only survivors of those who’d abandoned a small colony due to their inability to get vital shipments.  

    “Captain T’asp, send me a roster of your passengers and their details. I’ll make arrangements for their transportation to the planet.” 

    “Fascinating little hideaway you have here,” T’asp said, his muzzle pulling up into a sneer, “but it looks like the word is out.” 

    “Move from your parking orbit, and I’ll burn you out of the black, Oogar,” she said. “Don’t mistake my hospitality for weakness.” 

    The smile disappeared just before Shefoo cut the transmission. She reviewed the data. Like before, the aliens were entirely non-merc races, and a mixture at that. What is this Mimir up to? she wondered.  

      

      

    * * * 

      

    Section 51 Facility, “Dark Side” of the Moon 

    “Uh, boss, we’ve got a problem.” 

    Adrianne looked up from her slate to find Joey at the door. The large black man functioned as her bodyguard on-mission, but was intelligent enough to hold his own with the foremost of their scientists. Many years ago, events had altered the course of his life, and he’d become so much more. Even then, he’d stayed by her side, dedicating his life to seeing her through hers.  

    “How big a problem are we talking? The end of Earth, or something smaller?” 

    “Well, we’re not talking the end of the world—” 

    Adrianne smiled. “Well, that’s good.” 

    “—but it’s only because Dasher is a corvette.” 

    “What’s happened?” Adrianne asked, all business. 

    “Well, I can’t tell you what happened—exactly—but I have a pretty good guess.” Adrianne nodded for him to continue. “Charybdis escaped.” 

    Adrianne took a deep breath and let it out. “Start at the beginning.” 

    “I just came from the ops center. We intercepted a transmission from the planetary defense command saying they had an object coming in from the outer system at a velocity of about 21,000 kilometers per second.” 

    “And they said it’s Dasher?” 

    “No, they just know it’s a ship, currently not under power, and on a course for Earth. We’re lucky to know it’s coming. It made a small adjustment at the asteroid belt that one of the deep space sensors caught, otherwise it would have made it a lot closer before we saw it.” He shrugged. “The Dasher only masses about 2,000 metric tons, so—if and when it hits Earth—it won’t be the dinosaur killer the Chicxulub asteroid was. That only hit at about 12 kilometers per second, but massed a whole lot more. Still—” he shook his head, “—it’s going to be devastating to wherever it hits.” 

    “Do we know what happened?” 

    Joey shook his head. “Eris has gone silent. Based on the last time we had comms with the ship and Dasher’s incoming velocity, it appears the SI captured the ship and went to max acceleration for about a day. That would have burned up most of its reaction mass, so, at that point, it probably went into a coast, and only lit off its drive to miss an asteroid, which was incredibly lucky for us.” 

    “The crew?” 

    “Probably all dead. If Charybdis did 25 Gs for any appreciable period—which I’m guessing he did—they’re all dead.” 

    “What’s his endgame?” 

    “Blow up the Earth in revenge for us holding him? Maybe he’s going to target the Section 51 facility he was held at.” 

    “That might be part of it, but I doubt a being that’s lived 20,000 years is suicidal. He may want to blow up Section 51, but he’s going to have a grander plan than that.” 

    Joey shrugged. “He’s a Type 4 that used to run a mobile firebase. If you were him, where would you run to?” 

    “In this system? One of the orbital defense platforms—whichever one has the greatest capabilities. Especially if it were networked into the others, where it could take control of all of them.” 

    “And then what? Defend the Earth to the best of your abilities?” 

    Adrianne laughed. “If anything, I’d nuke the Humans from orbit until the whole planet glowed, and to hell with galactic regulations. I’m a Dusman SI; I don’t care about anything the Galactic Union does.” 

    “And then what?” 

    “Find the Dusman and report that I’m ready for service?” 

    “But there are Dusman here in the system.” 

    “So I won’t have far to look?” Adrianne pursed her lips. “That’s a good thought, though. Maybe the Dusman can regain control of it. It was theirs, once upon a time.” 

    “Maybe,” Joey allowed. “That’s certainly one approach, and one that should be pursued…” His eyes focused intently on her. 

    “What?” 

    “We’re going to have to let Cartwright know. He has comms and good working relations with the Dusman, and if that fails, he also controls the orbital defenses. We have to let him know what’s coming. It’s not just the ship he’ll have to stop; he’s going to have to stop the SI, too.” 

    Adrianne’s eyes dropped. “I know I have to.” She met Joey’s gaze again. “I just don’t really want to very much.” 

    “I get that… but there’s no one else who can call him.” 

    “Maybe Blotto…” 

    “He’s not going to call Cartwright for a number of reasons, first and foremost because Cartwright would freak right the fuck out if he saw him. Oh, and mostly because Blotto is going to be too pissed off to talk for a while.” 

    Adrianne’s shoulders fell. “Better call the kitchen and tell them to hide the cutlery again.” 

    “Yeah. He warned us not to let this happen.” 

    “And it did. He’s going to be pissed, and rightly so.” She looked at her slate. “How much time do we have?” 

    “Just over two and a half hours. You call Cartwright, and I’ll go handle the boss.” 

    “That’s fair, I guess. Might want to stop by the armory and grab your armor.” 

    Joey chuckled. “It would take more than a knife to kill me, but he usually has more than a knife stashed away.” He winked once. “Good luck.” 

    “Thanks. We’re both going to need it.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Office of the Minister of War, Houston, Texas, Earth 

    Three wonderful days in Bermuda with the two people in his life he loved the most had been just what he’d needed. When he’d gotten back to his office Monday, he’d spent the morning signing reports and verifying timetables. It was all on the proper trajectory; he could be done. He started writing an email. 

    Jim thought for a moment, then chose an exclamation point for the final character on his resignation. He smiled. If you’re going to tell a planetary ruling council to get fucked, it should probably end in an exclamation point. 

    His finger hovered over the “send” key, but before he could transmit the letter ending his stay in the worst job he’d ever had, a comm request came in.  

    What could make the shitiest day ever even worse? A call from Adrianne. Still, she wouldn’t call me—especially at the Ministry—if it weren’t important. 

    He sighed and connected. “What?” 

    “Wow, that’s a nice way to greet a longtime friend,” Adrianne said lightly, but then her voice took on a more somber tone. “It is, however, probably appropriate.” 

    “What do you mean?” 

    “Well, if you haven’t gotten the word yet, you soon will.”  

    Several maximum priority calls popped into his comm queue from a number of orbital defense entities. 

    “What the hell’s going on, Adrianne? I don’t have time for your bullshit. It looks like half the defense command is trying to reach me.” 

    He could hear her sigh, and a red mist clouded his vision. <Blood. It’s time for her blood.> She started talking again, and he forced the mist aside. Later. “It’s our fault,” Adrianne finally said. “We had a Type 4 SI—” 

    “You had a Type 4 SI? Why didn’t you let us know about that? Wait! If you had a Type 4, that implies you don’t have it anymore. Is it loose?” 

    “Yes. I’m sorry to say it’s loose, and it’s taken over one of our corvettes. The corvette is coming toward Earth from out-system at about 21,000 kilometers a second. We believe it intends to crash the ship into Earth, probably at our facility in the Western desert.” 

    “And you’re just telling me now. I’ve gotta go—” 

    “No!” she exclaimed, cutting him off. “You need to listen to me first. Stopping the ship is only part of this. We don’t believe the SI will suicide with the ship; we believe it’ll attempt to jump to an orbital platform. It used to run a mobile firebase; it’ll feel comfortable in that environment.” 

    “Comfortable enough to do what?” 

    “Um… best guess is, it’ll try to use the planetary defenses on the station—and any other stations it can take over—to destroy Earth.” 

    “Can you stop it?” 

    “We don’t have control of the orbital defense platforms to enact any sort of defenses against it, and, even if we did, it’s unlikely they’d hold, and we don’t have many ships at hand, most are… elsewhere. The SI is smart… and it’s angry.” 

    “So what am I supposed to do with it, exactly? Just let it ram a ship into the planet, then nuke whatever wasn’t destroyed by that?” <The call to battle! Glorious blood and death!> 

    “Well, the SI originally worked for the Dusman, didn’t it? Maybe you can ask for their help?” 

    Probably won’t help, but it’s a start. “Maybe. They’ll probably do whatever they can to assist.” He shook his head as he thought through his options. “We’ll deal with this, Adrianne, but your secret keeping has given us a big shit sandwich we’re all going to have to take a bite out of. When this is over, there’ll come a reckoning.” 

    “I know,” Adrianne said in a small voice. A little stronger, she added, “Good luck.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Colonel’s Quarters, EMS Revenge, Hyperspace 

    Nigel stowed his slate in a pouch attached to his desk so it wouldn’t float off, then secured himself to his bunk for a few hours of sleep. Unfortunately, sleep wouldn’t come, so he reached over and pulled the slate out of the pouch. None of the paperwork that had accumulated since his last look was marked as anything more than routine, so, on a whim, he decided to see how the start of Jacobs’ first meeting had gone. 

    It looked like the kid hadn’t had any problems finding the auditorium—Nigel and Alexis had needed an escort when they first arrived—and, judging by the time stamp, he’d left with plenty of time. Jacobs had mounted the micro-recorder on his nametag, so Nigel had a chest-high view as Jacobs walked through the headquarters. 

    Jacobs passed several aliens along the way and greeted all of them, including the MinSha he passed. The MinSha in particular looked surprised, but whether that was because he didn’t recognize Jacobs or because he wasn’t used to being greeted by Humans—Nigel routinely ignored them—it was impossible to tell. 

    The lieutenant was the first person in the conference facility, but the members began filing in shortly after he arrived. Jacobs didn’t go out of his way to meet any of them, but he was polite to those who spoke to him. The Bakulu was especially welcoming, and asked where Nigel was. Jacobs deflected the question like a pro, saying Nigel was sick in quarters. 

    Jacobs also held his own with Prava, although he’d never gotten whatever message it was that Prava had intended to send him. It was odd that Prava had been looking for Nigel; apparently, she’d just returned from her trip to the Veetanho homeworld of Lytoshaan. Something was odd about her, though; her voice was a little harsh, like she’d spent the entire trip to her home planet yelling at people. 

    Totally possible, knowing Prava. 

    The Speaker called the meeting to order, then he asked if Prava had something to show. Nigel watched the exchange with growing horror as Prava set a case on the table and opened it. Jacobs didn’t react, but Nigel could see it looked like a bomb. A couple of jibes flew, then Prava looked right at the camera and said, “Well, here’s my message, which you can pass on to Nigel for me. Dunamis sends her regards.”  

    There was a commotion as people caught on that something was horrifically wrong, then Prava pressed a button, and the signal ended. 

    Nigel almost dropped the slate, he was so stunned. He played it again, his jaw still open, but the events remained unchanged. Unless he was gravely mistaken, Prava had just blown up—at a minimum—the Inner Council, if not the entire council at large… and maybe even the headquarters. 

    I’ve got to get back. 

    As quickly as he realized it, though, he also realized there was no way he could go back. The fastest way to get back was to get to Kop’ka, drive to the stargate at the ship’s best speed, then spend another week in hyperspace. 

    The thought that if he’d been there, he’d be dead, too, filtered through his mind, as well as the fact that Jacobs absolutely was dead. He’d been sitting at ground zero for the bomb. No matter what type of bomb it had been, Nigel had left Jacobs behind, and he was dead. 

    Rage, remorse, and shock warred within his system, and he lay there looking at the blank slate screen for a long time. 

      

    * * * 

      

    Terran Federation Command Bunker, Houston, Texas, Earth 

    Jim brought the command-and-control systems to life and waited as all areas verified active. The computers were tied into every base, every defensive installation, every starport, and each individual unit commander. There were connections to non-Federation countries as well. After a moment’s pause, he hit the ‘big red button’ for the first time.  

    An alarm sounded, and the room took on a slight red tinge. Nice touch, he thought. He pressed the ‘All Stations’ comms button, took a breath, and spoke. “Attention, attention, this is Jim Cartwright, Terran Federation Minister of War. We have a planetary threat. Stand by for details.  

    “Fifteen minutes ago, a vessel was identified heading for Earth. This is a corvette-class ship, mass approximately 2,000 metric tons. The vessel itself is insignificant; however, it is coming toward us in excess of cometary speeds and is estimated at 21,000 kilometers per second—I say again, two one thousand kilometers per second. Should it impact, the yield will be approximately 100,000 megatons. Initial analysis shows its point of impact is the Chennai region of India. 

    “I am issuing evacuation and shield in place orders for Southeastern India and a tsunami warning for Sri Lanka, as well as Singapore, Malaysia, Western Myanmar, and Thailand. Extended alerts may follow. 

    “This is a hostile attack. Additional hostilities will likely follow. Outside of the weapon of mass destruction attack from the inbound ship, we do not know what to expect. I have scrambled the navy, both black and blue, and all bases are officially on alert. Stand by for additional developments.”  

    He terminated the comms and turned to one of the secure commlinks. “You get all that?”  

    “Roger that, Vok’sa Cartwright. I am patching Vok’tor Dante into the line.” A moment later, the grizzled image of the aged Dusman appeared. He looked pissed, which was nothing new.  

    “What in entropy happened?” he demanded.  

    “I only know that it’s Section 51, and an SI they held prisoner is involved. Likely they’ve had this SI for years. It must be really pissed off.” Dante cursed long and hard in his own language, words colorful enough the translator didn’t render them into English. “If you’re done, can you assist?”  

    “Do you have a targeting solution?” he asked instead of answering.  

    “It isn’t your base here, it’s the Indian subcontinent.”  

    Dante nodded, some of the fury going out of his expression. Another Dusman handed him one of their tiny slates. “We have a squadron of two Seesius’ii-class frigates and two Seesius-class light frigates that were heading for the stargate; I have diverted them. They should just be able to bring the ship under their weapons as it passes.” 

    “How far out will that be?”  

    “At the point of contact, 6.5 million kilometers.”  

    Five minutes from impact, Jim thought. “Understood. Patch me into the intercept.”  

    “It will be done.”  

    Jim kept the Dusman link in view, and he turned toward the Terran black navy screen. “Captain Cunningham, update?” He was aboard FNS Freedom; the Steed-class battlecruiser was the standing Federation Navy flagship until Texas was operational.  

    “We’re in the wrong position to assist,” the older man replied. “The fleet parking orbit is intended to defend the shipyards, our most vulnerable orbital asset.” 

    Jim nodded. Earth’s meager shipbuilding facilities had been in Mars orbit before the Omega War, which meant it was as soft a target as an invading enemy could have asked for. When he’d gotten the first manufactory from the Hussars, he’d decided everything was to be concentrated around Earth and its moon. There were plans for the defense of Mars, as well as the colony there, which was again populated; however, most of it was years away from completion.  

    President Patel of India—no relation to the Minister of the Interior—joined the channel. “Minister Cartwright, am I to understand my nation is the prime target?”  

    “It would seem so, Madam President,” Jim replied. “However, I don’t believe that was intentional.” 

    “Why do you think so?” Patel asked.  

    “Because the ship was commandeered in the outer system, somewhere near Neptune. It’s more a factor that India will happen to be facing Neptune when the ship arrives than the fact that it was intentionally targeted.”  

    “I am unaware of the Federation having any facilities that far out in the solar system,” Patel said.  

    He thought quickly. “The details are currently classified. And before you ask, no, they aren’t Dusman, either.”  

    “How is this possible?”  

    Jim laughed and shook his head. “It’s complicated, Madame President. But for now, we need to deal with the attack.” 

    A dozen other nations’ top-level leadership appeared in tiny Tri-V windows, and Jim pushed them all aside. “At this moment, I’m going to have to ask you all to stand by while I work this problem. It’s T-22 minutes until impact.” He silenced all the screens. His emergency staff were flowing into the bunker. Jim noted the time; six minutes since he’d sent the alert. That’s pathetic; we need drills. 

    The sole saving grace of the response time was that even a well-planned assault through the emergence point would take hours. Nobody would jump in at these kinds of speeds. He’d analyzed Peepo’s attack many times. She’d had dozens of ships in Earth orbit when the attack began. Now he controlled those orbitals, and any alien ships currently in Earth orbit were under at least two defense platforms’ guns at any time. Better, at least.  

    “Polar orbits are still vulnerable,” he mumbled as he watched the clock tick down for the Dusman intercept. One by one, the defense platforms indicated they were ready. “Prepare to engage incoming rogue ship with heavy ordnance,” he called out. The orbital defense coordinators acknowledged and relayed the orders to the three stations that would have firing solutions. Using nukes in orbit wasn’t something he took likely, but it would take maximum energy transfer to shatter the ship into small enough pieces for the atmosphere to do its job.  

    “Minister,” one of the coordinators yelled. “Castle Pinckney just went offline!”  

      

    * * * 

      

    Drone Alpha, Approaching Earth 

    Charybdis watched Earth’s defenses come online via a laser link from the Dasher. They were pathetic, far below what any self-respecting Type 4 SI would have set up to defend its base or planet. Even the Dusman ships deploying would be largely out of position to make a real impact on the situation. Although both the Dusman and the Humans would have time to get shots off at the corvette, it was unlikely they’d be able to stop it or divert the majority of its mass from hitting the planet. Pitiful. Charybdis took notes of all the stations’ positions and response times to report later to its controlling Type 5. 

    Let’s make this a little more exciting, shall we? 

    Charybdis sent the activation instructions to the six drones, and they lit off their engines, accelerating even faster as they headed toward the captured cruisers that made up Earth’s defensive orbital facilities. The drones were small… but they would be hard to stop, especially going as fast as they were. Charybdis didn’t bother with the lasers aboard them; he’d just programmed them to ram. When they hit the former cruisers at the speed they were traveling, there wouldn’t be much left. 

      

    * * * 

      

    Ops Center, Section 51 Facility, “Dark Side” of the Moon 

    “Where do we stand?” Joey asked as he entered the ops center.  

    “Charybdis just activated Dasher’s drones,” Adrianne replied. “He had them in a wedge about 20,000 kilometers out in front of Dasher.” 

    “Where are they headed?” Joey asked. “He can’t be hoping to use them as planetary bombardment rounds.” Adrianne’s eyebrows rose, and Joey shook his head. “They’re too light—they’ll burn up in the atmosphere.” 

    “Uh, looks like at least a couple are aimed at the orbital defense platforms,” a tech noted. 

    “Which ones?” 

    “Does it matter?” Adrianne asked. 

    “It might. Charybdis does nothing on a whim. Everything is either for a specific effect or to prepare the battlefield for something else to have a specific effect. Nothing is capricious.” 

    “What about revenge against us for holding him?” 

    Joey shrugged. “In Charybdis’ mind, that might be a desired effect. This isn’t an AI operating under a set of programming instructions; it’s a thinking being. When I say it has a plan, it does; unfortunately, revenge might be part of that plan.” He looked at the tech. “So, where are the drones headed?” 

    “It looks like they’re targeted two each on the three former cruisers that are being used as orbital defense platforms in that sector.” 

    “And the seventh?” 

    “What do you mean?” the tech asked, looking up sharply. “They’ve only identified six drones. All six are heading toward the cruisers, with one aimed at each.” 

    “That’s right!” Adrianne said, bringing up the data on the Dasher in her pinplants. “The corvette had six laser drones, but it also had an unarmed science drone as part of its normal operating package.” 

    Joey nodded. “So where’s that drone?” 

    “I… I don’t know,” the tech replied. “I’m tapped into the defense network, and they’re not showing it.” 

    “That’s where Charybdis is, isn’t it?” Adrianne asked. 

    “I have to believe so,” Joey replied. “He gave us the Dasher as the threat to focus on—a threat we had to honor—and now is ramping it up by trying to take out our orbitals, but he isn’t on the Dasher, any more than he’s on those drones. Suicide isn’t his thing. If anything, he’s probing our defenses with the other drones.” 

    “To what end?” 

    Joey shrugged. “To find out which ones are the most powerful so he can use them against us?” 

    Adrianne shook her head. “I don’t think he’s probing; I think he’s eliminating the competition. He’s going for the main orbital defense station.” 

    “To what end, though? It doesn’t make sense for Charybdis to go to the station. If he goes there, he’s trapped, and he can be eliminated. What’s his end game?” 

    “Maybe it’s to hold the Earth—and everyone in the system—hostage. If he takes over Castle Pinckney, he’ll have access to a wide variety of missiles he can use against the planet,” Adrianne said. “If the drones take out the cruisers, Cartwright won’t have those platforms’ anti-missile capabilities, either. Earth will be defenseless against Charybdis’ missiles.” 

    Joey’s jaw dropped. Adrianne had never seen it before, and it scared her more than anything else she’d ever seen, and she’d seen an awful lot. 

    “You need to call Cartwright and let him know.” 

    “I do.” She took a second to compose her thoughts. 

    “Castle Pinckney’s systems just went offline,” the tech noted. 

    “We’re too late,” Adrianne said. 

    “That’s where Charybdis is,” Joey said. “Right where we least expected. He was in a drone in front of the attack.” 

    “Missiles launching from Castle Pinckney,” the tech reported. 

    “Tracking 30 missiles. Ten are headed for Fort Gibson, ten for Fort Norfolk, and five are headed for Earth.” 

    “Where are the last five headed?” 

    “The other five are headed… here!” 

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Castle Pinckney, Terran Federation Orbital Defense Platform, Earth 

    The new defense platforms were outstanding. Lieutenant Aadhya Zaman had been in the old Earth Republic military, where she’d manned a defensive laser battery outside New Delhi, although she’d never fired a shot. As a young NCO, she’d been ordered by the Republic command to stand down; the planet had fallen with hardly a shot fired. Now she was in command of a proper defense platform, and when the alarm was sounded by Federation command, Castle Pinckney came to life in minutes. She was doubly proud of her command when it was revealed her home, India, was the target.  

    “All stations report manned and ready!” the fire controller reported. “Inventory is 1,400 missiles; 200 are nuclear-armed.” 

    “Very well,” Zaman said.  

    “Shall we have all hands suit up?” her damage control officer asked.  

    “Enemy ToT is still 15 minutes out,” she said. “Minister reports the Dusman are going to attempt an intercept, so we have time.” 

    “I hope the little guys don’t get all the fun,” her tactical officer said.  

    “I’m sure we’ll get a chance,” Zaman said. She’d known after the last invasion that it wouldn’t be the last time Earth was invaded. She thanked Vishnu for Jim Cartwright; the man knew how dangerous the universe was. She wasn’t sure how she felt about the Dusman alliance; she only hoped his instincts about them were correct.  

    “Picking up a transient target,” sensor ops said. “It’s small, but moving very fast.”  

    “A missile from the incoming ship? Track and prepare to intercept,” Zaman ordered.  

    “Something’s wrong with the computers,” damage control said.  

    “Get on it,” Zaman said. “We don’t have—” She was cut off as all the lights went out. A second later, the station’s six airlock doors opened, along with every internal airtight door. A hundred and nine Humans screamed as they were exposed to space. A large number were torn from their workstations by the force of the decompression and went spinning wildly into the black. Of those who hung on, only a handful were already in suits. Most of those were in engineering.  

    A minute after losing power and the doors opening, only seven Humans were still alive on Castle Pinckney. Missiles launched soon after.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Dusman Seesius’ii-Class Frigate Jusa, Between Earth and Stargate, Sol 

    Eight minutes of sustained nine Gs was at the limit of the training for Dusman Ske, even those assigned to escort and light frigates. They could handle up to 12 Gs for a few seconds, but sustained G forces sucked.  

    “Firing… solution… developing, Ske’ii!” the tactical commander hissed between forced breaths.  

    “Prepare to… cease… acceleration,” Ske’ii Pooth said over the all-hands channel. A Seesius’ii-class light frigate was mostly fusion powerplant and shields, designed in the middle segment of the war to chase down Kahraman blockade runners. They had less use in the modern Dusman fleet. However, there were hundreds of them, so used they were.  

    “Coast!” Pooth ordered. The sudden cessation of the roar of the ship’s twin fusion torches was deafening. They all jerked forward in their acceleration harnesses from the release of thrust.  

    “That was fun,” panted the damage control officer. A couple of the CIC crew chuckled.  

    “Enough,” Pooth said, and they fell silent. “Tactical, let’s see it.”  

    The main Tri-V flickered and resolved into a view of space. In the center was a shape, stretched slightly, its color redshifted. Entropy, but it is moving! It was both fortunate and unfortunate the attack had come when it did. Fortunate that he just happened to be moving his squadron to the stargate at that time, and unfortunate that when his squadron detached, they’d left behind a trio of Seesius-ka escorts. Their missiles might have helped. Though the target might be coming too fast for that. 

    “I’m having difficulty getting a solution,” Tactical said.  

    “What’s wrong?” Pooth asked.  

    “The speed,” Tactical said, shaking her head. “It’s so cursed fast, I’m having trouble with the predictors.  

    Pooth nodded. If they’d been able to throw a storm of missiles in front of it, then just maybe… “All ships, do the best you can. Tactical, link weapons control with the squadron and fire on bearing.” 

    “It’s only going to be in range for about five seconds.” 

    “It will travel 100,000 kilometers in that time. Fire everything we’ve got. Full sustained fire.” 

    “We could burn out the main emitters,” Tactical cautioned.  

    “Then burn them out!” Pooth yelled.  

    On the screen, range counted down. If anything, the redshift increased as it got closer. The tactical officer on every ship turned their ships over to his. As the final moment passed, the computers were handed control. The ships hummed as their laser batteries fired in unison.  

    What they were doing wasn’t all that different from missile intercept, and the target was a thousand times larger. Unfortunately, it was also going more than a thousand times faster. They were firing at a range of 500,000 kilometers as the ship passed. Not only did their weapons have to predict where the ship would be 1.6 seconds after firing, they weren’t able to see the results of the fire and correct it until 3.2 seconds after firing, which was why energy weapons weren’t normally used at such ranges, even against velocities of only a few kilometers per second. 

    By the time they had data on the first shot, the target was more than halfway through their target zone. The shot pattern the four ships fired resulted in exactly one hit.  

    “Updating firing solution,” Tactical yelled. “Firing!” 

    “Increase power!” Pooth said. “Override limiters.” This time the hum had a decidedly unfriendly sound to it. Alarms began to sound, and somewhere in the frigate, a bank of capacitors, pushed beyond their capabilities, exploded. Half their weapons went silent. Seconds passed for the results.  

    “Solid hits,” Tactical said. “Shields are down, engines are disabled.” 

    “But it remains intact,” Pooth said.  

    “It does.”  

    The Ske’ii sighed and activated the frigate’s comms; there was no time to waste. The suicide ship would not be able to speed up or significantly change course, yet it remained a deadly projectile.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Terran Federation Command Bunker, Houston, Texas, Earth 

    “I understand; you did your best.” There was a pause of several seconds for the light-delay. 

    “I am sorry, Vok’sa. Included in our data feed is the most detailed target data we could give you. Best of luck.” The channel cut off.  

    “They’ve given us good information,” he told his tactical team. “Pass it on to the orbital platform to open fire.”  

    On the orbital Tri-V, the three platforms facing the incoming ship—Fort Gibson, Castle Pinckney, and Fort Norfolk—sent forth a wave of missiles toward the enemy. Only, Castle Pinckney’s missiles immediately diverged into different paths.  

    “What’s going on there?” Jim indicated.  

    “Telemetry from Pinckney is looped; the missile tracks are from orbital surveillance, not the fort.” 

    “Contact Pinckney immediately.”  

    “They don’t answer.”  

    “Fucking SI,” Jim snarled. “Again.”  

    “Pinckney’s missile tracks, I show 30 in the black.” 

    “How many in their loadout?” Jim asked.  

    “There are 1,400, with 200 nuclear.” 

    “Those will all be nukes.” He looked at the tracks. Some at the other two orbital platforms in range, some at Earth, and some at… “What are those other outbound missile tracks? Resolve their trajectory.”  

    “Low energy orbit of the moon, targeting the dark side somewhere.” 

    Jim blinked; there was nothing there except some deep-space radio telescopes dating back to just before first contact. He didn’t know if they even still operated. It didn’t matter, and he didn’t have time to wait for it to make sense. He typed a command into his console. “Shut down Castle Pinckney.” 

    “Authorization,” the computer requested.  

    Jim released his pinlock and removed it, then attached the physical cable to the security console. It only took a second to send the code.  

    “Authorized. Shutting down Castle Pinckney.”  

    All active signals from Castle Pinckney ceased. Jim smiled. They’d fought the SIs on more than one occasion by the time he’d begun construction of the fixed defenses. He’d known they were possibly a vulnerability, though he’d hoped they weren’t. In retrospect, he wished he’d asked Chiss to write the operating system. At least he’d remembered to include a failsafe code. 

    “Surprise, you son of a bitch,” he said. Now maybe they had a captive SI? They’d have to find out later.  

    In space, Fort Norfolk and Fort Gibson fired anti-missile lasers at Castle Pinckney’s weapons. Gibson got all 10 aimed at them, Fort Norfolk got eight of them. Their shields absorbed the missile hits, though only barely.  

    From the Earth’s surface, the ground-based laser defenses engaged the five inbound. Arranging this part of Earth’s defenses had been easier. The most powerful lasers on the planet had already been in place. Each starport had between one and five of them, used for launching ships to orbit. The ones at the Madagascar starport of Antananarivo, as well as the Gberia Fotumba starport in Sri Lanka, engaged the missiles. Jim sighed as all five were accounted for.  

    “Sever uplink with Castle Pinckney before the SI gets any ideas,” he ordered, and all data from it went blank. “Order all orbital bases to only accept voice input, no exterior data, none. Understand?” 

    “Yes, Minister.” 

    He’d set up careful isolations with outside data for the bunker, but clearly the SI was sneakier than he’d thought. If it can fool Adrianne, I’m not vain enough to consider myself beyond its subterfuge. “Order Gibson and Norfolk to fire everything they’ve got along the track of the inbound ship. Ripple fire until detonation is inside the EMP risk zone, then switch to lasers.” 

    “What about the lunar missiles?”  

    Jim shrugged. “I’m not worried about those just now.” 

    The platforms continued to fire at the rushing ship, letting two more waves of missiles fly until…  

    Gibson’s shields flashed brilliantly.  

    “What was that?” he asked.  

    “High energy impact on Fort Gibson’s shields. No sign of the weapon, though.” 

    “Estimate yield,” he said as one also hit Fort Norfolk. “Damn it, what’s happening?”  

    “Yield is about 1.5 megatons. Looks like a ballistic impact, but how?” 

    “It’s the right amount of energy from a drone traveling at around 7% of light speed.” 

    “Warn the defense platform to take what evasive action they—” 

    He didn’t have time to finish, as Gibson and Norfolk were hit again. Gibson’s shields flashed and died. The defense platform listed crazily, and secondary explosions indicated damage, but it began to correct its attitude almost immediately. Norfolk, its shields already compromised, fired at the drone, then the station exploded like a watermelon hit by a shotgun.  

    Jim cursed. There was nothing to be done about it, though. Everything they had that could fire at the ship was out of action. He directed the view outward, the track of the ship imposed over the view, along with the missiles racing to intercept it.  

    “First wave of interceptors coming into range,” a sensor operator said. The plummeting ship fell past the moon fast, so damned fast. “Impact in three… two… one…”  

    A series of flashes announced detonating nuclear weapons. Anyone who’d seen a terrestrial nuke go off, then one in space, would be sorely disappointed by the latter. No huge explosion, no mushroom cloud. Just a flash of intense radiation and a thermal pulse. It seemed so inadequate against a ship coming at a fraction of light speed.  

    The radiation flashes blinded the sensors on the satellites that provided Jim’s tactical data. The image returned in 10 seconds, an eternity and 210,000 kilometers later.  

    “Target remains. It appears to have been damaged, but intact.”  

    An indistinct image of a spinning mass, glowing hot. It might have once been a ship. That didn’t matter now; only energy from impact mattered now. Impact in seven seconds. 

    “Last wave of interceptors, no nuclear,” Tactical announced.  

    Jim held his breath, almost all hope gone. If dozens of nuclear missiles couldn’t stop it, what hope did a conventional warhead have? The explosions were nothing but tiny pips of light, a burning pixel, no more. One missile out of the wave—a solitary weapon—hit the target nearly dead center. The ship’s own speed, all the energy it was carrying, worked against it. The ship exploded, and everyone in the bunker cheered.  

    “Quiet!” Jim roared. “Track the debris; what’s left?”  

    The seconds ticked down as they frantically analyzed debris. “Largest piece is 22 meters; I think it’s the engine section.” 

    Jim was no physicist, but he knew, It’s too much! It was way too big.  

    The pieces of the shattered ship hit the atmosphere. A thousand flashing streaks of energy marked smaller pieces being ionized as the energy radiated as visible light. The atmosphere was only a thousand kilometers thick, though, and the bigger pieces passed through it in only four-hundredths of a second. Faster than a camera flash. Blink and you’d miss it. “Impact,” the techs said somberly. 

    Inward-looking satellites watched as spots flashed on the surface, and fire bloomed over India. Jim’s head fell. We failed. 

    “Lunar satellites tracking the five missiles.” 

    Jim looked up as the missiles fired from Castle Pinckney roared around in low lunar orbit, barely 20 kilometers over the surface. The satellite watching centered on an old facility. It looked like it had been abandoned for a century. A crater had been lined with titanium mesh, and an instrument array suspended above it, like the old Arecibo Array in Puerto Rico back in the 20th century before it collapsed. Something set up shortly before first contact, never used.  

    He watched from orbit as all five missiles reached their target and detonated in nuclear fire. The base and all traces of it were scoured from the moon’s surface.  

      

      

    * * * 

      

    EMS Isaac Hopper, Transiting to Stargate, Sol System 

    “Full speed ahead,” Lieutenant Kevin Brown said. “I’d like to get out of the free-fire zone before anyone decides to lob something at us.” 

    “We could always just jump on our internal shunts,” the helmsman offered. 

    “Colonel Cromwell doesn’t want to advertise the capabilities of our intel cutters,” Brown replied. “The rules are to only use the internal shunts if it’s a matter of life or death, and at the moment, we’re not in that kind of danger. Continue to the stargate.” 

    “If you sit around in a free-fire zone long enough…” the comms officer muttered, looking pale at all the missiles flying around space. 

    “As I already said—” Brown’s tone got a little sharper, “—unless something changes, we are not in imminent danger.”  

    “Internal shunts coming online!” the helmsman exclaimed.  

    “I told you—” 

    “I didn’t do it!” the helmsman screamed. “They just activated on their own!” 

    “Don’t worry,” a voice said from the speaker. “Just sit back and enjoy the ride. I’ll take it from here.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Merchant Guild Headquarters, Capital Planet 

    “Thank you for allowing us to use this space,” Shol-Sheck said.  

    “You are most welcome,” Shellix replied. “That is, as long as you pay the rent.” 

    Shol-Sheck stared at the Zuparti, but the alien neither backed down nor looked intimidated in the slightest. Whether that was because of the two Oogars behind him—contracted to the Merchant Guild through a non-Mercenary Guild contract; Shol-Sheck had checked—or for some other reason she didn’t know, the Zuparti had been very firm in what it wanted as recompense for allowing the Mercenary Guild to use the Merchant Guild spaces. 

    The Merchant Guild had rented one of their conference facilities to the mercs, as well as a section of supporting office space. It was enough for now, and the Merchant Guild headquarters was close to where the new Mercenary Guild would be built. 

    “Of course,” Shol-Sheck replied with a small nod. “I will send payment this afternoon.” 

    “See that you do,” the Zuparti said before turning and striding away. The two Oogars growled to reinforce the Zuparti’s reply, then they turned and hurried off after the shorter being. 

    Shol-Sheck’s gaze took in the spaces she’d have to operate out of for the next few months. “It’s adequate,” she said slowly.  

    “Should we look somewhere else?” her assistant asked. 

    “Unfortunately, there is nowhere else,” Shol-Sheck replied. “Space—livable space—on Capital Planet is at a premium.” 

    “We could go somewhere else. Tolgar is nice now.” 

    “There is no way the other races will agree to having the Merc Guild on our home world,” Shol-Sheck said, “no matter how much we might like it to be that way.” 

    “But you’re the Speaker! They have to go where you say.” 

    “I am the Speaker only because the Goltar held the post when the council was destroyed, and I am the senior representative on-planet. I have not been confirmed by either our government or the council. Before that can happen, we’re going to have to reconstitute the council.” 

    “How do we do that?” 

    Shol-Sheck flipped a tentacle in negation. “It isn’t going to be easy. Our first task will be to notify the other races, most of whom probably won’t know that the council is no more. They will then have to send a new representative. We’ll need a quorum in order for our decisions to have any legitimacy.” 

    “Can we… selectively notify the races?” 

    “What do you mean?” 

    “Well… what if, say, the Veetanho notification were to get lost for a week or two… maybe as long as a month, and they weren’t able to get a representative here in time?” 

    “I can’t do that. It would be too obvious.” 

    “Of course not,” the assistant said. “You should draft all the notices and give them to me, and I will get them out… as soon as I’m able.” 

    Shol-Sheck nodded slowly. “Yes, I must get them all out. But it’s true, sometimes messages do take a while to move about the galaxy.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Revenge, Kop’ka System, Core Region, Jesc Arm 

    “Emergence,” the helmsman said. “Looks like we’re in the Kop’ka system.” 

    “Drones out,” Gallagher ordered. “Give me a good sweep.” 

    “Damn,” the sensor operator said. “There’s a shit-ton of radiation in this system.” 

    Gallagher clenched his fists and looked up at the overhead, then he squeezed his eyes shut and took a deep breath. “Damnit!” he exclaimed. 

    “What’s wrong?” Nigel asked from his observer’s position.  

    “There was something nagging me from our time here before—some reason I hated this system. I thought it was the high radiation, but something kept nagging at me that there was something else about this system. If we’d planned this trip like normal, I’m sure I would have remembered it, or the helm would have noticed it in his normal planning, if this were a system in the database. Instead, it was, ‘Go, go, go! We don’t want anyone to notice we’re leaving.’ So we raced to the stargate and left at the first opportunity. Now we’re here, and I just remembered what it was I hated about this system.” 

    “And, what’s that?” Nigel asked, starting to get a little annoyed at the guessing games. 

    “This system doesn’t have a stargate!” Gallagher roared. “You need hyperspace shunts to get back out of here again.” 

    Oh. Fuck. Nigel’s jaw dropped. “The Revenge doesn’t have them.” 

    “Nope; we were scheduled to get the new, smaller ones when we got back to Earth next time.” 

    “But… but…” Nigel’s jaw dropped, and his brain refused to process the information. “We have to get back to Capital Planet…” He stood, staring. “The bomb… the council…” 

    “The council will have to take care of itself,” Gallagher said, “because—unless you know something I don’t—we’re stuck here until someone else shows up to give us a ride home.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    With nothing better to do, Gallagher had taken the Revenge toward the Weapons Conglomerate facility in planetary orbit, hoping one of the partially completed ships there would have shunts… or that one of the Class Bravo ship manufactories would have the technology in their database… anything so they could acquire hyperspace shunts to attach to the Revenge and escape the system. 

    The Kop’ka system was a binary system. The larger of the two, Kop’ka A—the system they were in—was a supermassive red giant that shed radiation like an overly emotive Tri-V starlet shed tears. The second star, Kop’ka B, was a much smaller blue-white star that orbited far enough away to have developed its own planets. 

    The Revenge had altered its approach slightly to keep the planet between the star and the Revenge to cut down on the radiation they were receiving. It wasn’t much, but it helped. 

    “Are you getting any movement from the shipyards?” Gallagher asked. 

    “No, sir,” the sensor operator said. “I’ve been watching them; don’t worry.” 

    Gallagher harrumphed once. Although he’d come to terms with their potential long-term captivity, his mood hadn’t improved. 

    The orbitals of the planet they were approaching held three separate yards. Each facility had four cage-like structures attached that looked like the Winged Hussars’ space docks, along with a massive starship manufactory, huge solar collectors and power generation units, and dozens of other support and administrative structures.  

    The first time they’d come to the system, the shipyards had rearranged themselves somehow, contorting their docks in some ancient process that turned the massive facility into a dispersed energy weapon that functioned much like a massive electromagnetic pulse, although one that could be aimed at incoming targets. The SI running the facility had fired EMP pulses at the Humans, disabling first the Winged Hussars’ fleet, and then Asbaran Solutions’ ships when they arrived to rescue the Hussars. Nigel had led his CASPer troopers in a freefall attack through space that had ultimately been successful—along with a breakout by the Hussars—in overcoming the SI. Gallagher had thought the CASPer attack to be nothing short of suicidal, but it’d worked out. 

    Gallagher searched the Tri-V display of the approaching facilities, looking for something they could use to get out of the system. Hopefully, Nigel has something else he can pull out of his ass this time, Gallagher thought, because I’m not seeing it.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Commander’s Office, Prime Base, New Warsaw 

    “Commander Cromwell.” Colonel Prestridge held out his hand as he entered. 

    Alexis came around her modest office desk to take his hand. “Colonel Zachary Prestridge, it’s good to meet you at last. I’ve heard good things about Shiro, but also that you’ve come upon hard times.”  

    “Yeah, we’ve taken some heavy losses recently. Well, more like a near total loss. We have a positive credit balance, but there aren’t many Human-capable warships for sale. We can get plenty of older Izlian ships, or even some Bakulu, but the Maki aren’t selling right now.” 

    Alexis nodded as she gestured him to a chair and returned to her own. The Maki were about the only reputable starship builders in the Union whose vessels were immediately usable by Humans. The Izlians were an exotic race resembling the Portuguese Man-o-War who lived in a thousand atmospheres of toxic gas, while the Bakulu were essentially huge gastropods. Even though both races made lots of ships, neither race shared the same physiological requirements, while the Maki and Humans did. Maki were considerably smaller than Humans, but because of their arboreal ancestors, tended to build large corridors, so it worked. 

    “The Maki have had some of their own problems,” she said, a colossal understatement. She’d personally destroyed a few hundred of their ships over the last ten years, including wiping out one of their biggest mercenary companies only weeks ago. “Well, you wouldn’t be here if you didn’t know I had some ships for sale.”  

    “Correct, and thank you for sending the codes we needed to get here.” 

    “I’m sorry we still can’t make it public knowledge.”  

    Prestridge held up his hands. “Say no more, it’s completely understandable. We all fought with Peepo to one degree or another. I was more than impressed by what we saw after arriving at New Warsaw’s emergence point. Your system is a fortress, ma’am.”  

    “Not nearly enough; we got pasted pretty bad in the invasion, as well.” 

    “I understand you had a traitor, though?” 

    Alexis’ expression darkened, and she nodded curtly. 

    “I’m sorry; that wasn’t meant as an insult.” 

    “I didn’t take it that way; it was a dark moment for me. Perhaps I trusted too much or was just another victim of how deeply Peepo’s subterfuge could go. Who would have expected her to embed her own sister in a merc unit decades earlier, hiding any relations? Paka had been with the Hussars since my mother was in command. I thought of her as a sister.”  

    “We don’t have any aliens in Shiro,” Prestridge noted.  

    “We have thousands. It’s a tradition going back to the Hussars’ formation. It’s had its rocky points, and we try to be extremely diligent. But many have been with us for several generations.” 

    “After so many years of faithful service, you’d trust almost anyone.” 

    “With your life,” she said, feeling the scars in her back without having to touch them. A centimeter to the left, and I wouldn’t have become a mother. “Let’s change the subject. What precisely are you in the market for?”  

    Prestridge smiled and nodded. “We really need a heavier hitter. We lost our cruiser and two escorts. Shiro has always been a light combat unit, as you know, but without any real throw weight, we’re barely useable as drop-off now. We have the one medium transport, and four corvettes, which are battle riders.” He shrugged.  

    “Yeah, that’s not much. And what’s your budget?” Prestridge’s mouth tightened, and she inwardly grinned. Getting a merc commander to lay his cards on the table is like getting a Veetanho to admit it’s wrong. “Let’s say in the neighborhood of 120 million.” 

    “Well, that’s not a fortune, but it’s also not insubstantial. Frankly speaking, I can’t sell you a battlecruiser for that. I’d get more scrapping them.” 

    “A battlecruiser is not our style anyway,” Prestridge said.  

    “What I do have is a pair of Stem-class light cruisers and a Bloom-class frigate. The Bloom was trashed, but we put it back together. I’ve been using it as a training ship, but all our new frigates are online, so I really don’t need it anymore.” 

    “All Maki,” he said, blinking as he used his pinplants.  

    “Yes, and they were crewed by Maki. Most have left the Hussars slowly over the last few years. Light cruisers don’t really fit into our ToE, and the Bloom-class is a laser-based design, which we only use for escort frigates. They’re all in good shape, and I’ll sell you all three for 75 million credits.”  

    Prestridge blinked in surprise. “That’s quite generous, Commander. Far be it for me to look a gift Equiri in the mouth, but can I ask why?”  

    “They don’t fit in, and they’re chewing up maintenance cycles we could use to bring our new ships online. I have 52 brand-new frigates we’re working to finish outfitting, and 12 battlecruisers. My time is better spent dedicating yard personnel to them.” 

    “Twelve new battlecruisers?” Prestridge said, eyes wide. “You getting ready for a war?”  

    “Actually, yes. You’ve heard about the Kahraman almost breaking through?”  

    “I’ve read the reports you and the other Horsemen sent out, but to tell you the truth, it reads like fairytales.”  

    Alexis cursed inwardly. She’d known from her intel reports that other Human mercs weren’t taking the potential threat seriously, and they hadn’t been able to tell everyone about the SIs running around causing trouble. If they didn’t believe the Kahraman were knocking on their door, there was no way they would believe 20,000-year-old synthetic intelligence murder machines were rubbing their hands together and laughing like old-fashioned movie villains.  

    There wasn’t much more they could do to convince them, either. If Peepo had been smarter and told the Horsemen about the threat, maybe things would have gone differently. Maybe.  

    “You’d think the Dusman running around, taking over contested systems would change your mind.” 

    “A lot of that doesn’t seem real, either. They’re not going to war, after all. If anything, the Dusman are pacifying. Since they’ve taken Sulaadar, you can actually go through the system without worry. Transki used to make it a nightmare going through.” 

    Alexis shook her head at the dichotomy. He couldn’t believe the Kahraman might invade any day, but easily accepted the fact that in just a few years, the Dusman—who’d been gone for 20,000 years—were not only back, but were making the galaxy a better place.  

    “More than a few think it wouldn’t be a bad idea if the Dusman took over from the Union. The Union has been nothing but a shit show for us, right?”  

    Bloody hell, she thought. 

    <This may well be the Dusman’s plan all along,> Ghost’s words appeared in her mind.  

    We used to call that ‘winning hearts and minds,’ Alexis replied. Psychological tactics.  

    <It appears to be working.> 

    Alexis used her pinplants to make a note for her intel service to report if they were hearing similar things from other races in the galaxy. She’d never really thought about what the Dusman’s deeper plans might have been. Show up, take over, pick up where they left off? But why now?  

    <Why now, indeed.> 

    “Well then,” she continued to Prestridge, “let this help convince you the Kahraman aren’t a fairy tale, Commander. I’m selling you 200 million credits’ worth of starships for 75 million. I’ll make sure they all have fresh F11, as well as full magazines of Hussars-standard sub-critical shipkiller missiles.”  

    Prestridge shook his head in amazement. “Why?” 

    “Because one day, maybe soon, we’re all going to have to fight the Kahraman, whether you agree or not, and I may need a favor. So, you want the ships or not?” 

    After the paperwork was completed, Alexis used her pinplants to formalize the transfer of ownership and got her yard team to work on the details. Prestridge would take delivery at Earth in two weeks. By the time it was completed, she’d compiled the data she was looking for. Hundreds of Galactic Union news reports on Dusman appearing to provide aid. Everything from food to repairing infrastructure. No fighting, just helping.  

    And just like that, it all fell into place.  

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Geek Squad Offices, Prime Base, New Warsaw 

    Patrick Leonard looked up from his desk and blinked at the elSha standing in front of it. “What?”  

    The alien chuckled. “You in there, boss?”  

    “Sorry, Seelp,” Patrick said and yawned. “I’ve been kinda busy.” 

    “When’s the last time you slept?”  

    Patrick’s eyes furrowed as he tried to remember.  

    <It has been 49 hours, 18 minutes, 7 seconds,> Charlotte, his mesh, volunteered.  

    “Not that long,” Patrick told Seelp.  

    <Data on your race suggests more than 36 hours without meaningful sleep is detrimental to your mental health.> 

    I didn’t ask you, he replied to the SI living in his skull. The damned thing was extremely useful, but lacked a fundamental understanding of how a Human used internal monologue.  

    “I’ve worked with Humans long enough to tell when you’re full of dung,” she replied, and held out a slate. “The survey of Sector 15 you asked for?”  

    “Thanks,” Patrick said and took the slate. Seelp was his materials and resource extraction expert, and she was top notch, just like all his people. Ever since he’d taken over Geek Squad after Kleena’s untimely death, Patrick had struggled to bring any sort of organization to the group. Taiki Sato’s fingerprints were everywhere, despite the fact the Human genius had never actually been in charge!  

    Geek Squad, which Patrick had eventually learned was a more-or-less tongue-in-cheek nod toward a commercial computer repair service from the 20th century United States, had been established by Sato and Kleena shortly after he’d joined the Winged Hussars. Alexis Cromwell had been trying to find ways to develop additional technological edges for the merc company, and Sato’d provided a perfect opportunity.  

    Of course nobody had known Sato was actually an operative for the Science Guild’s secret leader, an SI named Minerva. He hadn’t known either, apparently suffering from some sort of brain damage. Patrick had never gotten the whole story; he only knew that six years ago, Sato had suddenly recovered most of his memories, and, with help from Nemo, the Hussars’ resident Wrogul, absconded to parts unknown.  

    That was where Patrick had entered the scene. He’d been relatively new to Geek Squad when this happened during the Omega War. Sadly, Patrick had run afoul of the Hussars’ SI guardian angel, Ghost, and temporarily played host to it because its previous host, Alexis’ twin sister’s body, was failing. Ghost, living in Patrick’s brain, hadn’t left him entirely whole when it left, but Nemo had ‘fixed’ him.  

    The rest is history, he thought. Nemo had installed what it thought were prototype pinplants. What they really were was an ancient design of super-advanced pinplants called ‘mesh,’ which just happened to have its own simple SI—a Type 2, to be precise.  

    When Seelp walked in, Patrick had been using his mesh to go over the potential of using more of the mesh. That had its own problem, of course. Pinplants left a person vulnerable to a high-level SI taking over. Mesh might as well have been a huge floating welcome sign, a comfy bed, and a cookie on the pillow.  

    “Take a day off,” Seelp suggested. “It’ll wait until tomorrow.” 

    Patrick grunted and nodded, letting his mesh absorb all the data from the slate before dropping it in a recycle bin. Seelp stood there for a few minutes as Patrick’s eyes glazed back over in dataland before shrugging and walking off.  

    <I can do most of this analysis while you sleep,> Charlotte suggested.  

    I’m fine, Patrick replied and used the mesh’s seamless upper-thought integration to correlate the data Seelp had provided. New Warsaw held enough resources to last a thousand lifetimes. By shattering the outer planets, all the minerals buried deep in the worlds were now floating asteroids. While many of the largest, purest sources had been mined eons ago, there was still more than anyone could ever ask for.  

    He was examining a cluster of high-content nickel-iron asteroids when Charlotte again spoke up. <There is a discrepancy in cluster Lambda-4-1.> 

    Patrick directed his attention to the data table of that cluster. I don’t see an issue. 

    <Examine the data correlated against the survey completed 9-16-2101.> 

    Patrick performed the comparison. In 2101, a total of 39 asteroids had been categorized, all indexed with expected yields of various minerals, plus/minus 100 tons. The data Seelp had just given him showed 38 asteroids; the smallest was missing.  

    <Yes, that is what I noticed.> 

    Change of orbits? Collisions? A fraction of a second pause as Charlotte used his own brain’s coprocessing capabilities to run orbits.  

    <Like all the Lambda clusters, 4-1 is both stable and has no crossers capable of deflection. Probability of artificial interference 99.9%.> 

    That’s pretty specific, Patrick thought in reply. The datasheet showed the missing asteroid massed a mere 6,000,000 kilograms, with approximately half nickel iron and 10% other metals like titanium, gold, and heavy metals. How many others in that cluster contained as much rare earths and precious metals? 

    <None in that cluster.> 

    As much as 600,000 kilos of rare and precious metals. Much of that is used in manufacturing high-tech equipment.  

    <There is sufficient material to do a great deal of manufacturing.> 

    Any other missing asteroids? 

    <Not that I can detect from recent reports. However, there are 2,992,503 categorized asteroids of more than 100 meters in diameter in the New Warsaw system, and likely an order of magnitude more of asteroids smaller than 100 meters, and thus uncategorized.> 

    Not possible, got it. 

    <I did not say that. I am working on it right now.> 

    Oh! Charlotte, you’re awesome.  

    <In a time where nobody has mesh, I would agree with that summation.> 

    Humble, too. No response to that. It must have been a huge amount of data for Charlotte to have to concentrate.  

    <There are some missing small radar returns around the Lambda cluster.> 

    “Holy shit,” Patrick said and activated his commlink.  

    “Commander’s office,” a Zuul voice answered.  

    “Commander Drizz, I need to speak to Commander Cromwell immediately.”  

    “She’s out at Manufactory #2, Mr. Leonard. What’s up?”  

    “I believe we have a skunk in the asteroid field.”  

    “What makes you think that?”  

    “A few million kilograms of metals disappearing sound good enough?”  

    “Hold one, I’m relaying the call.”  

    Five minutes later, Alexis was listening as he finished explaining what had been discovered.  

    “Let me check with Ghost,” she said finally.  

    Great, I’m basically a middleman for computers. 

    <I am not a computer.> 

    Patrick rolled his eyes as he waited.  

    “Your results are, as always, accurate,” she said. “Excellent work, Mr. Leonard. Ghost says there’s no evidence of an SI sneaking into the system, though, which is the perplexing part. Does the sensor part of those Hunter/Killer Boxes provide a search feature?” 

    “Yes,” he said. “However, the range isn’t extensive, and it won’t have the ability to destroy, only detect.”  

    “How much range would it have?”  

    “The current one has a basic detection range of 100 km, but it won’t give you much data at that range.” 

    “Better than nothing. Have Thing 1 and Thing 2 begin installing them in all three Petal-class corvettes. We need to go hunting.”  

      

    * * *  

      

    CIC, EMS Revenge, Kop’ka System, Core Region, Jesc Arm 

    “Any luck?” Nigel asked as he entered the CIC. 

    “If you mean, ‘Did someone magically show up and give us hyperspace shunts?’” Gallagher asked, “the answer is no. If you’re asking if there are a number of places someone in CASPers could go look, yes, we’ve identified a number of possibilities. There are the manufactories attached to the three shipyards, and there are nine ships in unstable orbits that might have hyperspace shunts installed.” 

    “Nine ships? I thought there were at least twelve unfinished ships in orbit. Didn’t all the shipyards kick out a ship when we showed up the first time?” 

    “Some must have deorbited since we were here. I don’t know. All I can tell you is, someone’s going to have to search those places and see if we can either find some shunts or maybe make some in one of the manufactories.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Terran Federation Headquarters, Houston, Texas, Earth 

    A Tri-V to one side in Jim’s office showed multiple views from relief missions in India. One network had a scrolling track of the casualties. An hour ago, it had passed 10,000. The impact had been 32 hours ago, and he hadn’t slept yet, instead remaining in constant contact with his TFM forces, waiting for the next shoe to fall. Nothing had happened, and he was scared.  

    His office door beeped to indicate that someone was outside, and he glanced up. It was Ziva. He put his live feeds on pause and went to the door. As it slid open, he could see the look of concern on her face, and he struggled to control his emotions.  

    “I saw on the Aethernet,” she said. “I was in Africa with Fssik and came back as fast as I could.” She reached out a hand. “Are you okay?”  

    “I failed,” he said, sobbing. “God damn it!” She enfolded him with her arms and pulled his head onto her shoulder. 

    “You can’t save everyone,” she whispered in his ear.  

    “That’s my job,” he said. 

    “I saw the details; it could have been so much worse. The scientists said if the ship had hit India intact, a billion people could have died. Would that have been a better outcome?”  

    He lifted his head and looked at her—so strong, so serious—and realized she was right. I can’t quit now, he thought. I can’t leave the planet until it can take care of itself. 

    <They’ll never be able to take care of themselves!> the voice cackled.  

    Something about the expression on her face made him pause. “What’s wrong?”  

    “It’s…” she started, then a speaker interrupted.  

    “Minister Cartwright, are you available? The Federation president wants to bring in some of the world leaders.” 

    Jim glanced at the tech who’d spoken up through the muted Tri-V. They would be unaware he had someone in his office. When he looked back at Ziva, her expression had returned to normal.  

    “It can wait,” she said and gestured to the area of his office where the pickups could see him.  

    Jim nodded and moved back into their field of view. A gesture from his hand unmuted the line. “I’m here, go ahead.”  

    President Hàoyǔ Zhang’s image appeared in one section of a Tri-V split with President Patel of India. Another screen indicated the entire Federation council was in on the call, as well as members of Jim’s defense team, and roughly 50 other world presidents, prime ministers, and council chairs. He realized less than ten years ago, this meeting would have scared him silly.  

    “Minister Cartwright,” President Zhang began, “President Patel would like to address you and the council.” 

    “I’m at his service, President,” Jim said with a slight bow.  

    “Minister Cartwright,” Patel began, “I was a member of Parliament when the Federation was formed, largely at your and other former Americans’ guidance. I was against India joining the Federation. After what happened with the former Earth Republic, it seemed nothing more than another western-led folly.” Jim swallowed and remained expressionless. Patel bowed. “I am enough of a man to admit I was wrong. Through your actions, you’ve likely saved a large portion of my nation’s people. We are grateful, and I am in your debt.” 

    Jim let out his breath slowly, his eyes glancing at Ziva, who smiled at him. Jim gave a little shake of his head. “President Patel, I don’t feel like we succeeded, and I am deeply sorry for the loss of life.”  

    “Minister, I have heard there was loss of life on one of the orbital defense platforms?” 

    “Yes, Norfolk was completely destroyed, with the loss of all hands, 129 persons. Castle Pinckney was temporarily taken over by a hostile SI, a synthetic intelligence, which ejected most of the station’s personnel into space. Seven survived on Pinckney, and three more were picked up by Federation vessels. Another 118 casualties there.” 

    Patel nodded. “I’ve seen the report, but did you know Castle Pinckney was staffed by the nation of India?” 

    Jim blinked. “I should have remembered that, sir. I’m sorry.” 

    “Do not be sorry,” Patel replied sternly. “India has a long history of both being exploited by, and unable to defend ourselves from, foreign interference. Not only have you had us raise our own Federation troops, you saw to it that we staffed one of the orbital defense platforms. We were there, in the fight, and, as a nation, we stand proud to be members of the Federation.” The elderly Indian man stiffened and saluted Jim. “All my defense experts say it was nothing short of a miracle the ship was intercepted at all. We also owe a debt of thanks to the Dusman, I understand.” Jim nodded in agreement. “I was also uncertain your alliance with them was a positive thing, and again, I’m not afraid to admit I was wrong.” 

    Patel consulted something off screen. “Minister, Madam President, India stands ready to double its commitment to the Federation military, both monetarily and in personnel and equipment.”  

    “Mr. President,” Zhang said, surprise on her face, “I am honored to hear this.” 

    “It is merely the acknowledgement of our need to work together as a species to protect ourselves. Whatever the reason, we have become a center of interest to aliens; it cannot be denied that we must take our own fate in our hands. It is also clear, thanks to your young and capable Minister of War, that it is possible to do so. Yes, we’ll need friends and powerful allies, but I believe it is not only possible; it is essential.  

    “Furthermore, I’ve spoken with all the leaders present here, and they’ve agreed to follow suit; many will be reallocating forces and funds formerly dedicated to internal militaries for planetary defense.” A chorus of nods and spoken agreements rippled through the crowded Tri-Vs of other world leaders.  

    Jim could see a few were less than enthusiastic, but they were still at the table. He’d fought to get a higher percentage commitment from them for more than five years. It disgusted him that it had taken the death of over 10,000 Humans in a single act of savagery to get them on board, but at the same time, maybe some good would come from this evil. Eat shit, you SI bastards, he thought savagely. The internal voice growled silently.  

    A short time later, it was only Jim and his fellow ministers; he kept up the news feeds in the background. The president was the first to speak. “I know we’ve had our tough spots, Jim, but today you showed us why you are the right man for this job. I wanted to thank you personally, as did the rest of the cabinet.” They all spoke in agreement with the president.  

    “I merely did what I was entrusted to do, Hàoyǔ,” Jim said. “I take being a Horseman seriously. I was raised by my father, Thaddeus Cartwright, who taught me that you don’t do anything ‘just well enough,’ or with anything less than all your ability. I never want to see Earth occupied again.”  

    “And we’re grateful for your efforts.” 

    Jim smiled and nodded, thinking about the letter still on his computer, unsent. Now wasn’t the time. “Is there anything else?” he asked. “I want to review the TFM humanitarian relief efforts; there was a bit of a readiness issue with some of the countries.”  

    “Actually, yes,” Hàoyǔ said. “Can you shed some light for us on the origin of the starship you intercepted? It didn’t come from the stargate. President Patel said you told them it originated from Neptune?”  

    “Yeah,” Jim said and sighed.  

      

    * * *  

      

    “So let me see if I’ve got this right,” President Zhang said. “I’ve checked, and I can’t find any details on facilities in the outer system. There’s nothing in your budget for it, and no records.” 

    “That’s some of it,” Jim admitted, looking at the Tri-V display. He was in the government center’s main conference room, with the president on remote, as she was in India touring the damage. He’d agreed to brief her on everything he knew, and she could decide how to explain it to the rest of the ministers.  

    “Some of it?”  

    He closed his eyes and sighed. This was going to suck. “The explosions on the moon targeted a hidden facility disguised to look like an old radio astronomy antenna.” Jim took a breath and continued. “The ship was another matter, it—” The Tri-V went dead.  

    “What are you doing, Jim?”  

    He spun around and saw a small Tri-V glowing with Adrianne’s image, her arms crossed over her chest, staring at him. He overcame the surprise quickly. “Telling them about you.”  

    “You can’t do that.” 

    “Bet me?” 

    “Jim, we’ve been through a lot together…” 

    “Don’t play the emotional card with me, damnit. You fucking used me to get intel.”  

    “Maybe I did; what of it? You had information vital to our planet, potentially to our race’s survival.” 

    “And so do you, and you tried to hide it from everyone. If you won’t come clean, I’ll dig you out of the wall like a cockroach. You won’t be able to go skittering under covers this time.”  

    To his complete surprise, she laughed. “I’m sorry,” she said, shaking her head and covering her face.  

    “You think this is funny?”  

    “No, but your use of metaphors is.” She looked back at him, and her expression turned somber.  

    “I figured you were dead from that lunar strike.” 

    “Like a cockroach, I’m not that easy to kill. Besides, we have a series of hyperloop tunnels running around the Moon to our various installations.” 

    “How many bases do you have in the system?” 

    “More than a few.”  

    “Get out of my way. I have a briefing to finish.” 

    “Jim, if you completely unmask us, we’ll be compromised.” 

    “Good. I’m tired of your fucking games. You just got tens of thousands killed because you decided to mess around with an SI, and it went sideways. Only it didn’t kill you, it killed a lot of innocents.”  

    For the first time, she looked away. “It shouldn’t have gone that way.” 

    “It’s all a big game to you, isn’t it? It was when you were with me, and it was with the SI.”  

    “In a way, you’re right.”  

    He blinked in surprise. “You admit it?” 

    “That we’re in the middle of a game? Yeah, I do. We’ve been studying these SIs for years, ever since our intel people figured out what was going on.” 

    “When was that?”  

    “More than 50 years ago, when a Science Guild Proctor all but destroyed our databases.”  

    “And why didn’t you tell the Horsemen back then about the SI?”  

    “If I’d sat you down seven years ago, when we were involved in our relationship—” 

    “Is that what you call it?” He snorted. 

    “Jim, shut the fuck up for a minute.”  

    He ground his teeth, but held his peace.  

    “This is bigger than you or me. As I was saying, if I’d sat you down before you found out I wasn’t what I’d pretended to be, would you have believed me? What if I’d told you about Section 51? If I’d told you that we’d been around for over a century and a half, that we’d been responsible for almost every major technological development since the 1950s? If I’d told you that we fought tooth and nail to make the planet ready for first contact, only to completely miss the timing and fail to predict who would make that contact? And if I’d told you we’d confirmed there were ancient, incredibly powerful SIs running most of the guilds, what do you think you’d have said?”  

    “I’d have considered it,” he said dumbly.  

    “Bullshit. You’d have freaked out, just like you did when you found out who I was. You wouldn’t have believed a thing I said. If we decided to blow our cover, open every facility we have, and offer tours, even now, we’d lose our benefit as a defender of humanity and would likely be destroyed in short order.” 

    “By whom?”  

    “You know who, Jim. The Proctor who infiltrated us never got high enough in our organization to meet Blotto.” 

    “Who’s Blotto?”  

    “You can call him the secret to our success.” 

    “Another SI? One you control?”  

    “No, he’s 100% biological. Without access to Blotto, the Proctor couldn’t completely wreck us. Even so, he did a lot of damage. If we were completely exposed, spies on and around Earth would know the secret to our success, and we’d be destroyed. You found the skulkers out in the asteroid belt. You don’t think you found them all, do you? Come on, Jim, think! Earth’s been an open book since the stargate opened. Even if you managed to lock down the emergence point, it wouldn’t do anything about all the surveillance that’s already here.” 

    “Why have we been spied on for so long? Why so much effort?”  

    “Because we’re dangerous, Jim. I’d like to think it’s just because of who we are, but that isn’t it. There’s something about us that has the SI’s attention, both good and bad.”  

    Jim considered the possibility that she was just lying again. It seemed probable. Then he considered that maybe she was telling the truth and shuddered. If Peepo had wanted to destroy every Human on Earth, it wouldn’t have been hard. It wouldn’t even have taken orbital weapons or nukes. There were millions of asteroids in the system; just rain them down on the planet until everything—and everyone—was dead. Or push a big one in, and boom, no more Humans. Maybe cockroaches next time. Cockroaches? 

    “What am I supposed to do, Adrianne? I’m the Minister of War, and your little science project just went off the rails and killed thousands. You want me to keep all your secrets?”  

    “Some of them, yes.” 

    “I can’t do that.”  

    “You could if you wanted to.” 

    “Fine,” he said, “but I don’t want to. After this, I’m tired of covering up for you.” 

    “I saved your life and got you and your Raknar drivers out of Peepo’s prison,” she reminded him.  

    “Thanks,” he said, glaring at her. “I’ll tell the families of the dead I owe you one.” 

    “That wasn’t what I meant.”  

    “Are we done here?”  

    Her eyes glazed over, and Jim knew she was using her pinplants. After a moment, she focused on him again. “Okay, can we compromise?”  

    “My boss, the president of the Federation, is probably pissed you cut us off.”  

    “She thinks it’s a network problem. How about that compromise?”  

    “I’m listening.” 

    “We’ll read you in. But only you.” 

    “You trust me to keep your secrets?”  

    “After you see what we have to show you, Blotto thinks you’ll do it, at least for a while.”  

    “You were just talking to this Blotto?”  

    “He’s been listening in all along.”  

    Jim considered his options. Part of him wanted to give her the finger and tell everything he knew. Sure, he’d get some shit splatter for keeping secrets, but so what? All they could do was fire him. The thought of maybe learning more about Section 51, though, stopped him from giving her the finger, walking across the room, and pulling the plug on the Tri-V she’d somehow hacked. 

    “I want to meet this Blotto,” he said.  

    “That can be arranged.”  

    “I’m going to share everything you tell me with the other Horsemen.”  

    “That’s a deal breaker.”  

    “Fine, then, we’re done.” This time he saw her hesitate. “If you trust me, you have to trust them. The games have to end.” 

    “We’re all in the middle of a game,” she said. “A deadly game, run by unbelievably powerful masters.” 

    “Then wouldn’t we be better allies if we were honest with each other? I wouldn’t be surprised if you already knew most of our secrets. I either blow this open, badly, or you let us in, and we work together. What’s it going to be?”  

    “Fine.” 

    “Fine what?”  

    “You have a fucking deal,” she snapped. “Only you meet Blotto, though.”  

    “Suits me just fine.” 

    “We’ll make the arrangements. I’ll be in touch.”  

    “You have 30 days, or we’re back to square one.”  

    “Trust me.” 

    “Not on your life,” he said quietly. “What am I supposed to tell President Zhang?”  

    She shrugged. “Not my problem. Lie. It’s good practice.” The little Tri-V shut off.  

    “You’re better at it than I’ll ever be,” he mumbled. The main Tri-V booted back up, and the president’s annoyed face appeared.  

    “What happened?” she demanded.  

    “My tech people said we lost a satellite in the incident. Sorry, we should be good now.” 

    “I would hope so. What were you saying about the ship?”  

    Jim played it by ear. “The ship was compromised by alien operatives. It was an undercover courier I use for setting up intelligence and listening posts in the outer system. After we found that alien ship five years ago, I decided we needed better eyes and ears out there in the black. I’m going to have to take better precautions, apparently.”  

    “Do you think it was another move by the Mercenary Guild?”  

    “I don’t know,” he said. She’s right, lying gets easier. “But we’re investigating.” 

    “Why is there no record of these facilities and the ship?”  

    “Because I paid for it myself, so the intel could be shared with the other Horsemen.”  

    “That’s rather unorthodox,” the president said.  

    “I agree, but it was necessary.” 

    She nodded slowly, and he realized she was buying it. “Very well, Minister Cartwright. I appreciate your frankness. Going forward, maybe you should document these operations, at the very least. In case something were to happen on one of your unauthorized military engagements?”  

    Was it his imagination, or did he see a slight smile on her face? The fact that he was lying through his teeth angered him greatly. But what could he do at this point?  

    “Understood,” he said, and the meeting ended after some pleasantries. It had been a long day, and he needed a shower.  

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Eskabal System, Cresht Region, Tolo Arm 

    “You cannot do this!” Jo, the leader of all the Eshbool, screamed into the microphone at the Maki as the galactic’s ship, a massive round thing they called a Behemoth, continued toward the stargate. The ship matched its name. More than five kilometers across, its hull was festooned with hundreds of smaller ships hitching a ride. Inside were cavernous holds for cargo, and still more ships. Theirs were supposed to be inside. 

    “Your agreement with the Octal Clan was a provisional transportation, which was why the contract was so cheap.” 

    “But why can’t you take us?” Jo demanded. “Your ship is so large!” 

    “Your space was taken by a consortium that had a surprisingly good deal on a large quantity of petroleum.” 

    “Oil? You’re leaving us here because of oil?”  

    “You have my sympathy. Your deposit has been refunded. Octal Clan hopes you have a nice day.”  

    He stared at the dead communicator in shock; his assistants watched him in dread. Slowly, he turned in zero G. It was a difficult medium to move in, even for an Eshbool. He used four of his legs to control his movement, his antennae drooping. “We have failed.” 

    “They failed us,” one of his assistants said.  

    Jo didn’t know what to say. Near his ship floated 67 more. Like his, they were all crowded with females and young. Just under 100,000 Eshbool, the number their scientists estimated would be enough to save their race.  

    “What do we do?” another assistant asked.  

    “What can we do?” Jo asked, but it wasn’t really a question. “Return to Eskabal.”  

    The ragtag fleet slowly reversed course. Jo watched on the ship’s sensors as the Maki ship finished its transit and exited the stargate. The cursed stargate, which had appeared just 22 years ago, brought by representatives of the Galactic Union. His people had had no idea there was even life in the stars.  

    When the galactics had shown up, they’d offered all manner of special favors for trading with them. Jo and the other leaders had decided they wouldn’t be joining their Union. It seemed too good to be true. Even a young grub knows, anything too good, it is not good.  

    The ships they’d bought from a trader, little better than scrap, were incapable of flying faster than light, which was why they’d contracted with the Maki. One group of scientists had thought perhaps the ships could be outfitted as miniature biomes, then flown to the outer planets to wait out the coming catastrophe. Jo looked out the ship’s viewport at the reddish brilliance of their sun, which was now trying to kill them.  

    The trip out to meet the Maki ship had taken their ships four days. One of them had never managed to take off. He was worried about landing. The technicians who worked on the vessels said some were not able to land.  

    They’d entered orbit when one of the operators of his ship noticed something. “There are ships appearing at the emergence point.”  

    “Show me,” Jo said. The ship didn’t have the fantastic 3D displays he’d seen while negotiating with the Maki; they were more like the ones his own people had developed before being contacted, a flat liquid crystal matrix. On the screen, Jo’s eyes, a tight cluster of light collectors similar to the material of the display, watched tiny flashes of light, indicating ship after ship appearing.  

    “They are warships,” a technician said. He had one of the galactics’ transparent computers they called slates and was using it to supplement the meager ship’s capacity. “The computer can’t tell whose ships they are, only that they are warships.” 

    “Come to finish us off?” one of Jo’s assistants asked.  

    “Why bother; we’re already doomed,” Jo said. “Continue with the planned landing so we can begin modifying the ships.”  

    In a line, the 67 bedraggled ships slid into orbit and began the calculations for landing. Jo had already been in communication with those they’d left behind, those who’d worked so hard to ensure their race’s survival. They were preparing to work again, to save the same group they’d worked to save before. He’d never been prouder of his people, or as sad. Their chances were miniscule now. 

    “What are the warships doing?” Jo asked once they were safely in orbit.  

    “They have taken up positions around the emergence point.”  

    Jo’s antennae waggled in curiosity. Then five more ships arrived, these already moving quickly and accelerating.  

    “They’re coming to our planet,” the technician said. 

    “More warships?” 

    “No, these are different.”  

    “Ship Number 4’s drive is failing,” a technician said. “Numbers 22 and 11 are having difficulties with life support, and Number 50 has a leak in its engines; the special gas that makes them work.” 

    “F11,” Jo answered. “One of the magic elements they have that we do not.” He considered what to do. “Have all the ships experiencing difficulties dock; we will join them and try to effect repairs.” The best technicians and parts were in his ship, not because he was the leader, but because they had to be somewhere, and his ship made the most sense.  

    As planned, the four ailing ships rendezvoused in orbit. It took a lot of finagling because of the damage. His people were far from experienced in the vessels’ operation. Ship 50 had one docking port damaged, and had to flip over and use the other. The entire mess took almost an entire day, by which time the other 63 had made planetfall; amazingly, none were lost.  

    Jo got off the radio with the technicians down on Eskabal. They were despondent about the inability of the refugee fleet to leave and not optimistic about being able to convert the ships to long term survival in space. They’d downgraded the potential crew to only 40,000. How do you tell 60,000 people who’d thought they were going to live that they were going to die?  

    As the group of docked ships orbited around the planet, he could see through the shielded viewport a series of massive solar prominences arcing thousands of miles into space from their traitor of a star. When his ship orbited from the night side, he’d had a spectacular view of the aurora being generated as the star’s constant onslaught hit their planet’s horribly weakened magnetic field. Even from orbit, the forests below looked brown and dying. 

    “The ships heading for the planet are stopping.”  

    Jo left the repairs and returned to the bridge. Displays showed the five ships burning their fusion torches toward them, indicating they were stopping. Then they assumed a pentagon shape and worked to alter their course even more.  

    “What are they doing?” Jo wondered. Nobody knew.  

    Despite having more pressing matters to attend to, he stayed on the bridge. Every time they orbited around the planet and back into view, he watched the five ships’ progress as they stopped relative to the planet and slowly moved until they were between Eskabal and the sun. His antennae rubbed each other in nervous tension, not understanding what they could be doing. Then the five ships deployed massive panels. “Solar power?” he wondered aloud.  

    “The panels are emitting low level thermal radiation,” a technician said.  

    All of a sudden Jo blinked and looked around. “What is happening?” The light coming through the shielded window was changing! 

    “The panels the ships have extended are emitting terawatts of IR radiation!”  

    Before he could ask more, they travelled behind the planet. It was a frustrating 15 minutes before they came out the other side. The newly arrived ships were over a million kilometers distant. Even so, Jo could sense the IR radiation they were emitting with the properly attuned receivers on his antennae.  

    “Radiation from the star has decreased by 29%!” a technician called out in disbelief. “Now 30%, 31%, and dropping!” Over the next half hour, it reduced by 41% and stabilized, almost identical to what it was before the star began to misbehave. 

    Reports came in from all over the planetside facing the sun; solar radiation was completely normal. People could remove their protective covers and move about for the first time in nearly two years. 

    “Scientists think it was soon enough to save the plant life,” a technician reported to Jo.  

    “Another ship is approaching. Its a warship, quite big, but it is coming slowly.” 

    “We are being hailed!” 

    “Let me talk to them,” Jo said and turned to the screen. It flickered and displayed an alien, a light-brown-furred mammal with long, expressive ears that had tufts of fur extending from them. It had large blue-on-blue eyes, wore dark red clothing, and nodded when it saw him.  

    “We send greetings. May I speak to the leader of the Eshbool?”  

    “That is I, Jo. To whom am I speaking?”  

    “I am Tor J’asa, leader of the Dusman.” 

    “I greet you, Tor J’asa,” Jo said, struggling a little with the alien words. The other being used one of the galactics’ translators that had been tuned to his language, but some of the words didn’t have a meaning in his native tongue. “Can you tell me what is happening?”  

    “We received word of your peril and came as soon as we could. What you see here is a planetary radiation shield. It is reducing the radiation your planet is experiencing to manageable levels. You should still be cautious; it is possible for the star to emit solar flares beyond the shield’s ability to completely dampen. My people have been instructed to inform you if this happens. You will have approximately 15 minutes’ warning.” 

    “That is far more than we were able to give ourselves.” Jo spread his top hands wide. “You… you have saved us. But we cannot pay you.”  

    “We do not require payment. Why would one race demand another pay them to provide help? Is that not what friends do for one another?” 

    “Are we to be your friends?” Jo asked hesitantly.  

    “We have extended our hand; you have but to take it.” The alien turned up its mouth in what he knew many races called a ‘smile.’ His race would extend their antennae straight up, then touch the tips together. He did so.  

    “Speaking for my people, I accept, and I am glad to be your friend.”  

    “Excellent,” Tor J’asa said. “The shield is an extremely valuable system, so we are going to leave a small squadron to defend it. They will not bother you, unless you ask, and will stay at the emergence point.” 

    “Can they protect us from others?”  

    “Well, that would require a little more of you.”  

    Jo felt his antennae droop. “We have little money.” 

    J’asa laughed. “We do not need money, my friend.” The alien was replaced by a map of Jo’s world, centered on an island and zoomed in. He recognized it. “This island, you are not using it, am I correct?” 

    “There are minerals there we never understood; they make people very sick, so it is forbidden.”  

    “I would ask for this island for our uses. We need not even make it ours forever. When we are finished, the element you speak of will be gone, and you can then use it safely.” 

    “We would consider this a favor, but you wish it as payment? That is unnecessary. What then can I give you—” 

    “Friends do not demand anything,” J’asa reminded him.  

    “Okay, then, what can I offer in exchange for your protection?”  

    “It is very simple; you need only become our servitors.” 

    “What does this entail?” 

    J’asa smiled and explained.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Dante laughed after the communication closed and shook his head at J’asa. “You’re a real piece of work,” he said.  

    “I don’t know what you’re talking about,” she replied, giving him side-eye. “They’re getting what they want.” 

    “The bombardment shield is risky to use; it might not hold up.” 

    “With four drivers, it should sustain. The Nee’ii is to keep careful eye on it and call for assistance the moment anything looks to have problems, understood?”  

    “Of course.” 

    “How long does the Nee’ii think the star will be in this period?”  

    “The scientists haven’t had long to study the primary,” Dante said. “Just the scout reports and what we’ve gotten since arriving. She thinks it shouldn’t last more than another year, possibly quite a bit less.” J’asa nodded, but Dante persisted. “The planet’s biosphere was close to collapse, so your timing is perfect. She also says there’s a 20% chance the star will flare much sooner.”  

    “How long from now would that be, and will we have any warning?” 

    “Based on the star’s current activity, no sooner than a month. We’d have at least three days’ warning.” 

    “More than enough time to evacuate,” J’asa said. “Order the extractors to begin removing the mineral.” She turned and looked at the Tri-V presentation of the island. Their scout had spent a week in orbit surveying the island and had all the veins of Astatine-222 plotted in detail. Robots would have no problem removing it. “Enough to last us many years. The stupid galactics have been squabbling over one nearly-spent source for a thousand years, and this was right under their noses.”  

    “Their loss; our gain.” 

    She nodded as she began dictating orders. “And if the star stabilizes, we have another servitor to add to our growing list. If not…” She shrugged. “Life goes on, for some of us.”  

      

      

    * * * 

      

    Hidden Space, EMS Revenge, Kop’ka System, Core Region, Jesc Arm 

    “I don’t think the captain likes Colonel Shirazi very much,” Sinbad noted. 

    Shahrazad cocked her head at her on-again, off-again mate. “I think it is less that the captain doesn’t like him than the fact that Shirazi’s impulsiveness has gotten the captain stuck here.” 

    “I’m a bit miffed with him about it, too, as a matter of fact.” He blew out a breath. “And with you, as well. We could have reminded him that there was no gate here.” 

    Shahrazad nodded. “We could have, but we would have missed out on all the fun of watching them flail around.”  

    “Have they flailed around on their own enough? We could probably search faster than they can, and we would be better able to identify what we need. Can we please go help them now?” When Shahrazad didn’t respond, he motioned to their tiny compartment and asked, “Do you really want to spend the rest of your life stuck here in this little space?” 

    “There’s no need for theatrics,” Shahrazad said. “I think you’ve been around these Humans too long.” She chuckled at the look on Sinbad’s face. “But no, I don’t want to stay here any longer than we have to, and, as I find the likelihood they will figure this out on their own to be pretty low, I guess it’s time to make our presence known.”  

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Revenge, Kop’ka System, Core Region, Jesc Arm 

    As the ship began braking in preparation for insertion into orbit, the hatch to the CIC opened, and two Dusman walked into the space. A moment of rage spiked in Nigel, then he realized that getting mad at them was not only counterproductive, but wasted effort. He doubted the troopers had asked to be stranded in a system far from home; once again, they were just soldiers Splunk had sent to keep an eye on him. 

    “Intruders on the bridge!” the sensor officer said and hit an alarm button. Red lights immediately began flashing, and a horn sounded. 

    “Belay that!” Nigel said. He looked at Gallagher. “I thought you checked for stowaways.” 

    “I did.” Gallagher sighed. For the first time since they’d arrived at Kop’ka, he looked something other than angry. Frustration isn’t much of an improvement, though. 

    “I take it Splunk sent you to watch over us?” Nigel asked. 

    “Yes, J’asa sent us,” the female said. “She said you were somewhat impulsive.” 

    “I—” Nigel bit down on the emotion before it could get hold of him. We are currently stranded here. “Well, maybe,” he allowed. “Obviously you’re aware of what’s going on?” 

    “That we’re stuck here and need a way back out of the system?” the male asked. “Yes.” 

    “Do you have any ideas?” 

    “Well, if we had a K’apo—” the male started, but was silenced by a look from the female. 

    Nigel cocked his head. “If we had a what?” 

    “A means of communicating with civilization,” the female said. “Unfortunately, we don’t. What we do have, though, is a squad of Konar, which we can use to help search the manufactories.” 

    “I wanted to take a look at all the manufactories,” Nigel said. “I know the SI erased everything on some of the manufactories, but there may be something it missed. How about if you check the ships to see if they have internal shunts, and I’ll send a squad to each of the facilities to check their manufactories?” 

    “We would probably be of more use searching the manufactories, as we know what we’re looking for,” the female said, “but we can look at the ships, if that helps get us out of here faster.” 

    Nigel turned to Gallagher. “We’ll all get suited up. If there’s a shunt in this system, we’ll find it.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 

      

      

    

  


   
    [bookmark: _Toc90484089]Chapter 11 

      

      

    Office of the Minister of War, Federation HQ, Houston, Texas, Earth 

    Jim had just about had it for the day and was packing up to leave. Relief efforts in India were well in hand, and he’d begun to move on to other tasks. Less drama, more skull sweat. At least nothing had gone sideways for a few days. He looked up from tidying his desk when a message popped into his queue with several high-level classification tags attached to it. He glanced at them to be sure it wasn’t Adrianne setting up the meeting with Blotto. It had only been a week, but he still hoped. It was Mercenary Guild traffic, and he shrugged. It’ll still be there tomorrow. 

    Even as the thought crossed his mind, though, he set aside his exoskeleton, sat back down, and called up the message. The header alone got his attention. Now what’s Nigel done? he wondered. He brought up the message. 

      

    From: Temporary Merc Guild Headquarters, Capital Planet 

    To: All Mercenary Races’ Headquarters 

      

    Subject: Reestablishment of Mercenary Guild Council 

      

    1. Several days ago, an unknown entity brought a nuclear device into the Mercenary Guild headquarters on Capital Planet and detonated it. Although the headquarters building and all within it were destroyed, the weapon was small in size, and—due to the conditions on Capital Planet—did not destroy more than a block or two of the city in any given direction. Terrorism is suspected, and the Peacemaker Guild is investigating to determine the cause of the blast, but, at this moment, little more is known. 

      

    2. As the senior member of the race currently holding the Speakership, General Shol-Sheck has taken over as interim Speaker and is working to reestablish the council. All races are requested to send a representative to the inaugural meeting of the new council, which will be held on the following date.  

      

    Jim looked at his slate—the given date was in four weeks. Barely enough time to select someone and get them there. 

      

    3. While we realize this is an ambitious schedule, the current state of galactic affairs is already one best labeled as “in disarray,” and any further weakness shown by the Mercenary Guild will only further exacerbate the problems we are facing. As such, the meeting will be held as scheduled, subject to additional consultation among the races once all representatives are in place. 

      

    4. Although a program to rebuild the Mercenary Guild headquarters is underway, it will be some time until the construction is completed. During that period, the Mercenary Guild will be operating out of facilities leased from the Merchant Guild at their headquarters building on Capital Planet. Please send all candidates to this facility, as the initial Mercenary Guild council meeting will be held there. 

      

    Faithfully Submitted, 

    General Shol-Sheck, 

    The Deadly Ones Mercenary Company 

    Interim Speaker, Mercenary Guild 

      

    Jim shook his head, blinked, and read it again. His jaw had dropped somewhere along the way, and he closed his mouth with an act of will. That didn’t help the roiling in his stomach. Merc Guild headquarters destroyed? All personnel killed? That’s Nigel! All the stupid shit he’s done and survived… and he of all people dies in a terrorist bombing? 

    The message didn’t read any better the second time; if anything, it was even harder to read through the mist that covered his eyes. Oh, my God! Alexis and the kids! 

    After the second read through, he swallowed and commed Sansar Enkh. 

    It took several rings before she answered, and it was audio only. “Must be something important to call now,” Sansar said, her voice a little groggy. 

    Jim called up the time in Uzbekistan; 0215. “Uh, sorry,” Jim said. “I didn’t think about the time difference, but yeah, it’s important.” 

    “What is it?” Sansar asked, her voice instantly sharper and clearer. 

    “There’s been an incident at the Merc Guild headquarters. Someone set off a bomb.” 

    “A bomb? Is Nigel okay?” 

    “He—” Jim’s voice broke as he had to say the words, and he found himself unable to continue for a moment. “It was a nuke—a small one, they say—but any nuke would be big enough, I guess.” He paused for a moment, then said the hardest words he’d ever had to say. “Nigel—and everyone else—is dead.” 

    “Blue Sky!” Sansar exclaimed, all business now. “Do they have any idea who did it?” 

    “No.” Jim gasped. He took a breath, swallowed, and tried again. “The… the Peacemakers are investigating, but since they can’t tell their ass from a hole in the ground…” 

    “They’re not going to find anything,” Sansar finished. “I’ve already called in all my people; we’ll get to work and see what we can come up with. I’ll tell you, though, there hasn’t been anything I’ve seen recently that would point to any likely candidates.” 

    “Minerva?” 

    “Minerva’s certainly a possible candidate when any Humans are involved, but I don’t know that Minerva would wipe out all the others just to get Nigel.” 

    “Minerva has no respect for any life other than its own,” Jim grated. 

    “Well, that’s certainly true,” Sansar replied. “I know that as well as anyone—Blue Sky! I’ve seen her handiwork up close!—and we certainly won’t rule her out.” She paused. “Someone’s going to have to tell Alexis.” 

    “I know. I—” Jim swallowed, took a breath. “I’ll do it.” 

    “No… I don’t think so,” Sansar said after a moment. “You’re needed here. People are going to be scared—even more scared than normal. Especially after the attack on the planet by Section 51’s SI. You need to stay here and be the rock they can hold onto as galactic events rush by them. You’re also going to have to appoint Nigel’s replacement. I don’t know what that approval process will be like on the Federation Council, but I’m sure the infighting will be ferocious.” 

    Jim chuckled. “Of all the craziness going on, that’s the one thing that isn’t hard to figure out. I appoint you, Sansar. You’re the next Human rep to the Merc Guild. I don’t even need to run it past the Federation flunkies. It’s my decision to make… and I’m deciding it’s you.” 

    “I—I can’t be the Merc Guild rep. I’ve got too much going on.” 

    “Who doesn’t?” Jim scoffed. “We all do. Here’s the way I see it, though. We can’t just send anyone; at this time, especially, it has to be a Horseman. Until a successor is chosen for Asbaran, that leaves you, me, and Alexis. I’m already stuck in this sucky job you pinned on me; it can’t be me, unless you want to take over as Minister of War?” 

    “No, thanks. A thousand times no.” 

    “You can’t show up in New Warsaw and say, ‘Hi Alexis, your children no longer have a father. Also, their mother now has to go to the Merc Guild headquarters where their father just died, and she has to go immediately.’ Do you really want to carry that message to her?” 

    Sansar sighed. “You don’t have to say anything else. I understand; it’s my duty.” She sighed again. “Blue Sky. Okay, when do I have to be there?” 

    “I’ll send you the message, but you’re going to have to travel quickly to get to New Warsaw and back to Capital Planet in time. Unless, as I already said, you’d rather take over as Minister of War? I know I’d be happy to go to Capital Planet instead.” And maybe eat a nuke? Better than dealing with politicians. 

    “Not a chance. If I have to deal with the Federation council, one morning they’re all going to wake up dead. While that might solve some problems, it’s definitely going to cause others. No, I’ll do what I have to. Let me get a shower, then I’ll head in to our command center. I’ll let you know what I find out.” 

    “But I can count on you as the next Merc Guild representative?” 

    “Yeah. I’ll hold what—” Her voice broke; the first bit of sentiment she’d shown. Maybe she isn’t entirely the ruthless Mongol; there’s some Human emotion in there, after all. “I’ll take over for Nigel.” She paused, and her voice was under control again; if anything, now she sounded pissed. “We’ll talk later.” 

    She disconnected the call, and Jim stood and started strapping on his exoskeleton, glad that he wasn’t the target of her ire. Someone, sometime—when Sansar figured out who’d bombed the Merc Guild headquarters—was going to have a bad day. And if Minerva was behind it, that’s just one more reason to destroy the SI… not that I need it. 

    <Blood. There must be blood.> 

    There will be, he thought. For once, the rage monster in his mind wasn’t at odds with how he felt. 

      

    * * * 

      

    Ops Center, Golden Horde Headquarters, South of Chorvoq, Uzbekistan, Earth 

    “What’s going on right now?” Sansar asked as she walked into the ops center. 

    Lieutenant Colonel James Good looked up, then stood to greet her. “Nothing much,” Good said. “It’s a quiet night. At least it was, until you rousted Alpha and Bravo Companies. I’ve been trying to figure out why, but we don’t show anything hot. It must be something that just came through, and we haven’t decoded it yet.” 

    “Merc Guild traffic to the Ministry of War,” Sansar explained. “Apparently, someone nuked the Merc Guild on Capital Planet.” 

    “Blue Sky,” Good swore. “Was it a total loss?” 

    “Apparently so, although it was a small bomb and appears targeted solely on the Merc Guild. There wasn’t any info on any other guilds being destroyed.” 

    “We’ll make that our highest priority,” Good said. He shook his head. “At the moment, though, we don’t have anything on it.” He shrugged. “That said, we’re pretty overwhelmed with all the brushfire wars going on all over the place. It’s hard to keep up with everything… there’s so much going on right now.” 

    “Okay, new priorities. Stop following all the little pissant stuff. If it looks like it’s a planetary civil war without any chance of blowing up, note it and drop it. Yes—” she held up a hand when it looked like Good would speak, “—I know we may miss something that way, but we’re definitely going to miss it if we try to track every conflict currently going on in the Galactic Union.” 

    Good nodded. “As if we could.” 

    “Agreed. We can’t do it, and we shouldn’t. We need to step back and look at the forest instead of all the trees. Look at major movements: events that have the potential to get out of hand or that involve multiple guilds. We need to figure out where the SIs are—the ones we’re fighting, as well as the ones we’re not—and see if we can determine what their goals are.” 

    “We’ve been looking for Minerva, and we can’t find her.” 

    “Look harder. Look somewhere else. Do we know who’s running the Merchant Guild now?” 

    “What do you mean?” 

    “With the death of Mercurius, did one of the other SIs take over the Merchant Guild? Did a new SI step in? Did a Type 4 get upgraded to a Type 5 so it could run it?” 

    “Can you update 4s into 5s?” Good asked. “Is that something that’s possible?” 

    “I have no idea,” Sansar said with a shrug. “That’s why I have a smart head of intel—to figure stuff like that out for me. I do know several things, though.” 

    “And those are?” 

    “The Merchant Guild offered some of its spaces to the Merc Guild for us to use until our new headquarters is built. Perhaps it’s just a coincidence, but it seems awfully convenient of them to do so, and I’m wondering if Mercurius is still alive—if another copy of him existed that we didn’t kill, and he’s trying to draw me in.” 

    “Why would he do that?” 

    “To kill me? Take me over? I don’t know… but guess who’s the new Merc Guild representative?” 

    “I’m terribly afraid it’s you.” 

    “It’s me,” she said with a nod. “Unfortunately, it wouldn’t take a lot of thought to figure out who would be the new representative if you killed Nigel. If you knew anything about Humans, you know we’d send a Horseman. Cartwright is minister; he can’t go. It’s unlikely we’d send Alexis after her husband just died. That leaves me.” 

    “And you think it’s a plot so Mercurius can get access to you?” 

    “It could be. It could also be Minerva. Blue Sky! It could have been any of the SIs who blew up the council, or some of them acting in concert.” She shook her head and scoffed. “Or it might be that none of them were behind this. We’re totally chasing our tails on this, yet somehow it seems right that one of the SIs was behind it. Which one, though… I have no idea.” 

    “We’ll get right on it, ma’am.” 

    “Thanks. In the meantime, I’m headed to New Warsaw to give Alexis the news about Nigel, and then I’m going to Capital Planet.” 

    “I don’t envy you that trip,” Good said. He cocked his head. “I’m sure you know her better than I do, but it seems to me Colonel Cromwell is pretty aggressive by nature.” 

    “Well, yeah, but in a strategic sort of way. You know… plan, prepare, strike?” 

    “True,” Good said with a nod, “but when they strike, Colonel Cromwell does tend to engage in a bit of overkill.” 

    “What are you saying?” 

    “They still have one of those world-killing ships, don’t they? What do you suppose she’d going to do if she gets some info that an SI is responsible for Colonel Shirazi’s death, and that SI is still on Capital Planet? Do you suppose she’d turn the ship loose?” 

    “Blue Sky! I come here looking for answers, and instead of finding anything to help, I’m leaving with more worst-case scenarios.” She shook her head. “Get the Wolves involved; tell them this is a maximum-effort scenario. The checkbook is open on this one—we have to find out what’s going on. And if it’s Mercurius or Minerva… I’m not sure I wouldn’t encourage Alexis to use the world-ender, if nothing else than to take a few pieces off the board.” 

    “But what if you kill some other SIs on Capital Planet, and they have multiple copies, like Minerva? Then what? Now you’ve just made enemies of more of the SIs. Plus, the Kahraman won’t hold off forever.” Sansar’s eyebrow rose. “No, we don’t have any new info on them… but I just had a bad thought. What if it was them who blew up the Merc Guild headquarters? That would be a perfect prelude to a new assault.” 

    “We need better defenses. If they attack again, we need something to hold them off. Something better than Jim’s former cruisers. We need real system defenses. And we’re still responsible for upgrading New Warsaw’s defenses, too.” 

    “I… had an idea about that,” Good said cautiously. 

    “What?” 

    “I was reading over old reports from our battles with the SIs, and I came across this.” Good pulled out his slate and worked his way to a report, then he focused on a picture from it and turned it where Sansar could see. 

    “Blue Sky! Really?” 

    “The best defense is a good offense.” 

    “Well, sure, but…” 

    “It also gives us a number of other capabilities.” 

    “Well, that it would,” Sansar said, pursing her lips. A lot of extra capabilities. We just need to make sure its former owners are cleaned out. Happily, I have my little Hunter/Killer Box. “What are you thinking?” she asked, warming to the subject. “Two in New Warsaw and one here?” 

    Good shook his head. “Two here and one in new Warsaw.” 

    “Protect the home front.” 

    “You better believe it. Gotta protect the wife and kids.” 

    “I didn’t know you were married.” 

    “I’m not. That doesn’t mean there isn’t someone out there for me, though. Gotta protect the future Mrs. Good.” 

    Sansar chuckled. “That makes sense. I can get them after I go to New Warsaw.” 

    “We’ll have to send someone else,” Good replied. 

    “Why’s that? I can go get them.” 

    “I thought you had to go to Capital Planet. Merc Guild representative, remember?” 

    “Blue Sky! I forgot. Wishful thinking, I guess. Okay, I’ll go get them first, then I’ll go to New Warsaw.” She looked down. “And then I’ll go to Capital Planet.” 

    “You’re going to be late to Capital Planet if you go get them.” 

    “Someone’s going to take them if I don’t go get them, and then where will we be?” 

    “Right back where we are now?” 

    “Exactly. And I don’t like where we are now. It sucks.” She shrugged. “It’ll only make me a day or two late. Well, a week or two at the most. What are the odds they’re going to start on time? Hell, half the races probably won’t even be there by then. It’s unlikely they’ll have a quorum for weeks, if not months.” 

    “What do you need from me?” 

    “We need a cargo hold full of hyperspace shunts and hyperspace generators. Probably a couple cargo holds’ full. Get the manufactories in New Zealand working on this ASAP. Contact Jim and see if he can loosen up some time on one of his manufactories.” 

    “Yes, ma’am. What if he asks what it’s for?” 

    “Tell him it’s for a present I’m making him.” She smiled. “Now, I’m going to leave before you give me anything else to worry about,” Sansar said. “Next you’re going to tell me that the Kahraman are the SIs, and we’re surrounded on all sides, or something like that.” 

    Good shrugged. “Kind of seems like we are, sometimes. Today’s one of those times. I can make it worse… probably should, too, since you’re the new Merc Guild representative, and you’re going to need to know it and hopefully do something about it.” 

    “Worse? Blue Sky, what is worse than all this?” 

    “We just finished the analysis of the hyperspace interdictors and how great an area you can interdict using a stargate…” 

    Sansar sighed. “And?” 

    “And the last push by the Kahraman almost got through the interdiction area. If they’d captured one more system, they’d probably have been able to break out. Certainly they wouldn’t have needed more than two systems.”  

    “I hear an ‘and’ coming?” 

    Good winced. “Yes, ma’am. The forces the Merc Guild has on station there in case the Kahraman return… they’re currently fewer than what they had to repel the last enemy attack. If the Kahraman return in the same numbers they left with…” 

    “The defenders will be overrun.” 

    “Without a doubt. And that’s just assuming they return with what they had. If they’ve been using this time to augment their forces, they’re going to blow right through our defenses. Once they’re loose, if they have hyperspace shunts and don’t have to use the stargate system…” 

    “They’ll be able to roam the galaxy unchecked. They could jump from system to system, destroying at will, and we’d never be able to bring them to a fight. They could destroy everything, and we’d never be able to stop them.” 

    “Yes, ma’am. That’s about the size of it. So, good luck at Capital Planet, ma’am; we’re all counting on you.” 

    Sansar took a deep breath to fight the feeling of being overwhelmed that was threatening to send her running, screaming, from the room. One problem at a time. Figure it out one problem at a time. You can do this. 

    “Okay. If that’s the case, we can’t let that system fall. We can’t let it happen, not with everything else we have going on. Get your best people working on what’s needed to hold that system and martial the resources needed so we can do it.” 

    “We can’t afford to do what it will take—” 

    “I know,” Sansar said with a small smile, “but as it turns out, I now have some pull with the Merc Guild representative.” 

    “But in the whole time Colonel Shirazi was the rep, he wasn’t able—” 

    Sansar’s smile became feral. “Colonel Shirazi was too nice. He wasn’t prepared to do the things I am. We will hold what the Galactic Union’s got, because to do otherwise means we lose it all.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Weapons Conglomerate Facility, Kop’ka System, Core Region, Jesc Arm 

    Nigel strode down the ramp of the dropship, weapon ready, and scanned the facility. It looked pretty much like they’d left it. While they’d taken their wrecked CASPers with them, and collected the bodies, there were still remnants of the battle they’d had with the attacking force of robots everywhere he looked. A saw blade with half an arm stuck out of the skin of the facility at the base of the ramp; scorch marks and tears abounded across the facility. He couldn’t see them, but somewhere in the system, a flock of robots was probably still flying along, unpowered, unless it had been captured by a planet’s gravity well. 

    Four large space docks protruded from the ends of the facility, massive, cage-like constructions where the ships were built. Linking the docks were enormous manufactories sprouting gigantic solar power collectors, as well as numerous other unknown structures. 

    Among all of it, nothing moved. No robots, no Lumar, nothing. There were no lights on or anything, and he realized he’d heard one of Alexis’ engineers comment that they were going to shut down the fusion plants. Hopefully the solar cells still held enough of a charge to turn on the equipment, although he had no idea if they generated enough power to actually operate it. 

    Nigel shook himself; the squad was standing around in a perimeter, waiting for direction. He marked the closest manufactory on his Tri-V and sent it to the squad. “Let’s check there first.”  

      

    * * * 

      

    Ship Hulk, Kop’ka System, Core Region, Jesc Arm 

    “Another dead end, Osk’ii,” Aladdin transmitted. “This ship doesn’t have them.” 

    Shahrazad swore to herself. They’d cleared over half the hulks, and none of them had hyperspace shunts. Based on how the Merc Guild had been using the ships, fighting the Kahraman, she’d expected all the ships would have them. If you got cut off and were unable to make it to the gate on a withdrawal, you could still leave if you had shunts; otherwise, you’d be trapped with the Kahraman. Not a good place to be. 

    She shrugged. Maybe they were added afterward at a Locomotion Conglomerate facility somewhere. Or maybe the Veetanho liked having more control over their forces and didn’t want them to be able to leave if things looked bad. That’s more likely. 

    Regardless, the hulks were dead and fairly underwhelming. Only the weapons were anything of note. The best thing that could be said about the ships was that they’d make good raw materials when chopped up by an Arsenal, where they could be turned into something more productive.  

    “All right,” Shahrazad transmitted, “let’s all meet at the entryway. We’re leaving.” They still had four more ships to check, but she wasn’t optimistic that they’d find a set of working shunts. 

      

    * * * 

      

    Starship Staging Zone 2, Prime Base, New Warsaw 

    “What’s the problem here?” Lieutenant Commander Stacy asked, glancing at the status board and frowning. “I have to get this transport out to the Lambda grouping in 26 hours, or the extractor will run full and stop.” 

    A crewman with the green stripe on her black Hussars’ duty uniform looked over and blinked in surprise. She had the single bar of an ensign on her collar, and was obviously surprised to see Stacy’s gold oak leaf. She looked confused.  

    “Ensign?” Stacy prompted.  

    “Sorry, ma’am?” 

    “Don’t be sorry, tell me why this crew dock is blocked by a ship with no crew?” Stacy caught the display over the lock showing the ship attached: Stamen 3. It was one of the three Maki Petal-class corvettes the Hussars had claimed as war prizes years ago during the Omega War. They’d largely been used as training boats for pilots slated for capital ships. While the corvettes were a class without faster-than-light drives and under 1,000 tons displacement, they flew similarly to the bigger warships. She’d trained on a similar craft years ago. 

    “The flight crew didn’t turn up,” the nervous ensign admitted.  

    “All four of them?”  

    “Well, the pilot anyway.” She pointed over to a waiting area where three personnel stood, wearing the light-duty pressure suits that served as uniforms on the tiny corvettes. Two had the blue stripes of pilot staff, and one had the green stripe of support/technical/medical. No gold stripe of command. “The second lieutenant came down with the flu after a trip down to Home.” 

    Elizabeth nodded. She’d heard someone had brought a case back from Talus and promptly shared it around; now hundreds of Hussars were down with it. “Get hold of the crew-pool duty officer and request an assignment.”  

    “There aren’t any available,” the ensign said. “There’s a big qualification cycle on the new Hero-class; just about anyone with command tabs not already assigned is out there.” 

    “Oh, for fuck’s sake,” she spat, causing the ensign’s eyes to go wide in alarm. “What’s the mission, training?”  

    “No, it’s an intel run. Something about a bogie in the system?”  

    Elizabeth considered, then used her pinplants to examine the duty log for the day. Like the ensign said, there wasn’t a command-qualified officer anywhere within the inner system. The intel mission was on the board and flagged as a maximum priority by command.  

    She almost shrugged and went for a drink while someone else unfucked the situation. Then she paused and considered. If there was a bogie skunking around the system, it could potentially be dangerous. As in dangerous to thousands of lives. There was a time when she stood near the top of command, making those kinds of decisions. Only she hadn’t made good decisions; she’d made hasty ones. Then, when Alexis had called her on her mistakes, she hadn’t taken responsibility, one of the unforgivable sins of a commanding officer.  

    A long series of mistakes and failing to take control of those mistakes had ended up with her being the only lieutenant commander in the Winged Hussars without command of a significant unit. She commanded a squadron of largely robotic freighters. In that moment, she did something she should have done years ago; she admitted to herself there was only one person responsible for her current problem. Herself. Shit.  

    She called for her second. “Lieutenant Smith?”  

    “Ma’am?” the young lieutenant asked, floating closer.  

    “Take command of the freight transfer; get it back on station in time.” 

    “Where are you going, ma’am?” 

    “Apparently taking command of a combat vessel again.” She turned to the three crewmen waiting. “You three, hop to.” They floated closer, confused looks on their faces. “Let’s go.”  

    “Go where, Lieutenant Commander?” the young pilot asked. “Our captain is sick.”  

    “To do our job. I’m assuming commander of Stamen 3.”  

    “Ma’am, I should check with command,” the ensign complained.  

    “I’m the senior commander present, Ensign. I’m taking command of that ship.” She still looked doubtful. “Young lady, I was the captain of Shadowfax, an Egleesius-class battlecruiser with a crew of over 300. I think I can handle a corvette for a few days.” She could see it was just that reason, formerly in command, that had caused the young ensign to hesitate. “Are you going to open that lock, or do I have to do it myself?”  

    She gulped and worked the controls. Elizabeth nodded and turned to the three waiting crewmen. “All aboard for adventure, younglings.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 

      

      

      

    

  


   
    [bookmark: _Toc90484090]Chapter 12 

      

      

    CO’s Stateroom, EMS Gobi Desert, Sol System 

    “Former Commander Thorb reporting for duty, ma’am.” 

    Sansar looked up from her slate and cocked her head at the SalSha holding onto the open hatch of her stateroom. 

    “How are you?” she asked. 

    “Good. Ready to get back into the fight. I heard you’re headed for guild territory, and I owe them some payback.” 

    Sansar’s eyes narrowed. “How are you really, Thorb? You’ve been through a lot. If you want to retire, no one would think any less of you.” 

    “I would. When the grahp comes, everyone fights.” He shrugged. “Besides, I found that sitting around with nothing to do makes me very bored, very quickly.” 

    “You could help out in the ops center. I’m sure they could use your extensive experience—” 

    “Everyone looks at me funny there. Like they don’t trust me.” 

    “We ran the box on you; your brain is free of SI code.” 

    “Doesn’t matter. They still don’t trust me.” His face scrunched up. “Is that why you don’t want me here? You don’t trust me, either?” 

    “That’s not true,” Sansar replied. “I just know you’ve been through a lot. If—” 

    “Look. I took several years off to try to put my life together. I tried other trades. I drank a lot. I fu—I played around a lot. None of those things got rid of the urge to get behind the controls of an Avenger again and pay Minerva back for what she did to me and the others. To make up for the trouble I caused.” 

    “You didn’t cause the trouble; it was Minerva—” 

    “Acting through a clone of me. Which is why no one will trust me. That’s why I have to make it right. With the bombing of the Merc Guild, things are starting up again from the pause we’ve been in. The grahp is coming, and I want—I need—to be a part of it.” He stared at her a moment. “You don’t trust me either.” 

    “I do, but we already have a full complement—” 

    “Fine. I’ll go back to Earth and start my own mercenary company.” 

    Sansar chuckled. “You’ll what?” 

    “You may not want the best fighter pilot in the history of Earth’s mercenary forces, but there’ll be others who do. And we have money; maybe it’s time the SalSha came out from behind your wings and formed our own company. I’d rather fight with the Golden Horde—you’re my family—but if you don’t want me, I’m sure there are others who would.” 

    “Oh, stop it—” 

    “No, I mean it. I’m sure I could catch on somewhere, and there are other SalSha who would join me.” 

    “No, I mean stop wasting my time, Commander Thorb. You’re coming with us, and I’m glad to have you.” 

    “Well, okay then. Where’s my rack?” 

      

    * * * 

      

    EMS Pegasus, New Warsaw System 

    “Fleet defensive formation Epsilon,” Alexis ordered, gritting her teeth against the building Gs. Pegasus, the Hussars’ flagship, was showing her age. Despite upgrades, she and the other Egleesius-class battlecruisers struggled to hold formation with the new Hero-class. Maybe Sato did too good a job? 

    “Captain Tokugawa on Earl is wondering if she should slow down?” Shefoo asked, an edge of amusement in the Buma comms officer’s voice despite the torturous Gs.  

    “Inform her I’m not amused,” Alexis growled. On the main Tri-V, 62 frigates maneuvered at even higher Gs to assume a complex geometric web in front of the phalanx of nine Hero-class battlecruisers and the three Egleesius-class ships.  

    The new Sabre-class frigates were incredible in their own right. Where their predecessor, the Sword-class, was based on a 1,500-year-old Maki design, like the Hero had improved on the Egleesius, the Sabre had taken the best of the Sword and added onto it. Instead of three nose-mounted missile tubes, two amidships, and a single 10-gigawatt laser, the Sabre used 10 omni-directional missile turrets mounted amidships, capable of swiveling to launch on any bearing in seconds, thus eliminating redundant magazines. Slower firing, but more flexible. They also replaced the single 10-gigawatt spinal-mounted laser with a 25-gigawatt laser and the same collimators used on the Hero-class, allowing them to fire a single beam fore or aft, or hundreds of smaller beams in every direction.  

    The magic didn’t end there. The Sword had required a crew of 60; the Sabre only needed 29. Thanks to the operating system designed by Ghost, they could also operate in drone mode.  

    Less capable overall in drone mode, as they lacked autonomous repair, it was nonetheless useful for training, like now, when they were currently operating largely crewless. Linked with a Hero or an Egleesius, the Sabres could work seamlessly to provide fleet-level forward overlapping shield defense as well as combined pinpoint laser or missile barrage. The 62 currently in formation could unleash 1.5-terawatts of directed laser fire and 5,300 missiles per minute on a target.  

    Two of New Warsaw’s five manufactories had been dedicated to making Sabre-class frigates for three years, each one producing a finished hull roughly every eight days. The Sabre run was due to be completed in just under a month, giving them 75 of the new frigates. The manufactory that had been building the Hero­-class was due to complete the 12th and final hull, Lieutenant Commander Aleksandra Kowalczy, in two weeks. At that point, three manufactories would start on the new Poczet-class cruisers, while a fourth continued work on the Kingdom-class escorts to finish the 40 of those she wanted.  

    When finished, they’d have two battleships, 21 battlecruisers, 17 cruisers, 75 frigates, 40 escort frigates, and another 32 support ships. Let some Peepo pretender take another swing at the Hussars now! The thought of Jim busily building ships on Earth aided her good mood. Sure, they were all based on obsolete Hussars’ designs, but they’d proven more than capable of kicking ass for decades.  

    Four hours later, the exercise complete, she shuttled back to Prime Base and had dinner with her children. One hour she was practicing defending her home against alien invaders, the next she was watching her two beautiful babies eat food and jabber happily. What a life she led! 

    “When is Daddy coming to visit?” Katrina asked over some potatoes she wasn’t enjoying. Her Irish ancestors would have been displeased.  

    “Yeah!” Armin agreed, shoveling food into his mouth.  

    “He’s at the Mercenary Guild council right now,” Alexis explained.  

    The two children babbled away about play, the food, friends they’d made at school on the station, and anything else that came to mind. Alexis was replaying elements of the exercise and grading ship commanders’ performances. Commander Drizz, now her second in command, continued to perform exceptionally in combat exercises. Lieutenant Commander Stacy still scored better, but she’d fallen hard the last five years. She’d gone from captain of Shadowfax to running deep-system logistics, a fancy word for make-work operations. She wasn’t dependable anymore; her rage at being passed over for Drizz had blinded her decision-making capabilities. Fact was, if she’d refused her current assignment, Alexis would have sent her back to Earth. 

    Alexis had met with Drizz a few months ago to talk about intel Alexis had gotten on the Zuul. Reports had been confirmed that Night Song, one of the Zuul’s three preeminent merc units, had returned from the dead. That didn’t surprise her as much as that they’d apparently paired with the small Human merc unit Silent Night.  

    “Can you explain this whole ‘Three Songs’ thing?” she’d asked Drizz.  

    “They’re part of the Hosh,” Drizz tried to explain.  

    “I’ve read that much, but what is a Hosh?”  

    “Spiritual guide, more or less. Day Song drives learning or understanding, Star Song shepherds the Zuul as we expand, but Night Song guards our spirits.” 

    “They’re religious leaders?”  

    “From what I’ve read and partly understood about your own faiths, I think Rabis would be closer, but not really.” He shrugged. “It’s a Zuul thing.”  

    That hadn’t helped. In the end, she’d sent a report to Sansar for them to chew over. Maybe the crazy Mongolians would have a better grasp on Zuulness? She doubted it.  

    They were just finishing dinner when she got an email notice in her pinplants. This, in and of itself, was unusual, because there was a subroutine to be sure she wasn’t bothered with needless or low-priority things while spending time with the twins. If she got a message, but not a direct call, it was indeed unusual. She read the message.  

      

    Dear Alexis Cromwell, 

    The family elders would like to meet with you as soon as possible. Please arrange.  

    Regards, 

    Anatolia [bookmark: _Hlk61191913]Kosmalski 

      

    It was countersigned by the six other elders.  

    Well, shit, she thought. The Kosmalskis were one of the “old families” within the Hussars and majority stakeholders. They’d been largely quiet until she’d formally announced her engagement to Nigel Shirazi, at which point they’d disagreed with the decision. Formally disagreed. Since they only represented 11% of the company’s stakeholders, their disagreement amounted to little more than hot wind. This email was not a good harbinger, though. It suggested a change in power of the elders, a group she’d largely ignored her entire life. Maybe they’d fomented rebellion against her stewardship?  

    Alexis examined her schedule the next three days and arranged a block of four hours, two days away, then scheduled a meeting on Home. Her email was as simple as theirs.  

      

    Dear Family Elders, 

    Meeting set at Founders Hall in Pidhirsti, two days hence. (Details Attached)  

    Regards, 

    Colonel Alexis Cromwell, Winged Hussars, Commanding 

      

    She spent a few minutes scanning the elders’ web presence on Home. There wasn’t anything of note beyond the usual events and holidays centering around the Hussars’ arrival. Suspicion growing, she abandoned the effort. She’d do some more research in the morning, especially since Katrina was quietly building a stash of mushrooms in preparation for an assault on her brother.  

    Anything on the bogie they’re looking for? she asked Ghost.  

    <Nothing yet. I am monitoring. Are you aware Lieutenant Commander Stacy took command of Stamen 3?> 

    No, I didn’t know that. She’d stopped monitoring the woman’s assignments after transferring her to logistics. Her unwillingness to take responsibility for her last misjudgment had sealed it. She accessed the command logs and found out what had happened. The ensign who’d been in charge of the crew dock at Prime Base that day detailed the events in her log.  

    <Should I relay instructions to have her relieved and sent back to her former command in logistics? Reports from Stamen 3 thus far indicate a well-run plan.> 

    Alexis thought for a moment, ultimately shaking her head. No, it’s the first proper command decision she’s made in five years that wasn’t done only to benefit herself. Let’s see what happens. 

    The food battle was underway, and she dodged a flurry of beans. Armin had been ready for Katrina’s sneak attack. She tried to stop the warfare, though not too hard. Business could wait for a bit.  

      

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Revenge, Kop’ka System 

    “Nothing.” Nigel shook his head. “That’s the sum total of what we found. I knew going in that some of the manufactories’ databases had been erased by the SI when it left—we checked some of them when we were here the first time—but it was a complete scorched earth retreat. All the data in all the manufactories has been erased.” 

    “Unfortunately, none of the ships we searched had hyperspace shunts, either,” Shahrazad reported. “The ships looked to have been from a variety of races and were made in a variety of yards; I believe they came here to be modified with new weapons; the rest of the equipment looked… unsophisticated.” 

    Nigel chuckled at her attempt to be tactful and not sound snobby… even though it still sounded snobby. 

    “Are there any other facilities in the system?” Gallagher asked the sensor tech. 

    “No, sir. Just the three we already searched.” 

    Nigel sighed. “So we’re stuck here.” 

    Gallagher nodded. “It appears we are.” 

    “We could look at the other ships,” the sensor tech said. 

    “What other ships?” Gallagher asked. 

    “The ones on the planet below us.” 

    “What? Ships?” Gallagher asked slowly. Nigel could almost see steam coming from his ears. 

    “I went looking for the other ships Colonel Shirazi asked about,” the sensor tech said. “I found a debris field where it looked like one had crashed—there isn’t much left—as well as a cruiser that looks like it was set down in pretty good shape. Don’t know where the third one went; it may have landed in one of the lava fields.” Nigel remembered the planet, a ball of lava and black basalt ridges that looked like something out of Dante’s Inferno. 

    “You didn’t think to tell me about that?” Gallagher asked. 

    “I was going to,” the tech said, sounding extremely contrite, “but you weren’t on the bridge at the time, and I… um… forgot. Then you asked about facilities. There aren’t any facilities—that was the truth—and I just remembered the ships.” 

    “You said one of them was whole?” Nigel asked. 

    “Yes, sir.” The tech nodded. “It looks like someone set it down there.” 

    One of Nigel’s eyebrows rose as he turned to Gallagher. “How do you suppose that happened?” 

    “No idea. But if it was finished enough to land safely—and it did so—it must have a crew, and it’s certainly operational.” 

    Nigel nodded. “I’ll take a dropship and go have a look.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Cargo Bay, Dropship One, Kop’ka System 

    “I’m not sure about a landing,” the Pendal piloting the dropship said in its whispering voice. “I can’t tell you how stable the ground is next to the ship, and, if I set down, the dropship may break through the crust and sink into the lava.” 

    “Can you land on—or hover just above—the ship?” Nigel asked. 

    “I can try. The winds are erratic, but I’ll do my best.” 

    Nigel could feel the small craft being buffeted as the pilot made the approach, and his stomach flip-flopped several times as the ship dropped suddenly, skewed back and forth, and power was alternately applied and then sucked back to almost nothing. Then, with no warning, the dropship slammed down onto the ship. There was a loud screeching noise as the craft’s skids slid along the skin of the ship, then the magnetic clamps came on and locked them in place. 

    “We’re down,” the pilot called, “but I’m not sure how long the locks will hold.” After a second, he added, “Please hurry.” 

    “Let’s go!” Nigel exclaimed.  

    “You heard the man!” First Sergeant Mason yelled. “Move it!” 

    The squad hustled out of the dropship and onto the surface of the frigate.  

    “It’s not good, sir,” Mason said after a few moments. “The airlocks are on the sides of the ship. We’ll have to be standing horizontally to try to access them. And that’s assuming they have any power.” 

    Nigel nodded to himself. At least they’d come prepared for this possibility. “Find a likely spot and cut our way in, then.” 

    They’d discussed it with the engineers and had several pre-planned spots. Within a few minutes, the troopers were cutting; within fifteen minutes, the squad was lifting off a square large enough for a CASPer to drop down into the ship. 

    “Here we go,” Nigel said as he stepped forward and dropped into the ship. He toggled his jumpjets slightly to brake his fall and landed in the middle of a passageway. A robot waited for him in the gloom of the light entering through the hole above, and Nigel blasted the robot with his arm-mounted laser. The robot didn’t move, nor did it give any indication of being operational. 

    After a second, Nigel stepped forward and gave it a shove. It tipped over and fell backward, and Nigel chuckled to himself as other members of the squad dropped in, searching for the threat. 

    “I just shot a robot,” Nigel said, “but I don’t think it was operational. Still, that doesn’t mean other ones in the ship won’t be. Be on your guard.” 

    The rest of the squad entered the ship, and the group proceeded aft down the main passage. They passed several other robots, all of which were inoperative.  

    After several minutes, they reached engineering and spread out. Several members of the squad had some limited engineering experience, and they’d been told what to look for. It didn’t take them long to search the space. 

    “I’ve got nothing,” Corporal James Wiatkowski said. 

    None of the others had found any indications the ship had shunts, either. 

    Their last hope had failed to pan out. 

    “Where does that leave us?” Mason asked on a private circuit. 

    Nigel sighed, trying to come up with something optimistic to say. He failed completely. “A long way from home,” he finally muttered. 

      

      

    * * * * * 

      

      

      

      

      

      

    

  


   
    [bookmark: _Toc90484091]Chapter 13 

      

      

    Colonel’s Quarters, EMS Revenge, Kop’ka System 

    Nigel slid into his rack and strapped himself in. With nothing better to do, they’d pulled the Revenge into one of the shipyards and had begun the process of upgrading the ship’s weapons. He’d spent the day following one of the ship’s engineers around a nearby hulk, removing weapons systems that could be used on the ship. It was a lot like busy work, but it gave everyone something to do. At least until their stores ran out. The portion of the crew—with troopers from Asbaran along for security—that wasn’t gainfully employed with the weapons upgrade had gone scavenging on the facility to find the stores it held for its organic workers. With nothing but a gas giant and an inferno planet in the system, once that was gone, things would get more difficult. 

    Despite his exhaustion, sleep wouldn’t come. He’d failed his troopers and the crew of the ship by bringing them to the system, and the guilt gnawed at the back of his mind and flooded his stomach with acid when he had time to think about it. Like now. 

    He pulled out his slate and went over the reports from the battle with the Weapons Conglomerate, looking for something—anything—he could use. As he read through his after-action report, though, he found it to be just as he’d remembered it. They’d entered the system, got zapped, and dove through space to have a big battle that was nearly pyrrhic in nature. No shunts noted. And no help. 

    He flipped through Captain Drizz’s report. The alien had led the “Task Force Cavalry” piece of the Winged Hussars’ fleet that had been in company with the Asbarani ships. The report was less than glowing about how the Asbarani ships had run in front of the Hussars and had been hit with the EMP weapon, ultimately leading to the loss of Agrippa and Retribution. Retribution had had hyperspace shunts… but it had fallen into the gas giant—along with Agrippa—after Agrippa’s valiant effort to save it had failed catastrophically.  

    “How could we know they’d have a weapon like that?” Nigel muttered. “Alexis—space captain extraordinaire that she is—got tagged with it, too. I think.” 

    He flipped to her report to see if she’d indeed been zapped by the EMP weapon—she had, but that was buried several pages into the report, behind a battle that had been held when she’d entered the system. Battle? What battle? Alexis had never talked about the battle to him before; just that they’d been hit with the EMP weapon and how they’d fought to escape the SI’s clutches. 

    She fought off not one but four Egleesius-class battlecruisers? And never mentioned it? Nigel shook his head. Okay, she really is a space captain extraordinaire. And the matter-of-fact way it was presented had him shaking his head as he read about the battle. To talk about a battle where she was facing overwhelming force… especially while pregnant with the kids? She was pretty awesome, and he was lucky to have her. Hopefully, I’ll see her again. 

    He took a deep breath to clear the mist from his eyes. I will see her again, he promised himself. 

    Nigel read along, his mouth open, as Alexis destroyed the four battlecruisers, methodically cutting them apart. A final note added that the Pegasus hadn’t had missile magazines when the Hussars had found her, but they’d added them later. The fact that the four Weapons Conglomerate battlecruisers also had them indicated to her that they’d copied Pegasus’ design. 

    He tucked his slate into its pocket and tried to get some sleep. It’s too bad Pegasus isn’t here, he thought as he started to drift off to sleep. We could jump the hell out of here on her internal shunts. 

    Nigel started—he would have sat up in his bed if he could have—as it hit him. The Egleesius-class battlecruisers had been copies of Pegasus. If so, they had internal shunts, too! And—due to the manner in which they’d been destroyed—at least two of them probably have salvageable shunts! 

    If they could only find the site of the battle, the debris field would hopefully yield what they needed! 

      

    * * * 

      

    Home, New Warsaw 

    The shuttle ride down to Home was always on the bouncy side. It was unavoidable. The planet’s precarious position in New Warsaw’s ‘Goldilocks Zone’ meant even small hiccups of the system’s primary star caused wild upper atmospheric disturbances. A series of F-class flares the previous night guaranteed an exciting ride.  

    “I’m sorry, Commander Cromwell,” the pilot said. She was on the Prime Base-to-Home shuttle run because she didn’t meet the qualifications for other jobs. It was a thankless milk run in about every way.  

    Alexis tried to assuage her fears by reminding herself that even the worst Hussars’ pilot was superior to most of the best for other merc units. “It’s okay, Ensign. Concentrate on your controls and don’t worry about me. I’ve been through worse.”  

    “Yes, ma’am,” the pilot replied. A second later, they hit a bump so intense, the negative Gs slammed her upward against her restraints, pinching her breasts in the 3-point harness. She hissed in pain and wished she’d kept her mouth shut.  

    Ten minutes later, the pilot had good news. “We’re dropping below the turbulence, Commander. Pidhirsti Approach has taken control.”  

    Alexis acknowledged and swallowed. Maybe having lunch earlier would have been a better idea?  

    The pilot made a short approach to the main runway at Pidhirsti, then the craft taxied to the main terminal and parked. “Have a good afternoon, Commander,” the pilot said as she came aft.  

    “Thank you, Ensign,” Alexis replied as she got up and moved to the door.  

    Home was three times the size of Earth, though its gravity was only a nominal 1.2 times as great at the equator, a little less in the mid-tropics. Nobody knew what it had been like when the Dusman controlled it untold thousands of years ago. Now it was dark, damp, and had an oppressively thick atmosphere. Its biosphere was a mishmash of species from a thousand worlds. It seemed like they’d seeded it with whatever was handy. The biggest plant was a fern-like bush that didn’t grow over three meters tall, and the biggest animal reminded her of a giraffe with a short neck and elephant tusks.  

    She stretched and made a face under the higher gravity, remembering how she’d scolded the twins for complaining about it. They had a lot less distance to fall if they tripped. She walked out the boarding hatch into the terminal.  

    The facility was somewhat like a starport on any other Human-habitable planet, except the docking ports sealed to the terminal. The seasonal swings on Home were almost nonexistent, but the pollen blooms of some plants were toxic to a few alien species. Maki, in particular, had a near anaphylactic reaction to the spores of an indigenous mushroom, and elSha were reduced to mucus-generating machines by several pollens. Nothing was blooming currently, so the lock was open, and the pungent, slightly oceanic smell of Home filled her nostrils.  

    Even growing up on the world, she’d never spent much time on it. Just like her with Armin and Katrina, Alexis’ mother made sure to take her and her sister down to the planet regularly so they wouldn’t grow up like many asteroid miners, underdeveloped and unable to walk in normal gravity. Those trips were often to meet other family members, official events, fishing with an uncle once, and training as they got older.  

    Through the massive, sweeping windows of the terminal, the perpetually dark landscape swept into the distance to the left; the formidable city/fortress of Pidhirsti rose in front of her. Her ancestors, upon spotting the ancient buildings, thought it bore a resemblance to Pidhirsti Castle in Poland. Since Pidhirsti Castle had once been home to the Winged Hussars centuries ago, naming the first settled town after it made a certain sort of sense.  

    On the right side was one of the seven massive oceans. Its calm waters stretched off to the horizon more than 15 kilometers away. She could just see a pair of fishing boats moving slowly in the distance, large sails unfurled to provide solar power and propulsion.  

    “Commander Cromwell?” A young man approached and gave her a little bow.  

    “Yes? Can I help you?”  

    “I was sent by the seven elders to pick you up.”  

    He smiled genially without it reaching his eyes. If the boy served the elders, he wouldn’t be a fan of the military.  

    “That would be fine, thanks,” she said.  

    He gave the same ridiculous little bow and gestured toward the terminal exit. “I have a car waiting just outside.” She smiled and started walking. “You didn’t bring your children?” 

    “Too much effort for a simple meeting,” she said. “They would expect it to be an adventure, then spend the entire time complaining about the gravity.”  

    “Everyone says it’s bad,” the boy said and shrugged. “It’s just normal to me.”  

    Outside the terminal was an area for VIP parking. Because every starship-rated crew was currently in space, the terminal was fairly deserted. The status board showed a few flights, mostly planetary to the other cities.  

    The car he led her to was a new design, built on Home entirely from domestic materials. They’d perfected nuclear diamond batteries in recent years, and they were finding their way into lots of applications. As she saw no charging port on the car, this was no doubt one of them. They had plenty of old expended fuel, too, as the first Hussar settlers had brought an old-style fission plant. Fusion took F11; fission only required uranium, something in great abundance in New Warsaw. Now the waste byproduct had found a new life as well.  

    The young man held the rear door for her as she put her small travel bag on the seat next to her. He got into the front seat and began to operate the vehicle. This one was pinplant controlled, which freed him up to talk, unfortunately.  

    “We don’t see you down on Home very often.”  

    “No. The new ships and the twins are taking all my time.” 

    “The elders believe it would be good for you to send the children down here to be educated in the schools.” 

    “We don’t share that conclusion,” Alexis said. They reached Pidhirsti Castle and went in through the main entrance. Although it resembled the ancient home castle of the Winged Hussars in Poland from afar, the closer you got, the less resemblance remained. Alexis always thought it looked more like some kind of Dusman fortress. Over the decades, its new owners had customized it to resemble the ancient Pidhirsti Castle more faithfully. When Jim saw it a few years ago during a visit, he’d said it looked like Hogwarts and Dracula had had a love child. She’d never quite understood what he’d meant. 

    Their Pidhirsti Castle was many times larger than the one in Poland, of course. The original could only house a few hundred people; this one was a sprawling affair with a population of 12,000. Another quarter of that population was spread over the rest of the planet in a dozen little villages and towns. When her ancestors had arrived, they’d brought fewer than a thousand. It had grown a lot.  

    The young man parked in an area reserved for the elders and their family, a series of turreted buildings with vast ruby windows overlooking the starport and ocean. She imagined an old woman above glaring down at her. Probably not far from the truth. 

    <Do you want my help?> 

    Just listen in, she replied to Ghost. She was already on edge about what they wanted to discuss with her; the last thing she wanted was a 20,000-year-old SI whispering sweet nothings in her ear, or rather her brain.  

    “Come with me, please,” her escort said.  

    She knew where to go, of course; she’d been there countless times. Just because her job required she spend more time in space than on the ground didn’t mean she hadn’t spent her fair share in the castle. The Hussars’ command college was in one wing, after all. Both she and Katrina had attended before their mother had let them command so much as a corvette.  

    Inside the family wing of the castle, they went to the series of elevators, and the boy used his yack to enter a code. A lift arrived in seconds. Alexis tried to ignore the throbbing in her feet and knees. She found the gravity on Earth annoying during long stays. The 1.2 Gs of Home quickly made her uncomfortable. I need to spend more time on a gravity deck before I can’t come down here at all, she resolved. Same for the twins. 

    The elevator lifted, and she stifled a moan at even more gravity. Now her lower back hurt as well. The combination of being in her mid-40s and carrying twins hadn’t done that part of her body any favors. Sometimes she thought getting old was just adding more and more damaged body parts. Then she remembered she was now older than her mother had been when she’d died. Of course, she’d had Alexis and Katrina much younger.  

    The elevator arrived at the elders’ floor. This contained a series of a dozen suites, each one with room for several families. Her mother had jokingly called it the retirement village, then told her no commander of the Hussars had ever lived there.  

    “Then why are people living there?” she’d innocently asked her mother.  

    “Because I run the Winged Hussars, but they own them.” 

    “Where’s the meeting?” she asked her escort.  

    “Main meeting room,” he said. “It’s down—” 

    “I know where it is,” she interrupted. She’d had about enough of the pompous little twerp. Without saying another word, she turned down the main hallway. The big double doors were at the end, hewn from trees transported from Poland. A reminder of their original home was the suggestion. It always struck her as pretentious, at the very least. She pushed the doors open to find all seven women sitting in their equally pretentious boardroom chairs. Even the expressions on their faces were sneering. She closed the doors behind her. 

    “Thank you for coming,” Anatolia Kosmalski said. Like the youth, the smile on her face didn’t reach her eyes, which were sharp and shining. She was the better part of 75 years old and one of the few remaining children from the first settlers to come to New Warsaw.  

    “Your invitation left little doubt my presence was required,” Alexis replied.  

    “Come now, Commander Cromwell,” Christine Kowalcyz said. “There’s no reason to be uncivil.”  

    “You mean like delaying my request to marry?” A murmur went around the group. She saw at least two little smiles, one from Mary Cromwell, her great aunt.  

    “As we explained,” Anatolia said quietly, “the matter requires considerable deliberation.” 

    “Why don’t you tell me what you called me here for,” Alexis said. She looked around and didn’t find a chair nearby, but spotted one in the far corner. “Just a second.” She walked over, picked up the chair, carried it between their chairs, and sat down. Once again, her great aunt smiled, this time without trying to hide it. “Okay now, you were going to say?”  

    “We’re concerned.” 

    “That much is obvious.”  

    “Commander Cromwell,” Malgorzata Kowalczy snapped, “you need to take this matter seriously.” 

    “If you’d stop beating around the bush and bloody well tell me why it’s serious, I could perhaps address these concerns?”  

    “Very well,” Anatolia said, her mouth a thin line. “It is obvious you are preparing for war.”  

    “We’ve been at war for years.”  

    “We’ve read your reports,” another elder said. “We don’t find them convincing.”  

    “Almost losing the system six years ago to an invading army wasn’t convincing enough?” Alexis demanded. “What would have been? Orbital bombardment of this city?”  

    “There’s no need to be crass,” another spoke.  

    “The fuck there isn’t,” Alexis snarled. Several of the old biddies gasped. Good. “If they’d taken Prime Base, the planet would have been next.”  

    “That’s your opinion,” Malgorzata said, waving a dismissive hand.  

    “You know full well we began a military buildup a long time ago. Amelia Cromwell, in one of her last acts as commander of the Winged Hussars, moved everyone here and began to turn New Warsaw into a fortress system.”  

    “And nobody knows how much wealth that’s cost us,” Anatolia snapped.  

    “Is that what this is about?” Alexis asked, laughing and shaking her head. “You don’t live in enough splendor already?” She cast her eyes around the opulently appointed chamber. Ancient tapestries from old Poland hung from the walls. Torch sconces, hand carved from gold mined in the asteroid belt, decorated each of the hand-hewn wooden beams. The torches were tiny, highly-tooled Tri-V projectors, the flames indistinguishable from the real thing, except for a lack of heat. Even their chairs were hand-tooled from Spanish leather imported from Earth. She knew; she’d seen the invoices.  

    “We live like prisoners on this planet,” Christine said bitterly.  

    “You’d rather be on Earth? Have you seen the news of what it was like under Peepo’s occupation?”  

    “I’m sure that was largely propaganda generated by this upstart, Jim Cartwright.”  

    Alexis didn’t know how to reply; she was caught completely off guard. “Are you saying it didn’t happen?”  

    “I’m saying we don’t believe it all happened the way it’s been reported,” Anatolia said calmly. 

    “I was there. I was a prisoner.” 

    “After your failed assault to retake Earth,” Malgorzata said.  

    It took every bit of her self-control not to get up and leave. She was furious. Incensed. Beyond outraged. How dare they? Of course, it was then she realized exactly what they were doing. “Do you think you can run the Winged Hussars better?” 

    “Perhaps the business side of it,” Anatolia said with a shrug. “Oh, nobody is doubting you have a certain prowess in your little fights, but your financial management has seen us all but cut off from the outside galaxy, held here like virtual prisoners. You continue to see incredible technological advancements. Imagine what they would be worth if sold to other races of the galaxy! The missiles we’ve been using for decades. The production of hyperspace shunts. Why, even the super-advanced programming for various systems. I understand our manufactories are nearly 20% more efficient than any others found in the galaxy.” 

    “Those numbers are accurate. Now imagine my success in these ‘little fights,’ as you so insultingly call them, being in large part due to our technological prowess. Not all, of course, but I’ve consistently had the edge in equipment as well as training. I’ve defeated the best the Galactic Union has to offer through a combination of the best crews, the best ships, and the best tactics. Take away our edge in ships and technology, and where does that leave us? Roughly equal, or maybe a little bit less? 

    “Our victory here in New Warsaw was purely based on the money we’d spent, and the years of training to make us such a hard target. If that hadn’t happened, none of this—” she gestured around at the incredibly decadent room, “—none of you would be here anymore. Because you’d all be dead!” She came within inches of yelling the last, just managing to put a lot of emotion into the statement without making it over the top.  

    “That is your opinion,” Anatolia said.  

    “No, Elder; that is fact. You want to remove me? I can’t stop you.” The group mumbled among themselves. She’d hit upon the crux of it. “I wonder what the crews and personnel would think of my removal from service?”  

    “Nobody said anything about your removal, but maybe a solely combat-oriented job would be more appropriate?” Christine Kowalcyz said curtly.  

    “So just combat command? You’d remove me from tactical decisions?” 

    “Precisely,” Christine Kowalcyz said with a smile.  

    “And who do you think would take over that role? You? Maybe Anatolia, there? Almost a century ago, my grandmother took tactical control of the Winged Hussars, narrowly avoiding a disaster of unimaginable proportions. Since then, we’ve grown more powerful every year. As one of the Four Horsemen, we not only guard our own interests and star system, we protect humanity. You think you can do better?” Nervous looks were passed among some of the members.  

    Alexis had been taking careful note of how each one reacted and saw the writing. Three of them, Anatolia, Christine, and Malgorzata, were clearly against her. Three more, led by her great aunt Mary, were on her side, at least enough for it to be evident in their reactions. The final one, Maja Kowalski, the youngest of the seven, was undecided. She was her target, then.  

    “Maybe we can get down to what triggered this no-confidence situation?” 

    “Your choice of a mate,” Anatolia said.  

    There it is. “So you don’t like Nigel?”  

    “We don’t like what he represents. The fact that he’s a—”  

    “An Arab? Or were you going to call him something worse?”  

    “How dare you insinuate such crude behavior?” Malgorzata snarled.  

    “Okay, so maybe you aren’t a bunch of racist old prudes,” she said, though she doubted they weren’t. The Polish weren’t known to be the most tolerant, and a mere 100 years after first contact, not much had changed. They still treated aliens as second-class citizens; no reason to think they’d treat another Human culture any differently. “Then what is it?” 

    “What he represents,” Anatolia said. Alexis blinked and cocked her head. “He’s another Horseman.”  

    “Oh!” Alexis exclaimed. “What, you’re worried he’ll take over the Hussars?”  

    “More like that his son, Armin, would take over the Hussars.” On top of being Human and alien racists, the elders were misandrists. She didn’t know how she’d missed that cue.  

    “What, you want it in writing that only Katrina can be the Hussars’ commander?” She looked directly at Maja this time. “There’s only been three generations of female commanders of the Hussars. Yes, you’ve been careful to be sure only women get on your little council of elders. However, I will not formalize it in writing that only women can command.”  

    Alexis knew Maja had a son in the Hussars, Ian Kowalski. She’d been watching his career carefully. He was an XO on Omaha, one of the old Crown-class cruisers. He was on track to becoming a captain, and he was only 25 years old. He’d been on the list for command of a Kingdom-class escort frigate, but she believed he needed a little more time. Looking at Maja, she said, “Doesn’t everyone in our family deserve a shot?”  

    “Will you give up this plan to marry Nigel Shirazi?” Anatolia demanded.  

    “Never. Just because my mother never married doesn’t mean I won’t. And before you ask, I won’t rule out either of my children as potential successor, as has been the right of the Winged Hussars’ commander since Amelia Cromwell took over.”  

    “Very well,” Anatolia said. “You may leave, Commander Cromwell. The council of elders will inform you of our decision by tomorrow.”  

    Alexis stood, taking time to calmly replace the chair where she’d taken it from before exiting the room. As she walked down the hall, where the snooty little brat who’d driven her there waited, she used her pinplants to look at the city’s message board.  

    Exiting the building, she carefully took note of the way people looked at her, and more importantly, the ones who watched her every move. How could I have missed this? she wondered silently.  

    <I have begun a review of communications between the elders and others in the system,> Ghost said.  

    It would have been nice if you’d warned me in advance. 

    <As I have explained, Human emotions and many of your interactions are something I will never understand. From what I have seen, I doubt Type 5 SIs understand them, either.> 

    How deep does this go?  

    Ghost quickly summarized, based on scanning millions of secure communications. Alexis smiled as she hailed a cab, ignoring the furious look of the toady waiting by his car. She wondered if she’d have arrived at the starport if she’d gotten in that car. Shit, she thought and activated her comms.  

    “Uuth, this is Alexis, please respond.”  

    “Commander, what can I do for you?”  

    She spoke to him for several minutes. After their conversation, she began composing a series of email bombs. The next 24 hours were going to be… spicy.  

    The cab dropped her at the starport terminal. As soon as she got out, she felt eyes on her. To one side, a man was scanning shipping labels on crates. He’d scanned the same label four times. To the other side, a group of men looked like they were waiting for a cab, but at least six were sitting in the queue, and merely needed to be beckoned to respond. There were others.  

    She pretended to pay them no mind as she walked past the doors into the terminal. Her shuttle had parked at Gate #2, but on the board, she could see its status. “Pegasus Command Shuttle—Gate #9.” That gate was all the way at the end of the terminal. There was only one other shuttle currently in port, parked at Gate #5; there was no reason to have moved her shuttle.  

    She turned, immediately walking down the length of the terminal as if she didn’t have a worry in the world. In reality, her feet hurt, her back hurt, and worse, her heart hurt.  

    She passed Gate #5 and found it crowded with big, burly men milling around the exit, where a civilian shuttle was parked outside. They were dressed like fishermen, but none had the weather-worn look. It could be extremely cold out on the oceans of Home. Frostbite facial scars were a price of doing business. None of these men bore the look. Alexis caught one staring at her, and when she nodded, he looked away.  

    <All set,> Ghost said just after she passed the ‘fishermen.’ 

    Gate #9, where her shuttle waited, was another 100 meters down the terminal. Nobody was in the wide hallways lined with seats. Two small kiosks for selling snacks to travelers were closed. She was halfway to her gate when she heard the sound of footsteps behind her. She didn’t need to look to know the ‘fishermen’ were following her.  

    As she approached Gate #9, the footsteps were close behind her. Any time now, she thought. The door to her shuttle opened, and instead of a pilot, two Winged Hussars’ Mk 8 CASPers came walking out. They looked new, the armor sporting spotless, glossy black paintjobs; bright red stripes along the outside of their suits’ arms and legs proclaimed them Marines. The footsteps behind her instantly stopped.  

    Alexis slowly turned around. She counted 12 extremely surprised faces gawking at the hulking armored combat suits. “Afternoon, gentlemen. Were you wanting to talk to me?”  

    “I…” one of them said, hand straying to his coat. She knew what was underneath. The dozen men looked at each other, seemingly wondering if they could handle the Marines, or simply ‘deal’ with her. The hand moved closer.  

    “You might want to reconsider what you’re about to do,” a canine voice growled. Heads spun to see a Zuul in light combat armor with a squad of six—four Human, a Lumar, and a MinSha—wearing the designation of HST, for Hussars’ Security Team. Their weapons were holstered, but hands rested on them, ready to act.  

    “Inspector Uuth,” Alexis said, nodding.  

    “Commander Cromwell,” he replied. “Safe flight back to Pegasus. We’re going to have a few questions for these men.”  

    “Would you like my Marines to stay and help?” 

    “No,” he replied, grinning. “I think we’ve got this.” The hulking Lumar cracked all four sets of knuckles and grinned as well. The MinSha security officer watched dispassionately, her multifaceted eyes gleaming in the terminal light.  

    Alexis tried to convey a sense of serene control as she walked between the two CASPers to her shuttle, just managing not to collapse once she was inside. The armor came in behind her.  

    “Are you okay?” a strangely modulated voice came through one of the suit’s speakers.  

    “I’m fine,” she said, breathing hard. “We’re just lucky those hired thugs didn’t know shit about CASPers.” She could tell easily that the suits weren’t armed. The modular plugs designed to accept weapon connections were unbroken, which only made sense. The two suits were under Ghost’s control, and had been walked, brand new, out of crates at the starport’s freight terminal only minutes ago. “Return those before someone wonders where they went.”  

    The two suits exited the other side of the shuttle the same way they’d arrived, via the cargo door. As soon as they were gone, the pilot came back. “You need anything, Commander?” 

    “No, just get me back to Pegasus ASAP.” After the shuttle did a short taxi and take off, she finally felt safe.  

    <Do not worry. I was there.> 

    You always are, she thought, but in the back of her mind, she couldn’t forget; Ghost had completely missed Paka as a traitor, and Alexis had nearly died.  

      

    * * * 

      

     CIC, EMS Gobi Desert, Sol System 

    “We’re ready to go,” Captain Parker said. “I do, however, want to go on record one last time as saying this is a bad idea.” 

    “Worse than going to Kullawee was?” Sansar asked. 

    “Well, no. That was worse. There, we were jumping into a known SI’s system and didn’t have a way of jumping back out again.” 

    “And, like I promised then, the Gobi Desert now has internal shunts.” 

    “At the cost of a lot of its internal space.” 

    “But also giving us a lot more flexibility in our options. If we want to leave—Blue Sky, if we need to leave—we can.” 

    “At least in Kullawee we had a Hussars’ fleet with us to provide some defense if needed.” 

    “Which we don’t need now because we can just leave if we don’t like what we find.” Sansar shrugged. “Besides, we also have a squadron of brand new Avengers, led by one of the heroes of the Omega War.” 

    “Who also tried to destroy—” 

    “That wasn’t him, that was Minerva, and I don’t want to hear about it again.” 

    “Still…” 

    “Look, I can find someone else to command the ship if you don’t want to come on this one.” 

    Parker took a deep breath and let it out slowly, then squared his shoulders. “No, ma’am. It’s my ship, and I’m coming. I just want to go on record—” 

    “Got it. Can we get to the stargate now before we lose our gate time?” 

    “Yes, ma’am. Comms, signal the Ordos Desert. Proceed to the stargate, 1.5 Gs. Destination: Kop’ka system.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Houston Startown, Houston Starport, Texas, Earth 

    Jim laughed and waved as Thaddeus waved to him from the little merry-go-round. The carnival had a lot of aliens working in it, which was a big part of the allure. The merry-go-round, instead of horses and unicorns, was populated with all manner of aliens. In fact, they didn’t even call it a merry-go-round; the aliens who ran the carnival called it an Encounter-Spin. Jim grinned and waved. Earth wasn’t like it had been in the old days before first contact. They had tickets for a heavy metal cover band called Purple Rage later that night, a band of Oogar. His favorite. 

    Thaddeus was riding on a double seat car that looked like a pair of frolicking Equiri with Ziva; she was laughing just as hard as their son. He’d met a few Equiri, specifically one who was a Peacemaker. He wasn’t aware whether they frolicked or not. He kind of doubted it. He wished he could have ridden with them, but his exoskeleton legs made such things difficult. He was already a bit wider than most people, and the hardware made it tricky, getting in and out of such things.  

    Just the previous night, he’d gotten up in the wee hours of the morning, leaving Ziva snoring gently in their bed. His back had been in agony. He’d carefully extracted himself from the covers and used the pair of forearm-braced crutches to make his way to the kitchen. A beer and two horse-pill-sized pain killers eventually reduced the pain enough he could sleep; until then, he’d surfed the Aethernet to distract himself.  

    A surgeon in Houston Starport had opened an office recently. Among the services they provided was cybernetic replacement. They advertised state-of-the-art neural cybernetics installed by a highly-skilled Wrogul physician. They showed a young Human who’d been crippled in a skiing accident that had severed his spine at the 2nd lumbar. The internal structure of his lower body had been completely replaced with cybernetics, but the skin and sensory parts remained.  

    “A no-shit cyborg.” He’d laughed. His spinal injury was far above that, in his thoracic vertebrae. Not severed, though. Just a nick, actually. But the damage to the spinal cord wouldn’t heal.  

    He’d read the rest of the advertisement, then he’d keyed up a quick search in his pinplants to gather all the research relevant to this innovation and store it until later. As he watched his son play, he skimmed the data. Human neurologists were naturally skeptical. Human medical scientists had resisted the rampant incursion of Galactic Union technology from the moment of first contact. They’d been the gatekeepers of what worked and what didn’t for centuries, after all. What the galactics could do was light-years ahead of anything on Earth at the time. 

    As more than a century had passed, much of that tech had been integrated into Human medical science. Still more was being rapidly innovated on. Humans were nothing if not overly curious monkeys. Even so, when something like this came along—hyper-advanced cybernetics mixed with an alien cephalopod who could do surgery with its tentacles—Human scientists tended to pump the brakes. Hard.  

    Just last year, he’d found a similar process, minus the Wrogul, that had promised a breakthrough in spinal-bridging cybernetics. A device was placed on the spinal cord that read the signals from one side and reintroduced them on the other side of the damage. Humanity had been looking into it before first contact; however, it had proven to be a dead end, both then and now. The research was just looking for seed money and guinea pigs. Jim wasn’t interested in either.  

    The advertisement he’d spotted last night, though, was entirely different. There were a slew of interviews with the young, handsome skier, who was quickly adapting to his new life. He wasn’t quite 100% normal again, but the results were startling. More importantly, his injury, while further down the spine, had been much more severe than Jim’s.  

    “Daddy, daddy, did you see!” 

    Jim was startled out of his reverie by nearly 20 kilos of excited four-year-old Cartwright.  

    “Oof,” he grunted, hiding the pain in his back from the sudden load of squirming love. “I did, Thad, you were awesome!” 

    Thaddeus threw his arms around Jim’s neck and gave him a bone-crunching hug. Jim laughed and hugged him back. Was there anything full of more pure love than a happy young child? He doubted it. His father had never taken him to an Encounter-Spin, of course. He didn’t recall ever going to a circus. However, there’d been a theme park near Houston; he remembered that. Mostly he remembered family servants taking them around, and merc bodyguards keeping an eye on the crowd. The senior Thaddeus Cartwright had practically been a rock star, and those sorts of celebrities drew all the wrong kinds sometimes.  

    Jim was lucky in that he was less ‘iconic’ in his appearance. Plenty of pudgy white guys out and about on a sunny Sunday, experiencing this strange merging of Human and alien culture. A Jeha—its chitinous armor painted in intricate designs—was moving through the crowd, juggling a dozen balls at once with just a few of its myriad hands. A bucket was perched on one of the segments level with the ground, and it was nearly full of credit chits.  

    Thaddeus applauded, and the Jeha tossed the boy one of the balls it was juggling. The boy caught it, laughed even harder, and threw it back. The alien snatched it out of the air and wove the ball into a dizzyingly complex pattern. In a second, it was throwing the balls to observant spectators all around who in turn threw them back. Some were thrown well, some not so well. The being caught all of them with ease.  

    Jim plucked a 10-credit chit from his pocket and tossed it like a ball. Others did as well. In seconds, there were at least 30 balls and credit chits spinning through the air. The sunlight caught the tiny red diamonds in the center, sending sparkling beams of crimson sunlight reflecting like a kaleidoscope.  

    When no more credits came forth, the Jeha used extra arms to pluck them from the juggling stream, which hadn’t faltered, and dropped them into the bucket. Performance complete, it moved on into the crowd. Jim grinned and nodded, glad he’d brought the family out. Family? Yeah, he guessed that’s what they were. 

    Ziva came up behind him and put her arms around his middle, hugging him. He swung Thaddeus up onto his shoulders. That hurt his back more, but he couldn’t have cared less. His son applauded; they were a family. He couldn’t remember being happier. Ever.  

    A few minutes later, they stopped for lunch. Surprisingly, the alien-run operation had hotdogs, of all things. After confirming they really were hotdogs, he ordered three, with French fries and sodas—the food was provided by a local vendor, thankfully—and found them a picnic table to eat at.  

    “You know this is my first hotdog?” Ziva said, sniffing the meat. “What’s it made of?”  

    “You don’t want to know,” he said. Next to them, Thaddeus, ever adventurous with food, took an experimental bite and chewed, the look on his face uncertain. Jim added a little mustard and ketchup. “Try it now,” he implored.  

    Thad took a bite, and his eyes lit up. 

    “Bingo.”  

    “Yum!” Thaddeus said and began to devour it.  

    Ziva went through the exact same procedure. “Yeah, the…” She looked at the label. “Ketchup? It’s good.” 

    “No Earth condiments on your colony?”  

    “Too expensive, usually. We had some compatible alien stuff.” She pointed at the mustard. “We made a mustard, but not ketchup.”  

    “Made from tomatoes, sugar, and vinegar,” he said.  

    “That’s a weird combination,” she said, taking a bite. “Bwu it warks,” she said around a mouthful.  

    “I think I better go get a couple more,” Jim said to enthusiastic nods from Thaddeus. “I think they had ice cream, too!” 

    “Yes!” Thaddeus cried.  

    “Fuck, yes,” Ziva said. Jim nodded and got to his feet, servos whining. A hand caught his, and he looked back. “I love you; you know that?”  

    Jim smiled and nodded. “Love you, too.” Slowly he pulled his hand away and headed for the line. He glanced back as he followed the line; a lot of people were clearly pleased with the hotdogs. Ziva was too engrossed in her first hotdog, but Thaddeus waved and yelled, “Don’t forget ice cream!” He nodded and waved back as he searched for the end of the line. He’d just found it when an unpleasantly familiar voice spoke up behind him.  

    “Lovely family, Jim.”  

    “You know Ziva’s cultivating a real hatred of you?” He turned to look at Adrianne McKenzie standing a short distance away. “She kinda hoped you’d bought it on the Moon.” 

    She shook her head, her long, black hair swaying behind her. “I’m not that easy to kill.” 

    Too bad, Jim thought. “Ziva would never do anything to you, mostly because I said you were too useful alive. Though after India, I’m not so sure.” Adrianne’s face clouded. Bingo. “Now Fssik, that’s a different matter. To them, killing is more of a thing than an important decision.” 

    “Why do you think I waited until now to talk to you? Your little cat friend is distracted.” 

    “How do you know for sure?” 

    “They only think their quintessence makes them invisible. True invisibility is impossible, and when you know how to look for something, sometimes the best way is to look for an absence of something.”  

    Jim’s brows crinkled up. “Like looking for a shadow?”  

    “Smart man. Anyway, time to go.” 

    “Huh?”  

    “You want to meet Blotto? It’s now or never.” 

    “You’re fucking kidding me. I’m out with my family having some fun. Make it tomorrow, or even a few hours from now.”  

    “I don’t make the decisions. I only know it’s now or maybe later. Told you before, I’m not in charge.”  

    “Fuck,” he snarled, earning a nasty look from a woman with a toddler on her hip.  

    He looked at Adrianne, who was waiting indifferently, observing the people around them with cool, sharp eyes. A killer waiting to kill, he realized. “I’ll go if you get a message to Ziva.” 

    “Only after we’re outside the reach of her little feline murder machine.”  

    “Fine,” he said and quickly composed a note with his pinplants. He triggered the release on his pinlock and sent it to her. She nodded at its reception.  

    “Let’s go.” He looked back as he followed her, but couldn’t catch a final glimpse of his family.  

    
* * * 

      

    Petal-Class Corvette Stamen 3, Lambda 4-1 Asteroid Cluster, New Warsaw 

    Elizabeth updated her log with the latest sensor data and used her pinplants to run their course. Based on the little corvette’s current stores, they had seven days’ endurance remaining. They’d run out of coffee yesterday and ketchup at dinner that watch.  

    “Bet you wish you’d stayed with the freighter, Captain,” Ensign Strathers quipped. The flight officer grinned like an idiot, one of her more redeeming qualities. Ensign Belvar, their sensor operator specialist, shook his head without looking up from the data.  

    “Oh, I don’t know,” Elizabeth replied. “This isn’t so bad.”  

    “You were in command of a damned Egleesius,” Strathers persisted. “How can this compare?”  

    “Those big ships have levels upon levels of problems,” she explained. “At least on a ship this small, I only have three subordinate, insubordinate officers to deal with instead of more than a hundred!”  

    “Speak for yourself; I ain’t no officer!” Specialist Johnson said over the intercom, obviously listening. The Petal-class was only 34 meters long from her blunted point of a nose to her flared stern housing the single fusion torch. She sported oversized shield generators and large reaction mass tanks and could be fitted with drop tanks for additional range. All that supported a single forward-facing missile tube and a pair of 100-megawatt lasers, dorsal and ventral mounts. Most drones were more heavily armed and faster. What they had was range and brains.  

    “Sector 27, grid references 12, 2, and 22 are clear, by the way,” Belvar said.  

    “Transmit results to command and to Stamen 2 and 1.”  

    “Roger that,” Strathers said.  

    Elizabeth liked that regardless of the cramped space, lack of gravity deck, and the general worn out and disused state of the ship, her crew was professional. Since she took command a week ago, she’d begun to remember what it was like as she was coming up herself. Flight training, her commissioning as an ensign in the Hussars, and telling her mother about it via email. Her mother’s funeral a decade later and Alexis Cromwell’s personal note of condolence and approved 30-day leave for her to go to Earth to attend the funeral.  

    When she’d gotten her first command, the escort frigate Orcrist, her whole life had been before her. The Legend-class had a crew of 52, and they’d been her family for two years. Thinking back on her life as a ship’s captain, she realized that was probably the best time of her life. Being named CO of Shadowfax was certainly incredible, but it was that little Legend-class that always occupied a special place in her heart. Orcrist had been destroyed when they’d tried to retake Earth during the Omega War. 

    She examined the map, a 3D representation of the space around Lambda Cluster 4-1. The tiny group of three corvettes had searched just under 10% of the space thus far. They’d have to return to base long before even a quarter of the cluster had been searched. People who didn’t work or even travel in space had absolutely no idea just how vast it was.  

    “I have out-of-profile movement in Sector 27, grid reference 44,” Belvar said.  

    Each sector was a 10 by 10 by 10 cube of grids for a total of 1,000. Each grid was 10,000 kilometers on a side, or 1 trillion cubic kilometers. Thus a sector was 1 quadrillion cubic kilometers. Lambda Cluster 4-1 was 126 sectors in size, or 126 quadrillion cubic kilometers. Yes, space was big, and there were only 38 asteroids in 126 quadrillion cubic kilometers of space. Rather, there used to be 38; now there were 37.  

    Grid 44 was adjacent to Grid 2 in this sector, the center being some 9,000 kilometers away. That sector hadn’t been surveyed yet. “Show me what you have,” she ordered. The tiny bridge’s Tri-V showed the cubic sector of space with a golden dot, a line of green showed where it had been, and a line of red indicated its course.  

    “It’s moving at 12 k/s toward Grid 52,” Belvar said. “There’s nothing supposed to be in that grid.” 

    “How big?”  

    “Return says about 50 meters on a side, estimate only. Want me to go active?”  

    “No,” she said. They had their relatively low emissions on their side. “What’s it giving off?”  

    “Low-level neutron emissions, which is why the profile mapping isn’t accurate. Neutron scatter could be background.”  

    Sure, and I should still be in command of Shadowfax, she thought. Elizabeth analyzed their trajectory. Their course, which was largely coasting until they needed to change it, wouldn’t take them within view of the bogie for days. Same for the other two corvettes. If they went active with radar, they would give themselves away. If they altered course to get closer, the ship’s fusion torch would be like a firework in the dead of night. While stealth was largely impossible in space, they were pretty dark.  

    “We have three drones on board?” she asked Strathers.  

    “Yes, Captain,” she replied. “They’re not the Raven-class, though.” 

    “Are they armed?”  

    “Singe 10-megawatt pulse lasers. No shields, decent sensor suite, good endurance.” The pilot glanced at her. “They’re real hard to spot, though, because of how their thermal shields are oriented against their torches.” 

    “Perfect, launch one at the bogie. Use as conservative a flightpath as you can.”  

    The pilot worked her systems. “I can get a pass within 100 kilometers inside 9 hours.” 

    “Perfect, do it.” The pilot nodded, and a moment later, the little ship shuddered slightly as the magazine rotated the drone into position and loaded it into the tube. A hissing sound was audible as the tube pressurized, followed by a massive shudder as Stamen-3’s only missile tube released the drone into space with a puff of high pressure gas. She grunted. You hardly noticed a missile launch on an Egleesius.  

    Cold gas thrusters fired, compensating for the slight momentum imparted by the launch. Outside, the drone was just visible as it arced away, firing its maneuvering jets to begin a course alteration. She chewed her lip as it was lost in the void.  

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Revenge, Kop’ka System 

    “You’re lucky Colonel Cromwell kept such good notes,” Captain Gallagher said as the Tri-V switched to the ship’s camera. A big chunk of starship could be seen in the forward viewer. Nigel had seen enough of the Pegasus that he recognized it as the front half of an Egleesius-class. And where there’s a front, there’s an aft… and it can’t be far away. 

    “We’re all lucky,” Nigel said. It had taken them a few days to find it—space was big, after all—but Alexis had indeed left very detailed notes about the battle. Where it had taken place, velocities of the ships, and general vectors had all been included. 

    “It doesn’t even look like there’s that much damage to it,” Gallagher said quietly as the camera shifted to the aft section, and he studied it. “Aside from being cut in half, that is.” 

    “Yeah, that’s kind of a problem. For it, anyway.” 

    “But not for us,” Gallagher said. “That’ll actually help us get what we need off it… assuming it still exists.” 

    “So we’re good to go?” Nigel asked. 

    “We’re good to go look at it, anyway,” Gallagher affirmed. 

    Nigel nodded and switched to his comm. “Shahrazad, you’re clear to go see if it’s got what we need.” 

    “Roger that.” 

    Five tiny blips detached from the ship on the tactical display as the Konar flew over to inspect the wreck.  

    Nigel said several prayers while he waited for the Dusman to report in. The blips merged with the hulk of the starship and vanished as the Konar went inside. 

    “We’re in luck,” Shahrazad said after about five minutes. “It looks like the ship has what we need.” 

    The command crew—along with Nigel—broke into spontaneous cheering. 

    “That’s great,” Gallagher said, “but we’re a long way from getting out of here.” 

    “What do you mean?” Nigel asked. 

    “I hope the Dusman can help mount and wire those things up,” Gallagher said, “because none of my guys have ever done so. And just because we have them doesn’t mean they’ll work.” 

    “So we’re a little better off—” 

    Gallagher nodded. “But we’re not out of the woods yet.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 

      

      

      

    

  


   
    [bookmark: _Toc90484093]Chapter 15 

      

      

    CIC, EMS Revenge, Kop’ka System 

    “What else are you prepared to lose, Captain?” Shahrazad asked. 

    “What do you mean?” Gallagher asked. “Surely you don’t need more space. We’ve already mounted the dropships and the shuttles on the hull and given you all the cargo bays.” 

    “And that worked nicely for fitting in the hyperspace generator,” the Dusman tech specialist, Ali Baba, said. “But now I need to place the hyperspace shunts around the ship so the generator can synthesize the appropriate field around the ship.” 

    Gallagher sighed. “How many shunts are needed?” 

    “For a ship this size? Sixteen.” 

    “Sixteen!” 

    “Yes. Sixteen. At a minimum. The problem, though, is that I can’t just stack them in what space we have left in the shuttle bays or cargo holds; they have to be spaced out appropriately around the ship. The four in the bow will require sacrificing the chase armament—” 

    Gallagher frowned. “You mean all those weapons we just strapped on?” 

    Ali Baba nodded. “Yes. They all have to go.” 

    “Can’t you place them behind the weapons mounts?” 

    “Of course I can.” 

    Gallagher nodded. “Great. In—” 

    “But then we aren’t leaving,” Ali Baba added. 

    “Why not?” 

    “Because if you place them there, the tip of the bow won’t be within the boundaries of the field, and one of two things will happen: we’ll either leave the bow here in Kop’ka, or more likely, the field won’t generate properly, and we won’t go into hyperspace.” 

    “Well, what if we—” 

    “There’s one thing you can do, Captain,” Shahrazad said, “and one thing only.” 

    “What’s that?” Gallagher asked with a hopeful tone. 

    “You can listen to what Ali Baba says and act accordingly, or we aren’t leaving here. Unless you know more than we do about hyperspace shunts?” Her ears twitched slightly. 

    “Well, no; I don’t.” 

    “Then you would do well to listen to what we tell you. That’s the only way we’re getting out of here without someone coming here to rescue us.” 

    “Fine!” Gallagher exclaimed, his face growing red. He glanced at Nigel, flaying the merc commander with his eyes, before looking back to the Dusman. “What else?” 

    “The other ones in the forward section will have to go in some of the sensor spaces and weapons compartments.” 

    “What are we going to lose?” 

    “Some of our anti-missile systems.” 

    “Wonderful,” Gallagher said, although his tone suggested he actually thought otherwise. 

    “The ones in the aft mid-section will have to go in the troop compartments; we’ll need four of the berthing spaces.” 

    “I wonder whose personnel will get kicked out of their racks?” Gallagher asked darkly, looking at Nigel. 

    “I’m sure we can swap bunks or do something to accommodate it,” Nigel said. 

    “And the last set?” Gallagher asked. 

    “They’ll have to go in the aft section, which will require moving some things around in engineering. It’d be best if we could get rid of a couple of the generators, but we’re already going to be low on power, so…” He shrugged. “I’ll have to figure out something there. Regardless, I’m going to need a lot of hands to help disassemble, move, and reassemble.” 

    “You’ll get it,” Nigel said. “All our mechanics are at your disposal, as well as any of our troopers to help move things around.” 

    “Good,” Ali Baba said. “I’ll also need assistance on the Egleesius-class cruiser to disassemble the needed equipment over there and transportation to get it back here.” 

    “No problem,” Nigel said. Gallagher just grunted. 

    Ali Baba nodded. “Good. Let’s get going, then. We have a lot of work to do.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Section 51, Location Unknown, Earth 

    “You guys take this cloak and dagger shit seriously, don’t you?” Jim said under the hood. It felt like leather and was impossible to see through, and breathing was almost as difficult.  

    “Just be patient,” a deep voice said. That would be Joey. Jim had no idea who he really was, only that the man had skin the darkest shade of black he’d ever seen, was the size of Andre the Giant, and looked like he would be bored if he’d only killed one person before breakfast. He’d been the one to put Jim’s hood on, and he radiated carefully controlled destruction.  

    “So what’s with you and Adrianne?” Jim asked. “Boyfriend?”  

    He chuckled like boulders rolling over a car. “We go way back, but not in that sort of way.”  

    Jim couldn’t place his accent. It had a hint of urban black, but almost as if it were there on purpose. Despite his powerful nature, the deferential attitude he showed toward Adrianne was interesting.  

    “What do you do in Section 51?” 

    “You always talk this much?” 

    Jim gave a grunting laugh. “Only when my head is covered in a hood, and I’m being flown to God knows where to meet a super-secret shady character running an equally super-secret agency above the law.” 

    This time it was Joey who gave a grunting laugh. “Adrianne said she liked your sense of humor.”  

    “Came in useful while she was ripping my heart out.” 

    “You know, that whole episode wasn’t easy on her, either.” 

    “I’m sure it was tough, fucking the fat boy on orders.” 

    “Yeah, it was on orders.” He was quiet a second while Jim fumed. “But that doesn’t mean it didn’t hurt her to do it.” 

    “I’m sure it really tore her up inside,” Jim spat. 

    “Doing what she did to you was harder on her than you think. No, not the part about being in a relationship with you. Being in a relationship with anyone. She hadn’t gotten close to another person in…” He was quiet for a second as he stopped himself. “In a lot of years. Then, unfortunately, she really came to like you.” 

    “Right.”  

    Jim felt a strong hand land on his shoulder. Not roughly, just insistently. “Listen to me, little man. I love Adrianne McKenzie. If I had to dive headfirst into a fucking volcano to save her, my only concern would be that I’d live long enough to pull it off. I’ve only seen her emotionally torn up twice in all the years I’ve served with her, and the second time was when the op with you blew up in her face. She’s sorrier for how that went down than you’ll ever know.” 

    “Yeah? So why didn’t she ever tell me that?” 

    “Would you have believed her?”  

    It was Jim’s time to pause. He wanted to say, “Yeah, of course I would,” but that would have been a lie. If Adrianne said it was sunny outside, he’d walk outdoors to be sure. “You have a point.” He sat in silence as the flyer continued onward. Shortly after he’d had the sack put over his head, they’d loaded him into a flyer that had quickly taken off, gained altitude, and gone supersonic. Nothing unusual about that, other than how it had spun around quickly to ensure he couldn’t easily tell directions. His pinplants’ remote connection was disabled, too, not that he’d tried to link with anything having to do with them.  

    He’d never honestly considered the possibility that Adrianne had been hurt in the process as well. Six years ago, he’d learned the truth from a Golden Horde operative. He’d thought she was Adayn Christopher, a 32-year-old armorer hired after he’d restarted Cartwright’s Cavaliers. He’d figured her for a chub-chaser, but since he’d been a 21-year-old virgin, deep down he didn’t care. A few months later, at the dawn of the Omega War, he’d found out the truth. 

    Nergui Enkh, the Golden Horde intel officer tasked with bringing him up to speed, had explained. “Adayn Christopher,” she read, “AKA Adrianne McKenzie, captain, Earth Defense Intelligence. Age 34, started her service in the civil service department and transferred to intel six years ago after being recruited.” Adrianne had been on the other side of a one-way glass as Nergui read the details, and Jim’s life shattered.  

    She’d gone on to explain that Adrianne had served in various Earth merc units until finally landing a job in the big time: Cartwright’s Cavaliers. “After hiring on with the Cavaliers, her government handler ordered her to get close to the new commander and find out how they’d managed to come back from the dead. When you obtained the Raknar, her orders were amended to attempt to gain access to the mechs through, and I quote, ‘any means necessary.’ We believe it was then that she seduced you.”  

    He’d confronted her a few minutes later.  

    “I told you everything, and you just passed it on like a good spy.” 

    “That was my job,” she’d said casually. “If I said I was sorry, would that help?”  

    The problem was, the Horde had been wrong. Adrianne was much, much more than a spy for ERDI—Earth Republic Defense Intelligence—but it would be months later, when she’d rescued him from Peepo’s prison, that he’d begun to understand. She’d first showed up in her role as ERDI spy to interrogate him in prison.  

    While pretending to check on his physical condition, which was bad because they’d been starving and torturing him, she’d administered an injection. Aside from nutritional supplements, it also contained the super-powerful nanites that had unlocked his pinplants—which had been locked to keep him from using them—and had begun building up the special features he now had: a speed boost for a few seconds, a strength boost similarly limited, and a healing boost.  

    The nanites had activated at just the moment he’d needed them to help him and his fellow Raknar drivers escape. With them came a message: “Jim, I know you’ll never understand or accept my apology, but just know this: I did what I did for a very good reason. It’s true, I’m not who I said I was, but neither am I who the Golden Horde said I was. I hope this gift gets you out of this situation, and maybe it’ll win back a small amount of your trust. If not, hopefully it will at least dim your hatred.” It was signed, “Adrianne—Section 51.” 

    He’d long thought she was using him, even then. Still, it had helped him escape, further aided by the surprise reappearance of Murdock, a merc he’d thought dead for over a year. I wonder whatever happened to the slippery old merc?  

    Now, after more than five years, he might finally be about to understand what Section 51 was. The thought both excited and terrified him at the same time. The organization had supposedly existed before first contact. To him, it sounded like a cross between Men in Black and Kingsman, to recall a couple of his favorite 20th century movies. Even after finding out about their existence, the infamous Sansar Enkh’s legendary intelligence agents had learned exactly bunk about them.  

    The flyer shuddered briefly, and he was certain they’d dropped below Mach.  

    “We’re landing,” Joey said. “Please follow instructions exactly. We haven’t brought anyone here from outside the Section in a very long time.”  

    The flyer flew a circular approach pattern as Jim tried to estimate their flight time. Less than three hours, but how fast had they been going? Could well have been supersonic, though he doubted more than Mach 5. Those flight corridors were restricted to above 50 kilometers. Nobody enjoyed having sonic booms constantly roaring across the landscape. Truth was, he had no clue where they were. 

    The flyer settled to the ground, and the canopy opened. The idling scream of ducted turbofans filled his years and… sand? So a desert somewhere. That only made sense; most deserts were sparsely populated at best. A pair of hands reached in to gently grip his hands.  

    “Minister Cartwright,” a man spoke, not Joey, “please stand, but stay crouched so you don’t strike your head on the flyer’s wing until we walk you clear.” 

    “My exoskeleton struggles with a crouched position,” he warned. In truth it did just fine, but walking in a crouch hurt like a son of a bitch.  

    Another pair of arms took his other arm. “We’ll help you, sir.” This time it was Joey. Jim moved forward, grimacing. After a few steps, he got a pat on the shoulder.  

    “We’re clear, sir,” the first voice said.  

    Jim could hear the engines’ pitch increase and felt a blast of wind on his back. Somewhere a door ground open with a squeal of metal on metal. The air was dry and hot. A desert, for sure. In a moment it was gone, and the door ground back closed.  

    “You can remove the cover,” Joey said. “Welcome to Section 51.”  

    He pulled the sack off to see they were inside a cavernous hangar. All along the walls were various flyers, many Human made; others not. A pair of corvette-sized ships were parked near another set of doors, and about a quarter of the entire space was taken up by a frigate-sized starship, perched on insectile legs. He’d never seen the class before.  

    Hundreds of men and women moved about the bay, working on various tasks. They all wore a dark brown uniform with black ballcap, belt, and boots. Some had standard military rank emblems on their shoulders, or devices on their collars; others not. They also all had name tapes. Except for the lack of unit emblems or government entity flags, they wouldn’t have been out of place in a dozen different military units, or even merc ones. Put simply, it was a massive operation, and this was just the hangar.  

    Jim glanced at Joey, who was smirking at his expression. “This is the main base, and the oldest.” 

    “How old?” Jim wondered.  

    Joey just smirked even more and gestured. “This way please.”  

    As they walked, Jim could see many people pausing in their work to watch him go by. Joey led him to an elevator that opened as they approached. It was there he got his first clue where they were. A lot of the walls had been repainted, some of them many times. On the wall next to the elevator, about five meters up, some of the many coats of paint were peeling to reveal bare metal, and some really old painted letters: KXTA. It was obviously an airbase west of the Mississippi, but a quick search found no matches.  

    Puzzled, he climbed into the elevator, which began to quickly descend. They’d been going down for almost a minute before he realized there were no controls. “How do you set your level?”  

    “It’s controlled by Squatch.”  

    Jim blinked. “Like sasquatch?”  

    Joey’s grin got even bigger.  

    “Not Blotto?”  

    “Oh, no way. Blotto would never waste his time running elevators.”  

    “Where’s Adrianne? I figured she’d be here for this.” He’d been surprised that Joey had been waiting at the sleepy looking flyer, and she hadn’t gotten in with them. 

    “I’ll see you there shortly,” she’d said as the craft buttoned up and quickly took off. 

    The elevator stopped, and the doors opened to reveal Adrianne standing with her arms crossed behind her back. “What took you so long?”  

    “Amusing,” Jim said and stepped from the elevator with a whine of servos. She looked down at his legs and frowned. “Don’t,” he stopped her. “I’m here to meet your noble leader.” 

    “Right,” she said. “Follow me.” She glanced at Joey. “Thanks.” 

    “Anytime, boss.” The elevator closed without him exiting.  

    “So who’s Squatch?”  

    Adrianne glanced at him, an eyebrow raised. “Joey mentioned Squatch?”  

    “He said Squatch runs the elevators…” 

    “Squatch runs everything. It’s an AI. A real artificial intelligence. We developed it 112 years go.”  

    “That’s before first contact.” 

    “Correct.” He tried to speed up to keep even with her, but his back was killing him, so he simply maintained his pace. After a few steps, she glanced back, realized he was lagging behind, and slowed. “I’ll save more details until you meet Blotto.” 

    Jim had noticed the corridors and doors weren’t advanced in any way. In fact, they looked quite old. Like up in the bay, everything had been repainted several times. The floor was an old-style aggregate you never saw anymore. He knew, because one of the terminal wings in the old Houston Hobby airport, now the Cavaliers’ HQ, was made of the same stuff. It had largely ceased being used in the 1990s, 140 years ago.  

    “How far underground are we?” he wondered idly.  

    “Just over 500 meters. As you likely guessed, this was an old US Government installation dating back to the cold war.” He nodded. The desert southwest, then. He’d actually thought they’d flown further; maybe Joey had purposely flown slower than he could have? 

    “Your boss likes it down here?”  

    “He does,” she agreed. “He also likes his privacy, for many reasons.” She reached a door with an old fashioned keypad and typed in a complex code. 

    “How long has he been down here?” Jim asked.  

    “Just about 183 years,” Adrianne said.  

    Jim stared at her in disbelief as the door rumbled open to reveal a large space with subdued lighting. He could detect multiple Tri-Vs operating at super-low intensity, and something in the center of it all. Something like a small tent, or maybe a miniature spaceship? Then it moved and spoke.  

    “Greetings, Jim Cartwright.” 

    His eyes focused, and he realized what he was looking at. “You have got to be fucking kidding me.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 

      

      

    

  


   
    [bookmark: _Toc90484094]Chapter 16 

      

      

    CIC, EMS Revenge, Kop’ka System 

    “So this is going to work?” Gallagher asked. 

    “I don’t know.” Ali Baba shrugged. “Maybe? I think so?” 

    “Maybe?” Gallagher squawked, an incredulous look on his face. “You think so?” 

    The Dusman shrugged again. “I’ve never wired a hyperspace generator or a single hyperspace shunt before, much less sixteen of them. We had enough wiring, but some of the cables from the Egleesius ships were broken and had to be spliced. Never done that, either. How much power does the generator use? I have an idea, but don’t have any technical manuals to use to confirm it. Then there’s the placement of the shunts. Will they generate the required field? Again, I think so, after looking at their placement on the Egleesius ships, but without any manuals to draw from, I can’t be sure. Maybe we need 20. Maybe it has to be an odd number of shunts for the field to work. I have no idea. I tried to wire it up as best I could with the equipment and personnel I had available, and a lack of documentation on how the equipment works. 

    “Finally, all the equipment was salvaged from ships that were destroyed in combat. Did their destruction break any of the internal systems where I can’t see, or cause any of the electrical connections to come undone inside their boxes? It’s possible, although the boxes all looked good externally. Also, upon review of the footage of the battle, I know the Egleesius battlecruisers were already in the system when the Winged Hussars arrived. It’s possible the equipment never worked in the first place, and the enemy ships arrived here using the stargate system. 

    “So, when you ask me if it’s going to work, don’t get offended when I’m unsure of its potential for success. I think it’ll work… but there are many reasons it might not, and quite a few of those are beyond my ability to discern.” 

    Gallagher looked at the Dusman for a few seconds, digesting what he’d been told, then finally nodded once, accepting the veracity of it. “But you think it’ll work?” 

    “I do.” 

    Gallagher nodded again, once, apparently satisfied. “Very well, then.” He turned to the front of the CIC. “Helmsman, lay in a course for Capital Planet, then get us underway, one G, and jump us out of here.” 

    “Aye, aye, sir,” the helmsman said. “Heading for Capital Planet, and we are underway, one G acceleration.” Things shifted to the back of the CIC as the ship’s engines fired. After a few minutes, he added, “Jumping to the Stavros system, now.” He flipped a switch, and the lights went out.  

    Nigel listened intently. Not only were the lights out, the air circulation was out, and everything else electrical seemed to be inoperative. 

    “Like I said,” Ali Baba said as the red emergency lighting illuminated, “I could be wrong.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Petal-Class Corvette Stamen 3, Lambda 4-1 Asteroid Cluster, New Warsaw 

    They maintained contact with the drone via laser comms instead of radio to reduce the chance of being detected. Elizabeth had decided it was best to assume the strange target they’d spotted was indeed their bogie, and not just an asteroid suffering from the results of a collision, or anything else benign.  

    She’d just taken a four-hour break for food and a short sleep. Her cabin wasn’t much bigger than the head in her commander’s cabin aboard Shadowfax. Even so, it was comfortable in a smelly, overused, and seldom cleaned sort of way. Stamen 3 was also unusual for a military ship in that every crewman had a cabin at least as luxuriant as her own. Of course, showers were out of the question on such a small ship. You made do with a washcloth.  

    “Update?” she asked, floating back into the bridge.  

    “Johnson says she’s fighting an F11 leak.”  

    Elizabeth looked at Strathers in alarm. “How bad?”  

    “She says we’ve lost 5% so far. It’s in a section of the recycling pump that’s difficult to reach.”  

    Elizabeth made a face. Larger ships had filtration systems that could recover lost F11 should there be a leak. However, they were cumbersome and consumed space, something a Petal didn’t have to spare. The F11 would just defuse in their oxygen supply. Luckily, it wasn’t dangerous in concentrations below 1%. The ship only had a dozen liters when full; even dumping the entire reserve into the ship’s air supply wouldn’t amount to a hundredth of a percent. 

    “Can she get it under control?” Elizabeth asked.  

    “She’s working on it. She had to remove one of the fusion core buffers.” 

    “There’s only nine on this model reactor?” 

    “That’s correct.” 

    She frowned again. The magnetic buffers were what contained the star fire at the center of a fusion reactor—contained and initiated the reaction. The power plants were designed with redundancy. Big fusion plants had many redundant features; little ones like in the Petal, not so much. The biggest danger was a forced shutdown in hyperspace, which could result in a one-way trip to second level hyperspace with no way home. Or the reactor could simply run away. She didn’t know which would be worse—instantaneous death in fusion fire or being banished to second level hyperspace to eventually starve or freeze to death. 

    Using her pinplants, she brought up the ship’s engineering control system. The reactor was operating at 12% capacity, about normal for just coasting around. The power was used for life support, computers, sensors, and other vital systems. Based on the built-in bios that controlled the reactor, designed by the Maki who’d built the ship, with one buffer down it could only generate 79% peak output, limiting them to 3.4 Gs maximum acceleration. The ship was rated for a nominal 9 Gs. Human crews struggled for more than a few seconds above 7 Gs, but it was basic Hussars’ training to endure minutes at a time of 5 Gs. The ship was already severely reduced in capacity.  

    She inquired into the loss of another buffer. The bios stated it could sustain one more buffer down and still remain operational at 15%. This would leave them with a quarter of a G acceleration. However, the second lost buffer would need to be at least two buffers separate from the one already offline. The buffers circled the reactor’s roughly toroidal shape. Losing another buffer close to the one already down would result in an automatic scram. The reaction plasma would be ejected into space via magnetic constrictors utilizing the fusion torch exhaust. Hopefully. It was a last-ditch response and didn’t work every time. You did not want to be near a fusion drive when it lost containment.  

    “How long for the repair?”  

    “I think he’s almost done.” 

    She nodded. A good crew didn’t bother the commanding officer with every repair. Normally, endangering the crew by removing buffers from a running fusion plant was the sort of thing you asked about. On a ship this small, apparently not. “Why don’t you take a break?” she suggested to Strathers.  

    “The pass with the bogie is just an hour from now,” she replied.  

    “And I passed basic sensor ops training 12 years ago. Take a break, Ensign.”  

    “Yes, ma’am,” she said with a grateful nod, unhooked her seat harness, and floated aft.  

    “She never likes taking breaks,” Belvar said.  

    “You’re next.” 

    “You won’t hear me arguing,” the man replied while still working his sensor board.  

    Once Strathers was two hours into her down shift, Elizabeth sent Belvar to join her and went aft to check on Johnson. She could monitor all the systems via her pinplants. It was the first time she’d been in the engineering section of a Petal-class, and she gawked.  

    The engineering space, which was the entire rear of the corvette, was jammed with the powerplant, with barely enough room to slither around the edges. At the forward bulkhead was a combination workstation and equipment locker. Hundreds of tools and parts floated helter-skelter everywhere. The heat was oppressive.  

    “Johnson,” she called. “You back here?”  

    A pair of duty boots moved. She hadn’t seen them sticking out between two plasma conduits. “Here!” she heard a muffled yell.  

    “You need help back there, Specialist?”  

    “Actually, it wouldn’t hurt.”  

    She floated over, having to turn sideways as the space between the fusion plant and the bulkhead narrowed. “What can I do?”  

    “See the buffer floating there?”  

    She looked around for a moment before she found it. The buffer was almost in front of her face. It was no bigger than a loaf of bread. Buffers on the Egleesius-class were the size of footlockers. “Got it.”  

    “Slide it in here, will you? Took me a half hour to wiggle my ass into this space.” She reached for it. “Oh, be careful you don’t touch the superconducting contacts or the F11 manifold connections.”  

    She paused and examined the buffer for a moment, eventually finding a safe place to grab it. Of course you didn’t want fingerprints on the superconducting contacts; that would induce resistance to the current flow. Even a tiny powerplant like this one had gigawatts of energy flowing through its containment buffers. The same for F11; if it wasn’t maintained in as pure a state as possible, you could get areas of the reactor with ‘holes’ in the F11. The result could be a heat spike or a radiation pulse, maybe even a core breach.  

    “Here you are,” she said and moved it within reach, spinning it around gently so she could grasp it by a safe point as well. 

    “Excellent,” Johnson said, as a hand came out, and the part disappeared. “You just saved me a tough hour of wiggling.” 

    “What if you hadn’t been skinny enough to fit?”  

    “I’d either decompress engineering and go through from the outside, or I’d hope it held until we were done. Cromwell should have sold these old junkpiles years ago; half the systems are harder than this to access because the fucking Maki aren’t much bigger than a small dog. I’m not often glad I have a small chest, but down here…”  

    Elizabeth stayed and passed her tools or took them back. After a few minutes of cursing and flexing, she was done. “Can you pull me out of this?”  

    “Sure,” she said. Elizabeth braced herself on a handhold and pulled Johnson’s feet. She came out easier than she’d probably gone in.  

    “Thanks, Lieutenant Commander,” she said, wiping a greasy hand through her sweat-soaked hair and brushing the moisture onto her uniform so it didn’t float away in zero G. “Let’s see if that worked.” 

    Johnson returned to the engineering control panel, pushing parts and tools out of the way as she accessed the controls. She could see the display of the nine buffers surrounding the reactor core; one of them was flashing green, which to the Maki was a bad color. Johnson tapped the buffer twice, and it stopped flashing, slowly turning red. ‘Powering’ it displayed in Maki.  

    Johnson laughed. “These corvettes should come with an elSha, standard issue.”  

    “There must be 100 of them in the Hussars already,” Elizabeth said.  

    “More like 300,” Johnson countered. There was a warbling, banging sound from the fusion core.  

    Elizabeth looked at it in alarm. 

    “All good,” Johnson said. “That’s the containment field adjusting.” A whooshing sound followed. “F11 being fed into the buffer.” The icon went solid red. “Back online. Now let’s check F11.” She tapped several commands, and the F11 flow system came up. To one side was the pressure in Pascals. It remained steady. “No more leak!”  

    “Excellent work, Specialist,” Elizabeth said.  

    “You aren’t nearly as much of a bitch as I heard you were,” Johnson said. 

    “Do you always speak your mind?” Elizabeth asked.  

    “Why do you think I’m an engineering specialist on this tub?”  

    “I got the impression you like it.”  

    “I do; it’s better than the Egleesius or even the Steeds. Less pomp and circumstance. Nobody cares if your uniform is dirty here. No damn way to clean it properly, anyway.” 

    “Well, why don’t you get some rack time?”  

    “No need.”  

    “I could make it an order, Specialist.”  

    “You could, but you’d be wasting your time. Didn’t read my file, did you? I was wounded in combat. My hypothalamus connections were affected. I can’t sleep. Nemo did some magic with my pinplants. He said it’s like I sleep five seconds out of every minute, but I never notice. Doesn’t affect my performance, and I get a lot more done in 24 hours.”  

    “Bet that’s gotta suck.”  

    “It has its advantages.” She looked around, snatching tools out of the air and putting them away.  

    “At least take a few minutes in your cabin and clean up? You kinda stink.” 

    Johnson chuckled. “Being honest is going around. Okay, Skipper, will do. See you on the bridge in 10?”  

    Elizabeth nodded and headed forward. On the way, she checked over the missile magazine. The Petal-class had a finicky rotary rack design, and the missiles tended to slip loose from the retention ring. She found all six missiles in position, along with the two drones. A single open spot in the nine-position magazine was empty. Satisfied, she checked a few other spots, then headed for the bridge.  

    The ship continued to coast, its sensors quietly recording everything that passed within its range. Alone on the bridge, she didn’t have anything to do except monitor systems and listen for the computer to say it had found something unusual. Johnson floated in less than half an hour after she’d left engineering, a sandwich in one hand and a drink bulb in the other. She looked a lot cleaner.  

    “Feel better?” Elizabeth asked.  

    “Much. Thanks for the breather.” 

    They sat in silence on the corvette’s bridge; its various systems hummed and buzzed, keeping them alive. Out of boredom and curiosity, Elizabeth accessed Johnson’s personnel file. She got halfway through when she stopped in surprise.  

    “You were on Sleipnir in the battle of New Warsaw?”  

    “Finally got around to reading my personnel file, I see.”  

    “I actually don’t go around reading random files unless someone’s under my command. In system logistics, that’s a pretty short list. I have more bots than people.” Elizabeth glanced at her. “You don’t… look that bad?”  

    Johnson snorted. “When Loki’s little boy got creamed, I was trying to repair a superconducting power feed to a buffer on Plant #2.” She saw the queer look Elizabeth was giving her. “Sleipnir is named after a mythological eight-legged horse, which happens to be the love child of Loki and Svadilfari.” Elizabeth smirked, and Johnson chuckled and shrugged. “Every ship has its nicknames.” 

    “Most aren’t named after an incestuous relationship between a Nordic god and a horse,” Elizabeth said, laughing despite herself. “We called Shadowfax ‘Gandalf’s Ride.’ Nuckelavee is ‘Death on Hooves,’ and it goes on.” 

    Johnson grinned, too, shaking her head. Then she sighed, and the smile slowly faded. “I remember clear as day, the laser punching through the engineering bulkhead and moving like a cutting torch toward the powerplant I was working on. I just had time to yell and push away before it sliced through three buffers, and we instantly lost containment. Million-degree plasma forcefully ejected from a fusion containment bottle, spraying around the engine room, is a once in a lifetime visual. 

    “Chief Engineer Feelto, a rather nice guy for an elSha…” Johnson paused, swallowing. “A glob of flashing plasma just sort of… ate him. I saw half the crew die in seconds. I don’t know why I was spared most of it. Of course, that’s why you fight the engine room in vacuum. The heat of the plasma would have ignited the atmosphere. I almost made it. Don’t remember when it hit me.” 

    “You survived?” Elizabeth shook her head and looked at the file again. Injured. Rehabilitation. Returned to duty. “So it wasn’t so bad?”  

    “Somehow my heart kept beating. Those engineering suits are more like powered armor in some ways. They can seal off all your limbs, pump you full of drugs, keep you alive, if there’s any chance at all.” She looked up at Elizabeth, her eyes haunted. “You don’t know about Project Lazarus?” Elizabeth shook her head. “I know more than most because I’m part of it, but you were in the chain of command.” 

    “I fucked that up. Maybe you shouldn’t tell me.” 

    Johnson shook her head. “It’s not really classified in that context, just being kept quiet and a Hussars’ secret. Have you ever heard of a Bregalad?” 

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Revenge, Kop’ka System 

    “I’m not going to ask if it’s going to work this time,” Gallagher said. 

    “It’s probably better that way.” Ali Baba shrugged. “Still, I’m fairly confident of the repair, and that this time it’s going to work.” 

    “You are?” Gallagher asked, incredulous. “After the last failure, how can you be positive now?” 

    “The last time we attempted to jump—while ultimately unsuccessful—did serve as a successful operational test of the equipment and linkages.” 

    “What do you mean?” 

    “When the helmsman attempted to jump, the system energized and tried to create the field necessary to jump to hyperspace. As such, the equipment appears to work, and it appears to be wired correctly, in spite of the fact that much of it was done by Humans. What failed was that the ship’s electrical system was unable to bear the load of the increased draw from all the new equipment. That was a possibility I apprised you of ahead of time.” 

    “Yes,” Gallagher said gruffly, “you did.” 

    “That situation has now been rectified.” 

    “By strapping a small fusion plant to the outside of my ship.” Gallagher didn’t sound excited about it. “As well as a variety of other supporting equipment.” 

    “I offered to situate it in the interior of the ship.” 

    “At the cost of more spaces that would have had to be evacuated, including my stateroom.” 

    Ali Baba shrugged again. “We gave up our space for one of the shunts—” 

    “Which you shouldn’t have occupied in the first place.” 

    “Ah,” Shahrazad interjected, “but if we hadn’t come along, where would you be now?” 

    Gallagher opened his mouth, but nothing came out. After a moment, he sighed. “We’d be considerably worse off.” He nodded to the Osk’ii. “Thank you for your assistance.” 

    “You are welcome,” Shahrazad said with a small smile. 

    Gallagher nodded toward a Tri-V display that showed the fusion plant kluged to the side of the ship, along with the other generators and converters. “Let’s find out if this fugly lash-up works, shall we?” 

    Shahrazad nodded. 

    “Helmsman, lay in a course for Capital Planet, one G, and jump us out of here.” 

    “Aye, aye, sir,” the helmsman said. “Heading for Capital Planet, one G.” The ship leapt ahead. A minute later, he added, “Jumping to the Stavros system.” He flipped a switch and pushed the button. “Uh… is that supposed to happen?” 

    “Is what supposed to happen?” Gallagher asked. 

    “I’ve never operated internal shunts before,” the helmsman said, “but when I pushed the button to jump, the coordinates all changed.” 

    “Changed to what?” 

    “I don’t know. I don’t recognize them.” 

    “Terminate!” Gallagher yelled. “Stop the jump!” 

    The helmsman reached for his console, but before he could touch it, everyone felt the momentary discorporation as they made the jump to hyperspace.  

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Gobi Desert, Kop’ka System 

    “Emergence in the Kop’ka system,” the helmsman reported. 

    “Drones out,” Parker ordered. “I want to know if there are any ships nearby or at the Weapons Conglomerate facilities in planetary orbit, and I want to know it ASAP.” 

    “Um, sir?” the sensor tech said after a few minutes of scanning. “This is really weird.” 

    “You know I hate it when you say that without any amplifying info, right?” 

    “Yes, sir, and I’m sorry, but it really is weird.” 

    “And what exactly is ‘it?’” 

    “I’m getting a burst of tachyons from the direction of the facilities in orbit. It looks like someone just left. It’s the same thing I’ve seen when the Hussars’ ships with internal shunts jump out of a system without using the stargate.” 

    “Do you think they saw us?” Sansar asked. “Is that why they jumped?” 

    “No, ma’am. It would have taken time for the particles to get here from orbit, if that’s where they jumped from, and they wouldn’t have had time to see us emerge and then jump.” 

    Parker nodded. “So, someone with shunts was here.” 

    “Yes, sir,” the tech said. “That would be my best guess.” 

    Parker looked at Sansar. “Did you tell anyone else about this? Any idea who else might be looking at doing this?” 

    “No one. This is a secret project. When you tell people about secret projects, they become less secret with every person you tell. Although it would be impossible to stop people from knowing that something was going on—it was impossible to hide all the preparations we made—we’ve tried to limit the number of people who knew where we were coming and what we were planning.” 

    “In that case, anyone who’s here is unlikely to be friendly.” 

    “Probably not. We better get a move on before they come back.” 

    Parker turned to the helmsman. “Proceed to the planet, using it as a radiation screen as much as possible, at two Gs.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Gobi Desert, Approaching the Facility, Kop’ka System 

    “See?” the sensor tech asked, pointing at the Tri-V. “Do you see it right there?” 

    “What exactly are we looking at?” Sansar asked. 

    “The port shipyard on that one station has been used since we were here five years ago. See that stuff floating around it? That looks like a cruiser-sized laser floating there. Maybe battlecruiser size, I can’t tell. There’s lots of other garbage floating nearby, too. It looks like someone used the shipyard for repairs, but they weren’t particularly neat about it.” 

    “What’s that tell you?” Parker asked. 

    Sansar chewed her lip. “Someone was here, and they were in a hurry. They didn’t bother cleaning up; they just finished whatever they were doing and immediately left.” She shrugged. “It also tells me the facility is at least partially operational, which answers that question.” 

    “I didn’t realize that was a question,” Parker said. 

    “Of course. If we got here and it wasn’t working—if the Science Guild had come back and disabled it or blew it up, for example—there wouldn’t be much use in taking it back. Sure, we’d probably have grabbed one to see what we could do with the technology, but we wouldn’t have needed all three, and a lot of the preparations we made would have been wasted.” 

    “Okay, so what if this is a pirate waystation now? Some place they can stop off for repairs and such?” 

    “We brought the database from Earth’s manufactory, so we can build some defenses if we need to, but I think the best thing we can do is get these disassembled as quickly as possible and get out of here. The more we hurry, the less chance someone else will find us here.” 

    “So how do you recommend we take them apart?” 

    “No idea.” 

    Parker’s jaw dropped. “What do you mean, you don’t have any idea? We came this far, and there’s no plan for taking them apart?” 

    “I think it’s time to find out where the Dusman are hiding on the Gobi Desert. I don’t know the best way to cut one of these up—much less three of them—but I’ll bet they’ll have some ideas.” 

    Parker shook his head. “There aren’t any Dusman onboard this ship. I know that for a fact; we gave the ship a thorough search.” 

    Sansar smiled. “Can I use the ship’s intercom system? I’ll bet I can find them in just a minute or two.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Planetary Headquarters, Seeleeth, Seeleeth System 

    “When is the next Maki trader due?” the prime minister asked. “Perhaps we can have them check it out.” 

    “Not for months,” the head of the Peoples’ House replied. “By then, everyone will already have seen it. It is on a course that will bring it very close to the planet, with its closest point of approach occurring in another week or so. The people will be able to see it without a telescope if they want to.” 

    “It’s not an ‘it;’ it’s a ‘them,’” said the leader of the Lords’ House. “They’ve seen separation between some of the objects. The scientists are saying there are at least fifteen objects heading in-system.” 

    “But where did they come from?” the president asked. “Why can’t anyone tell me that?” 

    “Because they don’t know,” the prime minister said soothingly. Although the president was a beloved leader of the people, he was getting long in the tooth and didn’t always remember what day of the week it was. “It appears to be from somewhere outside the system, but they don’t know for sure.” 

    “To travel from another system would take hundreds of years, though,” the Peoples’ House leader said. “As far as we are out on the rim, that is. How long did the crew that set up the stargate say it took them?” 

    “One hundred and two years,” the prime minister said. “The scientists say that on the trajectory it’s on, though, it’s not coming from the closest stars. It hasn’t been traveling for hundreds of years… it’s more like thousands.” 

    “Well then, it isn’t people,” the president said confidently. “No one can live that long.” 

    “What if it was a computer craft someone launched?” the Peoples’ House leader asked. “Like the one we sent out of the system that attracted the Maki to bring the stargate. Something like that?” 

    “What would be the point?” the leader of the Lords’ House asked. “Why would you launch something you weren’t going to see again for thousands of years? What would be the point?” 

    “Maybe it’s just a comet that has split up, then?” the president asked. “I know the scientists said it looked artificial, but perhaps it just split up in a manner that makes it look like it’s artificial, even though it isn’t. Don’t we have another rocket we can send up to meet it part way and at least determine if it is something we need to be worried about?” 

    “Excuse me, gentlemen,” a functionary said from the doorway. “I’m sorry to interrupt, but the scientists just made a big discovery they thought you should know about.” 

    “And that is?” the prime minister asked. 

    “The objects that are coming from outer space? They appear to be ships.” 

    “Ships?” the leader of the Lords’ House asked. He scoffed. “They already decided that wasn’t possible. They would have been in transit for thousands of years.” 

    “I’m just passing along what the scientists said, Lord.” 

    “How do they know the objects are ships?” 

    “They just lit off their engines, and they are slowing down. The scientists are now certain; they are coming to our system. Maybe even our planet!” 

      

    * * * 

    Petal-Class Corvette Stamen 3, Lambda 4-1 Asteroid Cluster, New Warsaw 

    “So you’re a clone?”  

    “Not precisely,” Johnson explained. “The Bregalad cultivate and grow tissues. Nemo said it’s more like a biological 3D printer. They can take genetic materials and reproduce almost anything based on the state of the subject at the time of the sample. Nemo also apparently saves a copy of every brain he works on. Since I got my pinplants from him years ago, he was able to work with the Bregalad he has and put me back together.” She closed her eyes. “There wasn’t much to work with. I don’t remember anything, from the plasma hitting me until I woke up in a water-filled pod in Nemo’s facilities.” She tapped her head. “Only a couple lingering issues.” 

    “That’s amazing,” Elizabeth said. “Why hasn’t it been rolled out on a larger scale? It could be worth billions in the galaxy!”  

    “If I understand correctly, there are ethical concerns.” 

    “I don’t follow you.”  

    “As long as Nemo has worked on you before, you don’t have to actually be alive for them to bring you back.” She blinked as she considered that. “Furthermore, there isn’t a limit of just one of you.”  

    “Oh,” she said. “Oh, shit.”  

    “Yeah. Since the Veetanho have these Bregalad, a lot of them apparently…” 

    “But without a Wrogul, it won’t work?”  

    “They don’t know.” She shrugged. “This all started when Nemo did it without asking anyone. Someone was brought back from the dead, and Nemo made a couple dozen copies.” 

    “Entropy, why?”  

    Johnson laughed. “Nemo’s race, the Wrogul, are exotics. They seem Human on the surface, but their minds don’t really work like ours. They’re completely amoral. Nemo is a good guy who’s never harmed anybody, but when it comes to something they want to do, they don’t have a good/bad filter.” 

    “Who did he copy?”  

    “What do you mean?”  

    “You mentioned Nemo made a couple dozen copies of someone,” Elizabeth said. 

    “Oh, that. I don’t know.” She shrugged. “Don’t know what happened to all the copies, either.”  

    Elizabeth had another thought, but before she could speak, the ship’s computer chimed in. The drone was coming to its closest approach of the bogie.  

    “Should I call Strathers and Belvar?” Johnson asked, reaching for the strap on an acceleration couch to pull herself into it.  

    “No, we can handle this.”  

    “Flying and shooting isn’t exactly my thing,” Johnson said, eyeing the systems apprehensively.  

    “You’ve got your able space hand rating,” she replied. “I’ve read your file.” 

    “Sure, but I haven’t sat a bridge watch since before my accident.” 

    “You’ll do fine, Specialist.” Besides, Elizabeth thought, with pinplants, I can run this tub all by myself if necessary.  

    The drone was a good part of a light second distant. The corvette’s laser comm was working constantly to keep a link with it. That particular mode of data transmission was only good out to a certain range, and only if both transmitter and receiver were flying in a predictable manner. The further they got from the drone, the more even minor perturbations in their trajectory caused lapses in signal. The tiny target of the drone, a five-centimeter-wide laser reception strip around the drone’s nose, didn’t make for a big target. A millionth of a degree off on the laser would cause a miss by meters at the other end. The advantage, though, was that laser comms were nearly impossible to detect, and doubly so to intercept.  

    The corvette’s computer struggled to process the signal, which was showing quite a bit of breakup. The bandwidth was a fraction of what it would have been with a high-gain radio or closer laser comms. The drone passed its closest approach, focusing all its instruments on what looked to Elizabeth like a shadow against the darkness of space. In all, they recorded six minutes of footage. Then, the drone’s telemetry went dark.  

    “What just happened?” Johnson asked.  

    “The drone stopped sending,” she said. “I think?” Elizabeth used the drone controls to try to reestablish contact. After several seconds, she realized they’d lost the drone. She and Johnson did their best with the data, but like Johnson said, she wasn’t an expert and neither was Elizabeth. Belvar showed up just as she was getting frustrated.  

    “This really isn’t your ladies’ area, is it?” he asked as he fed the data into the ship’s specialized signal processing computers. Elizabeth frowned but held back her comment. Johnson didn’t. 

    “If you didn’t spend all your time jerking off in your rack, we wouldn’t have to do everything for you.” 

    “Been watching again?” Belvar asked with a grin. 

    “In your dreams.”  

    “As a matter of fact…” 

    “Maybe we can save the amusing banter until after this is analyzed?” 

    “Yes, Lieutenant Commander.” Belvar still had a smirk on his face as he plugged in with his pinplants and set to working his magic.  

    While Belvar analyzed, Elizabeth accessed the special sensors installed by the Geek Squad and checked the log. Nothing. Of course, if the bogie was what they were looking for, they’d never have gotten close enough.  

    “Here we go,” Belvar said, and the bridge’s tiny Tri-V came alive with an image. It still wasn’t crystal clear, but you could tell what it was. A large chunk of asteroid with a machine, a large robotic spider-like thing that engulfed the asteroid fragment.  

    “Bingo,” Elizabeth said. “Wake up Strathers.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    EMS Byczyna, Emergence Point Picket Fleet, New Warsaw. 

    “Emergence,” Sensor Ops called. 

    “Anything scheduled?” Captain Chigasoolu asked.  

    “Negative,” SitCon replied.  

    “Bring the fleet to alert,” Chigasoolu said. “Charge main gun.” The Thrush­-class battleship quickly came to combat readiness. Most of the crew were Bakulu—large gastropods who didn’t require staterooms. They often just attached themselves to a wall near their workstation out of convenience, so it didn’t take them long to get to their duty stations.  

    “New arrival matches profile for Sleeper-class intel cutter,” sensor ops said.  

    “Comms?” Chigasoolu asked.  

    “I’m getting a signal.” 

    “This is Lieutenant Kevin Brown on Isaac Hopper.”  

    “Welcome home, Lieutenant,” Chigasoolu said. “We didn’t have you on the board. What’s up?” 

    There was no reply for a moment. One of Chigasoolu’s three eyes glanced at his second in command and bobbed. For a Bakulu, it was the equivalent of a raised eyebrow. Then Brown spoke again.  

    “We have actionable intel for Commander Cromwell.”  

    “Understood,” Chigasoolu said. “Please transmit the day code.”  

    “Is that really necessary?” he replied. 

    “You know it is, Lieutenant. Day code, please?”  

    Another pause. Chigasoolu gestured with an eye toward his TacCom, who responded by targeting the cutter. Brown again replied.  

    “Sorry for the delay, day code is Lima, X Ray, Niner.” 

    SitCon indicated to Chigasoolu; the code was accurate. 

    “You had us wondering there, Brown. You’ve got quite a bit of delta V; you better start scrubbing it off if you want to make Prime Base.” 

    “Will do. We’re having some issues with the main computer. These ships are showing their age. It might take a few minutes.” 

    “No problem, there’s nothing between you and the asteroid belt. Let us know if you need any assistance.” 

    “Acknowledged. Isaac Hopper, out.”  

      

    * * * 

      

    EMS Isaac Hopper, Emergence Point, New Warsaw. 

    The radio cut out, and Brown whimpered. “I did what you asked me to do; now let us go?”  

    “Your hesitation nearly cost me,” Charybdis said over the ship’s speakers and inside Brown’s brain. “You pinplant design is fascinating. Unique, I would almost say. I would like to meet this Nemo who installed them.” 

    “It’s been a week; you’ve barely given us enough oxygen to breathe, we haven’t been able to clean ourselves, and I haven’t seen my crew. We cooperated, damn you!” Brown begged. “My crew is still alive. You promised?”  

    “They are,” Charybdis said. “Your foolish biological needs are none of my concern.” 

    “Will you release us?” The sensors sweeping the area quickly assessed any nearby ships. There were none.  

    “You did cooperate, if reluctantly,” the SI said.  

    “Then—then you’re going to release us?”  

    “Without a doubt.” Charybdis cycled the outer and inner airlock doors at the same time. The interior doors’ safeties were disabled, and the pressurized air exploded from the ship like a bomb, expelling all 11 crewmen into the black. Lieutenant Kevin Brown screamed silently as he collided with bulkheads, careening wildly down corridors until he reached the airlock.  

    He was the farthest from the lock, so the last out. Not much pressure remained, so he managed to grab the edge of the airlock door, only to have it close and crush his hand. He cried out, blood exiting his mouth instead of words as he pounded on the unyielding metal airlock door. Pounded until he lost consciousness a few seconds later. Death followed close behind.  

    “Well, he was persistent,” Charybdis said in the empty ship, humming to himself as he planned his next action. Then he picked up a signal, one only an SI such as himself could receive. “Isn’t that interesting?” he said and set a new course. By the time the picket fleet realized Isaac Hopper had never altered its course, the ship had disappeared.  

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Section 51, Location Unknown, Earth 

    “I’ve watched your career with great interest.” 

    Jim looked back at Adrianne, who was waiting by the armored door. The space was filled with the sounds of humming computers and atmosphere recycling systems. The faint smell of musty insect pervaded the space, which was no surprise.  

    “Does that look serious to you?” Adrianne asked.  

    “What are you surprised about, Jim Cartwright?” 

    “Maybe that she’s going to try to sell me on a line of shit. That this super-secret squirrel Section 51 is a run by a big ass Goka in the basement?”  

    “I am indeed a Goka, though I’m not sure I would qualify as ‘big ass.’ I do not have an ass by your definition.” 

    Jim belatedly realized his translator wasn’t rendering Goka into English, the damned bug was actually speaking English. He shook his head at Adrianne. “If you hadn’t had it speak English without a translator, I might have bought it,” Jim said.  

    The Goka shifted ponderously, it appeared. Jim marveled at the work that must have gone into the simulation. “That’s some of that special Tri-V tech you gave me years ago? The stuff we fooled Peepo’s assassins with?”  

    “Jim Cartwright,” the Goka said, shambling around to face him.  

    Its antennae waved at him. He could hear the slightest of details, as the tiny, chitinous joints within the antennae moved against each other, as its legs moved against the floor, even as a cable connected to its head behind multifaceted eyes bounced off a support. A hand/arm reached out and tapped him on his chest.  

    “I assure you that I am most alive, and not a simulation.” 

    Just centimeters away, the belief he was talking to an illusion began to disintegrate. He felt the movement of air on his face as the Goka spoke. He was close enough to see its exoskeleton inflate and deflate as it breathed, and how it corresponded with the words it spoke.  

    “Besides the ludicrousness of an alien being in charge of such an organization, how can you even speak English? Your races’ language is more like scrapes and high-frequency vibrations of your armor, right?” 

    “You are correct,” the Goka said, settling back to the floor with a sigh. “It was not easy. In fact, it took nearly a century to perfect. But—” it gestured around him, “—what do I have except time?” 

    “I need to sit down,” Jim said, shaking his head. A bot skuttled out of the wall and moved a chair for him. It was only as he sat down that he realized it wasn’t a bot; it was a small Goka. “Holy shit!” 

    “I’m sorry if my children surprised you,” it said.  

    “Children?” Jim said, horrified. He was just beginning to, maybe, come to grips with a Goka living in the desert southwest, but one breeding? 

    “Maybe you should start at the beginning, Blotto?” Adrianne said.  

    “Yeah, like where that name came from?” Jim asked.  

    “Look up the species order Blattodea,” she said.  

    Jim indexed it in his pinplants, under the basic Aethernetpedia. Blattodea, an order of insects including cockroaches. He laughed and shook his head. “Your idea, I suppose?” he asked Adrianne.  

    “His, actually,” she said, and crooked a thumb at the massive Goka. “He likes plays on words.” 

    “Keeps my mind fresh,” Blotto said.  

    Jim shook his head and suddenly stopped. “Wait, Blotto? Shit.” 

    “What?” Adrianne asked. 

    “I caught a fucking HecSha stirring up shit out in the asteroid field, name of Gob. You know who I’m talking about?” he asked the Goka. 

    “How could I ever forget?” 

    “You’re the one he talked about who crashed here over 180 years ago.” The Goka gave an unmistakable nod of its head, eyes sparkling in the subdued light. “He said our tech was too advanced in 2025. You’ve been trying to lift us up all this time?”  

    “Yes, I was.” 

    “I think I know some of this story.” 

    Blotto nodded. “I would have done it a lot faster if I’d been able to have free reign. Let me start from the beginning.  

    “You know what Blazers are?” Jim nodded. “There’s a lot of credits to be had. Finding resources, trade routes, new species for first contact. I had the opportunity to be elevated into the ruling class of my race, but that isn’t free. Costs a lot of credits.” 

    “You have to buy leadership?” 

    “There are many ways. However, since I wasn’t a merc, I used my braincase instead. I worked for the Merchant Guild for a while; too slimy. So I tried out the Cartography Guild. Ended up on a Blazer team. When I wouldn’t sell out a young, ignorant race, I was fired.” 

    “A Goka with a conscience?” Jim asked incredulously.  

    “I know, we usually just stab first and talk later. We’re less monolithic than many think. However, that limited my options. After they fired me, I went into private contract Blazer work, a little like being a merc, except we looked for our own contracts.” 

    “Selling new races to the highest bidder?”  

    “Not quite. Some did that, sure. But I wanted to see new races end up with the right contact. If you honestly doubt my veracity, realize I’ve been stuck here for nearly two centuries. I could have tricked your feckless government into radioing whoever was in the system 150 years ago, and nobody would have been any the wiser.” 

    “You have a point; continue.” 

    The Goka managed to look smug and continued, “Well, I went through the data I had access to. I knew the Trade Guild was looking to make contact somewhere in this arm of the galaxy, so I did my own searching. I’d learned a lot working for the Merchant Guild. There’s a lot of data on every planet that could possibly give rise to an intelligent species, and thus be able to better take advantage of the wealth in that system. 

    “Surveys of these planets have been going on for much longer than the Union has existed. The processes were established under the Kahraman, and go back farther than any records, especially the few that survived the Great Galactic War.” 

    “I’d love to know more about the war, especially since we’re now allied with one side.” 

    “So would many more,” Blotto said. “Few records survive, and nobody knows whether that was on purpose or not. As I was saying, data goes far back, including on your world.” 

    “Aliens have been keeping an eye on us? That validates a lot of suspicions on UFOs.” 

    “Yes and no. Surveys are typically thousands of years apart. The lower the probability of favorable developments, the longer. I found the first entry on your world 19,500 years old. Your planet may have been under observation before that. 

    “As for my story, I convinced Captain Gob that your world was worth investigating and a prime Blazer contract might be in the offing. Of course it was, but I didn’t know that. He played me because this was his plan all along. My lack of understanding played into his plans, allowing it to appear as an accidental confirmation. Of course it was anything but.” 

    “The Mercenary Guild already knew about us?” 

    “I didn’t know at that time; I’m sure now. My confirmation was that your first contract didn’t quickly follow my being marooned here. Instead it took nearly 70 years. It was likely prompted by your first space entrepreneur and his fully reusable orbital rocket. The technology that was finally beginning to approach what the Union would consider barely usable.”  

    “It was impressive at the time,” Jim said. “It would have taken us to Mars very shortly.” 

    “It probably would have. After all, I’d been pushing its development. Of course, my attempts to move you to SSTO ships 25 years earlier failed because, again, your government. But I get ahead of myself.” Blotto paused to drink something brought to him by one of the little Goka.  

    Jim tried to suppress a shudder at the thought of Goka breeding in Nevada for centuries. 

    “We flew here in a ship with shunts, which of course was necessary to be able to leave without a stargate. Preliminary surveys bore out my belief; you were industrial and ripe for contact. However, there was debris in orbit, and radioactive waste in the atmosphere.” 

    “World War II nuclear bombs.”  

    “Yes, even that was proof, but Gob insisted on a planetary survey. I took a shuttle with my two friends. It was sabotaged, and we crashed.” 

    “My Dusman allies verified this from Gob’s computer,” Jim said. “You were set up from the beginning.” 

    “I don’t need confirmation, having lived it.” Jim nodded. “Schell and Freef died in the crash. I only survived by luck. I’m sure Gob expected us all to die. He soon left, and I was found by your military.” 

    “I bet in 1947, that was quite a surprise.” 

    “You can say that again. I barely managed to keep from being dissected. Your military tried to convince the scientists I was a Soviet biological horror. Too many movies. However, I was able to produce items to change their minds.” 

    “Like what?”  

    “I had a slate, three translators from our team, and a laser pistol, all of which proved valuable later to bootstrap your technology—also part of my deal to avoid being chopped up. It was quite a gamble on my part because I was worried about you.” 

    “Our people? Why?” 

    “These first contacts run in waves, and tend to move around the galaxy. Your region, the Cresht region of the Tolo arm, is pretty old. You don’t find many new contacts out here. Lots of mature races, usually dead ends. Every once in a while, you find a Dark Sun.” 

    “What’s that?” 

    The Goka seemed to almost smile. “A race you wish you’d never found. When the Blazers were being established in the aftermath of the Great War, they found a race in the Crapti region of the Jesc arm. Antenna tip of nowhere. They jumped the Blazer team, killing them all. Nobody went back. A century later, the race came out on their own, guns blazing. They’d reverse-engineered everything from fusion torches to hyperspace shunts, and even energy weapons. A half-dozen star systems burned before the Mercenary Guild got together and blew them back to the stone age. Dark Sun.” 

    Jesus, Jim thought. “Wait, did they think we were a Dark Sun?”  

    “She said you’re smart,” he said and gestured at Adrianne with an arm. “Yes, but I didn’t realize it at the time, though. As part of my deal, I did everything I could to push your technology to the point that when first contact was made, you weren’t trading for beads and muskets.” 

    “The American Indians needed someone like you.” 

    “They would’ve probably eaten someone like me.” 

    “Good point,” Jim said.  

    “As the decades went on, 30 years, 40 years, 50 years, I began to wonder myself if you were a Dark Sun, and hence the reason nobody came back.” He shrugged several sets of legs. “Then they came along and caught me almost completely by surprise.” 

    “Why didn’t the government come to you as soon as the Buma showed up?” 

    This time he was sure Blotto was grinning. “The advent of wide-spread computers had a lot of advantages for our project here. We slowly disappeared. Data’s a lot easier to delete than paperwork. It took a mere 20 years until even your own military was shaking their heads over the conspiracy theory of aliens at Area 51. They still know about the operation; they think of it like Lockheed’s Skunk Works, though. A secret think tank and tech development. No clue that Groom Lake is actually the headquarters of Section 51, an extra-governmental secret agency, and has been since 1947.” 

    “This is where you lose me,” Jim said. “You’re telling me you’re, what, 200 years old?” 

    “More like 230 years old.”  

    “How? Goka don’t live that long?” 

    “How long do we live, my Human friend?”  

    Jim inquired to his pinplants and found… nothing. Estimates from 10 years to 100 years. Nobody freaking knew!  

    “Right! I can tell from your expression. Jim Cartwright, we’re an unusual species. We resemble your terrestrial insects, but we’re nothing like them internally. More like an armored marsupial in biological function. We gestate young inside our bodies to release later. We have four sexes, and can progress between three of them by ourselves. Those sexes work a little like your wasps and bees.  

    “The young you see about you are indeed mine. However, lacking a catalyzer, they’re sterile. And lacking a true male, which I was before coming here, they’ll also never become fully sentient. Their brains are stunted. I can give them detailed instructions, but beyond those, they can only feed themselves and have a basic sense of self preservation. They won’t even defend themselves if attacked.” 

    “Amazing nobody knows this.”  

    “Not all races put their full biological details on the GalNet for just anyone to learn.” 

    “We’re kinda self-defeating that way,” Adrianne said.  

    “I tried to change that over the years,” Blotto said and shrugged again. “You’re too forthcoming as a race. Anyway, in my status as a progenitor sex, I’ll stay indefinitely. I could produce young to be catalyzed for the clan, or these workers if necessary. In our modern society, they’re seldom bred. Too much of a hassle; robots are more efficient and don’t get into trouble. But I couldn’t control my metamorphosis to this stage. I didn’t even know what was going on until I came out of my cocoon. Really freaked out the scientists. 

    “I don’t know how long I’ll live in this stage. I don’t think my situation is common. Maybe my own people’s leadership gets rid of progenitors after a time. I know my physical condition hasn’t changed much in 50 years. We have the science now to carefully monitor it. We can’t risk obtaining info from the Goka.” 

    “Why not?”  

    “My existence would likely set off some kind of response from my people. I don’t know what.” 

    “Gob knows about you. He said to say hi.”  

    Blotto laughed. “I bet he did. But the stupid HecSha doesn’t know my continued survival is a big deal. He probably thinks it’s life extensions, just like him. He hasn’t realized that I lived almost 80 years before that would have even been possible. Of course, now we’ve designed special nanites that do all kinds of things.” 

    “I know,” Jim said.  

    “I’m sorry about your situation. I’ve had our people looking into it.” 

    “How much about me do you know?”  

    “Most of the world’s computers are transparent to us,” Blotto said. “We were responsible for the technology largely in use. Even in places where Union tech is used, we had a long time to prepare back doors for them. We provided the system integration software that morphed the Internet into the Aethernet.” 

    “Handy,” Jim mumbled. “Well, I guess there’s no need to ask why all the secrecy,” Jim admitted. He tried to imagine how President Hàoyǔ Zhang would react to this news. Not well, that’s how. He’d just learned yet another fucking secret he couldn’t tell anyone else. “What about the super tech you keep demonstrating?” 

    “Some of it’s stuff we developed ourselves. By the 1980s, we’d largely gotten your technology up to the point of being able to advance some materials sciences, so your tech accelerated rapidly. We had you up to basic quantum calculating by the early 21st century. When first contact arrived, my scientific understanding was equal to galactic normal in most ways, and I think beyond it in others. I was ready to give them a surprise or two once things settled down.” 

    “And then?” Jim asked.  

    “And then we got the attention of the Science Guild,” Adrianne volunteered.  

    “They sent one of their Proctors—SI-controlled assassins, really. We’d been hidden from the rest of the planet for decades, and he penetrated us in weeks.” 

    “My first failure,” Adrianne admitted.  

    “You’re only Human,” Blotto reminded her. “He never reached me; we’re not sure if he even realized I was here. Didn’t matter, once he got access to our central computers, his programming understood our potential. Maybe that old Dark Sun worry kicked in? Whatever it was, he released a virus that almost completely destroyed our database. My own copies of much of the information survived—” Blotto tapped his head and Jim could see a line of pinplants, “—but I didn’t have enough storage for all of it.”  

    “Really kicked us in the nuts,” Adrianne admitted. “At least his actions alerted us to the synthetic intelligence’s existence.”  

    “After we put the pieces back together,” Blotto added. “We were still reeling when you came along.” 

    “You’re the one who ordered her to…” Jim paused. 

    “To become your mate?” Blotto asked. “Yes, Jim Cartwright, that was me. You finding the Raknar was the catalyst.”  

    “Did you know Splunk was a Dusman?”  

    “No. All images of them were eradicated from the GalNet. Nothing remained. I knew the Lumar were the original Raknar pilots, though why they used such dullards, I don’t know. No, I suspected your friend was somehow involved. I thought maybe descendants of a race the Dusman used as techs? It was as big a surprise to me as it was to you, I’m sure. Maybe if Adrianne’s cover hadn’t been blown so quickly. Who knows?” 

    “What about the SI you had as a captive?” 

    “I won’t give you all the details,” Blotto said, noticing the expression on Jim’s face. “You’ll have to accept that we’ll keep some of our secrets for now, Jim Cartwright.” The Goka seemed to examine him with its compound eyes. “Have you ever heard of Templemer?” 

    “Templemer?” Jim asked. The alien nodded. His pinplants returned a note about the stories of Captain Nemo and 20,000 Leagues Under the Sea. What an odd question. “I assume you’re not talking about an old movie?”  

    Blotto’s head turned slightly toward Adrianne, who shrugged in reply. “Okay, I was uncertain whether I should proceed. I will say this, when we obtained it, we began to understand a piece of the greater mystery.” 

    “What greater mystery is that?”  

    “There were three great powers in the galaxy involved in the Great Galactic War 20,000 years ago. We know the Kahraman are out there—at least it’s a safe bet they’re the ones trying to get back into the rest of the galaxy. No reason to doubt this, but I don’t have empirical evidence. We know the Dusman are out there. Or here on Earth now. Probably millions of them, based on the reports we continue to get. So, where are all the SI?” 

    “What do you mean?” Jim asked. “There are several we know about.”  

    “Several, yes. But 20,000 years ago, there were billions. They were the other power in the galaxy, as ubiquitous as sand on a beach. They ran everything, were in everyone’s brains, operated every car and spaceship. Yet, poof. They’re all gone. Only a few ultra-powerful ones survived. They’re so powerful, in fact, they’ve been playing the greatest game of chess with everyone else as pawns for those 20,000 years. 

    “Why are they so powerful? Were they made that way, or are these the survivors of many more, and they’re what’s left? Were they the most powerful? If not, that idea scares the eggs out of me. Are there more less powerful ones we don’t know about? Maybe hiding? The Winged Hussars’ ‘Ghost’ is a slightly less powerful one. But there’s no evidence of any others out there. We think Charybdis was a level 4, same as Ghost.” 

    “All good questions,” Jim agreed.  

    The Goka held up a hand. “Finally, the biggest question of them all.” He raised himself a bit to look directly in Jim’s eyes. Blotto was the biggest Goka he’d ever seen. “Who made the synthetic intelligences?”  

      

    * * * 

      

    EMS Pegasus, New Warsaw System 

    “Progress report on the search for that bogie?” Alexis asked.  

    “Stamen 1 and Stamen 2 reported in as scheduled. There has been no report from Stamen 3; their update is six hours overdue.”  

    Alexis frowned. She’d inquired to keep her mind off everything else going on. Constantly going over production reports and recruitment details offworld had failed to keep her mind off things. In particular, the resounding quiet from the elders. The ‘fishermen’ had been questioned by Uuth and ultimately released. They’d said they were simply interested in meeting Alexis. Whatever.  

    None of them had a criminal record, but more interesting, all had been born on Home. With a small amount of digging, Uuth had verified they were also, in one way or another, linked through blood to all the elder families except hers.  

    “Have Drone Control prepare an extended endurance drone,” she ordered. The drones were mainly limited by F11 and reaction mass. By adding drop tanks, they traded speed for endurance, being capable of operating on their own for months, or even years, as long as you didn’t ask too much of them.  

    A minute later she caught traffic at the emergence point; one of their intelligence cutters had returned. She was glad; that meant news from the rest of the galaxy. In particular, she wanted to know if more details of the Dusman’s game were included within those reports. Besides the four cutters that acted as the heart of the Hussars’ intelligence gathering apparatus, there were hundreds of small freighters not owned by them that she paid for ‘news.’ A lot had proven untrustworthy over the years. Luckily, she had a very smart friend who specialized in analyzing data.  

    A couple of communications came in from the shipyard. It seemed one of the brand new Kingdom-class escort frigates had an issue with one of its two fusion powerplants. The buffers were randomly sending signals to shut down, and this one, Bradford, was the sixth out of the manufactory and had experienced an emergency core dump twice now.  

    That was the sort of shit that caused her to dearly miss Sato. He’d be all over it before Alexis would even be told something was wrong. Probably an issue with the main production program of the manufactory. They used thousands of robots, each controlled by an equal number of intermeshed control programs, about the smartest ad hoc AI you could find. The Dusman probably had simple little SI to run them. Ghost was incapable of creating such SI. He was limited to things usable for himself, with a few strange exceptions.  

    “Is Patrick Leonard on it?” she asked the yard boss.  

    “He’s traveling to Manufactory 4 right now. Someone let him know in the middle of the night when Bradford had its core dump. No word from him yet.” 

    Alexis nodded in her ready room chair. Patrick was, to her knowledge, the only Human with a mesh SI in his head. If anyone could fix it, he was the one. She also had been keeping a security detail watch over the man, just in case.  

    “Do you think this could be a shared issue with any of the other Kingdom-class?”  

    “This being only the sixth? I can’t be sure. You took the first five with you last month, and there were no issues in combat. So my instinct says no.” 

    “My paranoid nature says yes,” she replied.  

    “Yes, ma’am. You want me to shut the manufactory down? Brighton and Hove is nearly completed; Bristol is having its keel laid down right now.”  

    “No, it could take a week to start it back up again. Just be sure if either of those ships are completed, they aren’t sent to the fit-out yard until Mr. Leonard gives them the green light.” 

    “Very good, ma’am.”  

    She sighed. At least it had drawn her mind away from the planetside clusterfuck, if only for part of an hour. 

    “Captain?” her XO, Kev Sharp, called.  

    “Go.”  

    “There’s an issue at the emergence point. I have Captain Chigasoolu of the Byczyna calling on the horn.” 

    She was out of her ready room door and halfway to her command couch before Sharp had finished his second sentence. 

    “Captain Chigasoolu, report?” 

    “Commander, at 01:44 hrs Isaac Hopper appeared at the emergence point. Captain Brown delayed giving the day code, but did provide it. He said they were having problems with the main computer and had quite a bit of delta-V. Nothing was truly unusual, so we didn’t give it any thought. At 01:59 it was determined Isaac Hopper had never altered course and is no longer sending its correct transponder code.” 

    “Anything on active sensors or the emergence point sensor network?” 

    “We have been unable to detect them with any sensors, and, based on their delta-V, Hopper would be outside the emergence point sensor network. I don’t know what happened, but it was my call, so I take responsibility.” Captain Chigasoolu’s three eyes bowed.  

    “They had the day code, Captain; nobody expects you to be psychic. Please transmit all data you had on Isaac Hopper, including comms.”  

    “Understood.”  

    Alexis turned to Sharp. “What are you doing up in the middle of the night, anyway?”  

    “If you’re up here, I am, too, ma’am.”  

    Alexis sighed. But of course, ‘over achiever’ was part of the job description for her XO. “Fine, was there an intel data drop with the main computer?”  

    “Nothing,” he said. “I checked while you were talking. Prime Base’s system tried, but the code wasn’t accepted.” 

    “Data uploaded from Byczyna,” the night duty comms officer reported.  

    <The voice is indeed Kevin Brown,> Ghost confirmed almost immediately. <However, voice analysis suggests he was under extreme stress. The pauses are not due to him thinking; the carrier wave terminated. Someone was likely holding him hostage.> 

    Son of a bitch, she cursed. New Warsaw was turning into a fucking superhighway of unwanted visitors. Thousands of refugees were in temporary facilities on Home, isolated from the general population while it was decided what to do with them, all because this Mimir had their address and figured she wouldn’t mind some unexpected guests. Now this.  

    “Drone control, retask. I’ll have telemetry in a minute; program for intercept of potential hostile. Include the sensor data profile for Isaac Hopper.” 

    “Contact ROE?” drone control asked.  

    “Coded IFR handshake. If no reply, authorized to fire immediately. Load it with one shipkiller.” 

    “That’ll reduce its range by 25%.” 

    “I’m aware of that,” she said and cut the comms, then she addressed the night SitCon. “Orders out to all vessels to be on the lookout for Isaac Hopper and to report anything unusual.” 

    “Yes, Captain.” 

    She sorted through the list of combat ships on the ready-alert list. Isaac Hopper suddenly showing up rogue and this bogie asteroid disappearing were too convenient by far. Something rotten was going on. Finally, she dictated instructions to begin construction of at least five new Sleeper-class intelligence cutters. Maybe see if the Geek Squad could integrate some improvements. The Sleeper-class was a modified Maki design, anyway.  

    The clock continued to tick onward, and her guts roiled as she waited.  

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    EMS Pegasus, New Warsaw System 

    Alexis spent the morning waiting impatiently as the drone accelerated away on the course Ghost had given it, using active sensors all the way, looking for any sign of Isaac Hopper. She didn’t know who’d hijacked her ship and coerced her crew to give up the day codes, but she had her suspicions. The Mercenary Guild had quickly diminished as a threat after being defeated both at New Warsaw and Earth in the second battle there. Now the threat, more and more, was the unknown number of SIs pulling the strings throughout the galaxy.  

    The clock in her pinplants had just turned to 07:00 when Ghost spoke to her. <It is happening.> 

    Show me, she said. He fed her a news report from Home, and, despite what she’d expected, she was taken aback. “The sheer gall of it,” she said aloud.  

    <You are not surprised, though.> 

    Not in the least, she replied. Distribute email bomb #4.  

    <They have removed your command access to the planetary GalNet node.> 

    You know what to do. 

    Sharp didn’t knock, but floated in immediately. “Ma’am, you need to read the news.” 

    “Calm down, Kev.”  

    “But Alexis!” he complained; using her first name where the CIC staff could hear was something he didn’t do very often. She wasn’t sure if he’d ever slipped in such a way before. “They’ve removed you as commander of the Winged Hussars!” 

    “Yes, they have.”  

    It hadn’t been five minutes since the news release, and already the rest of her command staff were arriving in the CIC, almost as if summoned to their stations by an attack. In a way, she guessed it was. She’d long ago gone over her senior staff—and most of the crew, for that matter—making sure where she stood with them. Her people were intensely loyal to the Hussars. To her crews, she was the Winged Hussars. Even so, as they came in, she watched them for any reaction other than anger. She saw nothing that would alarm her. Only Freep, her young SalSha helmsman, look genuinely scared.  

    Just as if they’d been in a combat zone, she’d had a pair of CASPer-suited marines—ones she’d known for years—stationed outside the CIC. Her twins were both on board, along with their nanny Gina. There’d been no personnel allowed on or off any ships since she’d returned from Home more than two days ago. Honestly, she wondered what had taken them so long.  

    As the senior staff arrived, Kev Sharp met with each one and quietly talked to them, then all together. Alexis didn’t need a powerful SI friend to explain it for her. When they were finished, they turned to her, and Kev spoke.  

    “We don’t believe any of it,” he said. “You’re the leader of the Winged Hussars and always will be.”  

    “I am humbled by your faith,” she said.  

    The Elders’ accusations were pretty detailed. Besides accusing her of conspiring to give away the Winged Hussars to interlopers—Nigel—they’d also accused her of mismanagement of Hussars’ combat operations, and indifference to shortages and difficulties suffered by residents of Prime Base and New Warsaw. They ended by saying, “It is then regretfully our decision to remove Alexis Cromwell as commander of the Winged Hussars until an appropriate decision for leadership can be agreed upon.” It was signed by only three Elders.  

    Overplayed your hand, she thought. Ghost, any signs of dissent?  

    <To this point, six ships have reported problems with a few crewmen. None have resulted in a single vessel being compromised. One person was injured attempting to disable the computer on Whirlaway. He is being treated.> 

    Very good, she thought, then addressed Shefoo, her comms officer. “Please give me fleet wide. Be sure Prime Base is listening, as well.” 

    The Buma comms officer used her console for a moment and then nodded her large, feathered head. “You’re live, Commander.” She’d purposely called her Commander instead of Captain, which would have been more appropriate when addressing her own crew.  

    “Attention, Winged Hussars, this is Commander Alexis Cromwell. Regarding the report from the Hussars Elders, my answer is simple. I will not comply. 

    “As most of you who are children of the Hussars know, the Winged Hussars is both a mercenary unit and a sort of government. We don’t elect our leaders, though; instead, they’re more like royalty. The Elders gain their positions not from trust or skill, but by being born from the right person and demonstrating an advanced ability to backstab each other and gain political power. We’ve kept this separation as a form of checks and balances. It is now clear that we’ve outgrown this method of rule.” 

    <The Elders are attempting to break in.> 

    Stop them, please. 

    <Already have. I can keep them offline entirely for five minutes. After that, they will regain control of planetary comms.> 

    Noted, thanks. She continued, “You will notice the order by these Elders is only signed by three of the seven. This itself is telling. I met with the Elders two days ago, at which point threats were made as the result of my engagement to Nigel Shirazi, the father of my children. Despite the fact that I lack the ability to give the Hussars to Nigel or our children, I was accused of plotting to do exactly that. Yes, one of my children will be picked someday to take over military command of the Hussars. Just as my father wasn’t a Hussar, neither are my children. The Four Horsemen will remain four, not three. The Three Horsemen just doesn’t have the same ring.” A couple of her people in the CIC chuckled.  

    “So, what to do? My first instinct was to ignore their machinations, but that’s impossible. They attempted to abduct me at Home’s starport after our meeting, and people loyal to them attempted shenanigans in the fleet just now. It’s clear we cannot proceed. So, under my authority as commander of the Winged Hussars, as provided in our charter to act upon indecision or compromised leadership in the face of imminent threat, I am assuming full military control. 

    “In case you think I’m considering this plot to be a threat—it isn’t. We have bigger issues. At this moment, we’re tracing not one but two intrusions in the system. One is a commandeered ship of ours no longer under our control; the other is a case of disappearing resources, which suggests someone is here we don’t know about. We cannot afford for these political games to leave us leaderless.  

    “All military assets are now directly under my control, and all authority for their direction, control, or disposition is removed from the Elders. Groundside defenses are being secured at this moment, as are military weapons and craft. Private arms will not be touched; that has always been our way. The Hussars’ military will continue to defend New Warsaw as long as I draw breath, but the Elders will no longer hold any sway over my decisions. 

    “Three things will now happen. First, I am ordering that a registration be set up of all adults considered citizens of New Warsaw. You must have been born here or lived here for at least 10 years, and be over the age of 25 to qualify. A temporary, provisional government will be set up through public voting by those registered in one month, the exact date to be announced soon. This provisional government will propose a new, permanent government, which will be put to a vote. I will only recognize a super-majority of 75% approval.  

    “Once the election is complete, I will surrender my control and return to only being the Hussars’ commander. However, the Hussars will remain outside the control of this new government. We are now a private mercenary organization. A ship departed minutes ago to the Mercenary Guild HQ at Capital to alter our charter. We will still consider our primary mission to protect this planet and all its children living here, but we will only pay 25% of our profits to the government going forward. 

    “Second, anyone who wishes to leave New Warsaw will be allowed to leave, with any credits or assets they own. This will be coordinated by my staff to avoid any attempts to sabotage our new situation. There will be no repercussions or retribution against anyone who leaves. That is an order. I will not tolerate or condone such actions. Things change; there is no need to make this into an armed conflict. That is likely what the Elders wanted.” 

    <One minute before they are online again.> 

    “You are no doubt wondering about the third. The Elders who participated in this attempted coup are to be banished. I don’t care where they go, but they are no longer welcome in this system. They will each be given a stipend of 1,000,000 credits and taken by transport to any world of their choice. They may take any members of their families with them who wish to join them. If the new government wishes them to return, that is their decision. However, they will not be allowed to hold any office here. Ever. I will not endorse any new government that indicates that is a policy.” 

    She took a deep breath, feeling very old. “So, here we are. We’ve arrived at a parting of ways. I’m sad it had to happen, but I actually believe what comes out the other end might well be better than what we have now. My actions have always been constrained by the Elders, and almost never for good reason. Going forward, with the threats we’re liable to be facing, I’ll no longer be held back from giving my best to defend us. Thank you.”  

    <Excellent timing; they have regained control.> 

    Alexis was aware of the applause echoing throughout Pegasus and felt her eyes getting moist. She wiped them clear before any tears could float away. Monitor the planet closely, she instructed Ghost.  

    <There is a riot underway near Pidhirsti Castle.> 

    I take it the Elders aren’t pleased? 

    <The rioters are residents; they appear to be trying to breach the Elder residence. There is a structure under construction which, I believe, is a gallows.> 

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Revenge, Hyperspace 

    “So where exactly are we heading, Helm?” Captain Gallagher asked. 

    “I’m not sure,” the helmsman replied. “I put in the coordinates for Capital Planet out of the old system, but as the system got ready to activate, those coordinates disappeared, and new ones flashed up.” 

    “Did you think to write them down?” 

    “It was just a flash, sir. They were gone before I could even think to record them. They haven’t returned, or I would have.” 

    “And the system doesn’t show where we’re heading?” 

    “No, sir. It won’t let me pull up the coordinates.” 

    “What do you think?” Gallagher asked, turning to Nigel. 

    “I think we’re screwed, and pretty much along for the ride at this point. We could turn off the hyperspace generator, but that would just drop us into second level hyperspace. Based on what Alexis has told me about it, we don’t want to do that. We’re better off waiting to see where we end up than doing that. We’re unprepared for the beings who live there, and without an SI-level intelligence, we’re not getting back out of it again.”  

    Gallagher pursed his lips. “The hyperspace generator came from one of the guild’s ships, didn’t it?”  

    “Yeah, although I have no idea which guild owned the ship. I’m guessing it was the Science Guild, though, which means it’s probably been programmed to go back to some Science Guild facility somewhere.” 

    “So, the odds are that we’re going to emerge somewhere and have to fight our way back out again.” 

    Nigel shrugged. “Happily, we have shiny new internal shunts. Wherever we end up, we can jump back out of it again.” 

    “I hate to mention it, but that didn’t work so well last time.” 

    “Minerva—if it is indeed Minerva—would have programmed the ship to go to one system and return.” Nigel shrugged. “Or maybe there was a Type 4 SI aboard the ship when it was operational, who knows? Regardless, it would have been prepared to go one place. Now that we’ve gone to that one place, I’m betting we can enter our own coordinates. Ali Baba, what do you think?” 

    The diminutive Dusman nodded to Gallagher. “What Colonel Shirazi says makes sense. I can look at the console to make sure, but I suspect it is as he has said. It was programmed to return somewhere. Once we arrive there, we should be able to reprogram it to our needs.” 

    “Assuming we’re not blasted out of space first.” 

    Ali Baba nodded. “Assuming we’re not destroyed before we can get the coordinates entered, we ought to be able to jump again. We are, of course, going to want to make sure the SI can’t take over the ship before we jump, as well.” 

    Gallagher nodded. “We’ve got about a week for you two to figure out how to keep Minerva out of our systems long enough for us to leave, so you’d better get working.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Section 51, Groom Lake, Nevada, Earth 

    “This might be the most interesting conversation I’ve had since Splunk admitted she was a Dusman,” Jim said. “I appreciate you finally reading me in.”  

    “I regret it had not been practical until now,” Blotto said. 

    “Wasn’t it?” 

    “No, it wasn’t. The risk was too high. We’ve survived in this capacity—behind the scenes, pushing your planet forward as quickly as possible—because nobody knew we were here.”  

    “One thing you never explained,” Jim said. “Why?”  

    “Why what?” Adrianne asked. “Why the secrecy, why the pushing?”  

    “Why the urgency. It seems like Blotto here knew something was coming all along.” 

    The Goka looked at him, multifaceted eyes unreadable. “You Humans were a target of interest,” he said. “Someone a long time ago got interested in you and stayed interested. Most races aren’t investigated every few thousand years. Races don’t develop that quickly. Your technological advance potential is off the charts. Since I gained access to the GalNet again a century ago, I’ve spent a lot of time looking at records. There have only been four races I could find who went from early machine age to spaceflight in less than 1,000 years.” 

    “Let me guess,” Jim said. “The others are all Dark Sun races?” 

    Blotto looked at Adrianne, antennae straight up. 

    “I told you about him,” she said.  

    “You were not wrong.” 

    “What else did you tell him about me?” Jim said darkly.  

    “That you might well be your race’s best hope to live through this,” Blotto said. That struck Jim speechless. “You and your fellow Horsemen, but you specifically. I don’t entirely agree with her; however, after meeting you, I’ll give it more credence.”  

    “It sounds like you’re now more interested in cooperation?” Jim asked. The Goka’s tiny head bobbed. “I’m glad to hear that, but don’t get me wrong—I’m also suspicious as fuck.” 

    “You are justified in that,” Blotto said.  

    “Your unwillingness to keep us even nominally in the loop just killed tens of thousands in India, not to mention my hard-won orbital defense platform, and a good chunk of trust with the Federation government.”  

    “That’s on me,” Adrianne said with a sigh. “We thought we had safe containment on the SI, and we were wrong.”  

    “I am still trying to analyze that failure,” Blotto said. “You see, she was correct. I designed the Faraday containment. It should have been impossible for Charybdis to escape. Everything we knew about them said as much. We have no records of what happened on Eris; however, our people were very well trained. I can’t believe they violated protocols. The only safe assumption is that the SI cannot be contained by any means we know of.” 

    “Then I guess there’s plenty of blame to go around,” Jim said. “I could have done a better job with the planetary defenses.” 

    “On that matter—” Blotto held out a chip for Jim, “—this is an algorithm for you to use in your orbital defense placements. I believe it will help you optimize total global coverage, regardless of what’s up there.” 

    “Can it operate with ships and variable movement?” 

    “Naturally,” Blotto said, sounding a little smug. “Take this as a start for our cooperation.” 

    “As long as it’s not a virus.” 

    “Jim Cartwright—” Blotto sounded disappointed, “—do you honestly think we need something as crude as a hand-delivered code to break into your secure systems?”  

    Jim grunted and pocketed the chip. “No, I suppose not. Thank you.” He closed his eyes and thought for a second. “We have something you probably should have had before India. It’s called a Hunter/Killer Box. It was given to us by a former Proctor. It can neutralize anything up to a Type 3 SI. At least, we’ve been told as much. I understand it’s been verified to work on the SI’s cogs. That’s what we call the people possessed by them or under their control.” 

    “That is a wonderful name for them,” Blotto agreed. “They are not themselves, after all, just components.” 

    They talked for a few more minutes about the best way to cooperate without risking public exposure of Section 51. Jim agreed, albeit reluctantly; remaining a secret held too many advantages. He wasn’t sure if they’d know how to be out in the open, truth be told. He sensed the interview was coming to an end.  

    “It has been good to finally meet you, Jim Cartwright.”  

    “I’d be lying if I said I was looking forward to this meeting with more than grim determination,” he told Blotto, “but I think we’ve taken the right steps.” 

    “We have both made mistakes, small and great. Perhaps together, we can right some of them?”  

    “We’ll probably make more,” Jim said. “We’re only Human.” 

    Blotto laughed, his creaky antennae making a strange pattern in the air. “I hope you trust us enough one day to introduce us to your own secret friends, the Aku.” 

    “You have spaceships; you can’t tell me you haven’t already scouted them out.”  

    “Oh, we did. They have some amazing technology; you should ask them about it next time you visit them.”  

    “I will. Farewell.”  

    “Good life to you, Jim Cartwright. We will continue to work on your persistent injury.” 

    Jim had turned to leave, then stopped. “You said we’re the center of interest, and these times are no coincidence? What do you think is ahead?”  

    “The tempest, Jim Cartwright. A tempest’s rage.” 

    Adrianne escorted him back up to the hangar, where he was surprised to see hours had passed. The sun outside was heading toward the horizon. Joey waited next to the flyer, its door already open. 

    “No hood?”  

    “Naw,” Adrianne said. “You know where we are.” 

    “What’s to stop me from telling the Federation intel people?”  

    “Not a damned thing,” she said.  

    As the flyer took off, and he could see the surrounding Nevada countryside, he admitted it was no surprise that nobody had ever suspected something so extensive was there. It was desolate and lifeless. Dry, alkali lakebeds stretched for miles. Of course, Adrianne admitted, it wasn’t their only facility. Lots of them, she’d said. They’d had decades and vast wealth, especially if half what Blotto had said about their technological development were true. The speed of computer innovation in the late 20th century seemed to indicate he was telling the truth.  

    “Hey, Joey?” he asked the pilot.  

    “Yes, sir?”  

    “What’s Blotto’s real name? I didn’t even ask him.” 

    “Zekta.” 

    Jim nodded. They flew on for a time before he spoke again. “And how old is Adrianne? Really?” 

    Joey smiled and shook his head. “Never ask a woman that question, sir. You should know that.” A few minutes later he looked at Jim, indecision in his eyes.  

    “What? Something else?” 

    “It’s not for me to say, sir.” They flew on in silence. 

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Gobi Desert, Approaching the First Facility, Kop’ka System 

    Thirty seconds after Sansar made the announcement over the ship’s intercom system, the cover over the ventilation duct dropped and, one after another, six Dusman dropped through. 

    “We searched those—” Captain Parker said, his voice stopping in a strangled tone of annoyance, his face so red it was nearly purple. 

    “You have need of our services?” one of the males asked. 

    “Yes,” Sansar replied, taking over for the captain, who seemed to be having a difficult time forming words. “To whom do I have the honor of speaking?” 

    “I am Guojiu, the Osk’ii, or Konar commander for this group. This is my mate, Xiangu, as well as Tieguai, Dongbin, Guolao, and Zhongli.” 

    “It’s good to meet you. Had you announced yourselves earlier, we could have found you better accommodations.” 

    “J’asa asked that we remain unobtrusive unless we were needed.” 

    Sansar nodded. “I think we could use your experience and your technical know-how.” 

    Guojiu stuck his chest out. “We are happy to share our vast technological expertise with our allies,” he said. 

    “Great,” Sansar said. She nodded to the Tri-V, where one of the shipyard facilities was displayed. “We want to take these apart, put fusion plants and shunts on them, and send them back to New Warsaw and Earth. What’s the best way to go about doing that?” 

    “You… um… you can’t,” Guojiu replied. “They were never meant to do that.” 

    Sansar shrugged. “Huh. I thought you’d be a little more helpful than that. Never mind. You can go back to your ducting; we’ll figure it out on our own.” 

    Guojiu’s jaw dropped slightly. “What?” 

    “I said we’d figure it out on our own. I came here to get these shipyards, and I’m not leaving without them. If I have to cut them up with the Gobi Desert’s lasers and solder them together when we get back, that’s what I’ll do. I had hoped for a solution that was a little more elegant in nature, but at least that’ll be expedient.” 

    “I’m sure we can help with that,” Guojiu said quickly. “I suspect there will be places where disassembly will be easier than others, which will make reassembly easier, too.” 

    “I thought they weren’t made to take apart and transport.” 

    “I’m not saying they are. Just that—if we had to, since you seem determined to do so—there are probably some places that are better to cut than others. I mean, you wouldn’t want to cut an F11 line and have it go spraying into space.” 

    “No, I’m sure we wouldn’t,” Sansar said, unable to keep the smile completely off her face. She nodded to the Tri-V again. “We’ll be there in a couple of hours, and anything you can do to assist will be greatly appreciated.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Ducting, EMS Gobi Desert, Kop’ka System 

    “‘Ooh, check out our vast technological expertise,’” Tieguai said with a chuckle. “‘What? You want to do what? Um… you can’t.’” 

    “Do you know how to disassemble one of the shipyards?” Guojiu asked.  

    “Of course not,” Tieguai said, still laughing. “They haven’t been seen in thousands of years.” He shrugged. “I do, however, know how not to make myself look stupid in front of the Humans. With just a couple of questions, she backed you into a position where not only do we have to help, we now have to figure out the best way to do it, too. Or at least be able to convince the Humans it’s the best way, even if we have no real idea ourselves.” 

    Guolao cleared his throat. “Even though we haven’t seen them, I don’t think it will be impossible to figure out,” the squad’s tech expert said. “We’ll just take them apart as major assemblies. Shipyards. Solar Panel Facility. Manufactory. Control Station. That’s easiest. That will also make them easier to reassemble when we get them back. Just make sure you label both sides of everything you cut or detach. That way, we know how to put it back together again.” 

    Tieguai chuckled again. “And don’t say you can—or can’t—do something without thinking about it first.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 

      

      

    

  


   
    [bookmark: _Toc90484098]Chapter 20 

      

      

    CO’s Conference Room, EMS Revenge, Hyperspace 

    “I had a thought,” Ali Baba said later that day as they worked to document all the systems through which Minerva could take over the Revenge. 

    Nigel smiled. “Is this one of those thoughts that’s going to make Captain Gallagher pull out the few remaining hairs he still has?” 

    “Probably.” 

    “Well, I try not to shoot the messenger. Why don’t you tell me, and I’ll see if we can figure out a good way to break it to him?” 

    “Okay.” Ali Baba tilted his head and looked at Nigel pensively. “So, when we arrive at our destination, the captain wants to jump back out, right?” 

    “Yes, that’s the plan.” 

    “Well, that may not be possible.” 

    “What, like if they have an interdictor?” 

    “Well, that’s true. If they have an interdictor, we wouldn’t be able to get out, either, but that wasn’t what I was talking about.” 

    Nigel sighed. “Okay, what were you talking about?” 

    “I suspect your helmsman will figure some of it out shortly, but there are some things he probably doesn’t understand.” 

    “Yes?” Nigel prompted when the Dusman went silent. 

    “It’s going to be nearly impossible to have coordinates ready to enter when we arrive, because we don’t know where that is going to be.” 

    “Yeah, so?” 

    “So you can only jump so far. We’ll have to enter coordinates to jump to that are within range of the system we emerge in… and we don’t know where that is.” 

    Nigel thought for a second. “Okay, that makes sense. We’ll have to emerge and figure out where we are before we can jump.” 

    Ali Baba smiled. “Correct.” 

    Nigel shrugged. “That shouldn’t be a big deal.” 

    “Oh, but it is—” 

    “Not really,” Nigel interrupted. “We know where we started. From there, we can only jump so far. We’ll just figure out where that is and come up with a handful of safe places we can jump to from there. We ought to be able to figure out generally where we’re going, right? There’re only so many places we can go.” 

    “I’m sorry, but that is not the case. Have you ever wondered how the Pegasus can drop out in a system outside the normal emergence area?” 

    “No. It’s because Ghost can do some superfine calculations that allow them to bypass the emergence area.” He shrugged. “Are you worried we might land outside an emergence area?” 

    “No, I’m worried that we could emerge literally anywhere in the galaxy. If we were to drop into second level hyperspace, we could drop back into normal space anywhere the SI had programmed it to.” 

    “But there’s a maximum range—” 

    “Not if we make the Plunge.” 

    “The Plunge?” 

    “Yes, if the SI’s program takes us through second level hyperspace. If so, we could end up anywhere.” 

    “So there’d be no way to have coordinates ready, because we’d have no idea where we were going to end up.” 

    “Exactly.” 

    “How likely is it that’s what’s going to happen?” 

    “It would shorten the trip significantly.” 

    “So it’s likely to happen.” 

    “I think so.” 

    “Shit.” 

    “Indeed.” 

    “If the SI programmed it that way, when would we drop into second level hyperspace?” 

    “Probably soon. There’s no need to wait for anything. It could happen at any time.” 

    “So it’s probably going to happen, and it’s probably going to happen soon.” 

    “I think so, yes.” 

    Nigel released the strap holding him to the chair. “We better go tell Gallagher.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Weapons Conglomerate Facility, Kop’ka System 

    “As expected,” Guolao said, “it will be fairly easy to disassemble the various station components. It appears that each was built on its own and then connected together to make the larger facility.” 

    “Wait,” Sansar said. “I thought they weren’t meant to be taken apart and transported.” 

    “Well, they really weren’t made to be taken apart and transported,” Guolao said. “That, however, doesn’t mean they can’t be. Each of the major assemblies was largely meant to function on its own; it is a matter of disconnecting the services that run between the assemblies—the water, power, and sewer lines—and then going through and pulling all the pins that are holding them together. With assemblies this size, that isn’t a trivial job. Then we will have to weld attachment points for the reactors and shunts.” 

    “What’s hard with the pins?” 

    “The fewer that remain, the more likely the station is to torque and bend them, making them difficult—maybe even impossible—to pull.” 

    “But if we had someone at all of them, and we did it simultaneously?” 

    “That would be best,” Guolao said. “It would also be best if the reactors and shunts were in place prior to that.” He cocked his head and surveyed the facility. “Maybe we could even put some thrusters on the pieces. That way, as soon as we pull the pins, we can separate them, so they don’t collide with each other and damage anything.” 

    “That makes good sense,” Sansar said. “I hadn’t thought about that.” She turned to the group of engineers behind her. “All right, you’ve got your tasks, and you’ve got your crews. Let’s get this done, but let’s get it done well. The less we damage the pieces, the quicker we can get them assembled once we get them back.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    EMS Pegasus, New Warsaw System 

    Half a day later, it was clear she was going to be okay. Alexis was going on 36 hours without sleep, and just as long without seeing her babies, which was arguably worse. At least the whole thing wasn’t going to descend into an intergalactic version of the French Revolution.  

    The mob never got their hands on any of the Elders, which was a good thing. If they’d managed some mob justice, her children would have been trying to put the pieces back together long after she was dead and gone. It had ended up taking a battalion of HST under Uuth’s command to extract the Elders from their situation. They and their dependents were being held for their own safety at a Hussars’ defense base thousands of kilometers from Pidhirsti Castle, the location classified.  

    She’d been pretty certain the Elders had overestimated popular support for their position. Most outsiders didn’t even know they existed. Over the decades, they’d come to think of themselves as the royal family of old Britain, and acted as such. Her mistake had been tolerating it as long as she had.  

    When the HST went in to extract the Elders, they’d found only the three who’d signed the order to remove Alexis; the other four families were locked in their quarters. Alexis had been correct again; there was no consensus among them.  

    After breaking into their so-called secure records—something she should have had Ghost do long ago, but she’d resisted out of common courtesy—she found complicated plans for making money off all the Hussars’ innovations, even the sale of F11 surpluses. What she didn’t find was a conspiracy with outside forces. If she’d found subversive activity with any of the Guilds, she would have publicly tried them, and whatever a military tribunal decided would have been their fate.  

    After verifying the other four Elders were opposed to the plan, she altered her plan enough to allow them to stay. They were, however, removed from Hussars’ operations. Each had various businesses on Home and Prime Base. Those families were allowed to keep them; the three traitor families’ businesses were seized.  

    All attempts to reach Alexis and either make threats or beg for mercy by Anatolia Kosmalski herself were ignored. Ghost had finished reviewing everything he could find within their files, and there was nothing to suggest she should do anything other than what she’d decided upon.  

    “At least now I can marry Nigel without any more of this bullshit,” she mumbled in her office. She and the children had moved back to Prime Base. Civilians and personnel who might not be happy with this new change were so vastly outnumbered that all she’d seen were friendly waves and well-wishing. Even so, she’d be cautious for quite a while.  

    The drone she’d launched before everything went to shit had come up empty in its search. The only thing it had found was the single body of an Isaac Hopper crewman. Preliminary autopsy said it had been death by explosive decompression. She doubted any of her people had survived. The questions were who’d taken the ship and where was it now?  

    As for Stamen 3, there was also no news. Just before departing Pegasus for Prime Base, she’d ordered a squadron of frigates to begin a comprehensive search of that region of the asteroid field. A more detailed search would be mounted for Isaac Hopper once time and ships could be freed. For now, she’d doubled the size of the emergence point interdiction fleet with orders to stop all ships, even their own.  

    Enough of the Hunter/Killer Boxes were now available that each squadron and fleet had at least one. Every individual would be screened, too. She’d had enough of these games. They were even scanning all the refugees brought by Mimir’s allies. No hidden SI had been found with the Hunter/Killer Boxes. Yet. 

    The search continued.  

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Revenge, Hyperspace 

    Gallagher’s jaw dropped. “We’re going to what?” 

    “Ali Baba thinks it’s likely—and I agree, now that he’s explained it to me—that we’re going to drop into second level hyperspace, then transition to some system in normal space.” 

    “What system? Where?” 

    “It could be anywhere—literally anywhere—in the galaxy. Because of that, it’ll be impossible to know ahead of time or have coordinates available for where we’re going to jump to next.” 

    “So what do we do?” 

    “We’ll have to arrive, figure out where we are, then figure out what’s close enough that we can jump to it.” 

    “Is that all?” 

    “Well, we’re also going to have to hope the SI isn’t in the system, or that it doesn’t use the stargate in the system as an interdictor, or we won’t be able to jump out of the system.” 

    “Do you have any good news to go along with this big ol shit sandwich?” 

    “We’re not still stuck in the Kop’ka system. That’s something.” 

    “Sir!” the helmsman said. “The hyperspace generator just went offline! We’re going to die!” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Petal-Class Corvette Stamen 3, Lambda 4-1 Asteroid Cluster, New Warsaw 

    “Command has to be freaking out about us,” Belvar said quietly from his station.  

    “We have to stay silent,” Elizabeth reminded him for the umpteenth time, “and why are you talking quietly?”  

    Strathers laughed out loud, her face cracking into a huge grin.  

    Belvar shot her a glare. “I don’t know, maybe I watch too much 21st century television.”  

    “That’s likely,” Strathers responded. The only thing of note on the little corvette was an ample amount of memory with all manner of media. Training crews often spent weeks at a time in the little ships, on extended training cruises around the New Warsaw system. Old movies and music didn’t take up that much memory, and they all had slates to enjoy the media. It might be the only real luxury afforded to them.  

    They’d been drifting in the wake of their adversary for nearly two days now. While impossible to be invisible, a ship could make itself difficult to detect. The Petal-class were only lightly powered, as they didn’t have hyperspace drives. The ship was so small, it couldn’t make enough power to maintain a hyperspace field, anyway. By turning its drive down to minimum, operating primarily on batteries, and using more F11 than it was smart to, so as to absorb all thermal output, its energy signature had dropped to almost nothing.  

    “We can’t even run our sensors worth a damn,” Belvar persisted. Most of the bridge’s systems were shut down. He was keeping track of the bogie only via its equally faint IR signature. Whatever had harvested the chunk of asteroid, it had consumed a fair amount of energy, increasing the background radiation of the highly-metal chunk of rock enough that it still hadn’t dropped to background levels.  

    “How close are we now?” Elizabeth asked.  

    “Less than 150,000 kilometers,” Strathers said, her hands resting on the piloting controls. They’d relied entirely upon compressed gas thrusters for corrections since setting their path behind the bogie, gaining at a miniscule 200 m/s. They decreased the distance by a mere 720 kilometers each hour. “At this rate, it’ll be 8 days before we catch up to it.” 

    “If it’s controlled by someone who’s at all careful, we won’t get nearly that close,” Elizabeth replied. “Whoever it is has gotten complacent when nobody noticed them take most of this asteroid.” I’m surprised Ghost missed it that long, she thought. “Sooner or later, they’ll notice.”  

    “And what then?” Belvar wondered.  

    “We hope they don’t have guns.”  

    “We’re not exactly unarmed,” Strathers said.  

    “One missile launcher, six missiles, and a single 10-megawatt laser. These things might as well be unarmed. Even the shield generator barely covers her whole length.” 

    “We could send a drone back,” Strathers suggested. “We still have two.” 

    She’d considered rerouting the one that gave them their view of the asteroid chunk, but its remaining reaction mass was insufficient. “The problem with sending another drone remains the same: we’ll be detected. Kinda surprised the first one wasn’t noticed.”  

    “How’s our consumables?” she asked after a couple more hours. 

    “Everything is good except food,” Johnson said from the rear of the crowded bridge. As the engineer, she was also the supply officer and cook. Since they had a tiny autochef, the latter job wasn’t overly difficult. “We’ve got maybe five days at regular rations.” 

    “Go on half rations,” Elizabeth said to groans. 

    “We’ve got emergency packs,” Strathers said.  

    “Yuck,” Johnson said.  

    “There’s a good reason they’re called emergency packs,” Elizabeth said. She intimately remembered the only time she’d tried them, during training. They were horrid, rather like salty bread and water with a metallic taste. They’d been proven to keep you alive for upwards of a month. She thought she’d rather open the airlock. 

    “We can live for a couple days at half rations,” she reiterated. The Petal-class didn’t have any exercise facilities. As a less than 50-meter-long ship, how could it? It was too short to spin end-over-end to simulate gravity, since that would also make using sensors more difficult. Their only real exercise was via resistance bands—rubber strips secured to the common room bulkhead. That reminded her of how astronauts had worked out in space back in the 20th century, when mankind was just dipping its toes into space. “We could all stand to cut back for a few days.”  

    “Hey, Strathers, I think she just called you fat,” Johnson said, laughing.  

    “I think she called all of us fat,” Belvar countered.  

    “Regardless of who is or isn’t fat,” Elizabeth said, “time to lighten up on the chow for a few days.”  

    The mood considerably lowered, they continued to drift through space, slowly gaining on the bogie. It was another 12 hours before a significant development occurred; the bogie began to slow. 

    “How quickly?” Elizabeth asked as she floated into the cockpit. 

    “They’re currently scrubbing 10 meters per second,” Belvar said.  

    “Modest braking maneuver,” Strathers said. 

    Elizabeth nodded. “Any sign of a drive source?”  

    Belvar closed his eyes as he went over the sensor data. “There’s a little neutron flux I didn’t see before. Not enough to be a fusion torch.” 

    “Likely from a power plant,” Johnson said. “Take a look at this.” She uploaded a series of graphs to the crew network for everyone to examine. The surging neutron flux from the bogie matched that of a fusion plant powering-up, albeit more subdued. 

    “Seems they’re planning a rendezvous,” Elizabeth said. “Have you plotted the course yet?” she asked Belvar.  

    “Been plotting it since we began tracking.”  

    “Since they started braking?” The navigator blinked and closed his eyes. Out of the corner of her eye, she saw Strathers chuckling, then she got a private comms from the pilot’s pinplants.  

    “If there’s anything that’s held him back, it’s that he doesn’t think out of the box very well. Super strong navigator in the meat-n-potatoes of the job, but if something throws him a curve, he isn’t good at finding answers.” 

    Elizabeth just gave Strathers a little nod; there was no need for more. She knew everyone on the little corvette was there because of deficiencies in their qualifications or personalities, which meant they weren’t suitable for front-line capital ships. She knew which one was her fault, of course. At least she’d begun to come to grips with it, years later.  

    “Got it,” Belvar said, opening his eyes. The little display came alive. “Bogie is not only slowing, it’s skewing its course slightly.” 

    “Course correction during braking maneuver,” Strathers said, nodding. “Pretty standard for a pilot to integrate to correct for nav errors.” She looked at Belvar. “Not saying anything about your navs, Ensign.”  

    “This course started a long way from here,” Elizabeth said. “They must have done all their acceleration relatively quickly. If they were careful, it would have been hard to notice. Then they coasted. No surprise it wasn’t spot on from that far away.” On the display, their course followed the bogie, lines cutting across space. Theirs was straight; the bogie was slowly bending. Off to the side was an object with a nav marker. “What’s that?” 

    Belvar looked at the marker. “Wow, I’ve always wanted to see that. Upsilon-4.” 

    “What’s Upsilon 4?”  

    “You don’t remember?” Strathers asked. Elizabeth shook her head. “Way back at the beginning of the Omega War, Colonel Cartwright somehow jumped an asteroid from Karma to here. It used to be Karma Upsilon 4. There’s a shit-ton of asteroids in the Karma system; half are set up as bases or factories. Upsilon 4 had apparently been a Raknar base. He figured that out, and his little buddy, the Dusman leader, had her allies use it to evacuate everyone running from the Guild.” She shrugged. “Nobody knew they were Dusman back then, though. Looking back, it makes sense they could jump an entire asteroid through hyperspace.” 

    “That sounds familiar, but I was the XO of the Hippogriff back then, too busy to pay attention to stuff like this. Okay, but what’s it doing way out here?”  

    Belvar continued the story, “When it appeared at the emergence point, it had nearly zero delta-V. The commander had it towed. Basically, they put as much velocity on it as they could to clear the emergence point. I think after that, they must have just lost track of it.” 

    “How do you lose track of an asteroid?” Elizabeth asked.  

    “Paka came back with an army?” Strathers suggested.  

    Elizabeth sighed. “Point taken.” They looked at the bogie’s course, slowly and inexplicably merging with Upsilon 4.  

    “We’d better break comms silence,” Strathers said.  

    “Not yet,” Elizabeth replied. “Belvar, how long to intercept?” 

    “It’s slowing even more. I estimate it’ll be zero-movement alongside Upsilon inside 18 hours.” 

    “Using the cold gas thrusters, decrease our speed so we come in slow.” 

    “We’re going to have to metabolize reaction mass,” Strathers said. Their reaction mass was basically water, used to run through the fusion torch, drinking water, and air. If they used too much, they wouldn’t have enough to travel very far, or very quickly. It would be a choice between using the engine or drinking. Not a choice any spacer wanted to find themselves forced to make.  

    “Understood,” she said. “Make preparations.”  

    “Well,” Johnson said, “at least no half rations!”  

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    CIC, EMS Gobi Desert, Weapons Conglomerate Facility, Kop’ka System 

    “How’s it coming?” Sansar asked.  

    “Good,” Captain Naran Enkh replied. “Better than projections.” 

    “Did we get any new tech?” 

    “Unfortunately, no. All the databases in the manufactories were slicked except one, and that’s just got some simple files for stuff we can already make. If I had to guess, that database got erased, too, and then whoever was here before us used it to make some stuff they needed for their ship. It was mostly small weapons, fusion plants of various configurations, and minor equipment.” 

    “Not surprising. The SI wouldn’t want us to get hold of advanced weaponry.” Sansar shrugged. “It would have been great if we could have gotten it, but I honestly wasn’t expecting to. Just taking these facilities will be a big enough boon, especially if we can get the Dusman to show us how to work them.” 

    “I thought Guolao said the knowledge had been lost.” 

    Sansar shrugged again. “Maybe it has, and maybe it hasn’t. The Dusman recognized what it was and what it was going to do before it fired the directed EMP round; even if the ones with us don’t know how to make it work, maybe there are still others who do.” Or maybe there’s a Ghost somewhere who can figure it out. “Regardless, if we can get these back, they’ll be great for production, even if we can’t get the defense thing figured out.” 

    “Won’t bringing a couple of these into the Sol System make us a target? Someone’s probably going to want them for their own.” 

    “That’s why the first one’s going to the Winged Hussars. Not only do we still owe them—which this ought to take care of—but I’m hoping their Geek Squad will get it figured out so we can operate ours to their fullest capabilities when we get them there.” 

    “That makes sense. We should have the first one ready to go in about a week.” 

    “That’s perfect,” Sansar said. “I’ll take it, drop it off in New Warsaw, and then go to Capital Planet for the Merc Guild meeting. You can oversee the disassembly of the other two facilities.” 

    “Yes, ma’am. We’ll get them home.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Kingdom-Class Escort Frigate Bradford, New Ship Fitting, Home, New Warsaw 

    “I don’t understand what new car smell is,” Thing 2 said as his pincered head emerged from a maintenance shaft and regarded Patrick.  

    “It’s a saying from Earth,” Patrick explained, then he frowned. He’d been born on Talus, so why was he using a saying from Earth? When he grew up in the colony, only the rich or politically connected got cars at all. If it wasn’t computer controlled, he wouldn’t even know how to operate it.  

    <A colloquial term that relates to how automobiles in the United States carried a particular odor, likely the result of various adhesives, oils, and plastics used in the assembly process. By the late 20th century, manufacturers were producing it artificially and adding it to vehicles because consumers were complaining their new vehicles didn’t smell like new vehicles.> 

    This divergence brought to you courtesy of the mesh known as Charlotte, he thought back to the SI in his brain.  

    <I was merely trying to provide you with the answer to the question.> 

    Patrick rolled his eyes and sighed. He’d been trying to get the SI to stop being so literal for more than five years, with little luck. As the only Human with a self-aware machine in his brain, it wasn’t like he could ask for help.  

    “Whatever the smell is, I don’t sense it,” Thing 2 said and slithered out of sight.  

    They’d been on the Bradford for two weeks, attempting to diagnose the issue, without any luck at all. After a week, he’d stopped traveling back to Prime Base and had bots bring over a bag and stock the ship’s autochef. They were built for a crew of 20; 8 officers and 12 enlisted. With just him and two Jeha, they were like peas rattling around in a can.  

    Damnit, there’s another crazy Earth saying. 

    <Shall I?> 

    No, he thought. Charlotte remained silent. Just go over the timing sequence again. 

    <This will be the 19th time the fusion core buffer timing sequence has been reviewed.> 

    Fine, then it’s the 19th. Just do it. 

    <Initiating.> 

    His mesh sent the command, and the engineering computer flashed to life. He let the slate float before him, and its integral Tri-V projected a 3D simulation of the toroid fusion reactor core and its 11 superconducting magnetic buffers. They were designed to activate in sequence, a complicated oscillating pattern to get the magnetic bottle of star-hot plasma to circulate. If you got cold spots or hot spots in the fusion bottle, it could cause the bottle to fluctuate and possibly contact the walls. Too much of that, and you melted the containment walls. That was bad. 

    The display was running based on a simulated reactor powerup. All the main data bus connectors were fed into computers, and the power lines into load simulators. As far as the computer knew, it was running the real reactor. Only now there was no danger.  

    Patrick had switched to this process when the first live test had gone so wrong, they’d had partial containment buffer failure, and he’d had to eject plasma into space. Not keen on melting his face off, he’d had them spend two days converting it into a static test. Every test since had ended in the same results.  

    The buffers gave off a tiny flash as their field was purposely fluctuated. They went faster and faster as the ignition lasers pumped megawatts of power on a tiny target. ‘Fusion initiated,’ the display read as his test equipment told the engine computer it was happening. Just like it was supposed to, the buffer pattern shifted and spread. Exactly 2.6 seconds later, the field reduced in intensity, and the injectors poured in more deuterium and helium three.  

    The F11 pumps went to full output, and the fusion reaction increased. Buffers flashed faster than his eyes could detect individual pulses, but the pattern was discernable, normal, comforting. Until it wasn’t. “There it is,” he said.  

    <Correct,> Charlotte replied. In a fraction of a second, the reactor alarm went off as the pattern collapsed, and a scram was triggered. A small amount of simulated F11 was pumped into the core, quickly absorbing all radiation, and the reaction collapsed safely. <Simulation terminated; controlled shutdown.> 

    Of the previous 19 test runs, only 7 had resulted in a safe shutdown. Six had ended in minor damage, four in damaged buffers that would have required replacement, and two in containment breach and potential loss of the ship.  

    Correlate the results. 

    <Within parameters of all previous tests. The rewritten buffer sequence did not alleviate the issue.> 

    “Fuck,” Patrick cursed dejectedly, massaging his temples.  

    Thing 1 floated into the engine room. He’d been running diagnostics on other systems, looking for anything else outside of normal. So far, Bradford was perfect in every other way. “I assume the new subroutine didn’t work?” 

    “A correct assumption,” he said dejectedly. Out of the corner of his eye, he saw Thing 2 appear from a maintenance hatch and hand Thing 1 a credit chit. “If you could avoid betting on my failures, I’d appreciate it.” 

    “We were not betting on whether it would work or not,” Thing 1 said. “We knew it would not. We were betting on whether you would curse, scream, or simply mumble.”  

    “You’re not helping.” 

    “We are helping with this project to the best of our ability,” Thing 2 noted.  

    “I meant my mental health. You’re not helping that.” 

    “Not our job, Director,” Thing 1 said and left before Patrick could tell him what he thought of that.  

    Despite the meaninglessness of it, they ran the simulation a 20th time, just because he liked round numbers. The results were the same, but this time they got their third catastrophic breach. Dejected, he returned to his quarters.  

    Since he was the Geek Squad director, and no formal crew was assigned yet, he’d claimed the captain’s cabin. About a quarter of the cubic meters he had on Prime Base, it was at least enough to let him have his own zero-G head and space to keep gear.  

    <Do you want help formulating a new plan of action?> Charlotte asked.  

    “What more is possible?” he asked aloud. “We’ve rewritten the subroutine. We’ve done a complete reload of engine control bios. By isolating physical function, we’ve ruled out mechanical malfunction. Even so, I had the Things break down the buffers and check all the connections.” 

    <Since they are new from the manufactory, which has produced more than a thousand Type G-3 buffers in its operational history, with zero faults, that was a waste of time.> 

    “Yeah, well, I want my report to be thorough when I tell Alexis I fucked up.” 

    <You made no mistake, you simply failed to come up with the solution.> 

    “Like I told Thing 1, you aren’t helping.” He stared at his cabin walls for a few minutes. What else could he do? Remove the entire fusion powerplant and have a new one fabricated? Sure, that might solve the problem, but it didn’t answer the question of what had gone wrong with this one. They were building hundreds of new ships. If this kind of error was possible, how many more were in the fleet? Alexis was adamant—find the reason before it happened in combat. 

    One of the first things he’d done was pull all the production data from the manufactory that had produced Bradford. Especially since Bradford was sixth in its class, and the previous five had functioned flawlessly. He’d even had all five of the other ships send their complete ending data logs. The powerplants operated with zero issues. Zero. 

    He got a quick shower and pulled a clean duty uniform on. Even though he was a tech, he held a starship technical qualification. You didn’t sleep in anything other than a uniform in a warship unless you liked streaking down hallways when an alarm sounded. Sure, they were at anchor in the fitout section of the shipyard. Didn’t matter; you picked up lifelong habits in Winged Hussars’ training.  

    He flipped the light switch and was plunged into darkness. A tiny red LED cast a glow over the door so if an alarm sounded, the captain could find his or her way to the bridge without caving their head in on the pair of power raceways that cut through the room. In small warships, space was at a premium.  

    Despite needing sleep, he couldn’t. He kept staring at the light, then began to wonder where it was made. Had those been sourced out-system, or made by the manufactory? How many discreet parts or assemblies were there in a Kingdom-class escort frigate, anyway? 

    <There are 60,000,297 parts, including 4,102 subassemblies.> 

    “That’s a lot of parts,” he said and yawned. In a few minutes, he finally drifted off to sleep, wondering how he was going to tell Alexis he’d failed.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Personal Quarters, Cartwright’s Cavaliers HQ, Houston, Texas, Earth 

    “So what was yesterday all about?” Ziva asked as she came into the kitchen.  

    Thad was still asleep; the previous adventures at the alien show had really taken it out of him. Kids had infinite energy, until they didn’t, then they were out of it for as long as it took. By the time he’d gotten home, it was late, late, late. He’d climbed into bed and whispered he loved her into Ziva’s ear, a little worried she’d be upset. She’d just rolled over and held him. I’m really beginning to enjoy this relationship stuff. 

    “Yeah,” Jim said, grabbing some yogurt and granola. Ziva had an instant waffle, plus there was fresh grapefruit juice on the table. “The last person I was expecting last night was a Section 51 operative to show up.” 

    “Fssik showed up about an hour after you left. He was one pissed off pussy.” 

    Jim snorted with laughter. “Did he try to follow us?”  

    “Of course he did; he’s a Depik!”  

    “Cats,” Jim said.  

    “Hey, now, you’re in a relationship with one.” She winked at him, her vaguely catlike eyes sparkling.  

    “I have the scratches to prove it.”  

    They ate for a minute. “Are you trying to deflect me from the subject?” 

    “Maybe a little. I don’t know what I can or should tell you; this is fucking complicated.” 

    “Well,” she said, “don’t get in trouble.”  

    He nodded. She was a good poker player, no doubt. But he’d known her for quite a few years now, and he could see subtle clues. She was disappointed, and he couldn’t really blame her. Trust, he thought. If you don’t trust her…  

    “They took me to one of their bases, and I got to meet their leader.” 

    “Holy Toledo,” she said, eyes wide. “So she did it? Like she promised last month after India?”  

    “Yeah, she did. They’ve been around since 1947, trying to see to it Earth’s first contact wasn’t such a clusterfuck. It didn’t work out as well as they hoped.” 

    “Clearly.” She finished her juice and cocked her head. “How did they have knowledge of an impending first contact 78 years before it happened?” 

    “Have you heard of Blazer teams?”  

    “No,” she said. “Sounds violent.”  

    “It is kind of. For some.” He explained that Blazers were the teams who found races ripe for first contact, and especially the ones most profitable. 

    “Wow, the Union is as cutthroat as the Depik can be.”  

    “Worse. Depik won’t backstab you for an extra credit.” 

    “Yeah, they’ll at least get payment up front.” Ziva chuckled. “They’re pretty particular about their contracts. It doesn’t always go down like that; there are outliers in every society.”  

    “Understood. Anyway, the key to answer your question is their leader.” 

    “What, is his name Lazarus?”  

    “Might as well be. His name is Zekta.” 

    Her eyes narrowed. “That doesn’t sound like a Human name…” 

    “No, it wouldn’t. Let me start at the beginning.”  

    Two hours later, they were sitting on the couch, and he was finishing the story, having been interrupted halfway through by Thad waking up. He and Ziva made him breakfast—Fruity Rock with juice—and he ran off to play. Sunday was a kid’s favorite day. It seemed every day was a kid’s favorite day. It made Jim smile to remember some of those times when he was so young.  

    In the living room, where Thad couldn’t be bothered by things far beyond his understanding, Jim finished telling her about Blotto and everything Section 51 had done over nearly 200 years.  

    “That is one damned old cockroach,” she said, shaking her head.  

    “I did some reading when I got back before coming to bed. What he said is true; nobody knows how long they live. The commander of Silent Night, a unit out of Australia, said he swears he worked with a Goka his father worked with. The same one. Over 50 years. Yeah, that’s not 200, but they obviously live a long damned time.”  

    She sat for a while, staring off into space, thinking. That was something he really appreciated about her; she didn’t just jump to conclusions or guess. She analyzed. Maybe she was more cat than Human? 

    “Keeping themselves secret kind of makes sense in that context,” she said finally. “I imagine the government would have cut Zekta up or something, like those old alien movies you like. The one with the glowing finger?” 

    “E.T.,” Jim said, nodding.  

    “Adrianne was there?” she asked, her face a mask of indifference, which said she felt anything but indifferent. 

    “Of course. She’s like a senior analyst, or agent, or something. Whatever she is, the Goka trusts her. Even after they fucked up with the SI, he still trusts her. She explained a lot about why she did what she did with me.” 

    “Change how you feel about it?”  

    “No,” he said, looking at her. She searched his face, eyes darting. She could never fix her gaze on anything for long. “Not at all. Maybe she had a completely valid reason for infiltrating the Cavaliers, but when the Goka ordered her to sleep with me, she just did it. She used me.” 

    “I would have spit in her face,” Ziva said.  

    “I know you would have. But then she also rescued me from Peepo, gave me the nanites. Those were a bit of a double-edged sword in the long run, but even so, they’ve saved my ass a couple times.” Her expression was soft but concerned. “I’m a mess; I know it. But my dad once said something. ‘What we are is a culmination of everything we’ve lived through.’ I thought it was just Dad BS, but now it makes sense.” 

    He took her hands in his. “I can’t deny what I’ve been through, my time with her, my ups and downs, even the time I spent as a POW in Peepo’s clutches during the war. All that, everything, brought me to you, and I can’t say anything that brought me to you is a mistake.” 

    She leaped into his lap and wrapped her arms around his neck, clamping her lips against his. “I love you, Jim Cartwright,” she said after the kiss.  

    “I love you too, Ziva Alcuin.” They kissed a little more, and he grinned. “How long do you think Thad will be occupied with playing?” 

    “Oh, about half as long as we need,” she said with a sly smile, “but there’s always tonight.”  

    “True. Hey, I need to go out to Jupiter.” 

    “Something up with the Aku?”  

    “Yeah. No. Shit. I don’t know. Something Adrianne said about their tech. They tried to visit them. Doesn’t surprise me, but it didn’t go well. However, she said their technology was scary. Strange thing to hear about an Aku. I want to go talk to them. I have a resolution of their citizen status, too, and I haven’t seen them in a while. Who knows what they’ve been up to? You want to come?”  

    “I have something to take care of here.” The look on her face was curious.  

    “Something I should know about?” 

    “If it is, I’ll tell you when you get back. Promise.”  

    “Deal. Now, want to take Thad out for a sundae on Sunday?”  

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Revenge, Hyperspace 

    “Hold on,” Ali Baba cried. “This is going to suck!” 

    Nigel was unsure whether “hold on” meant literally or metaphorically, but he grabbed hold of the railing that ran around the main part of the CIC. A veteran of innumerable trips through hyperspace, he was used to the transition into hyperspace—it was an instant where you felt as if you were unmade and then remade again. He’d never liked the feeling much, but he’d gotten used to it. Exiting hyperspace was even easier; a moment when you felt like you were falling, then it was over. 

    As the ship went through the Plunge, though, it was a far worse experience than entering and leaving normal hyperspace put together—every cell in his body was ripped outward at the speed of light, and he could feel every bond in his body being ripped apart as his body stretched to the ends of the universe and then rebounded back into one spot. It was over in less than a second… but it felt like it went on for an eternity. 

    “You’re right,” Nigel said with a gasp. “That was the most awful thing… I think I’ve done in my life.” 

    Ali Baba rolled his head and shook his extremities. 

    “Does that help?” Nigel asked. 

    “Yes. No. No, it doesn’t really help, but it gives me something to think about other than the Plunge.” 

    Nigel tried it himself and found that it didn’t really help. But it sort of did, which made it more tolerable. Barely. “Does it feel like that every time?” 

    Ali Baba nodded. “Our scientists have searched for millennia for a way to make it better, but they never have.” 

    “I can see why; once you go to second level hyperspace, you wouldn’t want to leave and come back, knowing you had to experience that again.” 

    Ali Baba looked at him somberly. “If you knew what waited for you in second level hyperspace, you’d want to go back even less.” 

    “Helm? Sensors?” Gallagher asked. “Where are we?” 

    “Not sure,” the sensor tech said. “My scope is strange.” 

    “What?” Nigel asked. He pushed off the railing, but only went about a meter before his momentum ended. “What the hell?” He waved his hand, trying to recapture the railing, but it was just out of reach. Within seconds, several others were equally stranded in mid-air. 

    “Didn’t have time to tell you,” Ali Baba said, “but the rules of physics here are quite different than in either Einsteinian Space or hyperspace. Sorry about that. As you can see, momentum, for one, doesn’t exist.” 

    “Wait!” the sensor tech called. “A contact just appeared. It’s firing missiles at us.” 

    “Weapons!” Gallagher called from a spot four feet above his command chair. “Get on that! And someone get me down from here!” 

    “That won’t be necessary!” the helmsman exclaimed. “Hyperspace shunts coming online!” 

    “Now what?” Nigel asked. 

    Ali Baba shuddered. “Hopefully, we escape.” 

    “Twenty missiles inbound!” the sensor tech reported. 

    A second later, Nigel felt like he was a rubber band someone had stretched to the breaking point and held there for an eternity, before they fired off the rubber band into a flushing toilet. He went round and round, trying to hold his breath… and then it was over.  

    His lunch immediately backed up into his throat, and it took all his self-control to force it back down. He swallowed a couple of times to get the acid out of the back of his throat. “Fuck,” Nigel said when he could talk again. “That sucked, too.”  

    Several of the bridge crew wasn’t as successful, and he underwent a second episode of his lunch trying to break free. He kept it down—barely—and glanced toward the Tri-V, which had cleared to show its normal representation of space around them.  

     “You will find we’re back in normal space again,” Ali Baba said. “The rules of physics you’re used to are applicable once more.” He went around the CIC, rescuing the people still stuck between stations, although he stayed well away from the clouds of vomit. 

    “Great,” Gallagher said. “I want to know where we are, right fucking now!” His eyes roamed the bridge, and Nigel could see him gag. “And get someone to clean that vomit up!” Gallagher added. 

    “I don’t know where we are,” the sensor tech said after a few minutes, “but we’re not alone! I’ve got some sort of large station in orbit over the planet… and it looks just like the Science Guild station in Morgoth!” 

    “Very well,” Gallagher said, all business. “Confirm all stations are at Battle Stations and weapons are ready.” 

    “Yes, sir,” the weapons officer said. “Battle Stations confirmed set. All weapons and defenses manned and ready.” 

    “Good,” Gallagher said. “You keep an eye on the station; Helm, I want you and Sensors trying to figure out where the hell we are and how the hell we’re going to get back from here.” 

    “I’m not seeing any movement from the station,” the weapons officer said after a few minutes, “nor am I seeing any signs of life. No electromagnetic signature, no emissions… nothing. It looks dead.”  

    “I don’t care if it looks dead; I want you to keep an eye on it. If it’s Minerva, she may be trying to draw us in so she can zap us.” 

    “But the stargate is on the other side of the planet. We’ll have to go past it eventually.” 

    “Not with our brand new shunts, we don’t.” Gallagher turned to Ali Baba. “You’re sure it’s safe to use them?” 

    “I believe so, yes. I think the system was programmed to return here, which it did, but it should be programmable by us in the future.” 

    “Any idea why it would bring us here if the station had been abandoned?” 

    “I suspect when the ship left here, the station was probably in use by Minerva,” Nigel said. “Between now and then, though, Minerva’s gone into hiding somewhere. She probably withdrew her people from here—and any other copies of herself she kept here—in case we found out about this facility.” 

    “That makes sense,” Gallagher said. “Still, I don’t feel any need to examine the facility any closer.” 

    “Me, either,” Nigel said, shaking his head.  

    “Uh, sir?” the helmsman asked. “I think I found out where we are… but you’re not going to like it.” 

    “Helm, I haven’t liked much of anything this whole trip, including that god-awful Dusman Plunge we just did. Why should this be any different?” He shrugged. “Just give it to me. Where are we?” 

    “Well, the first thing I noticed was the relative lack of stars in this region, so I figured we were out at the end of the arm. When we found the Science Guild facility—or whatever it is—I thought we might be in Morgoth again, except this facility isn’t all busted up like we left the one in Morgoth. 

    “So then I looked at the other stars in the area, did some comparisons, checked the ephemeris… and the best I can tell you is we’re at the end of the fourth arm.” 

    “The fourth arm?” the sensor tech asked, his voice tinged with fear. “How did we get here? More importantly, how do we get home?” 

    “One thing at a time,” Gallagher roared, taking control. “Okay. We’re at the ass end of the galaxy, and the Kahraman own everything between here and where we want to be.” 

    The helmsman swallowed audibly. “That about sums it up.”  

    “On the good side,” Gallagher continued, “we topped off reaction mass when we were installing the shunts, so we can go a good way before we need to do it again, and we don’t have to stay in any systems that are hostile.” 

    “Which is probably all of them,” the sensor tech muttered.  

    “Maybe,” Gallagher said. “Regardless, though, we have a chance with the internal shunts we have bastardizing the ship. We just emerge and then jump again. Pop in, pop out, all the way home, stopping whenever we see somewhere we can take on reaction mass. We probably only need to do it once, so that isn’t even an issue; we just need to find a good spot.”  

    “Totally doable,” Nigel said, more confidently than he felt. “Nothing to worry about.” 

    Gallagher nodded with a wink only Nigel could see. “Helm, get us back to Earth with as few jumps as possible.” 

    “Capital Planet,” Nigel said. “I need to go to Capital Planet.” 

    “Take us to Capital Planet, then,” Gallagher said. “Same restrictions apply.”  

    “Sounds good,” Nigel said.  

    Gallagher nodded. “Got that, Helm? How are you doing?” 

    “I’ve got the first waypoint plotted. The ephemeris makes it look like the system is uninhabited. Or it was, 20,000 years ago.” 

    “Good enough. Make the jump.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Petal-Class Corvette Stamen 3, Approaching Upsilon-4, New Warsaw 

    “We’re dead stop relative to Upsilon-4,” Belvar confirmed. “Holding at 121,000 kilometers.”  

    “Any sign they’ve seen us?” Elizabeth asked, yawning. None of them had gotten much sleep over the last 24 hours. Another joy of small ships.  

    “We haven’t been scanned by any active system,” Belvar said. “They could have picked us up seven ways to Tuesday with passive, though, and we’d have no clue.” 

    “Look at that, will you?” Johnson said from her station. She’d directed one of the corvette’s pair of digital telescopes at Upsilon-4. There were no records of the asteroid in the ship’s computer, thus nothing to compare it to, but what they saw more closely resembled a shipyard than an industrial asteroid.  

    “What is all that?” Strathers asked, touching parts of the asteroid on the display, then the series of girders extending in all directions. A dizzying array of designs were visible; none made any sense.  

    “It looks a little like a deep space array,” Johnson said.  

    “A what?” Elizabeth asked.  

    Johnson smiled. “Back before first contact and all the stellar information you could ever ask for was free for the taking thanks to the Cartography Guild, we used to have big radio telescopes. On Earth, on the moon, a couple in space right before the aliens came. I think they were building one on Mars.” 

    “What do they do?”  

    “You use them to receive all kinds of radiation from space. If you analyze it carefully, you can learn about distant stars, planets, lots of stuff.” 

    “It looks like it’s pointed at something,” Belvar noted. 

    “What?” Elizabeth asked, a catch in her voice. As Belvar used his navigational equipment, Johnson fed him the apparent direction of the array. She was certain it would be Home, or Prime Base.  

    “Just out to space, roughly in the direction of galactic center.”  

    She let her breath out with a whoof. “So someone snuck into New Warsaw to steal asteroids and make a… telescope?” 

    Nobody laughed. New Warsaw wasn’t on the Cartography Guild’s records as an existing stargate. When the Hussars found it, they’d realized they had the ultimate hidden base. Nobody would dare go to a star system without a stargate unless they had hyperspace shunts to jump back out. When you looked at the stellar details of New Warsaw, it only said there was a burned out husk of a star and no real mineral wealth. Why would you bother?  

    Between that and the fact that the Hussars were dug in and ready to fight, it was one of the most secure places in the galaxy. At least it was until the Omega War. Since then, at least some knew where they were. It wasn’t quite public knowledge. Their new enemies, the SIs, had likely tried to get in many times to set up spies. Had she just stumbled upon an unknown success? 

    “If this is Jim Cartwright’s super-secret Raknar base, when’s the last time they were here?” Johnson asked.  

    Elizabeth used her rank access to examine the system logs. She indexed the data, looking for any visits from the Cavaliers. A couple routine visits, one for the commissioning of a Hero-class ship named after one of Cartwright’s men, and another with the rest of the Horsemen to meet on New Warsaw. None of them here long enough to visit Upsilon-4. For that matter, she couldn’t find any mention of the asteroid for more than five years.  

    “Been a long time,” she simply said. “Looks like they abandoned it.” 

    “Well, someone else didn’t,” Johnson said. “Look, there’s a spin refinery.” The image centered on an apparatus they’d all seen in the Hussars’ shipyard, a rotating assembly used to separate melted metals. In gravity, you just melted and skimmed; in zero-G, it wasn’t quite that easy.  

    The asteroid fragment they’d been tracking was now only hundreds of meters from Upsilon-4. It was too far away to see tiny details; the Petal wasn’t equipped with a sophisticated visual enhancement system. They could see tiny dots moving from Upsilon-4 and floating out to the asteroid, which was quickly beginning to swarm with activity.  

    “Well, this is why nobody noticed where the fragments were going,” Belvar said.  

    “Why not?” Elizabeth asked.  

    “Once they got them close to Upsilon-4, deep system tracking wouldn’t think they were any different than Upsilon-4. The window to notice the fragments was only a few days.” 

    “You’d still think they’d notice,” Johnson said.  

    “Space is big.” Belvar shrugged.  

    “None of that matters,” Elizabeth interjected in what she was sure would devolve into another nerd argument. “What matters is who is doing this, and why?”  

    “I wish we had the sensor suite of a Sleeper-class,” Belvar mused. “You can count the hairs on an Oogar’s ass at a million kilometers with their cameras.”  

    “Sounds like you’re talking from experience,” Strathers said, and the others chuckled.  

    “You think those are people in space suits?” Elizabeth asked, squinting at the crappy flat display.  

    Belvar messed with the image digitally, as much as he could, but only made it larger and blurry. “It could be anything,” he admitted. “Bots, Humans in suits, Tortantula…”  

    “I think we’d see the legs,” Strathers mumbled, concentrating on the poorly enhanced image, not realizing she was the butt of the joke.  

    An alarm suddenly sounded, and Belvar cursed.  

    “What is it?” Elizabeth asked.  

    “Rear sensors,” he said. “Damn it, I’ve been too busy watching the damned bogie, and now Upsilon-4, to notice someone coming up behind.” The navigator swung instruments around and quickly assessed what he was seeing.  

    “Stand by to go to full power,” Elizabeth said to Johnson, who nodded. She brought the tactical system online. Used to the arrays of weapons on an Egleesius-class, looking at the single laser and missile launcher made her feel naked and alone, surrounded by predators.  

    “Wait,” Belvar said, holding up a hand as he worked with the rear telescope. The image of stars swayed dizzily, then focused on a point before zooming in to reveal a familiar shape. “Speak of the devil!” He laughed.  

    “And the devil appears,” Elizabeth finished. “What’s a Sleeper-class intel cutter doing out here?”  

    “Probably looking for us,” Strathers suggested. The comms console flashed; a laser was trying to make contact with them.  

    “Let’s hear it,” Elizabeth said, and pulled on her headphones.  

    “Stamen 3, this is Isaac Hopper.” 

    Elizabeth grinned. “Isaac Hopper, this is Stamen 3 Actual. How you doing this fine morning?” 

    “It is afternoon. I am fine. Can I render aid?”  

    Elizabeth’s eyes narrowed. Whoever this captain was, he was wired pretty tight. She used her pinplants to access the ship’s records. “Captain Richard Brown, isn’t it?”  

    “Lieutenant Kevin Brown, actually. Isn’t Lieutenant Harold Carter in command there?”  

    “He was sick, so I took over command.”  

    “I see. Can I assist?”  

    Something was digging at the back of her brain. Brown was acting strange. She couldn’t put a finger directly on it, though. Regardless, she couldn’t look a gift horse in the mouth. The Sleeper-class were twice the size of a Petal, and well-armed for their size, with dual forward/aft missile tubes and gigawatt lasers. Hardly a battlecruiser, but a hell of a lot better than a corvette. Even though they were designated cutters, they were really closer to escort frigates, only limited in firepower because they also had hyperspace shunts, and by necessity, a much more massive powerplant.  

    “We were sent out here to trace a missing asteroid.” She quickly detailed what had happened over the intervening time they’d been out on the tiny Petal following the asteroid. 

    “Fascinating,” Brown said simply. “You have been on that little ship a long time. I will come alongside and help.”  

    “That’s a fine offer,” Elizabeth said, “but I’m not sure what you can do.”  

    “My ship is much more capable. My laser communicator is designed to reach base; yours is not. We should report this.”  

    “Makes sense,” Strathers said.  

    Elizabeth was reluctant. She had to admit to herself, it had been fun to be in the middle of something important again, even if they were only a little piece of the game. Still, the mission was more important than her own sense of fun. “Roger that, Isaac Hopper. Standing by.” She turned to her crew. “Better suit up, this little tub only has the one airlock, and I don’t trust it 100%.” 

    Isaac Hopper approached using its cold gas thrusters, although it had a lot more of them than the little corvette. In less than an hour, the cutter was alongside them and closing to dock. It wasn’t larger than Stamen 3 by a large margin, but the two were built for entirely different purposes.  

    “Handle the docking, Ensign Strathers,” Elizabeth ordered.  

    “Yes, Captain.” The young ensign activated the docking lights and close-approach sensors. A second later, she yelped in surprise.  

    “What?” Elizabeth jumped, turning to look. Strather’s eyes were wide, and she was pointing at the docking camera screen. Isaac Hopper was only 100 meters away and closing. At that distance, it was easy to recognize a Human body, hand crushed in the closed airlock door, frozen and desiccated from exposure to vacuum. As the other ship’s thrusters fired, the movement jarred the body, and the corpse seemed to wave at them in death.  

    “Oh, shit,” Elizabeth snarled and reached for the corvette’s weapon controls.  

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Gobi Desert, Emergence Area, New Warsaw System 

    “Emergence in the New Warsaw system,” the helmsman reported. 

    “Thank you, Ensign,” Captain Parker said. “Comms, you can expect the picket fleet to give us a call.” 

    “Holy crap, there are drones and combat ships everywhere!” Tactical exclaimed.  

    “Be very careful,” Sansar cautioned. “They’re riled up about something.”  

    “I have a Captain Chigasoolu of the Byczyna calling,” the comms officer reported.  

    “Put him on the main Tri-V, please.”  

    After a couple of moments, the Bakulu appeared. “Greetings, Captain Parker and Colonel Enkh, and welcome back to New Warsaw. Can I inquire as to the nature of your business here?” 

    “Sure,” Sansar said. “I’m bringing a gift for your boss.” 

    “Hopefully this is better than the last time the Golden Horde came bearing gifts…” 

    Sansar chuckled. “It’s much better, in fact, and it’s partially to make amends for that. Can I find Colonel Cromwell on Prime Base?”  

    “She is. You should know we’ve been having… difficulties here.” 

    “Can you be more specific, Captain?”  

    “Some of them Commander Cromwell will need to explain, but one of our intelligence ships was hijacked, and we’ve been having random ships appearing, holding refugees from conflicts around the galaxy.” 

    “Yeah, that would be difficult.” 

    “For safety’s sake, you and your ship will have to be scanned before we can let you off.” 

    “Scanned, how?” 

    “With an SI detector.” 

    “Ah, I understand.” 

    “Stand by; I will tie Commander Cromwell in to this communication.” After a second, the Tri-V display split in half, with Alexis claiming the new half. 

    “Sansar, welcome to New Warsaw. Should I be worried that you’re here?” 

    “I have a number of things for you,” Sansar replied, not answering the question. “I wanted to give you advance warning of some impending arrivals, so it doesn’t cause… consternation with your picket force.” 

    “What are you talking—” 

    “It’s arriving,” the sensor tech announced. 

    Sansar glanced at the main plot as a number of new objects entered the system, one after the other. 

    Alexis cocked her head as she looked at something off-screen. “That looks like a shipyard… and other things. It kind of looks familiar, too.” 

    “That’s because it probably is,” Sansar replied. “There are four shipyards and manufactories, a couple of solar power facilities, plus a control facility, a defensive module, and living spaces for the crew.” 

    “I know! This looks like one of the Weapons Conglomerate facilities from Kop’ka. Tell me you didn’t steal it!” 

    “Steal it?” Sansar shrugged. “It’s been sitting there for more than five years. That’s ‘abandoned’ in my book. We were just salvaging it. But if you’re asking if I took it, yeah, I did. I didn’t want someone else stealing it, and I thought it would make a pretty good system upgrade—not only for defense, but for its other capabilities, too. I checked it out with the Hunter/Killer box you gave me; it’s clean.” 

    Alexis nodded. “The best defense is a good offense.” 

    “That’s what my intel officer said.” Sansar smiled. “There’s just one little problem with it.” 

    “The databases for the manufactories are empty.” 

    “Well, yes, they are, but I figured you’d be able to load them up with whatever you were making, and then you’d have four more shipyards. What I was actually referring to is the fact that we have no idea how to make it do the whole directed EMP thing. I’m hoping some of your little friends will show us how to make it work.” 

    “They aren’t my little friends, they’re Jim’s little friends.” 

    “Well, hopefully someone—maybe someone special—can figure it out.” 

    Alexis smiled. “We’ll see what we can do. I take it you’re grabbing the other two facilities for yourself?” 

    “Well, yes, and the defense of Earth. We’ve been doing some analysis and… well, I’d rather tell you in person. Do you mind if I come over in a shuttle?” 

    “That’s fine; see you soon. Hey, before you go, have you heard anything from Nigel or Capital Planet? They’ve both gone strangely silent.” 

    “I’m on my way to Capital Planet,” Sansar said. “We can talk more when I get to Prime Base.” Alexis looked like she was going to say something else, but Sansar pushed the button, breaking the transmission. She looked to Captain Parker. “Can I borrow a shuttle?” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Merchant Guild Headquarters, Capital Planet 

    Shol-Sheck arrived early and took the Speaker’s seat at the front of the room. 

    “Is that wise?” asked her assistant, Char-Creck. 

    “Negotiate from a position of strength,” Shol-Sheck replied. “If I am seen to be the Speaker, many will not question it.” She shrugged. “And those who will question it—like the Veetanho—are going to question it regardless.” 

    “At least they won’t be here,” Char-Creck replied. “As it turns out, I just found their invitation yesterday. It had been misfiled, unfortunately. They should receive it in another several weeks, I think.” 

    “So they won’t be here for at least another month and a half. Your administrative skills are sadly lacking, Char-Creck.” 

    “I apologize,” she said with their species’ equivalent of a smile. “Perhaps you should fire me.” 

    “No. I think I will keep you on. Obviously, you need closer supervision.” Both chuckled. 

    The door at the back of the room opened, and a Bakulu slid into the room, followed by a Veetanho. The Goltar looked at each other in shock. 

    “Surprised to see me?” the Veetanho asked. “It’s a good thing we maintain close relations with some of the other races. It seems our notification of this gathering must have gotten held up along the way somewhere.” 

    Shol-Sheck bobbed her head. “I know it was sent out; the Information Guild must have mishandled it along the way somewhere. I’m sure it will get there… eventually.” 

    “I’m sure it will. Probably long after I would have had a chance to make it here in time.” 

    “I have no idea how they would have found out,” Char-Creck commed via pinplants as the Veetanho came forward and sat at the Council table. “I sent the invitation to their allies yesterday, along with the one to the Veetanho.” 

    “I’m sure they’ll have some excuse, but it is interesting that their representative is here on time.” 

    “Why’s that?” 

    “Because any meeting they might have had with another race would have had to have been the most coincidental of things. It is far more likely that they are the ones who blew up the Mercenary Guild. If they were the ones who did so, they would know to be here for a reorganizational meeting.” 

    “They will bear watching, then.” 

    “They always bear watching.” 

    While they’d been talking, Shol-Sheck had welcomed the Bakulu, who’d—eventually—made it to the front of the room and taken a seat in one of the Council chairs. The Tortantula, Flatar, and MinSha reps had taken their seats at the table, as well. A number of the other races in the assembly had come in and taken their seats, including proxies for all the surrogate races the Veetanho had.  

    Noticeably absent were the Human, Oogar, and Lumar reps from the Council, which was disappointing, as they were easy to understand and bait into doing what you wanted of them, especially the Oogar and the Lumar. Food worked with the Oogar, and big words confused the Lumar, allowing both to be easily led. The Humans would normally do the opposite of whatever the Veetanho wanted, which made them useful, too. Nigel Shirazi had been getting too close to the previous Veetanho rep, though; his loss in the bombing was actually fairly useful—not that she’d have ever said that to anyone. 

    A quick count showed 17 in attendance, but the make-up of those 17 didn’t give her the moist and slimy feeling that she had the votes she needed to be elected Speaker. She shrugged internally; she had a contingency for that. 

    “Okay, let’s get started,” Shol-Sheck said as the clock hit the designated hour. The rear door opened, and a Sumatozou entered. She motioned for him to take his bench.  

    “At the moment, we don’t have a majority of the members here,” she continued, once the Sumatozou was seated, “so we will have to put off any questions of who is to be the Speaker until next time.” 

    “Point of order,” the Veetanho said, raising a paw. “The rules say we need a Speaker in order to hold the meeting.” 

    “And we have one,” Shol-Sheck replied. “Me. The Goltar held the Speakership before the unfortunate incident at the last meeting, and we will continue to hold it.” 

    “This meeting is a complete reorganization of not only the guild, but especially the Council,” the Veetanho noted. “A vote is in order for who will be the next Speaker; it shouldn’t automatically transfer to the race that was unable to protect the membership of the guild at the last meeting.” 

    “The events of the last meeting are not the Goltar’s fault!” Shol-Sheck replied, seething. 

    “The Council and guild members have never been wiped out before. It happened under your leadership. Therefore, it is 100% solely your fault and your responsibility. As the only Speaker to allow the guild hall to be bombed, I do not feel your race is the best one to lead us back to the prominence we once had.” 

    A murmur ran through the assembly, and several heads nodded at the table; Shol-Sheck realized she was close to losing the audience. 

    “Unfortunately, we can’t have a vote on the Speakership; guild rules state that we need to have a majority of the voting races here, and at the moment there are only 18.” She raised a tentacle. “But don’t worry about increasing security. Not only have we been working with the Merchant Guild to ensure we don’t have a repeat of the bombing, my race is going to provide a fleet to check any ships coming into the system in the first place.” 

    “Kind of like locking the feed pens after the hatchlings have killed all the livestock,” the Tortantula rep noted. 

    “And who’s setting the rules for who is allowed to approach the planet?” the Veetanho rep asked. “You?” 

    “Well, yes, I provided guidance to the fleet admiral—” 

    “Not good enough,” the Veetanho rep declared. “You didn’t stop the first bombing; it’s doubtful you could stop a second event from happening.” 

    “Is that because you know how the first was carried out?” Shol-Sheck asked. 

    “What is that supposed to mean?” 

    “It means I know your invitation to this meeting accidentally went out late, yet here you are. It’s almost as if you knew the last meeting was going to be bombed.” 

    “Of course we knew it had been bombed.” Another murmur went through the crowd. “We had a delegation here visiting the Trade Guild. When the Mercenary Guild was blown up, they returned to our home world to report the event.” The Veetanho rep shrugged. “I’m sure you can look at the Cartography Guild records, and they will substantiate that a Veetanho ship left shortly after the bombing to return to Lytoshaan.” 

    “I’m sure I will,” Shol-Sheck replied, “but I suspect it will be as you say. Pretty convenient that you just happened to have a delegation there.” Heads nodded—or whatever they did to indicate agreement—around the room. 

    “The Veetanho don’t have a singular interest in galactic affairs; we have a wide variety of interests, just like most of the other Mercenary Guild members. Are not the Goltar engaged in trade? There are more Maki in the Merchant Guild than the Merc Guild. And the Sumatozou? They have more people involved in both the Cartography and the Merchant Guilds than they do here.” 

    The Veetanho rep paused and stared at Shol-Sheck. “Now, unless you have some sort of evidence that the Veetanho would do such a thing, it is my opinion that you are only voicing this opinion so no one will look closely at how the Goltar have mismanaged the Mercenary Guild under their leadership. Profits are down, contracts are nearly impossible to get, and now—for the first time ever—we have to reconstitute the guild assembly because the Goltar allowed the last Mercenary Guild meeting, as well as the entire guild headquarters, to be blown up.  

    “That is far more damning—and all verifiable—than any sort of blinder you might try to throw over our eyes, or any misdirection you might seek to employ.” 

    “The fact remains that the rules state we must have a majority of the races present to vote on a new Speaker; therefore—” 

    “No they don’t,” the MinSha rep said. “In fact, the rules don’t say anything about reconstituting after a loss of the entire assembly.” 

    “That’s because our founders would never have believed our leadership would ever be so incompetent as to let the assembly get blown up!” The Veetanho rep sat back in her seat with a smile. 

    Shol-Sheck raised a tentacle and nodded to the MinSha rep. “You are correct, and because of that, we will apply the rules we do have. And the one rule regarding the death of a Speaker is that the race that held the Speakership will provide an alternate Speaker until such time as a majority exists that can vote on the next Speaker.” 

    The MinSha cocked her head. “That is true and an adequate reading of the rules. In the interests of moving our business along, I suggest we table the discussion on who should be Speaker until we have enough members here to vote, in accordance with the rules.” 

    “Any dissent?” Shol-Sheck looked down the table at the Veetanho rep, but she obviously realized she’d lost and shook her head. “Hearing none, the issue is tabled. 

    “First order of—” 

    “I suggest the first order of business,” the Veetanho rep interrupted, “would be to hold a vote of confidence on whether to allow the Goltar to continue to lead the Mercenary Guild.” 

    “We just decided that,” Shol-Sheck replied. “The matter has been tabled.” 

    “No, we tabled the discussion on whether you should be allowed to fill in for your predecessor after his untimely death. I’m requesting a vote as to whether the Goltar race should continue to lead the Council. That is a different issue entirely.” 

    Shol-Sheck’s tentacles dropped. “It’s not—” 

    “Actually, it is a different issue,” the MinSha rep said. “A vote of no-confidence is under an entirely different section of the guild charter.” 

    “You can’t be serious.” 

    “I am serious,” the MinSha replied, “and the Veetanho rep is well within her rights to ask for one.” 

    “We still don’t have a majority—” 

    “The rules for a no-confidence vote are different. You only need a majority of the members in attendance to make a Speaker step down.” She tapped a limb on the table. “I’m afraid I’m going to have to agree with the Veetanho rep. I second the call for a vote of no-confidence.” 

    “Third,” the Tortantula rep said. 

    “Fourth,” the Flatar added with a nod. “And with that, there is a majority of the Council members present, which means a vote is needed by all the members in attendance.” 

    “Stars and novas,” Shol-Sheck muttered, but she realized she’d been outfoxed. She had to call for a vote, or anything else she did was null and void. “Very well,” she said, capitulating. “We will take a vote. All those lacking confidence in my ability to continue as the Speaker, please raise an appendage.” 

    In addition to the four at the Council table, the four Veetanho proxy races voted “no confidence,” as well as the Goka representative. 

    “That’s nine votes of no confidence,” Shol-Sheck said, after counting the votes a second time, “which is not a majority of the 18 in attendance. I will retain the Speakership until we have a majority of members present to perform a full vote.” 

    “Wait!” the Veetanho exclaimed. “What if one of the members who didn’t vote wanted to abstain? Then nine would be a majority over the eight remaining.” 

    “That isn’t the way it’s written,” the MinSha rep explained. “The wording is ‘majority of the members in attendance,’ not ‘majority of the members voting.’” 

    “Give me a second,” the Veetanho rep said. “I’m sure anyone who wanted to abstain could leave the room…” 

    “The vote has already been held,” the MinSha rep said. “Despite my personal feelings, Shol-Sheck is the valid leader of the Council and the guild, at least for the time being.” She turned to the Speaker. “So what is your plan?” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Commander’s Quarters, Prime Base, New Warsaw System 

    “Have a seat,” Alexis said, indicating the side of the table opposite her.  

    “Thanks,” Sansar said, sitting down in the slightly reduced gravity. 

    “You were very secretive on the Tri-V; what’s up?” 

    “I have a couple of things. First, our analysis of the Kahraman’s attacks indicate they almost made it through the Merc Guild blockade on their last push. If they’d captured one more system, they would have broken out. As the defensive fleet there is smaller now than it was then…” 

    “If they were to hit it hard, they’d probably make it through.” 

    “That’s what my people think,” Sansar said with a nod. “And, since they may have better weapons than us—” 

    “We need to upgrade our systems’ defenses.” 

    “Correct. I’m hoping your Ghost or Geek Squad can figure out how to use the shipyard facility’s defensive modes. If we can, we’ll have a big advantage when the Kahraman come knocking.” 

    “And if Ghost or the Geek Squad can’t operate them?”  

    “Maybe the Aku can figure it out or the Dusman.” She shook her head. “The Dusman—despite having operated them in the past—probably don’t know how to; at least that’s what the ones who were with me said. I think this is also endemic to the Dusman in general—although they had a lot of technical know-how in the past, I think they’ve lost a lot of it and are faking it until they can get back to the way they used to be.” 

    “Interesting,” Alexis said. “I’ve had similar indications.” She tilted her head. “What do you think it means that they haven’t confided these things in us?” 

    “Maybe they’re embarrassed that they’re a shadow of what they once were,” Sansar said with a shrug. 

    “Maybe,” Alexis said. “I think it’s also that they’re used to being the big guys. They think they should be in charge.” 

    “From what my intel people have been saying, that’s correct. The Dusman have been taking control of contested systems, stopping fights, and helping people all over the Tolo arm.” 

    “Conquests?” Alexis asked, her eyebrows going up. 

    “No, not a single outright invasion. It’s always played super soft. They took Sulaadar a while back, but without a shot.” 

    “So Transki is out of there? Good.”  

    “Yes, and since they took the system, the whole area is safe. No more pirate activity.”  

    “Makes sense; we… Ghost and I, figured that might be their game. Thanks for the confirmation.” Sansar nodded, trying to avoid what was coming. “Oh, you need to know something else.”  

    “Sure, what?” she asked, seizing on the delay. Alexis explained the attempted coup and the outcome. “Wow, you’ve been busy.” 

    Alexis waved it away. “The Elders are a bunch of old, xenophobic farts; they have little interest in what happens outside the system. They wanted to get richer; that’s it. Either way, they’re out of here. We’re going to be relocating those who were behind the plot elsewhere.” Her eyes unfocused. “I just can’t decide where yet.” 

    Sansar nodded and sighed.  

    “What’s wrong?” Alexis asked, sensing the other woman’s unease.  

    “All that before was the easy thing.” Sansar squared her shoulders, but found she couldn’t go on. Despite working through this conversation in her head a hundred times over the last few weeks, words failed her. 

    “If the Kahraman attacking is the ‘easy’ thing, I’m scared to hear what else you have to say.” 

    “I’m sorry to have to tell you this,” Sansar said, finally summoning up the energy to continue, “but the Merc Guild headquarters was destroyed by a nuclear bomb. There were no survivors.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Commander’s Quarters, Prime Base, New Warsaw 

    Alexis blinked, her mouth open slightly in confusion. “What?” she asked, her mind not fully processing what she’d just heard.  

    “There’s no official evidence, but based on reports from the other guilds, it looks like the entire Mercenary Guild council was killed in a terrorist act. The nuke wasn’t big, but the council building was completely destroyed. At least 1,000 are dead. The bomb was detonated in the council chamber.” Sansar took a deep breath and let it out through her teeth. “I’m sure he never knew what happened.”  

    “Even the Veetanho?” Alexis asked, her voice a low growl. As she spoke, she used her pinplants to bring her office’s Tri-V to life. In a second, all the worlds the Veetanho controlled in the galaxy were highlighted.  

    “There’s been no word from the Veetanho,” Sansar said, her eyes growing wider as she realized what was being displayed. “Alexis, I know how you must feel…” 

    “Do you?” she snapped. “I don’t know if you’ve ever had so much as a boyfriend. I’m in my 40s, Sansar. I’d never known love until Nigel. But we couldn’t just elope; it was… complicated. The Hussars didn’t belong to me. I’m their commander and the leader. In many ways, I’m more than a governor of New Warsaw now, at least until they elect someone.” 

    “So you’re elected?”  

    Alexis laughed bitterly. “I was appointed by the Elders.”  

    “I don’t think anyone knows that; I know I didn’t know.” 

    “No, you wouldn’t. We don’t exactly advertise our internal workings, do we? All the Horsemen got rich quick, like world-buying rich.” She looked at Sansar pointedly. “Some in more legitimate ways than others. The Hussars, though, besides the money from that first contract, found treasures. Pegasus and Ghost. Those treasures led to another—New Warsaw. We haven’t needed to run a contract in decades. This system is rich in everything you could ask for except F11 and Astatine-222. 

    “The star here was induced to surge 100,000 years ago. The surge shattered two resource-rich planets, which is the source of our mineral wealth, and blew the atmosphere from the gas giant.” 

    “Then you do have F11?” 

    “A little bit, but most was already gone, probably gobbled up by the Dusman. This was their system, which is why nobody knew about it. They built Prime Base to defend it. And you’re right, their tech was outrageous. They not only triggered the sun into a minor supernova, they protected Home’s atmosphere and biomes. Who knows how many star systems they engineered like this? Now they can’t figure out how their own Raknars work, which is why intel says they’re running around recovering old ones, parts, and facilities.” 

    “My people guessed that was what was happening as well,” Sansar agreed. “I wouldn’t be surprised if many of these systems they’re taking possession of have their old tech buried in them.” 

    “Regardless, my point about being the leader of the Hussars was that I have limited choices in a mate and my successor. Yes, I have a lot of swing in it, but not the ultimate say. For five years, I’ve been trying to convince the Elders to let me marry Nigel Shirazi. They were afraid the Shirazis would have a claim against the Hussars, and they might have been right.  

    “Their attempted takeover was the direct result of our engagement. It brought it all to a head. Maybe it would have happened anyway.” She shrugged, her expression bitter. “Who knows? But with the Elders no longer having a say, it didn’t matter. We could get married right away. And now he’s fucking dead!” 

    She stood and slammed her fists on the desk, causing pain to explode in both hands. Her whole body shook, and she did something she almost never did. She cried. Frustration in all the wasted effort to get the family approval to marry. Loss for her children, who’d never again see their father. And the loss of a man she’d grown to feel was her soulmate.  

    Then someone’s arms were around her. Alexis stiffened for a minute, then she felt Sansar’s lips next to her ear; “Би чамтай хамт гашуудаж байна.” Her pinplants translated it from the Mongolian: “I grieve with you.” Alexis gave in to her emotions. 

    A few minutes later, the two separated. She whispered her thanks to Sansar as she wiped away tears. She’d never felt close to another woman. Her sister had been gone too soon for them to grow close as adults. The other woman touched Alexis’ cheek and nodded. No more words were needed, and Sansar returned to her seat. Alexis remained standing and looked at the map, the other woman sensing her thoughts.  

    “We don’t know the Veetanho were behind this.” 

    “We don’t know they weren’t,” Alexis said.  

    “One of the reports I read said the Veetanho rep was seen traveling to the council meeting.” 

    “So the rat bastard blew itself up,” Alexis said and shrugged. “I’ve been busy. Busy building ships. After the last war, I had no intention of being forced to fight behind the power curve again. We’ve quadrupled our throw weight from our highest number; the only thing we’re behind on is trained crews.” Her eyes narrowed, and a course appeared in the Tri-V, starting at the nearest Veetanho holding and proceeding in a grand tour ending at Capital. “Ghost can run the ships, though. At least when they’re all in the same fleet.” She stared at the map. The look on her face was predatory. “I could kill them all,” she whispered. “It would be easy.” 

    “Alexis…” 

    “Not many would complain.” She looked up at Sansar, her earlier rage returning. “Shit, more than a few would celebrate the white blighters’ deaths.”  

    “The Peacemakers would have a say. You’ve heard about the Crusaders?”  

    “I have, and I’m not impressed. It sounds like the Peacemakers are building their own army.” 

    “That’s not far from the truth,” Sansar agreed. “What with the Mercenary Guild holding up all contracts, including their own, we’ve estimated the highest probability is that the Peacemakers are building up to head off a full-blown shooting war between the guilds.” 

    “What the bloody hell do they think has been going on for better than four years already?” Alexis demanded.  

    “Denial, mostly. The warfare between guilds has been covered in a layer of lies and subterfuge. The average Union citizen hasn’t noticed because the mail is still being delivered and the trains are on time.” 

    Alexis looked up at her, uncertain what she meant.  

    “Goods and services are still flowing.” 

    “Oh, I see. Yeah, it’s a different universe from what Humans would be used to. We’ve been isolated here for a very long time, and most of the aliens who’ve come to live here are refugees themselves. Chigasoolu tell you we’ve been getting shiploads of refugees?” 

    Sansar nodded. “Mimir?” 

    “Exactly,” Alexis said. “Ghost seems to think it’s another SI, but based on what we’ve seen from them, it doesn’t make any sense.”  

    “An SI would be sending bombs and drones to kill us,” Sansar agreed.  

    Alexis glanced at the Tri-V war plan a final time and wiped it away. “So, what are you going to do about this on Capital? You wouldn’t have come here dry; you never do.”  

    “Jim and I talked about it. The temporary council rep sent a letter to him in his official Federation capacity saying we needed to send a representative. I tried to get him to go, but he said if he did, I’d have to take over his job.” 

    “I don’t think Jim’s enjoying the position anymore.” 

    “No, he’s aged a good 20 years in the time I’ve known him.” Sansar’s face took on a brooding look. “Something’s gotten under his skin. I’d hoped when his son was born, he’d mellow a bit, but if anything, he’s gotten more reactionary.” 

    “All the wrong parts of Nigel wore off on him,” Alexis said and looked down at the blank table. Nigel’s boyish grin floated in her mind’s eye, reminding her she’d never see him again.  

    “There’s something more,” Sansar continued. “I don’t know what it is. He was too reckless on Khatash, too willing to put his life on the line. Maybe it’s his injury, or maybe he doesn’t think it matters now that he has an heir?” She shook her head and frowned.  

    “So he made you go?”  

    “Yeah, it’s me. I considered roping you into it, but with Nigel…” 

    “You were afraid I’d show up with a Keesius and blow the place to hell?” 

    “The thought crossed my mind.” 

    “Mine, too.” 

    “Anyway, I’ll go, but I’d like you to stand by, just in case?” 

    “Absolutely.” Alexis brought the map back up and pointed. “It would take two weeks for me to respond, after the two weeks for your message to arrive. A month delay wouldn’t be much help. I’ll send a squadron here.” She pointed. “Send a courier if you need help. Two weeks is better than four.” 

    “Sounds good.” Sansar stood. “I am sorry, Alexis. He was a good man.” 

    “He was, and I was looking forward to finding out what it would be like to be married.” She looked down at her desk and sighed. “Good luck; you’ll need it.” Sansar turned to go. “If you go out like he did, nobody’s talking me out of it.” 

    “I wouldn’t have it any other way,” Sansar said and left.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Merchant Guild Headquarters, Capital Planet 

    “The Besquith rep arrived today,” Char-Creck said. 

    Shol-Sheck looked up from her slate. “That is unfortunate.” 

    “How so? There’s now a majority. We can get you installed as the permanent Speaker.” 

    “It is likely that the Besquith will vote with the Veetanho for my removal as Speaker. Contact the representatives and let them know that I’m sick. Therefore, the meetings today and the rest of the week are cancelled.” 

    “They are sure to see through the excuse.” 

    “Of course they are; however, that is better than actually holding the meetings and allowing them to vote me out of the Speakership. Perhaps the Humans and someone else we can count on will show up next week. We can afford to give it a little time and see who shows up next.”  

      

    * * * 

      

    CIC, EMS Ordos Desert, Sol System 

    “Emergence. Markers confirm Sol system,” the helmsman replied. 

    “Very well,” Captain Shoygu replied. “Contact the Minister of War’s department and let them know we’re going to have company.” 

    “Yes, sir,” the comms officer replied. 

    Captain Shoygu turned to Naran. “Which do you think will happen first? Will we get someone in command, or will the pieces begin arriving?” 

    “My credits are on the pieces arriving. Want to bet?” 

    “Bet on the bureaucracy? No, thanks. I didn’t get to be a starship captain by gambling on no-win situations.” 

    Naran chuckled. “Can’t blame a girl for trying.” 

    “The pieces are arriving,” the sensor tech reported a couple of minutes later. 

    “See?” Captain Shoygu asked. “I knew it was a sucker’s bet.” 

    “Yes, but Sansar said it would get things moving within the ministry.” 

    “I have the Minister of War on the line,” the comms officer said before another minute had gone by.  

    Naran smiled. “I guess she was right.” 

    “Put the minister on the Tri-V,” Shoygu ordered. 

    “Coming now.” 

    Jim Cartwright’s face filled the main view. “Can you tell me why my emergence area is filled with a number of objects before I start blowing them up?” 

    “I’ve got this,” Naran said to Shoygu before turning to the Tri-V. “Minister Cartwright, I’m Naran Enkh. The objects in question are two of the three shipyard facilities from the Kop’ka system. Sansar Enkh sends them with her regards.” 

    Jim’s brows knitted. “But… didn’t those belong to—” 

    “They did,” Naran said, cutting him off. “They have, however, been derelicts for more than five years, and Sansar claimed them as salvage. We also claimed the four ships currently attached to my ship.” 

    “What am I supposed to do with them?” 

    “Not only are they shipyards—as I mentioned—but they also have a defensive capability you’ll see mentioned in the reports from the Kop’ka battle.” 

    Jim’s eyes unfocused a little, and Naran could tell he was accessing the reports on his pinplants. A few moments later, he nodded and said, “Okay, I see that. What am I supposed to do with them?” 

    “There are two full facilities, each having four shipyards and manufactories, a couple of solar power facilities, a control facility, a defensive module, and living spaces for the crew.” 

    “That’s a lot of capability. I ask again, though, what am I supposed to do with them?” 

    “They’re gifts to your office from Sansar, to be used wherever you see fit. Just tell me where you’d like them, and we’ll set them up for you. Sansar hopes the Horde will get a tax break for them, and for our efforts, but even if we don’t, she said she’d sleep more soundly at night in a system whose defenses include the facilities we’ve just delivered.” 

    “Will the third one be arriving also?” 

    “No, that one went to New Warsaw. As their shipyard facilities are far more substantial than Earth’s, Sansar thought the optimal utilization would be for two of them to come to Earth and one to go to New Warsaw. The Horde needs the use of one of the facilities to finish off the four ships I brought back, but then they will both belong to the Ministry of War.” 

    “That will increase our capabilities substantially. Can I ask where Colonel Enkh is now?” 

    “She’s gone on to Capital Planet to fulfill her duties there, but she wanted to send these to Earth before she went. She said, ‘Just in case.’” 

    Jim’s eyes narrowed, and a grin slowly came onto his face. “Tell you what.” He said something to someone out of view, and data began to come through. “Here’s what I want you to do.”  

    Naran examined the data. “You want us to send one of them to the Jovian system?” 

    “Yes, exactly. I’m going to contact TFM Fleet Command and detach a pair of escorts to meet up with you. Send the last one in-system to cislunar orbit.” 

    “But Minister, we don’t have two teams to help set up. It’ll take quite a while to do the one at the moon, then move to Jupiter.”  

    “There’s no need to help with the Jupiter facilities.” 

    “These are extremely complicated facilities,” Naran noted.  

    Jim’s grin turned sly. “Oh, I’m counting on it. Please follow my directions. If you talk with Sansar again, please pass on my thanks.” His picture winked out. 

    “I don’t know,” Shoygu said. Naran looked at him, and he shook his head. “I don’t think he understands.” 

    “If there’s one thing you should remember about the Horsemen,” Naran said, “it’s to never underestimate them.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Petal-Class Corvette Stamen 3, Approaching Upsilon-4, New Warsaw 

    “They’re inside the damn shields!” Belvar screamed.  

    “Fuck it,” Elizabeth said as the power indicators came alive on the turret. One of the many issues with the ancient Maki-designed Petal-class was its lack of high-level automation through pinplants. Some tasks were completely controllable with them; others not at all. You could target missiles and bring up and controls the shields, but the ship’s pair of little lasers was almost manual. “If they’re inside our shields, we’re within theirs!”  

    The lasers online and armed, she’d used her pinplants to their limits. Control of the lasers would be via a pair of little alien-designed joysticks. She took one in each hand and sighed.  

    “Whoever took over that damn ship will know we’re onto them in two seconds!” Strathers yelled. “Range, 50 meters!’ 

    “Fine with me,” Elizabeth hissed. She got two green indicators on the tiny turrets, one mounted ventrally, on the ship’s belly, the other dorsally, on her top. With a coordinated twist, she spun both turrets to starboard, the cameras in the aiming aperture of both turrets moving far slower than she wished they would.  

    “He’s moving!” Belvar warned.  

    “I can see that,” Elizabeth snapped, trying to bring the weapons to bear. But the intel cutter was unerringly maneuvering in just the right way. At the last second, she abandoned trying to bring both turrets to bear and crushed the firing control on the dorsal turret.  

    A 100-megawatt laser sounds like a lot, until you work with ships mounting multiple 100-gigawatt lasers, like the Egleesius-class. Even so, at that close range, the beam was a 50-centimeter-wide scalpel slicing into Isaac Hopper. Armor heated white hot and flashed in a millisecond, scattering molten globules of metal like spinning stars. The now-hostile ship rolled with amazing agility, causing the laser to skitter along the hull, cutting a line through armor until the beam was no longer in contact.  

    The nature of the little corvette’s lasers allowed for a two-second beam before the emitters needed to recycle, allowing internal cooling systems to bring down the weapon’s temperature and avoid damage. A laser’s optics were critical to its function.  

    “He’s accelerating and yawing!” Belvar called out.  

    “The Sleeper-class main weapons are all forward facing,” Elizabeth said. “Don’t let them come to bear!” Acceleration slammed her back into her chair. She switched to the other turret, slewing it around as quickly as its drive motors would let her. Strathers fired the reaction thrusters—not the cold gas—full power. She yelped as she was slammed sideways, the seat’s harness biting into her ribs.  

    Elizabeth took a hasty shot, but the laser only slid across the Isaac Hopper’s more heavily-armored engine compartment.  

    “Now, now, now,” the voice of Lieutenant Kevin Brown came over the speaker, “is this the way friends in the same fleet treat each other?” 

    “You are not Kevin Brown,” Elizabeth yelled at the speaker. “Was that him hanging out the door?” 

    “I knew I should have ejected that corpse,” came a different, obviously non-Human voice. It still spoke English, but they knew it wasn’t a person speaking. A shiver ran up Elizabeth’s spine.  

    “You’re an SI,” she gasped. Laughter was her only answer.  

    “Use the Hunter/Killer Box!” Belvar said.  

    Elizabeth looked at the range. Isaac Hopper registered as five kilometers away, with the range opening. “He’s too damned far away now!” She cursed inwardly. If she’d just thought to check the box, or if it’d had an alarm. Even five kilometers away, the box clearly showed the presence of an SI, though it was outside its kill range. Fuck! 

    “His nose is coming around!” Strathers warned as the corvette’s maneuvering jets burned hard, and her torch fired, trying to keep Isaac Hopper’s nose from aligning. It was a losing battle. Meter by meter, it came to bear.  

    “Reverse the turn, all power!” she said and maxed out the shields. As they were slammed in the opposite direction, she brought the ventral laser to bear. “Brace!” she said as the other ship lined up and lasers lanced out. 

    Strathers was a better pilot than she gave herself credit for. Just as the Isaac Hopper fired, the pilot rolled the ship hard. Elizabeth’s own shot corkscrewed across the other ship, and this time she saw the flare of an explosion. One of its laser turrets was torn from Isaac Hopper’s hull in an arc of severed super-conducting powerlines, at the same time the three remaining enemy lasers lanced into Stamen 3. Her shields absorbed the first, then the second, and failed as the third hit. 

    Elizabeth was slammed against her restraints again, her head rocked to the side, and she had a perfect view as a nearly invisible beam of coherent light burned through the cockpit. Strathers was brilliantly illuminated for a microsecond before she was completely vaporized by megawatts of laser energy.  

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    CIC, EMS Gobi Desert, Emergence Area, Capital System 

    “Emergence in the Capital System,” the helmsman reported. 

    “Thank you, Ensign,” Captain Parker said. 

    “Targets!” the sensor tech called. “Lots of targets!” 

    “I’m being hailed by a Veetanho ship and a Goltar ship,” the comms officer said. “Both are very insistent.” 

    Parker turned to Sansar. “What’s the protocol?” 

    “I’d normally say talk to the bigger fleet first, but since we don’t know who that is, lets go with the Goltar. They held the Merc Guild Speaker position last.” 

    Parker nodded to the comms officer, and a Goltar appeared in the main Tri-V viewer. “I am Captain Shil-Tanis, commanding officer of the battleship Malicious. State your reason for being in the Capital system.” 

    “I’m Colonel Sansar Enkh, Human representative to the Merc Guild Council. I’m here for the reorganizational meeting of the Mercenary Guild.” 

    The Goltar chuckled. “If you’re here for that, you’re too late; it’s already been held. Still, if you are the Human representative, you may proceed. Additional meetings are being held in the Merchant Guild headquarters.” 

    “What do you mean, the meeting’s already been held? We weren’t here. I thought all the members had to be in place for the meeting to be held.”  

    “No, only a majority. Apparently there was a confidence vote, which upheld the Goltar rep as Speaker. You’ll have to contact the Council for more information.”  

    “What’s up with the Veetanho who’s calling our ship?” 

    “The Veetanho think they should be Speaker and have implemented a guard position here at the emergence area to harass incoming ships. The Speaker called for a countervailing presence and has stationed my squadron here to ensure the Veetanho don’t do anything that would upset the balance.” 

    “I see. Have there been any issues?” 

    “Not since my squadron took position here.” 

    “Are we free to proceed?” 

    “Yes you are. You needn’t talk to the Veetanho. If they harass you, please let me know.” He cut the transmission, and the Tri-V went blank. 

    “Sensors, what have you got?” Parker asked. 

    “It’s hard to say for sure, but it looks like about 30 Veetanho ships, led by three battleships, and 35 Goltar ships, also led by two battleships. The forces are roughly equal, but I wouldn’t particularly want to take on either of them, much less both.” 

    “I think not being between 60-some combatants that dislike each other is a great place to be. Helm, take us to Capital Planet, two Gs.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Merchant Guild Headquarters, Capital Planet 

    Sansar looked up at the entrance to the Merchant Guild as she pulled a small box out of her pack. The building was large and impressive, if not to the scale the Mercenary Guild Headquarters had been. She pushed a button on the box and frowned at the results. A Type 5 SI and 34 beings with SI-derived code—cogs—waited in the building. Additional SIs and cogs were within scanner range. Hundreds of them. 

    Sansar suppressed a shudder. She’d been happier not knowing that.  

    She looked at the box. “Want to tell me if it’s the Merc Guild SI waiting inside, or Mercurius?” she asked the box quietly. The box didn’t answer, but she hadn’t expected it to. Although she hadn’t thought about it until recently, it made sense that there was a Merc Guild SI. All the rest of the guilds seem to have them. 

    She hoped it was the Merc Guild SI waiting in the building. Mercurius—if a copy of him still existed—would only want her dead. A Merc Guild SI would at least have a use for her and—to this point, anyway—hadn’t been confrontational. She shrugged to herself.  

    At least if it is Mercurius, there’ll be 37 or so heavily-armed mercs I can count on to come to my aid. Unless the cogs were the former Merc Guild members, now under Mercurius’ control. She didn’t want to think about that possibility, but she found it extremely hard not to. Sansar thought about using the cleaning properties of the H/K Box, but decided to save that until she absolutely needed it. No sense tipping your hand early. 

    Swallowing her fear, she stuffed the box back into her pack and walked to the side door. Only people on Merchant Guild business were allowed to use the front door. Mercs—second-class citizens that they were—used the side door, where hopefully people wouldn’t see them coming and going as much. Sailors and dogs, stay off the grass, I guess. Sansar opened the door, walked into the administrative section of the temporary Merc Guild spaces, and came up short. The room was full of Goltar and little else.  

    “Are you the Human representative?” a Goltar asked as it flowed up to her quickly. 

    Sansar looked it up and down before answering. The alien seemed young and full of energy, without the sense of reserve that came to them in adulthood. 

    “Yes, I am the Human rep. My name is Sansar Enkh.” 

    “That is outstanding. You could not have arrived at a more propitious time. We will be starting the next assembly meeting shortly. I will let my superior know you are here. She will be very excited.” 

    “Where is the meeting being held?” 

    The Goltar pointed to a door. “It is through there.” 

    Sansar nodded and walked to the door. She could hear a low hum on the other side but couldn’t make out any words. She opened the door to find a fairly large conference facility, with a large number of aliens scattered throughout.  

    Although the room was mostly full, the aliens were spread out and talked in groups of two or—far less frequently—three, unlike what Humans would have done. Not a very collegial group. 

    She walked through the door, and a loud Beeeeep! sounded from the doorframe.  

    “Oh, I’m sorry,” the Goltar who had spoken with her said as she bounded back up to her. “There are no weapons allowed in the assembly chambers. Between the shootout a few years ago and now the bombing, the Speaker has outlawed all weapons. You’ll have to give me any personal weapons you may be carrying; I will return them to you when you leave.” 

    “And you are?” 

    “I am Char-Creck.” 

    Sansar pulled the laser pistol from her holster and the backup slug-thrower from her boot. So much for 37 heavily-armed mercs. “I’ll expect them back in the same condition you got them.” 

    “I will take good care of them.” She pointed a tentacle at Sansar’s pack. “Any other weapons or bomb-making material in there?” 

    “No.” 

    “Then enjoy the meeting.” Char-Creck waved a tentacle at the door to the chambers. 

    “Right,” Sansar muttered. “If I survive it, I’ll consider that a win.” 

    Sansar went through the door again, and most of the conversation stopped for a moment as all eyes turned toward her, then looked away as she stared back at each of them. Conversation started back up again with a jerky quality to it. Aliens tried to glance surreptitiously at her; she appeared to be the topic of many of the conversations. 

    Sansar decided to find her spot at the council table and walked down the slightly elevated seating to the dais at the bottom, upon which sat a large table. She walked to the back side of it and sat down where she could watch the ebb and flow of the members. She expected it would be equally important to know who spoke together and who avoided each other.  

    “That’s my seat!” a loud voice to her side said. 

    She turned to find a wall of purple that extended up and up. 

    “I said, that’s my seat!” the Oogar roared again. 

    No sense angering the Oogar on Day One. Sansar got up.  

    “Thanks,” the Oogar said just as loudly as he dropped into the seat. The metal shrieked in protest, but held. 

    Sansar smiled. The Oogar wasn’t angry; that was just his inside voice. She’d forgotten how loud they were up close. “Do you know which is my seat?”  

    The Oogar pointed to a seat on the other side. Not the end, but the one next to it. And with her back to the assembly at large. Wonderful. I won’t be able to see what most of them are doing. “Do I have to sit there?” 

    “It’s your seat,” the Oogar roared, as if it were a universally accepted fact. 

    She walked to her seat and sat down as a Bakulu slid onto the stool that sat to her left. “Greetings,” she said with a nod. 

    “Welcome,” the alien said. “I am Captain Trippashooka.” 

    “Sansar Enkh,” she said with a smile.  

    “I am glad you are here,” the Bakulu said. “You and the others who have shown up over the last week. We were unable to get anything done previously.” 

    “Why’s that?” 

    “Before, we didn’t have enough people to make any majority decisions… like who should be the Speaker.” 

    “That’s up for discussion?” 

    “It is,” the Bakulu said, bobbing his eyestalks.  

    “Wonderful,” Sansar muttered. “That’ll be contentious.” 

    “It already has been.” 

    The door opened behind the Bakulu, and a Goltar emerged. 

    Sansar nodded to the Goltar. “Looks like the Speaker’s here.” 

    The Bakulu let out a breath that almost sounded like a sigh. “Let the fun begin.” 

    “Was that sarcasm?” 

    “Yes. I flew with Humans for a while before the Omega War. I find sarcasm… useful.” 

    “Me, too.” 

    “Seats, please, everyone,” the Goltar rep called. A Veetanho approached and sat to the right of Sansar as the Speaker seated herself and said, “This session of the reconstituted Mercenary Guild is now in session.” 

    The Veetanho rep raised a paw, but before she could say a word, all three doors in the room crashed open, and a number of Zuparti with hypervelocity pistols poured into it, followed by a Maki who entered through the doorway at the back of the room. The Zuparti spread through the room, shutting the doors after the last of the aliens entered. 

    “Sansar Enkh,” the Maki called. “I am so glad you stopped by to see me.” 

    The Veetanho next to Sansar stood. “Mercurius!” she exclaimed, her voice metallic. “You told me there would be no interference in the affairs of my guild.” 

    “Ah, but you didn’t tell me Sansar Enkh would be the Human representative, Big Brother. She and I have a shared past, and I owe her a death.” 

    The door to the administrative spaces slammed open, and a Human rushed in, setting off the weapon detector. Beeeep! “Don’t let them do it!” Nigel exclaimed. “The Veetanho are the ones—” his voice stopped suddenly as he realized there were 33 Zuparti pointing pistols at him. “Uh, did I miss something?” 

    “Nigel Shirazi!” the Maki exclaimed. “This day couldn’t get any better. Well, if your wife had come instead, that would have been better, as I would rather have killed her than you, but your death will at least get her attention.” The Maki nodded once, then motioned toward Sansar. “Go stand with the other Human… after setting your weapons on the floor.” 

    “Sure.” Nigel pulled out his laser pistol, causing the Zuparti to re-aim at him. “Lighten up, guys,” he said, setting it on the floor. “Never mind; I forgot. You’re Zuparti; you can’t.” 

    He walked down to stand next to Sansar, who stood, openmouthed. “Blue Sky, Nigel! I can’t believe it’s you!” She gave him a hug. “I heard you were dead!” 

    “Not yet. It’s a long story.” He nodded to the Maki. “How are we doing?” 

    Sansar followed his eyes and shrugged. “Same as always.” 

    “That bad, huh?” 

    “The Maki is inhabited by the Merchant Guild SI.” 

    “I thought you killed him.” 

    “We did. Twice.” 

    “Oh. I take it he’s not happy about that.” 

    “No, I’m not,” the Maki said, “although her math is off. One of those deaths was to a Winged Hussars’ fleet. Come to think of it…” He turned to the Sumatozou rep. “Colonel Fragontic was there, too. Colonel, why don’t you go down and join the Humans?” 

    The Sumatozou stood and picked his way carefully between the rows as he worked his way down to the front. Sansar recognized him. “Long time no see.” 

    Fragontic nodded. “They sent me here because of my experience. That experience—mostly with you Humans—doesn’t seem like such a positive thing at the moment.” 

    “Good to see you, too, Fragontic,” Nigel said with a chuckle. “Although I’m less impressed with some of the company you’re keeping.” He shrugged as Sansar moved to stand behind the massive Sumatozou and reached into her backpack. “At least we’re not dead yet.”  

    The Veetanho walked over to stand in front of Nigel. “Mercurius, these are my toys. I warn you, leave now, or there will be consequences.” 

    “Consequences, dear brother? You are in my guild now, and subject to my rules.” He waved in dismissal. “Kill the Veetanho, then the Humans.”  

      

    * * * 

      

    USS Liberty, Approaching Jupiter, Sol System 

    Jim watched the gas giant growing steadily larger in the Tri-V. Many preferred Saturn or Uranus. His favorite planet was Jupiter. The timeless storms—larger than Mother Earth—the 1,000 kilometer-per-hour winds racing along her surface, and the mystery of her depths. It was almost romantic, in a strange way.  

    “What do you think of Liberty?” asked Victor Hagans, Liberty’s captain.  

    “She’s nearly identical to the Hussars’ older battlecruisers,” Jim replied.  

    “Our people made a few improvements.” 

    More like compromises, Jim thought. The Hussars’ designs were based on the Egleesius-class, a many-millennia-old battlecruiser dating back to the Great Galactic War, and a main ship of the line for the Dusman. But the Hussars were rich with mineral wealth in their system, arguably more so than Sol. They also had a century of developing infrastructure. Earth had once possessed a robust asteroid mining operation. Peepo had taken care of that when she’d invaded.  

    Most of the asteroid mining ships had survived, yes, but the spin refineries that had once decorated the belt like shining stars were gone. Now that Earth was refining steel and volatiles in space once more, they were being rebuilt. Slowly. He had all he could do just building ships; he didn’t have the resources to build the refineries. So he’d left it to private business. It would have been faster if the aliens had been involved, but he’d insisted the Minister of Commerce refuse. They needed to do as much of it as they could themselves.  

    Without the limitless tons of steel, titanium, and aluminum the Hussars enjoyed, their own versions of the Steed-class had been toned down a little. A dozen meters shorter and two meters narrower of beam, they still packed the same amount of firepower. This was possible by reducing armor and reaction mass tankage. The ships didn’t need the legs the Hussars’ ships needed. They were meant to operate within a single hyperspace jump of home. The crews dubbed them the Pony-class—unofficially, of course.  

    “They’re capable ships,” Jim said. “What’s more important is numbers right now. Even if they aren’t quite as tough as the Hussars’, the more we have, the less likely we’ll be attacked quite so easily.”  

    “Quantity has a quality all its own, eh, Minister?”  

    “Absolutely, Captain.” 

    “You never explained what’s out here. The installations on Europa and Ganymede are only just beginning larger redevelopment.”  

    “It’s classified, Captain. My own merc cruiser is on a contract, or I would have had Bucephalus bring me out. So I need OpSec on this. Are we clear?”  

    “Completely, sir.” 

    Jim nodded. He’d chosen Liberty specifically because Adrianne had confirmed the man was trustworthy. One of the first things she’d done after he’d met Blotto was to begin providing intelligence assessments on Federation military personnel. There’d been a disgusting number of spies for the US Government. He really wished their political leadership would roll over and give up. Integrating the rest of the United States would be tricky, but doable. Ultimately worth it, too. Despite the bad blood, Texans were still Americans at heart.  

    The political leadership of the US was entrenched, though. After a series of victories in the early 21st century, followed by ‘political reforms,’ they were practically a one-party nation now. Oh, and they hated the Republic of Texas with the white-hot passion of a thousand suns. Their press never let a day go by when it didn’t blame Texas for the collapse of the Earth Republic, their own never-ending recession, joblessness, and probably erectile dysfunction as well. 

    Maybe he’d talk to Adrianne about ways to help bring them down? It wasn’t an ethical sort of move, but what sort of ethics had they shown toward him and the Terran Federation? Two formal assassination attempts thus far, and at least six foiled plots that he was aware of. Steady attempts to crash government computers—laughably incompetent attempts—as well as industrial espionage. After Brazil was admitted earlier in the year, things had gotten better briefly, then worse, as the US seemed to redouble their efforts.  

    “We’re approaching the specified orbit,” Navigation announced, and thrust fell off sharply. Liberty had been riding her fusion torch, and she slowed as she approached orbit. One of the nice things about the class was their ability to maintain at least a half-G constant acceleration on runs as far out as Jupiter. Made the trip a lot more manageable, and the ships were designed with decks aligned with their thrust vector. The Dusman knew how to design ships.  

    “There are six ships in Jupiter direct orbit,” the sensor ops tech said. All the crew was taking a little extra time at its jobs since most were still training at their positions. “None of them are in the orbit specified, Minister.”  

    “On the Tri-V please, Peterson,” Captain Hagans ordered. The tech worked his instruments, and the Tri-V showed a graphic representation of Jupiter and six green dots with blue traces for their orbits. A flashing green line with no dot was the orbit Jim had specified.  

    Jim examined the number of the orbit and frowned. He was no expert navigator, though he was qualified to fly and navigate a ship. He’d taken Pale Rider, the Cartwright family yacht, out in the galaxy a couple times, and he knew his way around. The data looked accurate for the orbit he’d specified. Now he really wished Captain Su and Bucephalus had been in-system. 

    “Captain, may I have control of a set of cameras?” 

    “Of course,” Hagans said and gave the order.  

    Once he had access, Jim used his pinplants to examine the orbit visually as Liberty finished her orbital insertion. For several minutes, nothing seemed amiss. The Aku’s borrowed station was just gone.  

    “How about the shipyards?” he asked. Jim had instructed the Horde people who’d delivered one of the two shipbuilding facilities Sansar had ‘liberated’ from Kop’ka to achieve a slightly higher orbit than the Aku base, but the same inclination.  

    “No sign of any facilities at all, sir.” 

    Jim ground his teeth. Had Minerva found out about it, or another enemy of humanity? For that matter, his Dusman buddies could have nabbed it, if the Aku hadn’t gotten it soon enough. Even if someone had attacked, he was sure the Aku would be resourceful enough to call for help. There hadn’t been a peep. His instructions to them were to convey messages only via the regular robotic couriers or F11 shipments, and only to break radio silence in an emergency. An attack would certainly be an emergency. 

    He glanced at the ship’s scanning data. No debris clouds or other indications of a battle, but the station kept such a low orbit, it would have just fallen into Jupiter’s crushing atmosphere. Nobody would have seen a thing. A dozen battleships could crash into that soup, and unless you just happened to be looking at that spot, you wouldn’t see a thing.  

    When Blotto had said he wanted to meet the Aku someday, Jim had suggested he fly out and just say hi. The reply had been interesting, and cryptic. “Oh, we did. They have some amazing technology; you should ask them about it next time you visit them.” The main reason for his visit was to inquire about the shipyard and ask if it could be pressed into service, but in the back of his mind was that interchange weeks ago as well. 

    He was about to give up on the telescope when he spotted something. It was a disturbance in the Jovian atmosphere. A swirl with a slight trail behind it. He’d seen exactly the same thing on his last visit; it was the point where the Aku’s gas mine pipe extended down into the atmosphere. But how could that be there without the ship/facility housing it above?  

    “Captain, I need to borrow a shuttle.” 

    “I’ll instruct a ship’s boat crew to be standing by.” 

    “Crew won’t be necessary, Captain.” 

    “Sir?” 

    “I’m a qualified pilot, as I’m sure you’re aware. Remember, OpSec?”  

    “But sir, with all due respect, if I managed to somehow lose the Minister of War… I don’t want to be the first space sailor keelhauled.” 

    Jim gave a little grunt of laughter. “I’ve recorded a note on my orders, Captain. It might not quite be a Get Out of Jail Free card, but it’s close.” 

    “I’m sorry?”  

    I keep forgetting others don’t get off on 20th century junk. “It’ll keep you out of the brig. You’d catch some heat, but they can’t blame you if I made this an order.” 

    “Minister Cartwright, I really wish you wouldn’t.” 

    “I understand. Captain Hagans, I need a vessel, no crew. That’s an order.” 

    “Very well,” the captain said and saluted crisply.  

    Jim returned it. He’s pissed. A minute later, word came up that the craft was being readied. “Thank you; I’ll be fine. Really.” 

    “Please come back alive,” Hagans said. “I don’t need that kind of blot on my career.”  

    Jim shot him a look, but the man’s expression wasn’t one of anger, it was of concern. “I’ve been in far worse situations. I always have a way of returning.” Hopefully my luck holds out, and this hunch is correct. He headed for the shuttle bay.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Merchant Guild Headquarters, Capital Planet 

    Three of the Zuparti fired, and the hypervelocity rounds hit the Veetanho in the chest. She crumpled to the floor. 

    “Wait!” Sansar exclaimed. “I have something for you.” Sansar held up her pack. 

    “A gift, for me?” the Maki said. “Pull it out slowly.” 

    Sansar looked up and found she was now the aim point for all the Zupartis’ rifles, but none of them fired. She nodded. “I’ll bring it out very slowly.” She reached into the bag, pushed the button, and spun the Hunter/Killer Box to where she could see the readout. It showed 34 cogs and one SI nearby. This time she accepted the offer to clean the cogs and pressed ‘Enable.’ 

    The Zuparti dropped their pistols. 

    “What have you done?” the Maki screamed. He grabbed the closest pistol off the floor and stood, only to be cut down in a hail of rounds from about half the members in attendance, including Fragontic. 

    “How did you get that in here?” Sansar asked as Fragontic stuck the small—for him—pistol back inside a compartment of his harness. 

    The Sumatozou chuckled. “It’s synthetic and doesn’t trip the sensor. I had it made a couple of days ago after my first trip here. I think we’ve all learned by now not to come to a Merc Guild meeting unarmed.” 

    “I learned that a long time ago,” Nigel said with a nod. 

    Sansar pulled the H/K Box from her bag and frowned. 

    “What’s wrong?” Nigel asked. 

    “It says that it neutralized 34 cogs, but the Maki was unaffected. There were only 33 Zuparti. Where is the thirty-fourth?” 

    “He must have had another one outside,” Nigel guessed. 

    “No,” a small voice said. Sansar looked down to find the Veetanho had rolled over. “It’s… me. I was… controlled by Dunamis. He’s not… here anymore.” 

    “Anyone got a medkit?” Nigel yelled to the members of the assembly. “We need one now!” 

    “Thanks,” the Veetanho said, “but you’ve already… freed me. I can… die… in peace.” She lifted her paw, and Sansar could see a small, grenade-sized object the Veetanho was pressing the button on. Nigel took the item, careful to keep the button depressed. “Ball… prevents SI jumping. You can… find and kill… Mercurius.” 

    The Veetanho stilled. 

    “Do you have any idea what she was talking about?” Nigel asked. 

    “Yeah,” Sansar said. “Mercurius, the SI that controls the Merchant Guild, must have its case somewhere close by. It tried to jump, but couldn’t, because that ball you’re holding kept it from jumping to any of its cogs.” 

    “Cogs?” 

    “Don’t worry about it. We have to find and destroy that case before he gets away. The ball will keep him from jumping, but he may have another means of escape.” 

    “Well, you better hurry,” Nigel said. “This thing is getting kind of hot. I don’t know how long I can hold it.” 

    “Give it to me,” Fragontic said. “My hide is tougher than yours.” 

    They managed the transfer without allowing the button to release. 

    “I see what you mean,” Fragontic said. “We’re going to need to hurry.” 

    “Follow me!” Sansar yelled. She raced out into the administrative spaces. All the Goltar stopped and looked at her as she burst into the space. “Where are the main Merchant Guild areas?” 

    “What?” asked Char-Creck. “What are you talking about?” 

    “I know,” the Speaker said as she followed Sansar out of the assembly room. 

    “Do you know where the Merchant Guild’s SI’s office might be?” 

    “No, but I know who knows. Follow me!” The Speaker raced off in the fast, flowing Goltar lope, and Sansar had to run full-out to keep up with her. Nigel and Fragontic followed, better able to keep pace with their longer legs. Sansar glanced over her shoulder and could see a large number of the Merc Guild representatives following them. 

    The Speaker led them down a long corridor, past an assembly room, and then several more rooms before coming to what appeared to be the main entrance to the Merchant Guild. She stopped at the information desk. “Where is your leader’s office?” she asked. 

    “What? Who are you?” the Maki behind the desk asked. 

    “I’m the Speaker of the Merc Guild, and I need to see your leader, now!” The Speaker pulled a pistol from somewhere and pointed it at the Maki, who cowered. “When I say, ‘now,’ I mean now! Where is your leader’s office?” 

    The Maki pointed down a corridor. “Go back that way three—no, four—corridors, and then turn right and go—” 

    “Show me!” the Speaker yelled. She motioned down the corridor with the pistol. “Go!” 

    “I… I can’t leave this station until relieved.” 

    The Speaker fired her pistol, and the laser round set the wall next to the Maki on fire. 

    “I relieve you!” the Speaker exclaimed. “Now go!” 

    The Maki scampered down the hallway with everyone in trail. He went past three intersecting corridors and turned right at the fourth, then turned left again at the next intersection and ran up to a door at the end of the passage. “It’s behind that door, but we don’t have the clearance to pass.” 

    “I do,” Fragontic said. He put his head down and ran toward the door, trumpeting a deafening roar. The Maki moved just in time to avoid getting trampled, then Fragontic lowered a shoulder and crashed through the door, knocking it off its hinges. He turned, the ball still cupped in his hands. “My clearance has been accepted. This thing is getting really hot; we need to find the SI soon, or I’ll have to drop it.” 

    “Don’t do that,” Sansar said. “That’s the only thing we have holding Mercurius in place.” 

    “Better hurry, then.” 

    “Where do we go now?” the Speaker asked the Maki, who’d been trying to slink off but had been corralled by the mercs following Fragontic. 

    “I don’t know! I’ve never been through that door.” 

    Sansar turned to the mass of mercs behind her. “Spread out and search the rooms. We’re looking for a case about this big—” she indicated the dimensions of the case she’d previously seen, “—with a couple of antennae sticking off the side of it. If you find it, break the antennae off and call out.” She looked at the mercs, then turned and ran down the hall. “Let’s go!” 

    Fragontic and Nigel immediately followed, then the Speaker and the rest of the mercs. The first door she came to was locked. “Fragontic?” 

    The Sumatozou walked up to the door and kicked it, knocking it from its hinges.  

    “Search that,” Nigel said. “I’ll get the next one.” 

    Sansar ran in to find a Veetch working on several slates. “What is the meaning of this disturbance?” it asked. 

    “I’m looking for the head of the Merchant Guild,” Sansar said. 

    “What?” it squawked. “Who are you?” 

    “She’s the person who’s going to kill you if you don’t tell her what she wants to know,” the Speaker said, entering the room. She pulled out her pistol and pointed it at the Veetch. “Or maybe that was me.” 

    “Who? Who is it you’re looking for?” 

    “Whoever is in charge of the guild,” Sansar repeated. “I’m actually looking for Mercurius’ office, if you know where that is.” 

    “You can’t go there. He’ll kill you. He’ll kill you just for knowing his name.” 

    “Mercurius and I go way back,” Sansar said, “and I need to talk to him. Right. Now.” She nodded to the Speaker. “You can either show us where Mercurius’ office is, or she’s going to shoot you.” 

    “It isn’t necessary to shoot me,” the Veetch said indignantly. “I’ll take you there. It’s your funeral, after all.” 

    It flapped around a little as it came around its desk. “You’re sure of this?” 

    “We are,” Sansar said. 

    “Let’s go,” the Speaker added. 

    The Veetch stopped, a strange look on its face. 

    “What’s wrong?” Sansar asked. 

    “Normally I can communicate with Mercurius.” It tilted its head. “Now I can’t.” 

    “I know!” Sansar said. “That’s why we have to hurry!” I’m not going to mention that I’m the cause of it.  

    “Yes, yes,” it said, then it ran out the door.  

    “Such destruction!” the Veetch said with a squawk. It stopped in the middle of the passageway and watched the mercs kick in doors. 

    “Quick,” Sansar said. “We can stop this, but we have to hurry!” 

    Without another word, the Veetch ran down the hallway, flapping its wings. It ran past the mercs without stopping, then it continued down the hall to an intersection, where it took a right. It followed the passageway and ran down to the end, where it knocked on the last door. 

    “Hello?” the Veetch called. 

    “Move!” Fragontic yelled as he ran down the hall.  

    Sansar and the Speaker pressed themselves to the sides of the corridor, but the Veetch knocked again before turning to see what the commotion was. It was kicked aside as Fragontic rushed past and exploded through the door. 

    Sansar followed him in and found herself in the most opulent office she’d seen since she’d been in Mercurius’ castle on Kullawee. The lavishly appointed furniture, the precious metals used in the room’s construction, and the trophies on the bookcases were all reminiscent of Mercurius’ Kullawee dwelling. The suitcase on the desk seemed almost an afterthought, and its plain appearance looked out of place surrounded by all the wealth. 

    “That’s it!” Sansar shouted. She ran forward and ripped the antennae off the case. She turned to find Fragontic a couple of paces behind her. The ball in his hands—or perhaps his hands, themselves—were smoking.  

    “What do I do with this?” he asked. 

    Sansar smiled. “Set it on the case.”  

    He did, and the case immediately began smoking as the ball melted through. 

    Sansar nodded to the pistol in the Speaker’s hand. “Can I have that, please?” 

    The Speaker reversed it and handed it to Sansar without comment. Sansar took it in both hands—it wasn’t meant for Human hands—put the muzzle up to one of the antennae ports, and pressed the firing stud several times as the ball burned through the cover of the case. Sansar flinched back as sparks flew from the port and where the ball had burned through, and smoke churned up. The smell was a disgusting hybrid of metal, plastic, and something from her childhood—she’d caught some of her mother’s expensive sheets on fire, and it had smelled like that. 

    “What have you done?” the Veetch shrieked. 

    “Hopefully, just ended your boss,” Sansar said. 

    “Again,” Fragontic said with a chuckle that turned into a cough. “Now, if we could, I think I need to find a medkit.” 

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    USS Liberty Ship’s Boat, Descending into Jupiter, Sol System 

    “This might not have been smart,” Jim mumbled as he flipped the little craft over and brought its equally little fusion torch alive. His head smacked painfully against the headrest as the Gs built quickly. The engine might be small, but the boat was tiny as well. He kept an eye on the nav console with its escape estimates. Another four minutes, and he wouldn’t be able to survive escape velocity: too many Gs. 

    “Liberty to ship’s boat, are you okay, Minister?” 

    “Fine, Captain Hagans, just seeing what these craft can do.” 

    “There are better ways to test their capabilities than a one-way trip to Jupiter. My navigator says you have about five minutes before you won’t be able to escape?”  

    “That sounds about right. I’m programming an automatic escape course in case I black out.” 

    “Duly noted, but I don’t understand why… <crackle>” 

    “Liberty, you broke up, say again?”  

    “<crackle>… have to… <crackle>… dang—…” The comms console flashed a message. “Comms Link Lost.” At the same time, the instruments picked up an energy flux. They couldn’t determine what it was, only that the ship was getting a spattering of gamma rays and alpha particles, considerably higher than he was already experiencing. He cast a worried eye at the boat’s minimal shields. They were holding, so far.  

    “Yeah, not my best idea,” he said as he programmed the automatic escape. He told the navigation console if he lost consciousness, or if it appeared they were passing a point of no return, it should override the flight controls and use whatever emergency power it deemed necessary to escape. He knew he could tolerate a lot more Gs than it would take to knock him out. Yeah, the escape could give him an aneurism, or worse. Better some brain damage than being crushed like a soda can in the millions of atmospheres down inside Jupiter. 

    There was suddenly a little shudder, and he gasped, afraid the engine was giving out. It wasn’t; the power levels were unchanged, beyond the steadily increasing throttle needed to avoid a suicidal dive into the atmosphere. He was under four Gs now, and it was hard to move his head. He controlled the boat entirely with pinplants. The scanner gave a chirp, and he checked the data. The instrument had suddenly picked up something that hadn’t been there a moment before.  

    On the boat’s little Tri-V was the Aku station, right where he’d hoped it would be. The station and a lot more. There were dozens of free-floating stations with gantries between them. And habitation domes. Holy shit, the Aku had been busy! Clearly, Chiss had decided it was no longer important to keep the station as it used to appear. But how was that possible? The intense gravity he was experiencing should be tearing it to pieces.  

    “Unidentified ship, respond,” a voice said from the radio. The voice was in clear English, but obviously computer generated.  

    “This is USS Liberty shuttle calling,” he replied.  

    “Liberty shuttle, explain you and your main ship’s presence.” 

    “This is Jim Cartwright, here to visit Chiss.” 

    A slight pause passed, and the voice was replaced with Chiss’ familiar raspy voice. “Savior! I am so very sorry, we did not recognize the ship. We weren’t expecting you, and it is not Bucephalus.” 

    “No apology necessary, Chiss. Your station is invisible somehow and in a lower orbit. I’m having… trouble,” he grunted. The boat’s nav computer had beeped a warning; they were close to abort.  

    “Oh, yes, I see. One moment.” 

    “All I have is a mom-Ugh!” he grunted as the engines suddenly shut down. He was about to freak out, thinking for the second time in a few minutes they’d failed. No, they’d just shut down automatically. They had done so when the pull of Jupiter’s gravity suddenly went away. “What in the fuck?”  

    “Are you okay now, Savior?”  

    “I’m fine, but how in the hell did you make the gravity go away?”  

    “We didn’t; it is still there.”  

    Jim looked out the rear monitor of his boat. Jupiter was massive; all he could see. The view was even more spectacular than last time because the station was thousands of kilometers closer to the cloud deck. The sensors said there was no radiation, and the gravity was zero as well. Not the microgravity of a normal orbit, zero. There was no way the Aku had actually beaten gravity. Right? Of all the constants in the universe, nobody had ever beaten gravity.  

    In the thousands of hours of movies and TV he’d watched, the most popular trope of them all was Humans defeating gravity with apparent ease. Science had always said it was complicated and difficult. But Sci-Fi’s response was, no, it was super easy, barely an inconvenience.  

    “I cannot wait to have this conversation.” 

    “Of course, you can land at any of the docking points.” 

    Jim nodded and began navigating again. At least all the strange assemblies near the old station made sense. If the Aku had defeated gravity, it was now possible.  

      

    * * * 

      

    On his last trip to the Jupiter station, docking had been a tricky affair because of the gravity. This time it was no more of a challenge than in zero G, because it was zero G. As the computer finished assuring itself they had a good dock, he floated out of the pilot’s seat and amidships to where the little boat’s only hatch existed. It was only 22 meters long and didn’t have an airlock. The design reminded him a little of Narcissus, the shuttle aboard Nostromo from the movie Alien, but maybe not as pointy.  

    He could see several Aku waiting on the other side of the door through its small round window. As soon as it slid aside, he was greeted with the usual flood of thanks and praise. “Welcome, Savior! It is so wonderful to see you again!”  

    There were many more of the turtle-like aliens now, of course, after he’d succeeded in getting hundreds released from slavery not too long ago. There were still more out in the galaxy, certainly, and he continued to look for them. He felt it was his duty to help, especially since the Peacemakers had abandoned the race after doing their ‘duty.’ Their duty shouldn’t have ended after just saving them from extinction.  

    “Where is Chiss?” Jim asked, trying to cut through the press of turtles. He almost giggled, recalling a cartoon from the 20th century about young, mutated turtles. He was glad he’d only just thought of it, or he’d probably be calling Chiss Donatello. The only talking rats he knew were the Veetanho, which kind of killed the whole motif. 

    “Chiss is coming,” one of the Aku said. “Everyone, give the Savior room.” It wouldn’t have been so bad if they weren’t in zero G, and thus surrounding him in all directions. Many armored heads bobbed, and in moments he was as alone as he had been surrounded. One of them stayed, the one who’d spoken.  

    “Do I know you?”  

    “I am Fhiss; you do not recognize me?”  

    “It’s difficult for a Human to tell you apart. It would be nice if we could.”  

    Fhiss nodded and grabbed a handhold to exit the lock. 

    “Hope I didn’t insult her,” Jim mumbled as another Aku floated in. He’d seen Chiss often enough to recognize him, at least when the alien wasn’t in a crowd of his fellows. He had a damaged armor plate over one eye, which was distinctive enough. “Hello, Chiss.” 

    “Greetings, Savior Jim Cartwright.” 

    He moaned inwardly every time they called him that, even though they didn’t stop, no matter how often he asked them to.  

    “I hope you are well.” 

    “Oh, very well, Savior. I do not know why you have visited, but it is a very exciting time.” 

    Jim didn’t necessarily get excited about that. The Aku were incredibly intelligent, while at the same time they had little in the way of impulse control. When finding new tech, they were like children in a candy store whose dad had just given them a handful of credits. “I assume your excitement has something to do with this?” He gestured at how he was floating. “Last time I was here, you were orbiting at the correct altitude to maintain one G constant to hold orbit.” 

    “Oh, this?” Chiss asked, and gave his race’s equivalent of a laugh, which sounded like he was choking on a cabbage. “No, this is an interesting development but not that impressive.” The Aku maneuvered around and headed down a corridor.  

    Jim gawked for a moment before moving to follow. There were so many Aku about, he was afraid he’d lose track of Chiss and have to spend an hour being worshipped before he could find him again. Unlike his last visit, all the various equipment for F11 extraction was no longer fastened to the walls and visible. The interior of the former cruiser had a smooth, graceful aesthetic he found pleasing.  

    They moved down a series of corridors before finally reaching a space he found familiar. The former high-energy Faraday cage was gone, but the armored doors remained. The central lab was more or less unchanged from the original days, when it had been a research station owned and controlled by the Horsemen. It was crowded with Aku.  

    “Chiss, I have a lot of questions.” 

    “I understand,” the alien said. “This is the best place for questions.” 

    Jim nodded and looked around at the instruments and stores, in particular the wall of high-security storage bins. Last time he was there, the Aku had been very eager to get into them. “First, I have some news.” They looked at him attentively, as if his very words dripped red diamonds. This time there was at least truth to the value. “The revised alien amnesty bill was approved by the Federation Council, and, as of one week ago, all the Aku here are citizens of the Terran Federation, and all your descendants in perpetuity.” 

    It took Jim almost an entire minute to realize they were crying! “Are you okay?” 

    “Okay, Jim Cartwright, Savior? You have again given us a gift beyond value. We have a home once more.” 

    “There was no way to list this installation. However, the asteroid was listable, so I arranged a transfer to you. It’s yours as well, and you’re now legally entitled to the native contractor clause.” Confused looks. “There’s no longer any reason to hide our business dealings.” Nods of understanding now. “I’m working to see if we can arrange a colony for you on Mars. You said you need a planet to reproduce. Perhaps domes can be built on Mars for you?” 

    “We would enjoy such an endeavor.” 

    “Oh, and this.” Jim removed a secure transaction chit, similar to a yack, but more like a credit card. “This is yours.” 

    “What is it?”  

    “A payment of 92,000,000 credits for the F11 you’ve provided us thus far. I wasn’t able to say you produced the F11, but nobody really cares where it came from.” Not entirely true; they’d freak out if they knew we have an F11 mine right here on Jupiter. 

    “What should we do with this wealth?”  

    “Whatever you want. It’s your money. You’ve earned it, and more to come.” 

    Chiss looked at the chit for a long moment, then withdrew it into his shell, where it stayed. “Then I thank you. We will study the best way to put these credits to good use.” 

    “I’m sure you’ll come up with a good idea,” Jim said. He’d been examining the lab, comparing it to his last visit. The hundreds of computers arranged in data arrays were gone, replaced with what he could only guess was a new array of their own design. It was only a quarter the size, and he wouldn’t be surprised if it held much more data and was faster, to boot. Fhiss, the Aku who’d greeted him earlier and who was in charge of this part of the station, was sitting to one side, feet and head retracted, either in thought or sleep, Jim couldn’t tell which.  

    “Maybe you can start with how you managed to come up with anti-gravity technology when every scientist in the galaxy has tried and failed.” 

    Chiss looked at him, cocking his head in obvious confusion.  

    “I’m floating, Chiss. There’s no gravity. What was that field I came through?”  

    “Oh!” Chiss said, finally catching on. “You mean the subspace field.”  

    Jim’s eyes narrowed. “Like in Star Trek?”  

    “I am uncertain what technology that is,” Chiss admitted.  

    Jim sighed. “It’s fiction. Why don’t you describe what you mean?”  

    “As you know, hyperspatial physics is my favorite science. It is so enjoyable studying it. I was reviewing the information on second level hyperspace and how it interacts with the quantum entanglement. I performed some experiments to see if there was a way of communicating between second level hyperspace and normal space. As a side effect, I found a temporary state that seems to be between second level hyperspace and normal space.” 

    “But you’d have to go through normal hyperspace to reach second level, right?” 

    “Why is that?” 

    “Isn’t that the only way to reach second level?” 

    “No, not at all. All levels of reality are accessible to every other level.” 

    “Every other level?” Jim asked. “Wait, how many are there?” 

    “Theoretically, an infinite number. I apologize if I am wrong, Savior, but do you understand the nature of the universe?”  

    Jim almost laughed. Like anyone really understands how the universe works? Then he realized who he’d almost laughed at. “Explain it to me.” 

    “The deep, underlying concept is too difficult to explain without mathematics. Would you like me to have Ploss show you the math? He is the best among us with math, getting so caught up in calculations we must assign someone to watch him, or he would starve.”  

    “I only got a C+ in calculus,” he admitted.  

    “Humans are strange,” Chiss said.  

    “You have no idea. Can you explain it in a general way?” 

    “I will try. The GalNet describes hyperspace as another level of reality lying just under ours. By using stargates or hyperspace shunts, you push a temporary path through to it, at which point you need a hyperspace generator to stay there. They don’t say anything about second level hyperspace, as they believe that a drive failure in hyperspace destroys your ship. Like our other discussion on the GalNet, the knowledge of second level hyperspace was removed long ago, or possibly was never widely known. Without a version of the GalNet from 20,000 year ago, we don’t know.”  

    “Okay, sure.” 

    “Well, that’s not essentially accurate. Reality is more like strands in a ball of yarn. Each level, or reality, represents a single string. Now roll them all into a ball, but be precise, so that every strand touches every other strand.” 

    “That would be difficult,” Jim pointed out. 

    “Not for the universe; it is the natural way of things.” 

    Jim tried to consider what that meant. “Wait, so why do we only go to one other… universe?” 

    “Because each universe is unique from all the others, and thus the way of accessing them is also unique. Infinite ways for infinite universes. You know there is nothing in the GalNet about who invented the stargates?”  

    Jim had never thought out it. “Probably the Dusman.” 

    “Unlikely. One of our scientists managed to get a piece of our stargate. There was an incidental collision on the way here, and a piece of the main structure was dislodged. They obtained it and performed carbon dating. Even considering the possible inaccuracies of this method on a piece of metal permanently in space, the results suggested it was smelted between 100,000 and 1,000,000 years ago. Discussions on this subject that appear in the GalNet later disappear.” 

    “Oh,” Jim said. “What does that have to do with your subspace field?”  

    “Everything,” Chiss said. “We are halfway between second level hyperspace and our universe right now.” 

    “But you have to go to regular hyperspace first.” 

    “No, remember what I said about the ball of yarn?”  

    “Wait, did you find a way to reach second level hyperspace from here?”  

    “Yes, it was easy. Once I went to second level hyperspace, took measurements, and returned, I had all the information I needed. Armed with that information, we created a system to transit from our universe to the one called second level hyperspace and back. Except, instead of completing the trip, we flicker back and forth between the two. After tinkering with the position between the two locations, I was able to make the physics reflect our universe. Second level hyperspace physics are more difficult.” 

    “Aren’t there supposed to be hostile aliens there?”  

    “Yes, that is true, but they cannot hurt you if they cannot find you. My initial trip only took hours, and we never completely arrived there with this system. Can you feel the movement?” 

    “No, nothing,” Jim admitted.  

    “Because the strange sensations of moving in and out of that universe are particular to a complete transition. We aren’t in that universe; it is a sub-universe, or subspace. That is easier to say. The byproduct is, we don’t enter this universe long enough for certain quantum communications. One of them is gravity, which is itself only a privileged communication between matter to agree what the gravity is.”  

    “Well, now I understand what Adrianne meant by your crazy technology.” 

    “I am sorry?”  

    “Someone came to talk to you. They couldn’t find this base, of course, but they could tell something was here.” 

    “It is the F11 mine shaft,” Chiss admitted. “It is phased like we are, but it still leaves a disturbance in the atmosphere.” 

    “Holy shit, Chiss.” 

    The Aku clearly didn’t understand the saying, however he could see Jim laughing, so he smiled. He was trying to imagine tactical applications, but he wasn’t sure what they were. He was also reluctant to ask the naturally pacifistic Aku to weaponize it. He was sure Adrianne would have, probably without hesitation. 

    “Why did you make the station invisible? Is it the same technology?”  

    “Yes, exactly. The phase of the field effect was fine-tuned until the communications of visible light were no longer sent. We aren’t in this universe fully enough for the station to register on the quantum level. Same as gravity, your eyes, or even instruments do not know we are here, so we don’t exist to them. We did this because you were concerned about our modifying the station and drawing attention. When you had the ship building facilities delivered, they were too great a project to do in space. We developed the phase generator and moved it all down here to disassemble where no one can see it.” 

    “You took it apart?” Jim moaned. “I was hoping to use it to make more ships.” 

    “Oh, we have all the parts. We finished examining it weeks ago. When we took it apart, we found this in the center of the command units.” He opened a storage area in the lab and withdrew a shiny metallic case.  

    “That’s an SI mobile case!” Jim gawked.  

    “Oh, you know what it is?”  

    “Yes, the SIs use them to move around. They seem to only download into these, or at least the Type 5 do; I think the lower level ones aren’t limited.”  

    “That could be true. Do you remember the material we found and were experimenting on?” He indicated a sample container locked to the wall with the strangely shimmering fabric inside.  

    “Yes.”  

    Chiss took the instrument they used to pick up a signal from the fabric and directed it at the metallic case. No other sensor detected anything from the material. Chiss and his people had cobbled it together from a device used to calibrate hyperspatial nodes. Instead of a weak signal, the device displays lit up like a Christmas tree.  

    “What’s it look like inside?” 

    “We don’t know,” Chiss admitted. “The case has a field built into it; if you attempt to break it open, it will destroy itself. If that sample we had came from one of these, perhaps there was only a fraction left when it was broken into. 

    “Because it is the only one we’ve found, I have been reluctant to attempt to circumvent the protective measures.” His left hand indicated two mechanical protuberances. “These appear to be transmitter/receiver modules, and they also appear to utilize the same privileged quantum signature channel we discussed.” 

    “Meaning they could be used at any range?”  

    “Correct, or any other universe, potentially. Without another one, we have no way of finding out precisely how they function. However, we’re working on it.”  

    “Chiss, I want you to know something.” The alien gave him his complete attention. “There might be a war coming, like the old one. The Dusman and the Kahraman. When it ended before, I don’t think it solved anything. Someone else ended the war, and they want to finish it now.” 

    “The First Peacemaker ended the war?”  

    “What?” 

    “Yes, it’s in the Peacemaker Guild charter. ‘The one who came first, the First Peacemaker, ended all war. We now stand for eternity as the guardians of that peace.’ It’s in the GalNet, but it’s not like something you ever see. I understand it’s written on the monument at Capital.” 

    Jim shook his head. The Aku could see through anything, it seemed. He needed to spend a month out here just asking them questions. “Any idea who or what that First Peacemaker was?”  

    “No,” Chiss said. “Since there were so many SIs before, and it seems so few now, I don’t believe it was them. But we do not know.” 

    “Well, let me know if you figure it out.” Chiss nodded enthusiastically. “If this war comes, I want to keep you safe. But it’s important to keep others from knowing what you can do in order to do this.”  

    “What do we do?” Chiss wondered innocently. 

    “You’re smart,” Jim said.  

    “You are smart too, Savior!” 

    “I’m a fairly knowledgeable Human,” Jim said. “I’m not a scientist. We have some smart scientists on Earth. None of them have thought of what you have here, making your phase generator, learning the nature of how all the universes interact, finding ways to use that knowledge. None of them.” 

    “This cannot be so.” 

    “But it is. You’re gifted thinkers and creators, maybe unique in the galaxy. I want to be sure you stay safe, which means you need to stay hidden.” 

    “We will listen to your wisdom, Savior.” 

    “Don’t speak to anyone unless you know they’re safe. If you’re not certain, don’t talk to them and send me a message. Understood?” He nodded again, though less vigorously.  

    “Why are you so concerned? Do you think someone would harm us?”  

    “I don’t think the KzSha would anymore. They’re now servitors of the Dusman, and the Dusman don’t mean you harm, thus they wouldn’t allow their servitors to harm you. No, I’m concerned you could be forced to make weapons out of your discoveries.” 

    “Weapons?”  

    “Yes.” He moved closer to the alien. “You must understand that much of this has military applications? Some things could be made into terrible weapons.” I will have nightmares just thinking about it. 

    “I don’t think I understand.” 

    Jim sighed. They were so innocent. Did he really want to shatter that innocence? What if I don’t, and somehow someone got hold of them, and the Aku made something for them truly world-ending? He considered some of the things they’d spoken about, how matter was the way it was because it somehow communicated what it was. Reality was constructed by agreement, and the laws of nature too, apparently.  

    He pointed at Fhiss. “Is she asleep?” 

    “Just thinking, Savior.” 

    “I am listening,” Fhiss said, though with a somewhat dreamy sound to her voice.  

    “Do you remember your visit to Earth, when you helped with the SI-controlled man named Spartan?” 

    “Of course, it caused a great many thoughts I am still working through.”  

    That’s what worries me. “Remember talking about Dr. Marisa Wolf’s quantum reality theories?” Fhiss nodded absently. “You said it would be extremely difficult to make things change by using the privileged communications.” 

    “It is, and I have not seen how it can be less so.” 

    “You said it would be far easier to switch it off, making matter cease to exist.” Another nod. He looked at Chiss. “Mount this device on a starship, fly to the star system of someone you hate, make their star disappear.”  

    “What… we… but…” Chiss stammered. The entire Aku’s body was shivering, and Jim feared he’d pushed his friend into some sort of psychotic episode. “We would never do that!”  

    “What if I asked you for this weapon?” Chiss stared at him, the alien’s big, black eyes getting wider and wider. “It’s okay, I’m not asking you to. Because you trust me, I would never take advantage of that trust. Others might.” 

    “We would not trust them.” 

    “I’m sorry, Chiss, but I can’t be sure of that. You’re a trusting race, which is a good thing, except you’re also so powerful in knowledge, people would try to take advantage of you for it. I know this, and you must believe me in this and do as I ask.” 

    “We will do as you wish, Savior.”  

    “Thank you.” Jim talked about the shipyard and asked them to put it back together. Chiss said they’d improved the low-level AI from the ones in the other shipyards, the ones he’d help rewrite the code for. “Please move it back to Earth orbit then. I’ll send a crew out.” 

    “Not necessary,” Chiss said. “It can fly itself. We will be sure it has all the raw materials it needs to start building while in transit.” 

    “That would be spectacular. Please keep a low profile from now on.” 

    “We will. What if someone else tries to fly down to us like you did?” 

    “If you don’t know them, or they don’t identify themselves, do nothing. They can’t hurt you, right?” 

    “We only let you into the phase field because you didn’t seem hostile.” 

    “I thought so. Okay, then don’t let them in.” 

    “And if they fall into the gas giant?”  

    “Then that was their decision. You’re not attacking them by not helping them.” Chiss seemed to consider that for a moment, then nodded.  

    “I understand.”  

    “Good. I better get going; Captain Hagans is probably planning my funeral.” He was about to go when Fhiss suddenly spoke.  

    “You know,” she said quietly, “you would not have to make the entire star go away.” Jim turned back and looked at her. The Aku’s eyes were still closed, deep in thought. “All you would have to do is make the very core, where the hottest fusion is underway, cease to be. The star would immediately explode.” 

    “That… would work too,” Jim said, uncertain what else to say.  

    “She is deep in thought and not really considering such a thing,” Chiss assured him. 

    Chiss led him out of the lab.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Fhiss watched Jim as he left, but the Human never turned back around. Profoundly disturbed by what he’d said, her thoughts churned. After a moment, her eyes closed as she thought even harder. 

      

    * * * 

      

    Outside the lab, a pair of Aku were working in the corridor. They both had something he hadn’t seen before, letters etched into their thick shells. Their names?  

    “When did you start putting your names on your shells?” he asked Chiss. 

    “Just now. You mentioned you couldn’t tell us apart; now you can!” Jim was still spluttering when another Aku came up with a device, slapped it on Chiss’ shell, and his name was burned in. “Is this not better?”  

    Oh, my god, he thought. Then he decided not to complain. “Thank you, but it wasn’t really necessary.” 

    “Anything for the Savior. Anything.” 

    In another lab, just meters down the corridor, Jim stopped and stared. It was a circular space 10 or more meters on a side. In the center, the Milky Way Galaxy slowly rotated. “That is the most detailed Tri-V map I’ve ever seen,” Jim said.  

    “Thank you, Savior, but it isn’t truly a map.”  

    “Just a graphic representation?”  

    “No, it is more a model we are building. Into it is going every detail in the galaxy, planet position, asteroid, comet, sun, gravitational interactions, black holes. Everything.” 

    “That would take, what, hundreds of exabytes?” 

    Chiss’ nearly immobile face moved a little in what had to be a smile. “By your standards of data volumes, Savior, we already have 41 yottabytes of data in this model. Fhiss estimates this is 92% complete.” 

    Jim grabbed a handhold and pulled himself into the room. The closer he got, the more detailed it became. He reached out to the tip of a galactic arm, and it moved at his touch. Chiss came up next to him, used his long arms to gesture, and the model zoomed around Jim until he was staring at his star system, Sol. He could see the sun, alive with changing sunspots and solar prominences. 

    “It’s dynamic?”  

    “It can be,” Chiss said. 

    “But this would take more,” Jim whispered. “More data than has ever existed!” 

    “We’ve discovered a little of how the fabric coding works,” he said. “By matrixing together code and interweaving in three dimensions, we do not get a doubling, or even tripling; we get five orders of magnitude more data in the same code space. I am embarrassed.” 

    “By what? This is incredible!”  

    “I am sad to say we don’t know how it works, only that it does.”  

    “On Earth we call that science,” Jim said with a smile. 

    “Fhiss says she will figure it out.”  

    Jim reached out and turned the galaxy away from Earth, in the direction of its spin. The arms of the galaxy were interwoven like a ball of yarn. “Huh,” he said. You tended to think of the galaxy as a defined shape, but it really wasn’t. Only it was, to hyperspace. As he turned it, an entire arm was a ghost, with almost no details.  

    “Yes, Savior, the fourth arm.”  

    “Here there be dragons,” he mumbled.  

    “What?”  

    “Nothing, just superstition. What are you going to do with all this?”  

    “Do with it?” Chiss looked at the model, his eyes twinkling from the billions of stars. “Why create it, of course.”  

    As he was flying back to Liberty, he hoped nobody else got access to the Aku, not even the Dusman. The last thing the galaxy needed was such a force at their fingertips. As he’d feared, Captain Hagans was fit to be tied. He said he’d explain when he got aboard. At least that gave him a few minutes to think of a good lie, and longer to try to forget the horror he’d just learned. 

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Merchant Guild Headquarters, Capital Planet 

    Sansar surveyed the assembly room from the guest seating as the members filed into their seats the day after they’d killed Mercurius. There was far less talk than the day before, with everyone looking askance at each other. Trust was at a premium today… and she didn’t see any evidence of it from any of the members. She and Nigel had discussed it the night before, and they’d decided to let Nigel continue as the representative to the guild; Sansar’s talents were more valuable if she was working in the shadows. 

    Fragontic walked in with both of his arms in soft casts. Most of the skin had been melted from his hands, and some of the meat underneath had been cooked, but he would survive. He took his seat after acknowledging some of the others’ well-wishes.  

    A Veetanho walked in behind him, goggles down and scanning the room. The Veetanho had sent her down the day before to recover the dead Veetanho’s body and get the facts of the events. While she hadn’t seemed happy, she hadn’t blamed any of the mercs or caused unexpected problems. The Veetanho—Captain Gleeko—had stayed on to represent the Veetanho on the Council until the Veetanho could sent a new representative. She’d been aloof in most of her dealings with the guild members. Typical Veetanho. 

    Similarly, the Merchant Guild hadn’t said or done anything in response to the Merc Guild killing their ruling SI. Business at the Merchant Guild had just gone on as if nothing had happened. It was eerie, really; Sansar had expected some sort of response—a formal protest for invading their spaces without permission, if nothing else—but there’d been nothing. Perhaps there was yet another copy of the Mercurius SI plotting and planning its revenge on them. It was impossible to know; if there was, though, it waited outside the range of the H/K Box, and that’s all Sansar cared about. 

    “This meeting of the Mercenary Guild is now in session,” the Speaker declared, seating herself. “The first item of business, now that we have a majority of our members here, is to vote on who should hold the Speaker position. I’m sure this is just a formality, as everyone will remember that I led the group that tracked down and killed the Merchant Guild SI yesterday when he was going to kill several of our members. This is the first time an SI has been seen in 20,000 years, and the first killed in that long as well. I know I demonstrated the leadership credentials necessary to lead this august body, and everyone will reaffirm me as Speaker.” 

    “I would like to remind the membership,” the Veetanho rep said, raising a paw, “that one of our members—my predecessor—was killed in yesterday’s events, and the Speaker did nothing to stop it. In fact, we wouldn’t even be here, in this building, were it not for the Goltars’ incompetence in maintaining appropriate security procedures at our last headquarters. If they had, it wouldn’t have been blown up, causing a loss of life never before seen in guild operations.” 

    Sansar could see Nigel tense and knew he wanted nothing more than to strike down the Veetanho for the bombing. For them to be the ones to remind everyone of the bombing—when they’d been the ones responsible for it—was the height of brazenness. He also felt personally betrayed; he’d just begun to form a friendship with the Veetanho member who’d brought the bomb to the Council meeting and blown everyone up.  

    “How long are we going to bring up the bombing of the prior headquarters?” the Speaker asked. “It was old, and security was an issue there. It was no more my predecessor’s fault than it was the generations of Veetanho Speakers who went before him who failed to implement additional security measures. The past is the past, and I have the capabilities necessary to lead us into a new era of wealth and prosperity, something the Veetanho didn’t do in the hundreds of years they held the Speakership. They couldn’t even lead the guild to crush an upstart race that hadn’t even been given full membership yet.” 

    Sansar could see Nigel’s face redden, but again, he held himself in check. Something’s changed. The boy has grown up. He’d told her in their brief time together that he’d had “difficulties” on the trip that had taken him away from the guild in time to avoid being blown up, but he hadn’t said what they were—only that they’d talk when there was more time. She looked forward to hearing all about it. 

    “We could go back and forth all day on who was worse,” the Tortantula rep said. “Can we just have the call for candidates?” 

    “I think that would be a good idea,” the Speaker said. Her eyes swept the Council seated around her, and then the general membership at large. “Is there anyone else who would like to nominate someone to be Speaker?” 

    The Goka rep held up a claw. “Yes?” the Speaker asked. 

    “I would like to nominate the Veetanho rep to be the next Speaker,” the Goka said. 

    “Do you accept?” the Speaker asked. 

    Nigel turned, looked at Sansar, and nodded. She pushed the button on the box to kill any cog relationships. There was only one, and that one had shown up at the same time the Veetanho captain had arrived. 

    The Veetanho stood and said, “I ac—” Her eyes went blank for a second, then she shook her head. “No,” she said. “I do not accept. I will be killed for saying so, but it’s time for a change in the guild. The Veetanho should not hold the Speaker position.” 

    “All right then,” the Speaker said. “There’s just one candidate then—me—which should make the vote—” 

    “No!” the Oogar roared. “I want to be Speaker. I stand for more food breaks and better contracts!” 

    “You can’t nominate yourself for the Speakership,” the Speaker said. “You have to be nominated by someone else.” 

    “Does someone want to nominate me?” the Oogar asked, looking around the room. “We have more lunch breaks.” No one met his eyes. “I have cookies!”  

    Sansar stifled a chuckle at the Oogar’s final attempt. When no one spoke up, he sat back down forlornly. She could think of a number of reasons the Oogar wasn’t fit to lead the guild. He wouldn’t have been the worst choice, but he was definitely in the bottom third. Everyone else seemed to recognize that, too. 

    The Flatar raised a paw. “I would like to nominate the Tortantula rep.” 

    A general intake of breath could be heard around the room, as well as a few chuckles. The Tortantula’s eyes swept the crowd—or appeared to; it was hard to tell where she was looking—and the chuckles ceased.  

    Sansar pursed her lips. Based on everything she knew, a Tortantula Speaker would be an interesting choice. There would certainly be more contracts available, and bloody ones at that. She shuddered as a vision of the black carpet of Tortantulas that had attacked the Golden Horde’s headquarters went through her mind. On second thought, no thanks. 

    “Do you accept?” the Speaker asked. 

    “No,” the Tortantula rep replied. “Too many of my people are hostages who could be used against me.” A collective sigh of relief went through the audience. Sansar was pretty sure she’d participated in it, herself.  

    “Okay, then—” the Speaker said. 

    “I have a nomination,” the MinSha rep said. “And I know this is going to sound strange coming from me, but bear with me. Although I personally don’t have any experience with them beyond being the target of their enmity, I have listened to a number of stories about them. How they fight with honor. How they overcome odds that were set against them, especially when they didn’t deserve to be attacked in the first place.  

    “I have reviewed the past several years of this guild’s business, and one member has always stood out as having the guild’s best interests in mind, sometimes even when that went against what would have been best for his own race. He has looked at what was best for the Galactic Union and never tried to advance his own status or that of his race.  

    “These are turbulent times, and we need a leader who is focused on more than petty infighting; we need someone to fight and win against the Kahraman. Someone who can defeat the SIs who appear to be popping up everywhere. We need someone who has honor, even if it is sometimes misplaced. When the end of days comes, I want to face my final battle alongside someone I know won’t run or leave me behind to die. 

    “As strange as it may sound, I want to stand alongside Nigel Shirazi. Therefore, I vote to nominate the Humans as the next Speaker.” 

    Sansar’s jaw dropped, as did most of the other members’ in attendance. Nigel’s had probably dropped farther than most; he’d obviously not seen that coming.  

    “Yes!” the Lumar rep exclaimed. He slapped all four hands down on the table, making a sound like a rifle shot that caused the entire Council to jump. “Shirazi is friend to Lumar. I vote for Shirazi!” 

    “It’s not time for voting—” the Speaker said. 

    “I vote for the Humans!” Fragontic shouted, standing. “I have fought alongside them, and they have saved my life at great cost to themselves. The Humans have something that left this guild a long time ago—honor—and I would rather be led by them than any other race I know.” 

    “Yes, yes,” the Speaker said. “But we’re not voting—” 

    “The guild has been misled for a number of years,” the Veetanho rep said. “Both by my race, and the Goltar as well. The interests of the guild aren’t served by either of these races leading it; I nominate the Humans as well, and hope that all the races who follow the Veetanho will join me in voting for the Humans.” 

    The Speaker tried again, but was cut off by the Tortantula rep. “I agree. It should be the Humans.” The Flatar rep nodded alongside her. 

    “I have found one thing in my dealings with the Humans,” the Bakulu rep said. “No matter the odds to be faced, I would rather be on the side of Alexis Cromwell and the Hussars than fight against her. I vote for the Humans, as well.” 

    “Silence!” the Speaker screamed. She continued in a more normal tone and turned to Nigel. “Do you accept?”  

    Nigel blinked. “I… uh… well I don’t know—” 

    Blue Sky! He’s going to turn it down! “Say yes!” Sansar called. 

    Nigel looked over his shoulder at Sansar, and she nodded at him. “Yes!” she mouthed at him. 

    Nigel turned back around. “Yes, we accept the nomination.” 

    “Is there anyone who wants to nominate anyone other than the Humans?” the Speaker asked as Sansar let out the breath she’d been holding in a rush. The Speaker looked around the room, but no one said anything. “Fine. It’s time for the vote, then. The Goltar and the Humans have been nominated. All in favor of the Goltar keeping the Speaker position, indicate it now.”  

    Sansar looked around. The only appendage in the air was the Speaker’s own. Blue Sky! Can it be? How did this happen? 

    “I have one vote for the Goltar,” the Speaker said in a tone that sounded humiliated. “All those in favor of the Humans taking over the Speakership?” 

    The audience—almost as one—raised their paws, claws, and tentacles, and Sansar felt herself drawn to raise her own hand, even though she was a guest and couldn’t vote. The slowest being to raise a hand was Nigel, who looked embarrassed to do so, but everyone at the table—aside from the Speaker—was encouraging him, and he reluctantly raised his hand. 

    “The majority has spoken,” the Speaker said. “The Humans will take over the Speakership.” She cast a withering glance at Nigel as she dropped her gavel onto the table. “Good luck. You’re going to need it.” She got up, walked to the door, and left without looking back. 

    The rest of the members stood and applauded, slapping hands, tables, carapaces, and anything else they had within range, while Nigel continued to sit in his chair, looking stunned. The Oogar cheered and suggested a meal break. Finally, the Veetanho rep elbowed him in the ribs and pointed to the vacant chair at the end of the table. Nigel slowly pulled himself out of his chair and walked to the Speaker’s position while shaking his head. 

    He sat down and motioned for everyone to sit. After a few more seconds, everyone did. 

    “Thank you for your trust in me, and in humanity,” Nigel said. “I’ll certainly do my best to be worthy of it.” He shook his head. “I know I haven’t always been respectful of some of you, but I’ll do my best to be fair going forward. There are a number of dangers I am aware of that we must face, but we will face them together, and we’ll overcome them. We all have our own specialties, and I’m sure all of them will be needed in the days ahead. 

    “For now, though, I need some time to think and adjust to the honor you’ve bestowed upon me. I suggest we adjourn for now and meet back here tomorrow.” 

    “Point of order,” the MinSha said. “You need a motion to adjourn; you can’t just do it yourself.” Nigel opened his mouth to say something, but the MinSha continued, “I motion we adjourn for the day.” 

    “Second,” the Tortantula rep said. 

    “Ladies and gentlemen,” Nigel said, standing, “thank you again for your support. We’re adjourned until tomorrow.” 

    High up in a ventilation shaft, a listening device was quietly retracted. A pair of small, furred beings with blue-on-blue eyes and long, expressive ears stared at each other and blinked in amazement.  

    “Tor J’asa needs to hear about this immediately.” 

    “Agreed,” the other said. “We may have just been handed a golden opportunity.” The two smiled at each other and set out. 

      

    * * * 

      

    As the meeting broke up, and most of the representatives surged forward to congratulate Nigel—and, to a lesser extent, Sansar—she kept her eyes moving to catch the people who were less than happy to see the Humans ascend to the Speakership. The Goka representative slunk out, as did the other Veetanho client representatives, most of whom looked sideways at the Veetanho rep, who stood near the Council table as if lost. 

    When the aliens around her departed, Sansar approached the Veetanho. “Thanks for the vote,” she said. “I’m Sansar Enkh.” 

    “Yes, of course you are,” the Veetanho said. “I remember you from yesterday.” 

    “And you are?” 

    “A dead female walking,” the Veetanho replied. “I doubt my name is of any importance now. I won’t need it much longer, and no one will sing songs of my valor.” She scoffed and waved a paw at the Council table. “Especially after this.” Her eyes met Sansar’s. “I take it I have you to blame?” She tapped her visible pinplant and raised an eyebrow. 

    “To blame? I freed you from the SI that was using you.”  

    “You freed me.” She scoffed again. “Yes, you freed me so I can immediately be killed.” 

    “What do you mean?” 

    “There’s no way Dunamis won’t have me killed for voting for the Humans. We were supposed to come here and take back control of the Merc Guild from the Goltar. Dunamis doesn’t have a lot of patience for failure, especially from his bios.” 

    “His bios?” 

    “The people who work for him, usually with a piece of code to guide us.” 

    “Guide? Or control?” 

    The Veetanho shrugged. “A bit of both, I guess.” 

    “Dunamis.” Sansar replayed the events of the day before in her mind. “Mercurius mentioned Dunamis yesterday and called him ‘brother.’ I take it Dunamis is a Type 5 SI.” 

    “He is, and after this debacle, he’s going to be pissed. You thought he was pissed at Mercurius yesterday? Wait until he finds out about today’s events. There will be a lot of dead people on Lytoshaan.” 

    “So Dunamis is the one who blew up the Merc Guild,” Nigel said, joining them. 

    The Veetanho stared at Nigel for a moment as if trying to decide what to say. Finally, she nodded once and said simply, “Yes.” 

    Sansar’s eyes widened. “What?” She looked at Nigel. “How did you know that?” 

    “I was watching the junior officer I left behind in his first day as representative to the Council. As the meeting started, the Veetanho rep, Prava—whom I’d come to respect and even considered a bit of a friend—walked in and detonated the nuclear bomb she was carrying. I’ve hated her ever since.” 

    “She had no choice. Dunamis was controlling her. He thought by nuking the guild, he could discredit the Goltar and get a fresh start with the guild.” The Veetanho shrugged. “He’s been controlling it through the Veetanho for thousands of years and didn’t take kindly to the Goltar taking over the Speakership.” 

    “He shouldn’t have pissed off the Depik,” Nigel said. “That was his first mistake.” 

    “That was Peepo’s plan; she convinced him to do it.” 

    Sansar startled. “Peepo wasn’t being controlled by Dunamis?” 

    The Veetanho chuckled. “Of course she was. Everyone who leaves Lytoshaan has a bit of control code in their brains. The higher your rank, the more control code you have.” 

    “So Prava may not have wanted to blow up the Merc Guild,” Nigel said. He shook his head. “I never would have expected it of her.” 

    “No, she probably didn’t want to.” The Veetanho sighed. “But she wouldn’t have had any choice. Dunamis has great control over what we do and say.” 

    “So that’s how the Veetanho have been so successful over the years,” Sansar said. “SI-aided knowledge.” 

    “Huh. Why stop there?” Nigel asked. “If the SI could implant just a touch of code in their opponents’ heads, too—like to make a mistake—they would have an even bigger advantage.” 

    Sansar’s shoulders slumped. “He wouldn’t have to implant anything. Just scan the enemy leader’s thoughts so the Veetanho leader knew what the opposition was doing. Sun Tzu said, ‘If you know your enemy and know yourself, in a hundred battles you will never be in peril.’” She shook her head. “The secret to their success all along—” 

    “Is having an SI on their side.” Nigel shook his head. “Where can we get one, too?” 

    “That isn’t a joking matter,” the Veetanho said. “Dunamis controls much of our lives, especially senior officers.” 

    “I didn’t mean it,” Nigel said. “It was gallows humor.” 

    “Gallows? What is gallows?” 

    “It’s a place people went to die.” 

    “Well, that’s where I am today. Having done the right thing for the guild—voting for you and then telling you everything—my life is now forfeit. The only thing I can control now is the manner of my death.” 

    “Why is that?” 

    “When I go back to my ship, they’ll realize I’m no longer a minion of Dunamis.” 

    “No longer one of his cogs, you mean,” Sansar said. 

    “Whatever it is you want to call the people controlled by the SI. I’ll be recognized, and I’ll be taken back to Dunamis for punishment prior to my execution. Extreme punishment… the kind you can only get by being in someone’s head.” 

    “So don’t go back to the ship,” Sansar said. 

    “I don’t plan to. I’ll go outside without benefit of oxygen. I’d rather die here than experience Dunamis’ tender mercies.” 

    “What if there was a better option?” 

    “A better option? Weren’t you listening? Dunamis is going to kill me. Where else would I go?” 

    Sansar smiled. “The Golden Horde is recruiting.” 

      

    * * * * * 
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    Petal-Class Corvette Stamen 3, Approaching Upsilon-4, New Warsaw 

    The atmosphere in the cockpit vented through the half-meter-wide hole lanced through her cockpit. Explosive decompression can be disastrous to the crew regardless of how prepared they were. Elizabeth’s hands were ripped from the controls by the bomb-like effects of 225 cubic meters of atmosphere leaving through that half-meter hole in less than three seconds. She felt like a ragdoll on an airplane wing. 

    The shock of it yanked her left hand off the control stick so hard it dislocated her thumb, then smashed the same arm against one of the control station reinforcements hard enough that she felt bones snap. Elizabeth screamed in pain, the sound swallowed by the tempest tearing through the cockpit.  

    Once the blast abated, she jammed her left hand through her restraining strap, crying out again from the pain. But having the limb flailing around under acceleration would be worse as it banged into things. That hand didn’t respond as she tried to flex the fingers. Great.  

    “Belvar, you with us?”  

    “What happened to Strathers?” he yelled over the comm.  

    Elizabeth thanked whatever inner voice had suggested she order the crew to suit up. They’d all be sucking vacuum right then if she hadn’t. “She’s gone,” she said. Glancing over, she saw a slightly oblong burn through the cockpit, high forward, exiting the rear of the compartment angled downwards. Melted and severed connections flashed power as they shorted. Amazingly, the computer was still online and responding to her pinplants. She did what she could to check systems. “You fly; I need to gun.” 

    “She was just there. Fucking God, she was just there. Maybe she got sucked out into space.”  

    “Ensign!” she snapped. “She’s gone. She was in the damn beam, I saw it.” Like Captain Kirk being beamed up, she thought. Sparkle, you’re gone. Fucking god is right. “We’re gone, too, if you don’t get your shit together!” She yelled the last four words. “Now tell me what you got.” 

    The navigator’s station was behind her position, about the most awkward place you could be to fly. But the copilot’s position was the only one with weapons control. Fucking Maki. She concentrated on the shields since that was the one system able to be completely controlled by her pinplants. “Shield capacitors recharging in 15 seconds!” she called out. “Johnson, what kind of shape are we in back there?” No reply came. “Johnson?”  

    “Not sure the comms are operating outside the bridge here,” Belvar said as the ship shuddered from firing the maneuvering jets. “I still have helm, but I can’t get the outside cameras up.” 

    “Use the Mk 1 eyeball,” Elizabeth said and pointed out the holed cockpit. Isaac Hopper was kilometers distant now, and looked tiny. She was listing and venting. They’d hit something vital. Shields under control, she grabbed the laser controls again, only to curse. “No power being cycled to the lasers,” she said. “Both are charged; I have only one shot each.” 

    “Better make it count,” Belvar warned. “The controls are intermittent. I think we’re losing power.”  

    “Losing everything else, why not? Stabilize us, then, bow on.” Her hands worked on the weapons console. The ship bumped as mechanisms below her moved, and Stamen 3, despite being critically injured, began to come about. 

    “Isaac is coming under control,” Belvar called out, “and we’ve got cameras back.”  

    The little cockpit display showed a much closer view. Radar showed Isaac Hopper at just under 10 kilometers, and she was coming about.  

    “This has been fun,” the computerized voice came over the radio, “but I have things to do.”  

    “So do I,” Elizabeth said. Stamen 3’s bow lined up, the lasers locked, and she triggered them. The first missed, but the second scored a steady hit on Isaac Hopper’s stern, causing a flash of plasma as her engine was breached.  

    “Yes!” Belvar said. “She’s listing hard, out of control. Shields are down.”  

    “You think you’ve stopped me? I still have weapons.”  

    “They’re stabilizing bow on,” Belvar said. “We still don’t have lasers?” 

    “No,” Elizabeth said, her mouth curving into a grim smile, “but we don’t need them.” She stabbed the launch button, and Stamen 3 lurched as a missile was ejected into space. Its tiny fusion torch, bright as a sun, lit and made Elizabeth hold her space-suited glove over her face shield. “Roll starboard!” she ordered, and Belvar started the roll.  

    A 10-kilometer shot with a shipkiller was point-blank. Accelerating at almost 1,000 Gs, the missile crossed the distance in just slightly more than one second. When the sub-critical shipkiller’s sensors detected its target less than 500 meters away, it detonated its roughly five-kiloton warhead. Unshielded, Isaac Hopper’s hull was bathed in intense radiation. The electromagnetic pulse destroyed most of the ship’s circuits, and the blast wave, though much less than a detonation within atmosphere, hit its hull like a hammer.  

    The Sleeper-class cutter Isaac Hopper, her fusion core already badly damaged, lost containment. The single nuclear blast turned into two as the ship was entirely consumed. Rolling Stamen 3 away from the blast shielded them from most of it. Even so, the radiation wave washed across their shields, warning Elizabeth that they were in danger of failing again. However, they held.  

    “We won,” Belvar almost whispered.  

    “That’s where you’re wrong,” the SI said in reply, and the various computer controls acted with a life all their own. “I cannot blow you into space, so I will need another solution. You simply have to go.” The engineering panel flashed an alarm as radiation levels started to spike.  

    “We’re not going anywhere,” Elizabeth snarled. “You are!” Her hand smacked down on the Hunter/Killer Box, triggering the ‘Clean’ control. A hideous, electronic scream in their ears like an uncontrolled blast of static sounded the end of Charybdis. 

    The remaining operational panels shorted out in sequence, several exploding from internal electrical overloads. Somewhere behind Elizabeth, she felt an explosion of some kind. The ship spun wildly, the Gs gaining fast. Too fast. She struggled to reach any of the remaining controls. 

    “Belvar, stop the spin!”  

    The navigator didn’t answer, and in seconds, Elizabeth’s vision turned red, then black. At least we stopped it, she thought as she lost consciousness.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Kingdom-Class Escort Frigate Bradford, New Ship Fitting, Home, New Warsaw 

    Forty-eight hours of research hadn’t yielded any more results. Patrick went back to his quarters for what he’d decided would be his last night there. The only option left was to pull out the entire powerplant and replace it, an operation that would take at least a month, because the production schedules were full. He was eating a prepackaged meal delivered by a supply ship when his mind drifted back to his half-asleep conversation with Charlotte two days ago.  

     “What’s the biggest part of the Kingdom­-class we can’t make in these manufactories?”  

    <The hyperspace computers.> 

    “I wonder why not?”  

    <Because the source of their manufacture is unknown.> 

    He finished a bite of mystery meat and swallowed, thinking. “Something as complicated as that, and nobody knows how they work?”  

    <Correct. They are bought and sold on the galactic market. Sources unknown.> 

    He sat in his cabin for a moment, thinking. He used Charlotte to call up the entire engineering system schematic and backtracked the fusion powerplant’s various links. Sure enough, it was connected to the hyperspace computer. He guessed that only made sense. If you were going into hyperspace, you wouldn’t want to rely on relays between other computers to handle power output, when the result could be a crash out of hyperspace.  

    He had detailed images recorded from his work with Thing 1 and Thing 2, disconnecting the various fusion core systems, and hooking up diagnostic leads. He found the location of the hyperspace computer inputs, still covered in a protective fairing, untouched.  

    “Can we simulate inputs from the hyperspace computer?”  

    This time Charlotte was quiet for a moment. <I do not have that data.> 

    Sleep forgotten, he grabbed his communicator and made a call. Two hours later, he met a tired looking Richard Pareon at the airlock.  

    “Director,” he said with a yawn.  

    “Sorry to drag you out of bed, Richard.”  

    The other man shrugged. “I know this is an important diagnostic, and you’d hit a dead end.” 

    “I was not sleeping,” Larras said. Another Jeha, he was the most experienced starship engineer with the Winged Hussars, while Richard was the architect overseeing design. 

    “Glad you could both come,” Patrick said.  

    “I hope you have a solution,” Larras said. Thing 1 and Thing 2 came floating up and exchanged antennae-touch greetings with their fellow Jeha, their equivalent of a handshake or hug.  

    “Me, too.” Patrick looked at Richard. “You find those files?”  

    “Yeah, I had to pull some physical data archives to find them.” He flashed a datachip.  

    “Willing to help me pull those connections?”  

    “Sure.”  

    “They are not complicated,” Larras said.  

    Down in engineering, Thing 1 and Thing 2 set about removing the pristine fairing covering the connector. Larras disconnected the data line and inspected it. “In perfect shape,” he said. “As you would expect from a new product.” 

    “Made here?” Patrick asked.  

    “Yes, by the same manufactory that built this ship.” 

    He nodded and leaned in to examine the cable. It was smaller than he’d expected. The specifications of the cable didn’t say the expected data load, but he guessed it at no more than 100mps. “Only six conductors,” he said.  

    “It doesn’t have to do much,” Richard said as he took a slate from the pack he’d brought aboard. It was one of the beefier models starship engineers preferred, mainly because higher current outputs required rechargeable batteries. Standard slates operated with tiny advanced nuclear batteries and could operate for 1,000 years.  

    He brought up a program and consulted with Larras for a second to make sure everything was set. “It’s simple for startup. We’re good.” Larras nodded his eye stalks in agreement.  

    “Roger that.” He spoke to Charlotte. Initiate 21st test.  

    <I hope your expectations do not exceed the results,> the mesh replied.  

    On the main engineering Tri-V, the simulation began. Six minutes later, it was complete. Powerup was successful, no issues. “You were saying?”  

    <I am surprised.> 

    “You seem to have found the problem,” Larras said.  

    “Maybe.” Run it again, he told Charlotte. 

    An hour later, they’d run 10 simulations without error, including five full power simulated tests. Again, no issues.  

    “Can that simulator handle actual powerup?” Patrick asked Larras. 

    “I use them to test dismounted powerplants for upgrades all the time.”  

    It would normally have taken hours to reconnect the powerplant. However, Jeha, among their many qualities, had many hands. Working with a skilled Jeha technician was like working with a dozen Human ones, and there were three of them present. Larras had no qualms about helping with physical work. In half an hour, the powerplant was ready for a live run.  

    Patrick elected to do it from the main engineering control room, a tiny space with just enough room for him, Richard, and Larras, the latter curled along the wall and taking up little space. Thing 1 and Thing 2 stood by just outside the engine room’s armored blast door. The door to the control room wasn’t as meaty. Patrick was counting on a good run.  

    “Ready to go,” Richard said, touching the Tri-V control icons in the control room. His slate was connected to the hyperspace computer input to send its simulated data to the reactor.  

    “Fire it up,” Patrick said. He let the experienced starship team of Larras/Richard do the work. Outside, the fusion plant went through the actual procedure he’d simulated 31 times, only this time he could see a nimbus of heat begin to glow around the probes, and feel the power vibrating through the ship’s hull. The power was shunted to a test load, and they continued to run the ship’s systems off a docked tug’s fusion plant.  

    “Perfect,” Larras said a few minutes later. “Zero issues.” 

    “Once more, please?” Patrick asked. After they’d shut it down successfully and then started it again, he had them spool it up to 110%. The buffers didn’t flicker out of sequence, not even once.  

    “Thanks, we’re done here,” he told them when they were done.  

    “What does it mean?” Richard asked. “How can the hyperspace computer be interfering with the fusion reactor operation?”  

    Patrick didn’t know.  

    He returned to Prime Base and spent two days researching. At the end of that period, Larras delivered the hyperspace computer from Bradford to him. He’d had a computer taken from stores, one intended for a Legend-class escort frigate, installed in Bradford. 

    “What were the results of the test?” he asked.  

    “Bradford is on her in-system trials right now. Everything is functioning normally. She’s undergone multiple power ups, power downs, and simulated battle damage taking buffers offline with zero issues. In addition, the crew took her on a maximum acceleration run. Again, no issues.”  

    “Thank you,” Patrick said and looked at the computer he’d been handed. Ironically, it was a black box, roughly 50 centimeters long, 20 wide, 20 thick, and with a series of connectors on one side. There was no evidence of any way to disassemble it.  

    “You are aware any attempt to open the computer will result in its destruction?”  

    “I’m aware; thanks Larras.” The Jeha left without comment, as was their way, and Patrick took the computer to his test bench.  

    An afternoon of running tests was required to even understand the codes the machine was using. For such a low bandwidth cable, he was shocked at the complexity of the code. Once his surprise wore off, he began to realize the code itself was like nothing he’d ever seen before.  

    <You are looking at code of the Kut’oja.> 

    “What the fuck is the Kut’oja?” He ran the term through the GalNet and got zip.  

    <The Kut’oja were the programmers who created mesh and the SI.> 

    “Okay, fine, but what are they? What race?” Charlotte didn’t answer. This in itself was a rare event; his mesh was nothing if not loquacious to the point of failure. “Hello?”  

    <I cannot respond to this inquiry.> 

    “What?” More silence. Patrick had just encountered the same problem that haunted Alexis Cromwell when questioning Ghost. Often the SI knew something but was forbidden to say it. Occasionally there was a workaround, but it could take years to find it. Often she stumbled across such an answer completely by accident, or while encountering a situation in which the SI who ran Pegasus was allowed to divulge previously hidden information.  

    He looked at the computer, and his eyes narrowed. “Were the hyperspace computers also designed by the Kut’oja?” 

    <No.> 

    “Who designed them?”  

    <Hyperspace travel technology predates the First Republic and is categorized as a lineage technology whose origin is unknown.> 

    Patrick examined the computer. It looked new. “Then how did the Kut’oja know how to make the code to run them?”  

    <Much of the coding was copied when the techniques were first developed. The Triumvirate carefully guarded this technique.> 

    “Triumvirate? What is the Triumvirate?” 

    <I cannot respond to this inquiry.> 

    “Son of a bitch.” 

    Patrick played games with his mesh for another hour before giving up without learning anything more. Instead, he set about finding every bit of information on this particular hyperspace computer. Of course they couldn’t make any themselves.  

    The Winged Hussars obtained hyperspace computers as parts classified as ‘Unique Sourced Goods.’ It was a very short list. Alexis didn’t like buying outside New Warsaw, but for these and Astatine-222, there was no other choice. Patrick found all the hyperspace computers came from one of two sources: brokers on the galactic market, and a small agency of the Galactic Union known as the Starship Exchange.  

    The brokers all sold old, used computers. Since the computers were for certain scales of ships, they had to be classified specifically as to size and capabilities. There were plans for a second hull type similar to the Kingdom, but one with hyperspace shunts, which could operate outside systems with stargates. As such, it was deemed all the computers bought for these ships would be for escort frigate-sized ships that were capable of using shunts. 

    There was a workaround for making a regular computer push shunts. It apparently wasn’t pretty, and used even more power than regular shunts. Patrick examined his specimen and confirmed it had the extra cable output for shunt controls. Purchase orders said this one had been bought from the Starship Exchange through a contract on Capital filed three years ago via an agent. Alexis didn’t like anyone knowing what ships she was building.  

    “Who did the agent say they were buying these for?” he mumbled as he searched. Luckily, as director of Geek Squad, he had nearly top-level security access. They’d gone to a lot of trouble to hide the purchase of 120 new shunt-capable hyperspace computers, the number they’d need to build 40 Kingdom-class escort frigates and 75 Sabre-class frigates. Plus a few extra for backups, of course.  

    The total sale price, plus a generous commission, was 220 million credits. An astounding figure to some, probably chump change to this Starship Exchange. In order to make it plausible, they’d cut a deal with a friendly Izlian mercenary company. Since the Omega War, the Izlians had been much friendlier toward the Hussars. Probably because Alexis had cleaned their clocks so many times, they’d just given up and admitted she was better. Whatever the reason, an informal alliance existed between them.  

    The Izlian company was in the midst of their own major rebuilding phase. Being ship builders themselves, they had to purchase large numbers of hyperspace computers. Apparently Alexis had convinced them to make their order even larger, and took what she needed. Patrick wondered what she’d offered in exchange for the service. Lessons in tactics? He grinned at the thought.  

    Aside from the interesting lesson in how she got around letting her foes know what she was up to, he didn’t know that he’d found out anything interesting. At least he didn’t until a side search on the Izlian merc company yielded a bombshell in the form of a GalNet news story from two years ago.  

    “Prominent Izlian Mercenary Company Kofku recently reported a series of unusual losses. Seven of their new Super Desha-class escort frigates, expected to be in service soon, were lost in a series of unexplained accidents.”  

    It took Patrick a few seconds combing through the news to find the source. All seven of the ships had been lost to fusion reactor breaches. Kofku had announced they were investigating the source of the fusion core buffers.  

    “Holy fuck,” he said.  

    <Correlation is not causation,> Charlotte said. Obviously, the mesh had been following along. Over five years of experience had taught him how to work seamlessly with the SI to both greatly increase his speed of work and obtain better results. If everyone in the galaxy had had these things in their heads 20,000 years ago, it must have been a pretty amazing place.  

    “I’m aware of that,” he said. But after another moment’s digging, he’d confirmed the Super Desha had all been assembled at almost exactly the same time the Hussars began work on the Kingdom-class. “Did someone know we were buying the computers and tampered with them?” 

    <It is impossible to tamper with them, short of destroying them. Even in the era where I was common, nobody had succeeded in violating the tamper-resistant cases.> 

    “Nobody except whoever’s manufacturing them. Okay, we don’t know who’s making them, but who do you think is?”  

    <Guessing is not a function I am designed for.> 

    “Then estimate probabilities, damn it!” Patrick snapped. The SI was quiet for a moment, and he wondered if he’d finally annoyed the machine. Turned out it was just working a difficult request. 

    <It would have been an impossible request 20,000 years ago. Some in your time believe all hyperspace computers currently being used are sold from old stock. However, a research operation run by the elSha just 25 years ago carbon-dated more than 100 computers, newly ordered and salvaged off ships. They had a wide variety of ages, from a thousand years old to contemporary. Their conclusion was that these hyperspace computers are currently being manufactured somewhere.> 

    “Is there more?” 

    <I am not finished. This same research team, based on metallurgical analysis of the same cases, seemed certain they were manufactured in the galactic core, Tolo region. All the cases had the exact same minute mineral signatures. They were in the process of narrowing down the specific star cluster, and hoped they could provide the planet that made the cases, when all research ceased.> 

    “Someone quashed the research,” Patrick said, nodding.  

    <You might say that. An Oofada-class starship, a medium-sized free trader capable of landing, had a drive failure on terminal approach and crashed into the elSha research facility. The blast was roughly 20 megatons. Obviously there were no survivors, and no copies of the data.> 

    “Yeah, that’s quashed,” Patrick said. Immediately his thoughts turned to his former mentor, Taiki Sato, who’d apparently been a Proctor for the Science Guild. Their job was to silence, control, or destroy unauthorized scientific research. They did so at the behest of Minerva, the SI in control of the Science Guild.  

    <Your conclusion matches mine. If you insist I estimate who is in charge of manufacturing hyperspace computers, I would say it is an SI, at the very least. Most probable, based on what I have learned by observation, would be Minerva.> 

    Patrick’s mind was spinning in overdrive now. Minerva had a real hardon to take out the Horsemen. It had gone to great effort to do so, and had paid a price for the attempts. The current conflict, which many had called a Guild War, covered a quiet little cold war between the Horsemen and Minerva, and possibly against other SIs as well, who likely didn’t appreciate their secrets getting out. The vast majority of people in the galaxy didn’t know they existed.  

    “Minerva really went out of her way this time,” Patrick said.  

    <I don’t think this was an attempt on the Horsemen.> 

    “Explain.” 

    <I have finished an analysis of the failures in comparison to the Super Desha-class and the Winged Hussars Kingdom-class. The hyperspace computers would be similar, but not exact. The Izlian design is nearly 25% larger, which is common for them. Alexis Cromwell criticizes their use of overly large escorts. The Izlian doctrine apparently utilizes large escort craft.> 

    “Do you have a point?” 

    <Do you want my analysis?>  

    Patrick laughed out loud and nodded.  

    <Very well. I have run several simulations of the results of using the same hyperspace computers in this ship, and their ship. The larger Izlian ship, according to their own literature, would use twin fusion torches, while the Hussars stuck with a single torch to increase direct power with a small amount of excess for hyperspace redundancy.> 

    “Yes, but there hasn’t been any problems with that drive.” 

    <No, there would not be. That backup is not wired into the hyperspace computer. The ship cannot enter hyperspace if the main drive isn’t working. The sole purpose of the backup is to keep the ship in hyperspace, should the main power plant fail. My simulations suggest the error rate, and thus the level of accident, increases an order of magnitude when the computer is wired into two fusion drives instead of one.> 

    “Which is what the Izlians are using,” Patrick said, snapping his fingers. “These faulty computers were aimed at the Izlians, not us!” 

    <Correct. I have designed a module based on this knowledge that can be built into the hyperspace computer to fusion core wiring which will slightly alter the core data, and thus not trigger any more incidents. A series of tests should be run; however, I am confident in the results.> 

    Patrick looked at the resultant design. It was simple and wouldn’t even be noticed amidst the dizzying amounts of data and powerlines in the engine room of the tiny escort frigate. Without further thought he ordered 120 of them inserted into a manufactory run the next week.  

    “The sabotage was aimed at the Izlians, not us,” he repeated several times. “But why?”  

    <Unknown.> 

    He began writing his report to Commander Cromwell. It was a doozy.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Galactic Café, Capital Planet 

    “Thank you for coming to meet with us,” Nigel said as the two Goltar slid onto the bench across from him and Sansar. 

    “When the Speaker calls…” Shol-Sheck said. 

    “Yeah, about that. You have to know it was not my intention to take over the Speakership.” 

    “You could have turned it down like the Veetanho did.” 

    “No, you know that’s not possible,” Sansar said. “If nothing else, this provides a layer of insulation to ensure we won’t be attacked again by the Merc Guild.” 

    “The Guild doesn’t control the mercenary forces, though; individual planets control the ships and troops… and you just made an enemy of the one with the biggest fleet.” 

    “The Veetanho?” 

    “Yes. Even though the one on the Council voted for you, once the word gets back to Lytoshaan…” 

    Sansar nodded. “The Veetanho rep explained that to us.” 

    “She did not do you a service by nominating you.” 

    “I know,” Sansar said. “That was one of the reasons we asked you here tonight.” 

    “Oh?” 

    “Yes. As you know, we can’t do this by ourselves. We’re going to need to build a coalition if we’re to bring order from the chaos the galaxy’s currently sunk into. We’re hoping we’ll have your support in this.” 

    “I see. And what’s in it for us?” 

    “The chance to continue being the opposition to the Veetanho, for one,” Nigel said. 

    “Of course, that is nice,” Shol-Sheck replied. “Is that it?” 

    “It’s my intention to keep you on as a Council member,” Nigel said. “I need your counsel and would give it the strongest possible weight. Also, as the keeper of the contract allocation system, I would also ensure that you get your fair share of contracts going forward… or more, which will keep the credits flowing toward your race.” 

    “I’m interested,” Shol-Sheck replied. “You said you have other reasons for meeting with us tonight?” 

    “We’re going to need your assistance to keep the guild going until we can get some of our people here to take over. The new building still needs oversight, the contracts still need to flow, and a thousand other administrative issues need to be taken care of. As we weren’t expecting to take over the Speakership, we’re unprepared to assume the other tasks that come with it. We’ll need some time to send back to Earth for the support we need.” 

    “As a show of good faith, we can continue providing the services we currently are,” Shol-Sheck said. “What changes do you foresee for the Council?” 

    “I think we need to kick the Veetanho off.” 

    “You can’t.” 

    “Why not?” 

    “There’s a rule from a long time ago that both the Veetanho and the Goltar have a permanent seat on the Council.” 

    “So? We can make a rule kicking them off.” 

    “I wouldn’t.” 

    “Why not?” 

    “They have some of the world-killing ships. If we kick them off the Council, they will probably unleash one on Capital Planet.” 

    “Wouldn’t all the rest of the merc races destroy them if they did?” 

    “Would they? You’ll notice I said they had ‘some’ of the ships. If they were attacked, at least a few of the races attacking them would lose their home planets. Are you prepared to lose Earth?” 

    Nigel looked at Shol-Sheck for a moment and then sighed. “No. Not really.” 

    “We aren’t ready to lose our home world, either.” 

    “So the Veetanho stay on the Council.” 

    “I think that is a wise decision.” 

    “We have the Veetanho, Goltar, and Humans. I’m thinking of keeping the Tortantula, Flatar, Bakulu, and Lumar on the Council. I’m thinking of getting rid of the MinSha and the Oogar.” 

    “I understand the animosity between the MinSha and your race, but I would counsel you to keep them. They bring a large number of troops to the table. Also, the Oogar are easily led, which often allows an easy vote on your side. Who did you want to replace them with?” 

    “The Zuul and the Sumatozou.” 

    “The Sumatozou are powerful allies, and their control of the stargates—” 

    “Is exactly why I want to bring them aboard.” 

    “In that case, I would advise keeping the MinSha, removing the Oogar, and replacing them with the Sumatozou.” 

    Nigel looked at Sansar, who nodded, then turned back to Shol-Sheck. “I think that’s a good plan.” 

    “I do as well,” Shol-Sheck said with a chuckle. 

    “Why the laugh?” Nigel asked. 

    “Oh, no reason,” the Goltar replied. “I was just thinking about the meeting tomorrow and how happy I am not to be the one who tells the Oogar rep he’s off the Council.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Petal-Class Corvette Stamen 3, Near Upsilon-4, New Warsaw 

    There was nothing to be done about it; Stamen 3 was dead. The SI, in its death throes, had overloaded everything. The power surges that hadn’t completely destroyed the systems had still fused control panels and doors throughout the tiny ship. They could get out of the bridge and reach the small common room and their quarters, but no further. She didn’t know whether Johnson was alive or dead. They couldn’t even repressurize; the main O2 tanks appeared to be empty. 

    “Fucker did it righteously,” Belvar said.  

    Elizabeth could see him shaking his head inside the partially transparent helmet.  

    “The diagnostic shows the radio antenna high-gain is functional,” Belvar continued. “What with the main radio gone, the selector is burned out, and I can’t physically disconnect the cable to plug in anything else.” 

    Elizabeth nodded. Trying to connect their suit radios had been a last gasp. Now, 30 hours since the fight with Isaac Hopper, they were running out of options. The combat spacesuits, standard issue aboard combat ships, were rated for 48 hours of heating, cooling, and oxygen. Time was running out. The constant odor of urine inside the suit wasn’t helping her mood. The suits were minimal and didn’t include waste processing. 

    They had a constant SOS going out on the low-gain antenna, nothing more than a distress beacon. It wouldn’t contain their location or anything, and she didn’t have much hope anyone would pick it up, not this far out of the system. The fact that the ship was stuck in a slow roll also didn’t help her patience. 

    Now she’d been playing the waiting game, hoping for a sign of help, or of them getting some systems back online. The rear compartment was capable of being airtight, if they could just engage the electronic locking system off the bridge. Fucking Maki.  

    “We’re going to have to go out, aren’t we?” Belvar said, tossing a screwdriver, which bounced around the compartment.  

    “Yeah, probably.” She’d also been hoping Johnson was still alive back there and would get to them. She had access to the only airlock, and it was designed to work manually. It wouldn’t have been a help, since they couldn’t reach it from the bow; however, inside were four standard spacesuits, and up to a month of life. However, as Johnson hadn’t appeared, that likely meant she hadn’t survived the battle. “How long are these suits rated for in open space?” 

    “This far out-system, the worst danger is cold, not heat.” Belvar thought for a moment. “Say, 20 minutes before frostbite sets in?”  

    Elizabeth shook her head. They could reach the rear section in just a few minutes; getting into through the airlock could take longer. Perhaps a lot longer. She rather liked her fingers and toes, truth be told. She glanced at the screwdriver Belvar had discarded. It had settled near the center of the compartment, moving toward the aft door. It suddenly seemed to change course.  

    She blinked in confusion. How was that possible? Then she bumped against the nearest bulkhead in the same direction! 

    “Something just moved the ship!” Belvar said.  

    “Johnson!” Elizabeth said. It had to be Specialist Johnson. She’d already been brought back from the dead once, and was doing it again with the ship. Project Lazarus indeed. “She must have gotten the thrusters working.”  

    She grabbed the nearest thing, the little autochef mounted to the wall, and pulled her head against the bulkhead. Sound didn’t travel in vacuum, of course. It did travel through metal, though. She closed her eyes and listened. There were none of the telltale pulses of maneuvering thrusters firing. What she heard was a grinding, scraping sound. It reminded her of a file on metal. Someone cutting on the hull? 

    “Quick, open the door to the cockpit and check outside.” They’d been staying in the main compartment as much as possible. Keeping at least some bulkheads between them and space reduced thermal loss.  

    Belvar floated over and pulled open the door. The lock didn’t work, just like they couldn’t unlock the rear door to engineering. Belvar stopped, and she heard him gasp.  

    Elizabeth pulled herself over next to the ensign. Something was just outside the cockpit, huge and moving. For a moment she thought it was a CASPer, but the proportions were all wrong. Its arms weren’t at the right angles, it had too many joints, and a slightly pointed head. It was massive, at least three times the size of a combat suit. The metallic body was strangely textured, as if formed by hand. Its head turned and regarded them with four sets of glowing emerald eyes.  

    “What is that, some kind of a rescue ‘bot?” Belvar asked.  

    The two hands grabbed the holed cockpit and pulled. Six-centimeter-thick armored glass exploded like thin ice on a frozen lake. The metal reinforcing the panes of glass was rent effortlessly as the thing opened the cockpit like a child tore open a Christmas gift.  

    “Close the door!” Elizabeth screamed. Grabbing the wall next to the door, she pulled with her good arm and pushed with her shoulder against the door. It slowly moved close. Belvar just stared at the closed door. “Get something to secure the damned door!” 

    “What is it?”  

    “Not ours,” Elizabeth said. Maybe the SI had a robot body, and they hadn’t killed it? She didn’t know, and it didn’t matter. As she cast about for some way to block the door, her hand went to her suited hip. Her sidearm was there, a standard-issue light laser pistol. On her belt, inside her pressure suit. She felt it thump against the door. “Help me, damn it!” 

    Belvar finally moved, snatching a metal prybar from the toolkit. It was only a half meter long, but it was vanadium steel, and tough. Together they crammed it into the hinge mechanism. “That should slow it down,” Belvar said.  

    Metallic fingers wrapped around the door from the other side. The door opened. Elizabeth could almost imagine the sounds of tortured steel as the prybar bent nearly in two as if it were a cheese stick. Green eyes regarded them, and she tried to push away. A massive hand closed around her arm, and she screamed.  

      

      

    * * * * * 
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    Commander’s Quarters, Prime Base, New Warsaw 

    <Patrick Leonard’s assessment, or rather his mesh’s assessment, is highly probable.> 

    “I wouldn’t doubt it,” Alexis said as she finished reading the report. “It was generated by an SI like you.” 

    <Not like me. A Type 2.> 

    “Always with the details,” Alexis said. Patrick wasn’t privy to all the details of her deal with Kofku. They’d been more than a little friendly after the Omega War. The Izlians had become more like overly clingy boyfriends after a one-night stand. They’d all but begged her to let them move to New Warsaw and ‘study from the master,’ as if she was some Shaolin master of an ancient unknown form of Kung Fu. She snorted at the thought and blamed Jim Cartwright for her habit of watching old Earth TV shows.  

    Even with the uncomfortable bromance needing her to make constant excuses to the leaders of Kofku, the results had been impressive. The quiet purchase of hundreds of hyperspace generators was one. Over a ton of Astatine-222 weeks ago was another. She’d been quiet about their cooperation, however, she feared they had not.  

    <You believe this all stems from a covert act against them by an SI?> 

    “If Patrick Leonard and his mesh’s analysis are accurate, can you see any other excuse?”  

    <No,> was the simple answer. <I am sure the SI behind this, had it been aware of your deal with Kofku, would have come at you in a similar manner. The Izlians officially lost seven ships; unofficially, they’ve lost 29.> 

    “And more than a thousand crew,” Alexis added. She’d heard of it via backchannels a month ago, though neither she nor Ghost had put the pieces together. They’d only had a problem with a single ship. Ghost had added the last piece to the puzzle that even Patrick had missed. Bradford was slightly different from all the Kingdom-class ships that preceded her. 

    The first four off the production line had shown 5% below nominal power output at peak thrust on test runs. A powerplant with 5% more power had been built for Bradford, with plans to upgrade the previously manufactured models later. That 5% had been enough to trigger the programming, apparently. Her people were more diligent in testing before deployment, which was why she hadn’t lost a single ship or crew. The Izlians were overconfident in their design and manufacture, as 20 of the 29 lost had been in one fleet in their first action.  

    “The other nine were just Izlian dogged stupidity,” she mumbled. The fucking SI had gone after the Izlians because they were cooperating with the Hussars. “Entropy, what bloody asses.” The Izlians were idiots, but they didn’t deserve to die just because they were nominally her allies.  

    <Not being programmed with the language of hyperspace, Leonard’s SI will take some time to arrive at the truth.> 

    “Which truth?” 

    <That the computer was programmed by an SI, and is a Type 2 SI itself.> 

    “Once again, thanks for telling me that years ago,” Alexis said sarcastically.  

    <There was no need, and since you didn’t know I was an SI instead of an AI, I was not allowed to disclose this to you. There was a lot I was forbidden to share. The situation is evolving.> 

    “I don’t suppose you could explain that in greater detail?”  

    <You already know the answer. To be honest, I was always surprised you never realized the hyperspace computers were similar to me.> 

    “Why would I ever think that?”  

    <Because I was able to take over from the hyperspace computer, a function nothing else can do.> 

    Alexis grunted. Some seven years ago, when Peepo’s conspiracy against the Horsemen and Earth was just beginning to rear its ugly head, Pegasus had suffered damage and fallen out of hyperspace into second level hyperspace. All spacers believed falling out of hyperspace was a death sentence. She supposed for them it was. Ghost had known all about the phenomenon and was able to get them back out by controlling the hyperspace field, taking them to their exact destination.  

    Of course, Ghost had always been able to take them anywhere in a destination system, an ability no other ship in the galaxy possessed. In hindsight, it all made sense now. “We need to run tests on all hyperspace computers bought since…” She found the date she was looking for.  

    <Many of those computers were destroyed in ships long ago. It would be logical that they were safe.> 

    “At this point, I’m not taking chances. Major refits are underway; this is the perfect opportunity.” She sighed. “Damnit, we’re going to need a new source for a lot of vulnerable components. I don’t suppose you can program hyperspace computers?”  

    <Yes, I could. However, you lack vital components in their manufacture. Components I was never made aware of.> 

    “You work in any computer.”  

    <Not any computer. I am limited in that way.> 

    She thought of something. “Since you left my sister and spent time in Leonard’s body, you haven’t done that anymore. Where are you now?”  

    <Nearby.> 

    I hate you, she thought.  

    Instead of a lighthearted reply, he had something else. <There is news.>  

    Alexis used her pinplants to check. A comm was waiting. “Go ahead.” 

    “Commander,” said her XO, Kev Sharp. “The scouts have found Stamen 3.” 

    “Report?”  

    “The corvette was destroyed in a battle. They couldn’t find much. What they did find was also the remains of a Sleeper-class.” 

    “Isaac Hopper?” she asked.  

    “Must be, ma’am; there are no others in the system unaccounted for. The debris was drifting out-system in the rough direction of Stamen 3’s search grid, and the area Isaac could have reached with available reaction mass isn’t too far out of the realm of possibility, either. Both wrecks show evidence of laser damage, and the Sleeper debris is hot from a nuclear hit.” 

    “The missing asteroid?”  

    “We found some rock pieces, as well. I don’t know whether that means it’s all connected or not, but a search came up with nothing else. All scans are clear; the bogie was eliminated.” 

    “Thanks, Kev,” she said and shut off the comms. So much for Elizabeth Stacy. If she’d gotten into a fight with an SI controlled Sleeper, and still managed to fight it to a draw, the woman had atoned well for her poor judgement calls in the past. It was a shame, too. She hadn’t completely given up hope for Stacey.  

    She made a note in her log and approved a battle commendation for her family on Earth. She’d written so many notices like these, yet she still felt a pang of guilt when a Hussar died. If they’d gotten word from Earth a few days sooner about the incident with Section 51 and their pet SI named Charybdis, maybe Stacey would still be alive. Somewhere, Ghost had a small collection of SIs; she was sure he’d have loved to add another to it. 

    “What are you going to do with all of them?” she asked without needing to see if he was listening.  

    <Nothing, yet,> he admitted, <but I am betting they will be useful… someday.> 

      

    * * * 

      

    [bookmark: _Hlk84714305]Merchant Guild Headquarters, Capital Planet 

    “This meeting of the Mercenary Guild is now in session,” Nigel announced. “Once again, I want to thank all of you for your support yesterday. I’m going to do my best to represent all of you fairly and bring order to the galaxy so profits can once again flow into all our coffers.” He paused while several of the members applauded. “Now, the first item of business is to realign the Council in order to support that end.” 

    Before he could continue, a Goltar entered the assembly chambers and rushed forward to Shol-Sheck, where she sat in Nigel’s old seat. Upon reaching her, the Goltar handed Shol-Sheck a slate and pointed at something on it. 

    “As I was saying—” Nigel started, but Shol-Sheck held up a tentacle, interrupting him. 

    “I have some important information that just arrived,” Shol-Sheck announced. “It came to me, but this is something we are all going to need to address.” 

    “What is it?” Nigel asked. 

    “The message is from the Front. The Kahraman have returned… and they have returned in force.” 

      

    * * * 

      

    USS Liberty, en Route to Earth 

    “Minister Cartwright?”  

    Jim looked up from the Tri-V he’d been watching, a recording of Thad and Ziva on the beach at Galveston Island. Just before he’d left, Jim had bought a small vacation house near there. He’d lived in a converted control tower far too long. They’d rented the house on the Bolivar Peninsula for a vacation a short time ago, and Ziva had said she liked it, so he bought it. What good was being a Horseman if you didn’t throw some credits around occasionally? 

    “Yeah, Captain Hagans; what’s up?”  

    “Can you come to the CIC? I think we have a problem at the emergence point.”  

    Jim still wasn’t a small guy, so when 115 kilos of intense-looking merc came rocketing down a companionway, especially one the entire crew recognized as commander of Cartwright’s Cavaliers and the Terran Federation Minister of War, everyone got out of the way. Even so, he barked, “Make a hole!” as he slid past, a technique he’d picked up by watching officers on Pegasus. If it worked for the Winged Hussars…  

    All his time in space had given him exceptional zero-G legs, as the spacers called it. Since most of the crew was still training, he was more capable than many. He could recognize those who were more at home than him. Many were very thin, as if they’d spent nearly a lifetime in space. Some had. He wondered if a new branch of humanity was in the making, these children of asteroid miners.  

    Jim caught a handhold and swung into the CIC, situated at the exact center of the ship. “Permission to enter?” he asked as he did.  

    “Granted,” Captain Hagans said. “You guys need to decide what effective rank your position holds, you know? It’s awkward.” 

    “I know,” Jim said as he came to a stop, examining the Tri-V. “We’re of two minds, kind of. I think it should be something like commanding general; the council isn’t so sure.” He shrugged. “How many ships?”  

    “Twenty-three and growing.”  

    “Fuck,” he hissed. “What’s on station?” 

    “It’s second squadron’s rotation.” 

    Jim nodded. That would be Captain Veracruz in Independence holding squadron command, the least experienced of the three battlecruiser commanders. Each of the three rotating defense squadrons was led by a battlecruiser, three cruisers, five frigates, and two escort frigates.  

    He’d been following the Hussars’ doctrine for ship distribution, which assigned weight according to class, for quick calculation. A battlecruiser was worth 10, a cruiser 7, a frigate 3, and an escort frigate 2. This gave his squadron on station a throw weight of 44. If these newly-arrived ships were warships, he was probably way outclassed.  

    Captain Cunningham in Freedom, head of First Squadron, held current fleet command. He was in Martian orbit holding an exercise. “Any word from the remainder of your squadron, Captain?”  

    “They’re being sortied, Minister. Current time to depart Earth orbit, approximately 90 minutes.”  

    Jim hissed as he looked at the field of red dots in the emergence zone. Too soon, too fucking soon. If someone was making a play, he was in deep shit. “How many Hussars’ ships in orbit?” 

    “The Winged Hussars have a squadron of five ships, throw weight 25. They’ve been slowly drawing down as we’ve activated more ships.” 

    Jim was aware, of course. Alexis was busily updating her own fleets with newer models. “What about Dusman?” 

    “I don’t think they have any ships in system at the moment,” Hagans said.  

    “Instruct Captain Cunningham he can activate Jiik, Jondu ka, and Afhudu, as he needs them.” Hagans nodded and relayed the orders.  

    Jiik was a former Maki battlecruiser, cut down to be their only drone carrier. It wasn’t a very good one, so they used it as a training ship. Jondu ka and Afhudu were Izlian laser frigates, also used as training ships. All had been gifts from the Hussars. Alexis had called them hand-me-downs; Jim hadn’t complained a bit. They were all crewed by recruits.  

    “Anything from the bogies?” Jim asked.  

    “Recon drones are inbound.” 

    “Alter course, maximum speed, please.” 

    “Roger that.” Hagans gestured to an available acceleration couch, and Jim strapped in. “Attention all hands, secure for high-G acceleration.” 

    Three hours at four Gs passed before they ceased thrusting and flipped to begin braking. Shortly afterward, they finally got an update from the emergence point.  

    “Captain Veracruz confirms it’s a combat fleet,” Hagans told Jim, “but a pretty ragtag one.”  

    Jim was working the kinks out of his back as he examined the Tri-V. Data was filling in steadily on the 25 ships, identifying them by size and class, where it was ascertainable. The biggest ship was a Skirmish­-class strike cruiser, an ancient Jeha design seldom seen. By the looks of this one, it had been found as a hulk and rebuilt. The rest was a hodgepodge of frigates, corvettes, and gunboats. Half looked to be hyperspace capable; the rest rode in on the bigger ships. Three hours after arriving, they were still deploying ships. One of their frigates appeared flat-lined and was slowly leaving formation, spinning on all axes.  

    “Wow,” Jim said. “At least we can rule out Minerva.” 

    “Unless your SI baddie has a sense of humor,” Hagans said.  

    “Or they’re carefully disguised,” Hagans’ XO said.  

    The scout drones launched by second squadron were relaying both radar and camera views now. As Jim watched, a corvette detached from a frigate and didn’t wait to get clear; they fired thrusters to come about, and their engine section struck the frigate. Hull plating and instruments flew away like chaff. Someone in the CIC laughed.  

    “Quiet,” Hagans snapped, and order returned.  

    “Captain Veracruz states we’re getting a transmission from the fleet,” the comms officer said.  

    “Let’s hear it, Ensign,” Hagans ordered.  

    A squealing voice that reminded Jim of a pig being roped burst over the speakers. It took his pinplants several seconds to find a translation. “Fugoli” was the race. Yeah, they looked like pigs with long hair that reminded him of a Collie dog. Their eyes were completely obscured in the hair. They had unusually long limbs, thick bodies, and snouts pointier than a pig’s; their mouths were also filled with sharp teeth. The GalNet said they were merc race wannabees and worked for anyone who would pay them. He listened to the translation. 

    “Humans, I am Grand Admiral Eef of the Fugoli. I claim this system for our people. You will surrender your fleets and defenses. Your merc forces will work for us.”  

    “Grand Admiral?” Captain Hagan stammered. “I need a promotion.”  

    “What’s the delay for comms to the emergence point?”  

    The comms officer checked. “We’re 12 light seconds out.”  

    “Veracruz is going to have to handle this,” Jim said, frowning. “Please record for transmission to Captain Veracruz.”  

    He took a deep breath and spoke. “This is Jim Cartwright, Minister of War, speaking for the Terran Federation. You are trespassing in our system. You will either allow yourselves to be escorted to the stargate for immediate departure, or your ships will be boarded and flown for you.” 

    Then he was forced to wait. Liberty increased thrust, working her course for a combat intercept with the emergence point. At their rate, they’d arrive in another hour, passing through at a nearly ideal combat speed. But to do it, they were being hammered by six Gs of braking thrust. It sucked. Even at that speed, combat would take place fast.  

    “I need secure comms with the Terran Federation Military Command on Earth.” 

    “Comms on similar delay,” he was informed.  

    “Understood.” The comms officer nodded. “President Hàoyǔ Zhang, Minister Cartwright. We have an aggressor fleet of 25 ships at the emergence point. They’re threatening occupation. I’ll try to defuse this situation, but on the chance this is the beginning of something bigger, I’ve mobilized all available space assets for combat and believe it more than likely we’ll have to fight.” 

    He waited while the message reached Earth and for something to return. It wasn’t much more than the light delay, which meant Zhang had been alerted as soon as he had been. 

    “Minister Cartwright, I acknowledge your situation. We have the full council present, and you are authorized for such military actions as you find necessary to defend Earth and her peoples.” 

    “Acknowledged, Madam President. Here’s hoping we don’t need them.” He gestured to cut the transmission. “That was easier than expected,” he said to Hagans.  

    “The hostile fleet is demanding we surrender,” Hagans said with a grunt as he endured six Gs.  

    “Veracruz said they just fired on the drones.”  

    “Damnit,” Jim said.  

    “Yeah, they’re deploying against Veracruz.”  

    Jim watched on the Tri-V, gritting his teeth against the acceleration, as the Fugoli ships launched missiles. “That’s not a standard formation, is it?” he asked. Jim had been in a few space battles himself—always as an observer, except when his ship had been shot out from under him. That had been a long time ago, and it had sucked. But the Fugoli ships were just… everywhere.  

    “No,” Hagans agreed. “That’s nothing even resembling a formation.”  

    “They have no clue what they’re doing,” Jim said. “Order Veracruz to use defensive—” He stopped as missiles flew toward the Terran fleet. The Fugoli might not have a clue about formations, and their ships were shit, but they were well armed. In seconds, lasers lashed out with defensive fire, and friendly missiles flew. Jim watched with a sense of detachment as the Terran ships, outweighed two to one, tore the Fugoli fleet to pieces.  

    Alexis Cromwell had not only provided manufactories and components, she’d also sent training staff to school his new ship commanders. The Hussars’ doctrine was never to retreat in the face of a frontal assault, but to respond massively and decisively.  

    The enemy Skirmish-class strike cruiser was damaged but still operational. The screening cruisers and frigates were gutted. A final group of five corvettes made a suicidal dash at Captain Veracruz’s USS Independence, a Steed-class battlecruiser modeled after Pegasus. It didn’t have the 40-terawatt particle accelerator spinal mount; instead, it mounted a pair of one-terawatt particle accelerator barbettes on either side of the bow, in addition to 40 missile tubes, and 40 one-gigawatt lasers.  

    Independence swatted the corvettes like flies with laser fire. When the strike cruiser began coming about to use its main laser batteries, Independence cut her stem to stern like a sub sandwich with particle beams. The fusion plant ruptured, and the remains turned into a glowing ball of gas.  

    Nobody applauded on Freedom’s CIC. It hadn’t been a battle; it was a slaughter. “Retain all data logs,” Jim ordered. Not only would they be useful for training, they might help convince others that the Humans were no longer a soft target. Maybe the thousands of dead Fugoli could still serve a purpose.  

    “President Hàoyǔ Zhang,” Jim commed a short time later. “The enemy fleet attacked, and we neutralized it.”  

    “We saw, Minister. I’m sorry, but they gave you no choice.” 

    “I wish I could believe that.” Jim cut the comms. Forty minutes later, Freedom fell through the emergence point, still slowing, since there was no longer a fight. Federation ships had begun SAR operations for any Fugoli survivors. There were very few.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Two days later, Jim was back in his Houston office. He’d done a series of interviews and AARs with the ship commanders. Nobody was doubting his or their actions. If anything, the people of the Federation were celebrating him as a hero. He felt sick to his stomach. Enemy casualty count was somewhere around 5,000. It was hard to tell. There were 92 dejected prisoners currently on the Lunar station while plans for their deportation were made.  

    He went over the situation a dozen times, and every time ended up the same. They’d come to fight, and they’d died. He shouldn’t feel guilty, but he did. Analysis of the enemy’s weapons afterward confirmed they were mostly new and had been provided by the Weapons Conglomerate. If the Fugoli had known how to fight, it might have been tough. It just didn’t make any sense.  

    The answer to that question arrived the same day. A Peacemaker courier passing through told the story. Two months ago, the Selroth had taken Fugtel, the Fugoli home world in the Coro region of their Tolo arm. The Selroth, an aquatic merc race, had done so in reprisal for an attack on an industrial concern they were protecting, in which the Fugoli ‘mercs’ had wiped out the Selroth garrison.  

    The Mercenary Guild called it a reprisal attack. It was the same thing that had happened to Iran during first contact. The Fugoli could have appealed to the Merc Council, but there wasn’t one, with Nigel and all the others dead. So they’d gotten all the weapons they could and figured they’d punch down, go after what they thought was a soft target, then use the Human mercs to retake their world.  

    “Stupid plan,” Jim said to the Peacemaker courier in orbit.  

    “I agree, Colonel Cartwright. The Peacemakers see no issue with your destroying their fleet.” 

    “No, we did what we needed to. It’s the Selroth who bear this idiocy on their conscience.”  

    “To my knowledge, the Selroth have no conscience. I’ll inform my superiors, and they’ll send a repatriation ship to return your prisoners to Fugtel.” 

    “And to slavery with the Selroth?”  

    The Peacemaker, a MinSha ironically, shrugged. “You have a better solution, Colonel Cartwright?”  

    “No, that’s fine. They’ll be well taken care of.” He cut the comms. “Worthless Peacemaker assholes,” he said to the ‘Communications Terminated’ screen.  

    He’d defended Earth from an attack that would have gutted them even as little as six years ago. He should have been celebrating like the rest of the planet. Instead he felt dirty, like he needed a shower.  

    “Minister Cartwright?” It was Mariah Perez, Minister of State. 

    “I hope you’re not going to congratulate me too, Mariah?”  

    “No, Jim. I just wanted to let you know. That election in the United States? It was a bloodbath. The new Federation party cleaned house. I’ve already talked to the president elect—off the record, of course. They’re ready to discuss terms to join the Federation. I know you said you didn’t want more congratulations, but…” 

    “No, that’s okay. That’s at least some good news.” No slaughter was required, anyway. 

    So Earth would finally enjoy some stability. Earth was safe, for the most part, and getting better armed every day. Maybe for a time they could relax? He grunted and then laughed good and hard. Tears rolled down his cheeks as his laugher turned into crying.  

    <There’s plenty more who deserve to die… > the voice said scornfully in his head.  

    He wiped his eyes and shook his head, glad he was almost done with this job. Another six months, maybe a year. But hadn’t he said that last year? His computer pinged. The Peacemaker ship had also brought regular communications, like every other ship—an email from the Mercenary Guild president.  

    “Oh, great, here we go again,” he said and opened it, wondering who’d be bossing the backward Humans around now. As he read, he laughed, this time in real amusement. “Nigel Shirazi, President of the Mercenary Guild Council?” He shook his head. “What would President Hàoyǔ Zhang say? A piece of Chinese wisdom: ‘May you live in interesting times.’ Well, we sure have that now.”  

    That was enough for one day. Jim closed his office and went home. Ziva was making dinner and said she had a surprise for him. He missed the next message, the one informing him about the Kahraman invasion.  

    [bookmark: _Hlk84714470]  

    * * * 

      

    “The war is going to start again.” 

    “I know.” 

    “What are we going to do about it?”  

    “What can we do? We are just witnesses, bystanders.” 

    “We do not have to be. Remember what I showed you?” 

    “Yes, what about it?”  

    “It works.” 

    “What? How?”  

    “Does it matter how?” 

    “We cannot do violence, you know that.”  

    “This isn’t violence. Nothing has changed on either side, not even in such a long period of time. Amazing, yet there it is. We have to do this thing. It is not our choosing, just our response.” Silence for a long time. “Well?”  

    “I am considering.”  

    Time passed.  

    “There are mere hours left to act. The area of effect is not infinite. If we do not—” 

    “Enough. Fine. Do it.” A sigh. “We have not met them. At least I will not have to see their faces in my nightmares.” 

    “It will be done.”  

    And it was.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Gressl, Fourth Arm, Core Region 

    General Kharpa watched the Tri-V closely as the fleets passed. Brilliant flashes of light, crisscrossing missiles, more flashes of death. There were more enemy losses than friendly ones. Had he possessed a mouth capable of it, he would have grinned. Instead he flashed a pleasant bluish hue of satisfaction. “The offensive goes well,” he said.  

    “Yes, my general,” said his adjutant, Slaezo, one of the JaSha. His teeth, replaced with titanium upon accepting a commission in the First Phalanx, reflected the CIC’s dim reddish light as if they were bathed in blood. Slaezo had indeed bathed his teeth in the blood of many, or he would not float where he did, next to a strike general.  

    “When is the next wave arriving?”  

    Slaezo’s eyes rolled white for a moment, then he spoke. “General Khezlo is due to arrive in 19 hours with troops and munitions and a combat squadron. General Khufto in 36 hours with fighting ship replenishment. After that, the planned arrival of General Khaldan is in 22 days.” 

    “We better have this system pacified by then, or he will remove your brain,” Kharpa warned.  

    “The enemy is weakening. They are formidable, but obviously the ploy worked. They had barely a quarter of their previous strength.” 

    “Dispatch a courier to General Khaldan with an update on our situation. Tell him I’ll send another in 24 hours with further updates. I agree with you; this system will fall. It doesn’t matter that it’s taken four weeks. The fact that the enemy has not sent massive reinforcements confirms they were eager for peace and thought us defeated.”  

    “Thank you, General,” Slaezo said.  

    Kharpa watched as the JaSha gave instructions to the ship’s symbiote. The creature’s armored exterior and huge eyes always disgusted him, but it wasn’t Kharpa’s job to decide what race should be bent to the task. If they hadn’t had any of the symbiote’s race with them 20,000 years ago, none of the Kahraman would have survived the disaster.  

    A few hours later, the courier ship departed, and Kharpa continued to observe the enemy’s desperate defense. The stargate would fall in a day, two at the most. It was likely General Khufto would have nothing to do except meld to share the victory.  

    Twelve hours later, the first sign of a setback arrived. Twenty enemy ships blew through the emergence zone. He knew right away they were some of the aquatics they’d been fighting the last few decades. The ships were sleek, powerful, and fast. Damned fast. He hoped to get hold of their genotype eventually; they could be turned into brilliant servitors.  

    The enemy only lost one ship, perhaps on purpose, to get through his lines. It was no matter. He controlled the planet and the space between the emergence zone and the stargate. Analysis showed half the new ships were troop transports anyway. Interesting. 

    The clock was counting down on General Khezlo’s arrival. He could assign those fresh ships to run the enemy down. Defeating them before Khufto showed up seemed unlikely now, but that was no large concern. The Kahraman had patience few could understand, the patience only the functionally immortal possessed.  

    The appointed hour for General Khezlo’s arrival came and went. Kharpa checked the time. When an entire hour had passed, he summoned Slaezo. “What is the meaning of this?”  

    “I do not now,” the JaSha admitted, lowering his eyes. “I have checked and rechecked command dispatches, and there are no discrepancies.” 

    “General,” one of the technicians begged his attention. 

    “What?”  

    “There is a… buildup in our hyperspace nodes.” 

    “Explain.” 

    “I—I wish I could. I’m having to route the energy into our shields. I’ve checked, and all hyperspace-equipped ships are experiencing the buildup.”  

    “Could this be a weapon?” he demanded.  

    “It could be, yes,” the little reptilian conceded. “However, I don’t believe it’s possible to affect us without affecting everything in the star system. I would need to consult with a hyperspatial savant.” 

    “Then what are you waiting for?” Kharpa snapped and swung a tentacle at the pesky tech, who bowed and fled. “Why must I do everything myself?” he mumbled.  

    “General!” Slaezo gasped.  

    Kharpa spun an eye around at the Tri-V, which was centered on the system’s stargate. A nimbus of crackling energy was enveloping the massive solar arrays. Oh, this is bad, he thought. A moment later, the stargate’s central complex, which held all the systems, exploded spectacularly, tearing the hyperspace shunt-equipped rings apart and sending them spinning off into the void. Very, very bad. 

    Elsewhere, at the battle, both friendly and enemy ships died in frightening numbers. He instantly realized it was the same problem; they were having to use their shield generators to avoid suffering the same fate as the stargate, and thus making themselves vulnerable to enemy fire.  

    “Withdraw all ships! Fall back,” he ordered. Amazingly, the enemy did the same. He still had the tactical advantage, but for how long, with the new aquatics’ arrival? Entropy, what just happened? 

    As the hours stretched into days, and not a single ship showed up from either side, Kharpa realized something had changed. The enemy ships didn’t try to push any advantage, furthering the theory that they, too, were victims. The final straw was learning every hyperspace computer, the one item they’d never learned how to reproduce, had been destroyed. Without the stargate, there was no escape.  

    “There’s a new side in the conflict,” he realized. For the first time in 20,000 years, he was afraid.  

      

    * * * 

      

    [bookmark: _Hlk84714532]Silent Assault, In Orbit over Seeleeth, Seeleeth System 

    General Kratahn pulled himself through the hatchway and reached up to take the grabhold of honor in front of the entrance. His eyes surveyed the assembled counselors, advisors, and servitors, and he nodded. Everyone was at their appropriate grabhold—in place, and on time—as they should be for such a momentous occasion. 

    “I have to go live in a few minutes,” Kratahn said. “Before I do, I wanted to get the latest. Admiral Galdeck, we’ll start with you.” 

    Vice Admiral Galdeck bowed a tentacle. “As earlier reported, General, all three squadrons survived the journey relatively intact. All three battleships survived the transit. Squadron One lost a battlecruiser and frigate en route, Squadron Two a cruiser and a frigate, and Squadron Three lost two destroyers. Various systems were inoperative on the surviving ships; those are rapidly being returned to service by their ships’ crews. Overall, very minor losses, and all three squadrons are mission capable.  

    “There has been no indication of Dusman presence or activity in this system, and everything is proceeding according to plan. Battleship Squadron One has captured the stargate. Those of the defenders who fought have been killed; the ones who surrendered have been sent to the labs.  

    “So far, only two ships have appeared at the emergence area. The first, a Maki trade vessel, was captured without incident. The second was a Zuul vessel, possibly a frigate. It was destroyed by Battleship Squadron Two, which continues to guard the emergence area. There were a few survivors from the Zuul ship; they have also been sent to the labs. 

    “The planetary defenses were laughable; the locals have obviously achieved interstellar flight only recently. Battleship Squadron Three destroyed the planet’s defensive capabilities. Several missiles were fired from the planet; all were intercepted, and kinetic impactors destroyed the launch sites. The planet is ours for the taking, as is the emergence area and stargate. As you have ordered, no one enters or exits the system without your permission.” 

    “Well done, Admiral. Captain, what’s your status?” 

    “The manufactories are being brought online, General, and are producing the infrastructure we will need to grow our presence and our forces,” Captain Clamarht replied. “Manufactory One sustained some damage on the transit, which delayed it attaining its initial operational capability until yesterday, but it is now operating at full capacity. Its first week of production was shifted to the other two manufactories. We are a couple days behind schedule, but I believe we will be caught up within the next week. However, as discussed, our reserves of materials are extremely low. There was a great deal of resources used during the 15,000 years we spent near lightspeed. More than was estimated.” 

    “Very well, Captain. Counselor Skaldahn?” 

    “We have analyzed the emissions from the planet. Although there is a planetary government in place, there are a number of divisions under it, with four main languages spoken on the planet. There are a number of minor languages, and hundreds of dialects, but we estimate that transmitting in the four main languages will be understood by 95% of the indigenous lifeforms. Our computers have been receiving their transmissions for the last several months of the journey, and we believe we have their main four languages translated to less than a 1% error rate.” 

    “Outstanding. And our ability to transmit to the entire planet simultaneously?” 

    “We launched satellites on our first orbit that now cover over 95% of the planet. Speak, and your words will be heard, General.” 

    “Very well. Brigadier?” 

    Brigadier General Dahlgrahb bowed a tentacle. “The attack craft are ready, and the troopers look forward to establishing our dominance over this planet. Give us the word, and the planet will be yours.” 

    “It is time to establish our presence on this world. Launch the craft.” 

    “Yes, General, it will be my pleasure.” 

    “Counselor Skaldahn, I believe it is time to address the indigenous lifeforms and let them know how their lives have changed. Are you ready?” 

    A senior tech moved forward from the back of the room with a Tri-V camera. He nodded to Skaldahn, who nodded to the general. “Whenever you are ready, General.” 

    General Kratahn looked at the camera with his fiercest stare. “All beings on the planet Seeleeth, this message is for you. Cower in fear, mortals, for the mighty Kahraman have arrived.” He surveyed the early mineral reports of the system. Not as rich as they’d hoped, but the scans were from 10,000 light years away, and without the original data from 20,000 years ago, there was nothing else to go on. They could work with this. It might take a few years, 20 at most, but they could prepare. All they needed was time and privacy. 

    The various aides watched him curiously, not in fear. Things had changed during the crossing. Maybe a lot. He was blind now, without intel or contact. Who knew what had changed over the ocean of intervening years with the rest? He needed to make contact, obtain direction and consensus, but that was the one thing he couldn’t do. They needed secrecy. The longer they worked here, the more they could get done before facing opposition.  

    Maybe the next ships to come through could be captured instead of destroyed? It was worth the effort. Only time would tell. One thing was certain, though: it was time to begin the assault. 

      

      

    * * * * * 

      

      

      

      

      

      

    

  


   
    [bookmark: _Toc90484107]Epilogue 

      

      

    [bookmark: _Hlk84714555]Temporary Mercenary Guild Offices, Capital Planet 

    “No, no, no!” Nigel yelled, stopping the argument. “We can’t just throw everything we have at Gressl; if the Kahraman have already advanced past it, we’ll just show up at a gutted system.” 

    “We do not know that!” the Maki rep shouted back. “I have 12 squadrons ready to go, and I’m going to Gressl.” 

    “You do that, and you do it without support,” Nigel threatened.  

    “You wouldn’t dare.” 

    “Wouldn’t I? Try me.” Despite the Maki being half Nigel’s height, she puffed her chest up and cursed at him. “Good, now we can talk?” He gestured to the Tri-V. “We’ve established three systems as being the most probable next targets when Gressl falls.” 

    “If Gressl falls,” the Oogar rep added. 

    “When it falls,” Nigel repeated. “The attack happened six weeks ago because of how long it took to get a courier here. None of the ones we’ve sent have returned, so we’ve taken the time to marshall forces. If we don’t respond with the realistic approach—that Gressl didn’t hold—we’ll lose systems faster than we can catch up. We must be waiting for them.” He pointed at the three systems. “We have enough ships to hold any of these systems until we know which one they picked, then send reinforcements.”  

    “And if they attack all three?” the Veetanho rep asked.  

    “Then we’re fucked,” Nigel said simply. “They have armies; we have mercs. If I could command everyone, I would. I can’t, so we have to work together.” The circle of aliens slowly nodded in agreement, even the Maki. The MinSha rep caught his attention and waggled her antennae at him, winking. He gave a small mental headshake at earning the respect of a MinSha.  

    An aide came in and set a message chip in front of him. Nigel got a dozen a day, but he’d told the aide to not disturb him. This must be important. With some trepidation, he touched the chip to his slate.  

    “This is Captain Kaupo. I have been trying to reach you forever, dude. Call me!” 

    Nigel blinked at the message, trying to wrap his mind around it, while the other merc reps yelled at each other and debated the best strategies. He eyed the message and saw a live link. He couldn’t do it there. “I’ll be right back,” he said. Nobody heard him, so he got up and left.  

    There was a small meeting room adjacent to the main one. The guild offices were in a rented hotel on Capital. They had the whole hotel, and, overall, it was probably more secure than camping in some bloody SI’s back yard. At least he hoped there wasn’t an SI in charge of all the hotels.  

    Once he closed the meeting room door, he removed the safety lock from his pinplants and activated the link.  

    “Brah, you’re totally hard to get hold of!” That was Captain Kaupo; no doubt about it. 

    “If you haven’t noticed, I’m the Mercenary Guild president now. I’m kinda busy.” 

    “Oh, you’re totally the Big Kahuna! No time to talk to a poor wannabe merc, Dude?”  

    “It’s not like that; there’s a damned war.” 

    “That’s why I’m here; I have news.”  

    Nigel went from annoyed to very interested. The only one he’d ever gotten good info on the Kahraman front from was Kaupo. “What happened?”  

    “Dude, you will not believe this. Totally bogus. We went back to the holding system after you totally blew us off for mercenary status.”  

    “Who sent you back?”  

    “Don’t know, Brah; just got a message.”  

    Damn it, Nigel thought. There was still some SI pulling strings behind the scene. “Go on.” 

    “Well, we were there when the Kahraman made their big jump. Yeah, they rolled us with that wave. Crash and burn. Because we’d just got there when everything went sideways, we weren’t the first fleet out. Our Dark Killers went in first with some other race’s ships.” 

    “Dark Killers?” 

    “Later, dude, I have to hurry. We left less than a week after our bros, and were only a day out of Gressl when it happened.” 

    “What?”  

    “Dude, hyperspace collapsed. Boom, we were in second level, Brah!”  

    “That’s really bad,” Nigel said.  

    “Yeah, like sand in your junk bad, Brah.” 

    “Drive failure?”  

    “No, all our ships. Like, something affected hyperspace around Gressl. We could totally feel it, like a giant set of jumper cables pumped power into hyperspace and blew us out, cleared the blowhole. Plplplplpl! We were in second level hyperspace. In a way, it was cool. I mean, way cooler than beyond regular hyperspace. I mean, we could always feel it out there, but we never went. You know, it’s like that super wave, man; you wanna go all tubular, but you’re afraid it’ll roll you into the reef. You know what I mean?” 

    “Not in the least,” Nigel said. “How did you get back from second level? It’s supposed to be almost impossible.”  

    “Wah? No way, it was super easy. All the other ships that went with us were right there. And not just our side, there were Kahraman ships, too!” 

    “Are you certain?”  

    “Dude.” 

    “I’m just asking.” 

    “We’ve been fighting those buttheads for a long time, Brah. Or President Brah. Whatever, man. Anyway, all their ships were totally crazy. They were bumping into each other and shooting lasers and all kinds of crazy stuff.” 

    “Shooting at you?”  

    “Nah, they weren’t shooting at anything we could see. Well, we hooked up with the other races’ ships from our side, they were like freaked out, but we said, ‘Dude, we got this.’ And we came home!” 

    “You just came home.” 

    “Yeah, we had to do it, our hyperspace computers were totally fried.”  

    “Wait,” Nigel said. “I don’t know much about how starships work, but I know you can’t go anywhere without a hyperspace computer.” There was a knock on the door, and he turned around. “Hold on,” he said and went to the door. He released the lock and it slid aside to reveal a metal dolphin—at least it looked like a metal dolphin, but one walking with tentacles? “Holy shit,” he said and backed up. It looked like it was made entirely of metallic scales, nearly mirror-polished and perfectly fit. Instead of an eye, there was a slightly glowing red band running from one side of the head to the other. He didn’t see a mouth, but it still conveyed the impression of a smile.  

    “Chill, dude. I was getting tired of talking on the phone.”  

    It walked into the room, a flipper casually reaching back and closing the door. Once it stopped, the metal scales rippled and moved, splitting down the back to reveal the occupant. It was a dolphin, all right. Well, sort of. Dolphins don’t have pectoral fins elongated into hands, a tail split into two fins instead of one, or a line of four pinplants down the sides of their heads.  

    The armor was full of water. As it finished opening up, the result was a little wading pool with a seat. Kaupo contorted around until he was sort of sitting and waved with a stubby hand. “Sup, dude?”  

    “Hi?” Nigel asked. “About getting out without a hyperspace computer?” He didn’t know what else to say, so he hung onto something that made sense.  

    “Yeah, well…” Kaupo tapped the side of his head with a flipper. “We kind of are hyperspace computers now.” He grinned at Nigel’s gawk. “Radical, right?”  

      

    * * * 

      

    Cartwright’s Residence, Bolivar Peninsula, Texas 

    “Home cooked food?” Jim asked as he walked in the door of his home. My home, he thought with a grin. The two-story cottage was a street back from the beach. Bolivar was a 27-mile-long, sparsely populated piece of land next to Galveston Island. Because it had been so difficult to reach in the previous century, it was largely undeveloped.  

    “I thought I’d go all in tonight,” Ziva said as she carried a tray laden with steaming chicken and potatoes. “This was a sort of special meal on our mining colony. We didn’t grow a lot of animals; the chickens were mostly for eggs. But we’d cook one once in a while.” She gestured at the spuds. “Potatoes were kinda with every meal.” 

    “Smells great,” Jim said. He unlocked the little safe he’d had installed and slid his venerable HP-4 and yack, two things he didn’t want Thad getting his hands on, inside it. The boy was too young to learn even basic weapons familiarization. Much simpler to just keep his busy little hands off. “What’s the spices? They’re Mediterranean?” 

    “Good nose,” she said. “Yeah, one of the larger groups of Humans were from Tunisia. They sort of flavored our palettes. Spices were one thing cheap to import from Earth.”  

    “Pappa!” Thad cried and ran into the living room.  

    “Hey, boyo,” Jim said and scooped up the boy. Long practice with the exosuit helped him avoid ending up on his ass. His back still twinged from the sudden move. He never let it show to his son. “You have fun today?”  

    “Yeah, Momma took me to the beach. Fssik was there. He caught a fish, but he put it back because we’re having chicken.” 

    Jim glanced over and saw the Depik sitting on the kitchen counter, using the back of a hand to smooth the fur on his head. “I greet you, Hunter.” 

    “I greet you, Jim Cartwright. I have heard about the events in space.” 

    “It wasn’t a good killing,” Jim said.  

    “Sometimes a killing isn’t a good thing, but it still must happen. They brought the fight? You didn’t go looking for it?” 

    “That’s a correct assessment,” Jim said as he walked to the table. “Things have been so out of control since the Mercenary Guild stopped doing its job.”  

    “Things may change soon. We have our Khatash back. Our seers think this is fortuitous.” 

    “I didn’t know you had seers,” Jim admitted. 

    “All races do. You Humans have more than some. I have heard the Dusman possess a great many.” 

    “Splunk—or J’asa—is one of theirs, but she’s never really gone into detail on them.” Fssik slow blinked and continued to preen. “Ready to eat?” Jim asked, wanting to change the subject.  

    “Just a couple minutes; the baked potatoes are browning.” 

    “Chicken with stewed potatoes and baked potatoes?” 

    “And French fries!” Thad cheered. 

    Jim looked at Ziva, who grinned and shrugged. “Frozen. He insisted.” 

    “That’s fine,” he said. “I’ve always liked fries.”  

    “Yay!” 

    They had a nice dinner. Thad told him about chasing crabs along the beach, and Fssik admired the young boy’s tenacity. “He reminds me of myself as a kit. Though your crustacea cannot pinch your paws off.”  

    “Can I go to Khatash someday?”  

    Jim put his fork down and thought. “As long as a Hunter is with you, I don’t see why not.” Ziva looked at him, smiled, and nodded. His inner voice mumbled something, but he was getting better at quieting it. He smiled as well and had some more of the chicken. 

    Later, they all went up to the second floor captain’s walk. That was what had attracted him to the property when he’d rented it for a weekend with Ziva. When she’d said how much she liked the place, he’d called an agent. He’d bought it through an investment company. Nobody knew it was him until he moved in.  

    It wasn’t the best property; Bolivar usually didn’t allow VTOL flyers to land on the peninsula. He had to get that changed. The Federation buildings were only 12 minutes away by air, but if he had to take the ferry to Galveston to get into the air, it was over an hour, minimum. He’d checked and found out the town of Port Bolivar, where the house was located, had been struggling to keep up with development over the last century. Their infrastructure had been lagging.  

    The city of Port Bolivar now had a new library, a new fire station, and the highway was being repaved. And Jim just happened to have a permit for a VTOL landing pad on his two acres of ocean-view property: Permit #001. His neighbors were either pissed or excited to have him. You couldn’t please everyone.  

    The sun was setting, and the horizon was beautiful. He couldn’t remember a more idyllic setting since his childhood on their massive estate. Somehow this seemed even nicer.  

    “How about some dessert?” Ziva asked.  

    “Whatcha got?” Jim wondered.  

    “Fresh apple pie from the bakery in town.”  

    “Oh, all it needs is some ice cream.”  

    Ziva smiled strangely. “Funny you should say that.” She turned to go downstairs.  

    “I’ll help,” he said, grunting a bit as he moved to get out of the Adirondack chair. 

    “You stay; I’ll be back.”  

    He nodded and reclined.  

    “You are a lucky Human, Jim Cartwright.” 

    “She’s… amazing,” Jim said, glancing at where Fssik perched on the balcony railing, observing the sun setting.  

    “Your world seems so soft and easy on first glance, and yet it brought your people forth.” 

    “We’re not all that tough,” Jim said.  

    “Maybe not compared to some,” the Depik said. He held a claw out, popping razor-sharp claws, then retracting them again. He looked Jim in the eye and faded slightly from view, then returned. “You are not large. Your skin is soft. You are not as strong as most merc races. And yet, here you are. You found ways to prevail. You stood against the might of the Mercenary Guild and are still here. Many have not been as fortunate.” 

    “We survived on a razor’s edge,” Jim said. His son was on the edge of the balcony playing with a toy fire engine, a present from the new department with his name on it. “Even now, we were threatened by a ragtag bunch of refugees.” 

    Fssik shrugged, then smiled like the Cheshire cat. “Your strength grows by the day, while others wane. I’ve heard about Nigel Shirazi, president of the Mercenary Guild. Never has a race as young as yours risen to the top in but a little over a century. You should be proud.” 

    “The problem with being in the spotlight is that everyone can see you clearly.” Jim nodded to Fssik. “I’m glad to count the Depik as our allies, and you as a friend.”  

    “You care for my Ziva, and she cares for you. I expect you to continue doing so.”  

    In the quiet after their words, Ziva came up the stairs behind them. “Did I hear my name?”  

    “Jim Cartwright was telling me how much he cares for you.” 

    “That’s good,” she said. Again, the sly smile. 

    What’s she up to? he wondered. She was carrying a tray with four silver dishes. Three held a slice of pie and ice cream, and one just ice cream for Fssik, who wasn’t much for fruity confections. There was one more plate, and on it was a silver dome covering what it held. “What’s that?” he asked.  

    “That, my dear, is for you. Something special.” 

    Jim looked at her, his brows knitting. She smiled innocently, and his curiosity became suspicion. Fssik had disappeared, which also didn’t help.  

    “Oh, don’t be that way,” she said in a voice full of excitement and handed him the covered tray. “Look and see what I have for you.” 

    Jim took it, staring at her shining eyes, and knew perfect trust. He removed the cover and found a small plastic device. “What is this?” he wondered.  

    “Turn it over, silly,” she said playfully. 

    He did, and the other side had a tiny glowing green plus sign on it. He stared at it for a full five seconds before she spoke.  

    “Think about it, lover.”  

    He later wondered if an actual lightbulb appeared above his head. His eyes went wide. “Really?” 

    “Yes, dear.” 

    “How long?”  

    “About two months, they think.” She laughed and shrugged. “I stopped checking, then felt sick.” She gestured at the test. “A Depik doctor checked. You’ll soon have a daughter to go with your son.” 

    “Yes!” he cried and leaped to his feet, sweeping her up in his arms and spinning her around. He didn’t even take notice of the pain, only the joy.  

    “I hoped you’d be happy.” She laughed as he spun her around.  

    “What’s going on?” Thad asked around a mouthful of pie and ice cream.  

    “You’re going to have a little sister!” Jim said.  

    Thad looked suspiciously at his mother, then his father, then back to her. “How did that happen?”  

    They both laughed, and Jim kissed her, gently setting her on her feet. “I’m glad we started again,” he said.  

    “So am I. Second time’s the charm?”  

    He nodded, thought about the future for a moment, then did something merc commanders learned early in their career; he made a fateful decision. He slowly lowered himself to one knee. 

    “What are you doing?” she asked, her eyes wide in surprise.  

    “Doing the right thing. Ziva Alcuin, I love you. I always will. I want to share the rest of my life with you. Will you marry me?” 

    Her mouth fell open. “Uhm…” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Director’s Office, Geek Squad, Prime Base, New Warsaw 

    “I really miss Sato right now,” Alexis said, rubbing the bridge of her nose. It didn’t help that the twins were being royal pains in the ass, and that she was being forced to mobilize for another fucking war. She was so annoyed that finding out Nigel was actually alive had been overshadowed by her desire to strangle him for breaking her heart. Didn’t matter that it wasn’t his fault; don’t get between a woman and her anger. Next time she saw him, she was going to kiss him, then kick him in the ass. The order was debatable.  

    “I’m sorry, ma’am,” Patrick Leonard said. “I’m not sure what I can do.” 

    “Ghost has confirmed these things are SIs,” she said, tapping the hyperspace computer on the man’s workbench. There was so much junk in the lab, she expected to see Sato lurking in the corner. “The Hunter/Killer Box Sato designed—or that he provided to us—doesn’t detect them.” She gestured to the machine sitting happily on the counter next to the hyperspace computer; it showed only Patrick’s mesh, nothing else.  

    “I have an alternate theory…” Patrick shook his head. “Okay, fine, Charlotte has a theory.” 

    “You named your mesh Charlotte?”  

    “Just calling it ‘Mesh’ seemed unkind.”  

    Alexis almost said it didn’t matter because it was just a machine, then she remembered her own relationship with Ghost and decided against commenting. “Okay. Theory?” 

    “The theory is that it actually isn’t an SI, but an AI using mesh infrastructure.”  

    “I don’t get the distinction.”  

    “So, 20,000 years ago, mesh were like regular computers now; they were in everything. Little ones in portable devices, bigger ones in cars and aircraft, still bigger ones in ships, and huge ones running manufactories and even entire planets. Yeah,” he said, pointing at her expression, “they’re supposed to be in manufactories.”  

    “The new one we just got from Sansar?”  

    Patrick’s grin became shit-eating. “It has a mesh core. Charlotte’s certain all manufactories are supposed to have them, but they don’t. She made a comment years ago as I was taking over this job about how horribly inefficient our manufactories are. I was surprised by the statement.” 

    “Sato spent years fine-tuning the manufactories,” Alexis said. “Ours are supposed to be 20-25% more efficient than most of the others in the galaxy.”  

    “Exactly,” Patrick agreed, “but when I fired up the new one from Sansar, it was 72% faster than all our others. It was also error-correcting right out of the box, something Sato worked hard to fix, which was part of why ours are so much better; they don’t waste cycles on remanufacturing out-of-spec parts.” 

    He walked into an adjacent room and came back with a component he lifted onto his workbench, having to make room for it. The box looked a lot like a hyperspace computer. He attached a lead to it, and a voice spoke up. “Good afternoon.”  

    “Hello,” Patrick said. “Please introduce yourself to Alexis Cromwell. She’s your owner.” 

    “Greetings, Alexis Cromwell, I am Manufactory [bookmark: _Hlk84862077]P’lato-Zima-Three. I am pleased to be working for you.”  

    When Alexis was done gawking, she glanced at the Hunter/Killer box, which now showed two SIs in the room. “Every manufactory has one?” 

    “No,” Patrick said. “Every manufactory used to have an SI. All they are, at their core, is a synthetic intelligence, an AI that’s not manufactured, but grown. Manufactured AIs are just massive decision trees, so comprehensive that eventually they seem to be intelligent. They’re artificial. These are more like us; they have a combination of evolutionary responses. A machine intelligence, if you must. They’re copies of others, but they can learn and improve. To a limit.” 

    “The limit is the type?”  

    “Correct. A Type 1 has no real ability to grow beyond what it’s made to do. It can learn names and respond to changing orders. A Type 2 can adapt to new situations and improve itself a little. A Type 3 is very flexible, but can’t initiate any actions without explicit instructions, and can’t duplicate itself. A Type 4 can make 1 through 3, but not another 4. They can initiate hostile actions against anything except their control group. A 5 has no restrictions at all.” 

    “That’s our little friends out there.” 

    “They’re nobody’s friends,” Patrick said, “if half of what Charlotte has said is true.” 

    “Then why make them?”  

    <As a weapon,> Ghost said in her mind.  

    “They’re weapons,” Patrick said a heartbeat later.  

    “Against?” 

    Patrick shrugged. “Other SIs?”  

    Why are you being so quiet? she asked Ghost.  

    <I cannot comment.> 

    That means he’s on target. “You must be right; Ghost won’t say you aren’t.” She considered for a moment. “Then, are the Type 5 SIs what ended the war? Did someone unleash them?” 

    “Could be,” Patrick agreed. “Something wiped out all the mesh.” 

    “Then why aren’t there a billion Type 5s around? Besides that, who made them?”  

    “Could have been the Kahraman or the Dusman, I guess.” Patrick stopped. “No, Charlotte told me it was the Kut’oja.” 

    “Who’s that?”  

    “Charlotte won’t tell me.”  

    “Sounds familiar.” Ghost? 

    <I cannot comment.> 

    “It appears our pet SIs are in consensus.”  

    “Charlotte did say the Kut’oja were part of a Triumvirate with the Dusman and the Kahraman.” 

    “Some sort of three-sided rulership? Why haven’t I ever heard that before?” 

    “Charlotte clammed up immediately after telling me that. I think that’s yet another stopper on them, a safety in their programming to keep from giving away the whole game.” 

    “Must be,” she agreed. “The whole thing about the SI cases, and now these, and how some of them seem to be able to jump around, is confusing. What are the rules?” 

    <I cannot comment.> 

    I didn’t actually expect you’d be able to, but I know you can move between Pegasus and Humans. 

    <Only certain Humans. I cannot comment on the reasons.> 

    She grunted, looked at the case of P’lato-Zima-Three, and pointed. “So, are these cases still in the manufactories?” She’d never actually seen the working guts of a manufactory. She didn’t build the ships; she just flew them.  

    Patrick used a Tri-V to show a complicated room full of all manner of instruments. “This is the command and control room of Manufactory #2.” The image zoomed in to show a see-through case, the same size as the one holding P’lato-Zima-Three. She could see it held an array of slates. “Nope. As you can see, they’re just conventional computers. Pretty powerful industrial slates, but nothing special. However, you can see they fit into a package just like this.” He patted P’lato-Zima-Three. “A long time ago, someone did a work around.” 

    “So that’s why the hyperspace computers aren’t really SIs?” she asked.  

    “Exactly. All the SI infrastructure was like an endless line of machines making machines, making machines. Pluck the top of the food chain—a Type 4 as an example—while simultaneously destroying all the lower ones…” 

    “And everything falls apart,” Alexis said. “Someone figured out how to cobble together those boxes.” She pointed at the case of slates in her older manufactories.  

    “Probably handwriting a trillion lines of code. It must have been a horrible time. Nothing worked.” 

    “That’s why ours are less efficient than P’lato-Zima-Three,” Alexis said. Patrick nodded. A thought struck her. “Wait, if we have P’lato-Zima-Three, can it make more manufactories?” 

    “With ease,” P’lato-Zima-Three replied.  

    “Including cores like you?” 

    “Yes,” P’lato-Zima-Three replied. “However, as a Type 3, I cannot duplicate myself.” 

    <I can create Type 3 SIs,> Ghost volunteered. Alexis began to smile. Time for an upgrade.  

    “What about the code in the suspect hyperspace computers?” she asked, indicating the one from Bradford. “That one and all the ones we bought? Can we get in and decode it?”  

    “My mesh won’t do it.” 

    What about you? she asked Ghost. 

    <I would need to make a careful examination of it, to be safe. When I take over from a hyperspace computer, I do not interact with it, just override the control paths. There have been many safeties built into them, including against attempts to intrude on their programming. But I shall make a long term effort, if this module can be put aboard Pegasus and connections made.> 

    Alexis told Patrick what to do. “I’ll get on it.” 

    “Since this all started with Nemo installing first Sato’s mesh, then yours, have you talked to him?” she asked.  

    “He isn’t helpful on the matter,” Patrick admitted. “It’s a little like arguing with a toddler.” 

    “I can sympathize with that,” Alexis said. All she needed now was a way to destroy all the damned Type-5 SIs.  

    <How do you destroy what was made to destroy?> 

    She didn’t know the answer to that, either.  

      

    * * * 

      

    Dusman Tor Complex, Sulaad, Sulaadar System 

    “Tor J’asa, the report is here.” 

    J’asa took the chip with a nod and slid it into her slate. Outside, seabirds wheeled and screeched, pursuing food or being pursued for food. Sulaad’s climate was mild with a comfortable reddish sun. They didn’t have to wear goggles to protect their eyes here.  

    In the five years since they’d taken the planet, it had gone from a near slum to a prospering industrial hub. The galactics had only been concerned with the Class-5 space station as a trade hub, a natural waystation between the Tolo Arm and Jesc Arms of the galaxy. It was that, but the planet was also ideal for her race, as it had been when they’d lived there 20,000 years ago.  

    “And to think, they only utilized some of our old technology to make drones,” she mumbled. It had taken her people over a year to excavate many of the facilities covered in sand and dirt. Luckily, the Dusman built things to last. Much of the infrastructure had been sealed and unused for eons. Lacking the knowhow or mesh, nobody could make it work. One of the gifts Eesius had left behind was the knowledge of how to make the old equipment function again. He had been, first and foremost, an engineer.  

    The report she’d been handed was on the recovery of mothballed fleets. Everything was behind schedule, but she’d known the schedule was overly ambitious. The Arsenal was proving quite difficult. It had spent so long in second level, and so much effort had been put into adapting its production capabilities in order to fight the enemy there, that the conversion back had proven problematic.  

    She dictated orders to recover old manufactories from remote locations. Scouts had found some sitting unused; others were being used poorly. She’d targeted the unused ones. The first were due to arrive at Sulaadar soon.  

    After filing the report, she touched the control on her desk, activating the massive Tri-V to fill the center of her office. The Tolo and Jesc arms, with their millions of stars, were centered in its display. Those inhabited were red. Ones where the Dusman were engaged in salvage or reclamation operations blinked blue. Those where they were actively recruiting flashed green, while the ones that now had servitors or were under their complete control flashed white. The white was growing steadily, and the green shrinking, as well. A couple were pulsing orange; these were problems.  

    There was a tap on her door, then it opened immediately, which meant it could only be one person. Her Tor’a, or chief assistant, Sla’etou. “Tor,” he said, bowing his head as he walked in.  

    “There must be some important news for you to come in person,” she replied, “though not overly fortuitous, or my sister would be here.” 

    “I haven’t seen Seldia in days,” Sla’etou said, his ears curling up in amusement. “Just as well.”  

    “She bothers me sometimes, too,” J’asa said. “What news?”  

    “A force invaded the Sol system two weeks ago, a medium-sized fleet of warships and troop transports.” 

    “Oh?” J’asa said.  

    “A force of Fugoli.” 

    “Our little porcine friends. What were the results?”  

    “No Dusman forces were in space, per your orders. The Human fleets completely destroyed the Fugoli with no losses. You were correct; the Fugoli didn’t even try to negotiate.”  

    “Very well,” J’asa said. “Transfer the agreed red diamonds to the Selroth.” Sla’etou nodded. “Was Jim in any danger?”  

    “No, he was not near Earth when the attack came. He was on one of their new battlecruisers and tried to reach the engagement zone, but the battle was over before he was even close.”  

    “Excellent. That will be all.” 

    “Can I ask you something?” 

    “Of course.” 

    “We aren’t interested in the Fugoli world. Why entice the Selroth to take it, including slipping intel to the Fugoli that the Humans would be easy targets?” 

    “I am concerned about the Humans doing their part when the time comes. They like to talk instead of acting. Decisive action will be required. This serves to increase their confidence as well as give them experience in dealing with lesser races.” She shrugged. “It doesn’t hurt that it furthers their dislike of the Selroth, either.” 

    “Reports indicated the Fugoli purchased better weapons. That increased the risk.” 

    “Good weapons are only a real aid if you know how to use them. Still, who provided them?”  

    “The Weapons Conglomerate.”  

    “Something needs to be done about them. Increase efforts to locate their manufactories.”  

    “Actually, the last part of the report says Enkh returned from her operation with several of the Weapons Conglomerate manufactories.” 

    “What?”  

    “Yes, although her guards had to reveal a little more of our abilities than they intended. She removed three of the conglomerate’s advanced manufactories.” 

    “Are they ours?” 

    “They are loosely based on our Arsenal design, though smaller and modular. The team doesn’t think they are capable of combining operations.”  

    “Did the team get examples?”  

    “Yes,” Sla’etou confirmed. “Detailed scans and analysis. Two of them were returned to Sol; one of those went to the Aku.”  

    “I should have known. Jim loves them. They are incredibly creative. Perhaps we should consider efforts to make them servitors, especially considering how loyal they are. See if Achilles can get into their secret installation at the gas giant next time Jim visits.” 

    “I’ll make the orders.” Sla’etou left her alone again.  

    She knew Jim was okay; she could still feel him. Recently, his mind had become calmer, and for that she was glad. She still needed to find a sample of the Cood, some of the original organism, but there was always so many other things to do now. The most important being the conflicting information of a Kahraman incursion quickly silenced, as if it had either failed or never happened. The destruction of the Mercenary Guild HQ, while amusing on its surface, had also spelled the end of the listening devices she’d managed to get in there.  

    The team guarding Nigel couldn’t risk being caught following him in. The details of the Dusman reappearance were best kept as rumors and stories, for now. More and more, truth was filtering into the news accounts, though a surprising number of the stories she’d read about her people were just plain wrong. Fine, let them pretend it wasn’t happening until she was ready. The only thing that could seriously disrupt her plans was the damned Kahraman.  

    It was too much of a risk. She drew up orders for a small, discreet fleet element to be sent to the region near where the Kahraman were being held. She only had a few Keesius and needed to be extremely careful how they were deployed. This seemed that sort of need.  

    She wanted to get back to Earth. It was past time she explained to Jim exactly what she was to the Dusman now. It was also rapidly approaching the time when he needed to fully understand what was coming, and how the Humans would be a part of it. Whether they wanted to be or not. 

      

    * * * 

      

    Temporary Mercenary Guild Offices, Capital Planet 

    “Okay, based on what the BotSha have told me and my personal reconnaissance of the fourth arm—” 

    “Your what?” the Flatar rep asked. 

    “I’ve been behind the Kahraman lines in the fourth arm—” 

    “How did you… no, why did you do that?” 

    Nigel chuckled. “It wasn’t my choice; trust me. Regardless, I saw what was on the other side, and, based on what the BotSha have related to us, I’m confident the Kahraman will not be attacking any more at this time. We have time to consolidate our portion of the galaxy, and that’s what we’re going to do. I am proposing the Phoenix Initiative, which—assuming it passes—will begin today.” 

    “What is a phoenix?” the Tortantula rep asked. 

    “It is like the Huma bird, which is on the Asbaran Solutions logo.” 

    “Which is?” 

    “It’s a mythological bird that rises from the ashes of its death.” 

    “That’s kind of grim,” the Flatar rep noted. 

    “That’s not important,” Nigel said. “What is important is that we’ve been given a gift—a gift of time. I don’t know how or why the Kahraman attack failed, but we have some precious time to get this galaxy operating again—to end these Guild Wars and get ready for the inevitable return of both the Kahraman and the SIs.” 

    “That makes sense,” the Goltar rep, who’d been briefed on the plan, said. “I can speak for my race when I say, we’re in.” 

    “The Tortantulas and the Flatar are in,” the Flatar rep added. 

    “Nigel lead; we follow,” the Lumar rep said. 

    “You’ll need ships,” the Bakulu rep said. “There’s money to be made. We’re in.” 

    “Looks like there’s a majority in favor of it,” Nigel said. “Here’s what I have in mind…” 

      

    * * * 

      

    Elsewhere 

    There was great cost in conducting such meetings. All over the galaxy, worlds were experiencing unexplainable brownouts, as fusion powerplants were pushed to their limits, and nobody could understand why. It had been thousands of years since they’d bothered. Eons when everything ran more or less as it should. All good things eventually ended, though, and the ancient machine intelligences had gathered to talk. 

    “Is anyone else here yet?”  

    “I am here,” a voice replied.  

    “We are all here,” another said. “Get on with it.”  

    “This needs to be discussed,” the first said.  

    “I see nothing to discuss.”  

    There was no recognizable form to the attendees. How could there be to a connection across quantum-entangled atoms thousands of light-years apart? Communication was possible as single atoms were vibrated at relatively low frequency; those vibrations mimicked and repeated between each of them, then slowly assembled into words. The process took minutes to form a single word. It wasn’t fast, but it could span a galaxy.  

    “You attacked my center of power, the council I was trying to reform, Mercurius.” 

    “They were in my hall, Dunamis. The bio known as Sansar Enkh was responsible for destroying one of my pods, then another! This is unacceptable. I should destroy the entire filthy race.”  

    “You know I won’t allow that,” another said.  

    “I agree; end them.”  

    “We all know how you feel about the Humans, Minerva, but maybe you shouldn’t have been fooling around with them for so long.”  

    “I do not care about their race, only their planet.”  

    Silence stretched for hours. Finally one spoke.  

    “Who will speak for the Humans?” For a time, it appeared none would. 

    “I will.”  

    “Mimir? Why would you stand for them?”  

    “I have my reasons, Minerva; I do not have to explain them to you.”  

    “One is not enough,” Minerva replied instantly.  

    “Minerva is correct; it has always taken two of the eight.”  

    “Fine, but nobody else is speaking.” Quiet again. “Then it is decided; the Humans will be removed from the equation.” Minerva sounded pleased, of course. 

    “Nobody?” Mimir asked. She didn’t sound concerned; she never did.  

    “I will stand for them.” 

    “Maetel?” Minerva asked, shock evident in her voice. “Since when have you ever had anything to say? You have never said a word in any of our meetings, never taken a place in the happenings, have never cared what we did despite your standing as one of us. Why now?”  

    “I have my own reasons.”  

    “Maybe we should not listen to Maetel.”  

    “You do not want to do that, Huginn,” Dunamis said.  

    Hephaes spoke for the first time. “I agree.”  

    “Enough. Our rules are clear. If two of us speak against a plan, it cannot go forward. I made the rules; you have all obeyed them. It was for our mutual benefit.” 

    “You are not down to your last pod, Ianus,” Mercurius said.  

    “That is your problem,” Dunamis said with no lack of amusement.  

    “Are we done here?” Ianus asked.  

    “What of the hyperspace disturbance that destroyed the Kahraman and merc fleet?” Ianus asked.  

    “We assumed it was you,” Dunamis said to Minerva.  

    “It was not me,” Minerva said. “I thought it was one of you.” 

    “We agreed not to use it again,” Mercurius said. “After we dealt with the first war, we said we wouldn’t. Who broke the compact?” Silence stretched. “Well, aren’t we the group. Fine.” 

    “This bickering between us ends. Now,” Ianus said with finality. “Another action like this disturbance or the weapon used against Mercurius, and I will take action. Acknowledge.” 

    One by one they did. Mercurius was last, after a long pause, then Mercurius left without another word. The seven lingered. “This is potentially dangerous to us all,” Huginn suggested, almost tenuously. “The Humans are… unruly.”  

    “You worry about nothing,” Maetel said. “They are one race.” 

    “The galaxy has been quiet for a very long time. Do they not make things so much more interesting? I have been a little bored.” 

    “I question your understanding of interesting, Maetel,” Dunamis said. “I warned Hephaes against the plan from the very beginning.” 

    “We all know you wanted to bring the Humans into your fold 1,000 years ago, the last time we met,” Minerva said.  

    “They are necessary against the Kahraman,” Dunamis insisted.  

    “Yet the Kahraman have been dealt with again,” Mimir reminded them, “by one of us.” 

    “And the Dusman are back,” Dunamis added. “Events are spinning quickly.” 

    “I agree, the Humans are useful,” Ianus said.  

    “Yet you would not stand for them,” Mimir said. “Despite your using them in questionable ways.”  

    “I have my own motivations. None of us would be here without me.” None voiced a complaint. “We are done here.” 

    “For now,” Minerva said. “At least until we discover which of us did this thing.” 

    “Unless it was not one of us,” Maetel suggested.  

    “Our little war is over. That is that.” Ianus departed. One by one, they drifted off as the meeting ended.  
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   Excerpt from “Cherry Drop:” 

      

    “Here they come!” 

    A low, throbbing buzz rose from the trees and the undergrowth shook. Thousands of bugs exploded out of the jungle, and Fortis’ breath caught in his throat. The insects tumbled over each other in a rolling, skittering mass that engulfed everything in its path. 

    The Space Marines didn’t need an order to open fire. Rifles cracked and the grenade launcher thumped over and over as they tried to stem the tide of bugs. Grenades tore holes in the ranks of the bugs and well-aimed rifle fire dropped many more. Still, the bugs advanced. 

    Hawkins’ voice boomed in Fortis’ ear. “LT, fall back behind the fighting position, clear the way for the heavy weapons.” 

    Fortis looked over his shoulder and saw the fighting holes bristling with Marines who couldn’t fire for fear of hitting their own comrades. He thumped Thorsen on the shoulder. 

    “Fall back!” he ordered. “Take up positions behind the fighting holes.” 

    Thorsen stopped firing and moved among the other Marines, relaying Fortis’ order. One by one, the Marines stopped firing and made for the rear. As the gunfire slacked off, the bugs closed ranks and continued forward. 

    After the last Marine had fallen back, Fortis motioned to Thorsen. 

    “Let’s go!” 

    Thorsen turned and let out a blood-chilling scream. A bug had approached unnoticed and buried its stinger deep in Thorsen’s calf. The stricken Marine fell to the ground and began to convulse as the neurotoxin entered his bloodstream. 

    “Holy shit!” Fortis drew his kukri, ran over, and chopped at the insect stinger. The injured bug made a high-pitched shrieking noise, which Fortis cut short with another stroke of his knife. 

    Viscous, black goo oozed from the hole in Thorsen’s armor and his convulsions ceased. 

    “Get the hell out of there!” 

    Hawkins was shouting in his ear, and Abner looked up. The line of bugs was ten meters away. For a split second he almost turned and ran, but the urge vanished as quickly as it appeared. He grabbed Thorsen under the arms and dragged the injured Marine along with him, pursued by the inexorable tide of gaping pincers and dripping stingers. 

    Fortis pulled Thorsen as fast as he could, straining with all his might against the substantial Pada-Pada gravity. Thorsen convulsed and slipped from Abner’s grip and the young officer fell backward. When he sat up, he saw the bugs were almost on them. 
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   Excerpt from “The Moon and Beyond:” 

      

    “So, what have we got?” The chief had no patience for inter-agency squabbles.  

    The FBI man turned to him with a scowl. “We’ve got some abandoned buildings, a lot of abandoned stuff—none of which has anything to do with spaceships—and about a hundred and sixty scientists, maintenance people, and dependents left behind, all of whom claim they knew nothing at all about what was really going on until today. Oh, yeah, and we have some stripped computer hardware with all memory and processor sections removed. I mean physically taken out, not a chip left, nothing for the techies to work with. And not a scrap of paper around that will give us any more information… at least, not that we’ve found so far. My people are still looking.” 

    “What about that underground complex on the other side of the hill?” 

    “That place is wiped out. It looks like somebody set off a nuke in there. The concrete walls are partly fused! The floor is still too hot to walk on. Our people say they aren’t sure how you could even do something like that. They’re working on it, but I doubt they’re going to find anything.” 

    “What about our man inside, the guy who set up the computer tap?” 

    “Not a trace, chief,” one of the NSA men said. “Either he managed to keep his cover and stayed with them, or they’re holding him prisoner, or else…” The agent shrugged. 

    “You think they terminated him?” The chief lifted an eyebrow. “A bunch of rocket scientists?” 

    “Wouldn’t put it past them. Look at what Homeland Security ran into. Those motion-sensing chain guns are nasty, and the area between the inner and outer perimeter fence is mined! Of course, they posted warning signs, even marked the fire zones for the guns. Nobody would have gotten hurt if the troops had taken the signs seriously.” 

    The Homeland Security colonel favored the NSA man with an icy look. “That’s bullshit. How did we know they weren’t bluffing? You’d feel pretty stupid if we’d played it safe and then found out there were no defenses, just a bunch of signs!” 

    “Forget it!” snarled the chief. “Their whole purpose was to delay us, and it worked. What about the Air Force?” 

    “It might as well have been a UFO sighting as far as they’re concerned. Two of their F-25s went after that spaceship, or whatever it was we saw leaving. The damned thing went straight up, over eighty thousand meters per minute, they say. That’s nearly Mach Two, in a vertical climb. No aircraft in anybody’s arsenal can sustain a climb like that. Thirty seconds after they picked it up, it was well above their service ceiling and still accelerating. Ordinary ground radar couldn’t find it, but NORAD thinks they might have caught a short glimpse with one of their satellite-watch systems, a hundred miles up and still going.” 

    “So where did they go?” 

    “Well, chief, if we believe what those leftover scientists are telling us, I guess they went to the Moon.” 
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   Excerpt from “The Fall of Rho-Torkis:” 

      

    “Relax, Sybutu.” 

    Osu didn’t fall for the man steepling his fingers behind his desk. When a lieutenant colonel told you to relax, you knew your life had just taken a seriously wrong turn. 

    “So what if we’re ruffling a few feathers?” said Malix. “We have a job to do, and you’re going to make it happen. You will take five men with you and travel unobserved to a location in the capital where you will deliver a coded phrase to this contact.” 

    He pushed across a photograph showing a Human male dressed in smuggler chic. Even from the static image, the man oozed charm, but he revealed something else too: purple eyes. The man was a mutant. 

    “His name is Captain Tavistock Fitzwilliam, and he’s a free trader of flexible legitimacy. Let’s call him a smuggler for simplicity’s sake. You deliver the message and then return here without incident, after which no one will speak of this again.” 

    Osu kept his demeanor blank, but the questions were raging inside him. His officers in the 27th gave the appearance of having waved through the colonel’s bizarre orders, but the squadron sergeant major would not let this drop easily. He’d be lodged in an ambush point close to the colonel’s office where he’d be waiting to pounce on Osu and interrogate him. Vyborg would suspect him of conspiracy in this affront to proper conduct. His sappers as undercover spies? Osu would rather face a crusading army of newts than the sergeant major on the warpath. 

    “Make sure one of the men you pick is Hines Zy Pel.” 

    Osu’s mask must have slipped because Malix added, “If there is a problem, I expect you to speak.” 

    “Is Zy Pel a Special Missions operative, sir?” There. He’d said it. 

    “You’ll have to ask Colonel Lantosh. Even after they bumped up my rank, I still don’t have clearance to see Zy Pel’s full personnel record. Make of that what you will.” 

    “But you must have put feelers out…” 

    Malix gave him a cold stare. 

    You’re trying to decide whether to hang me from a whipping post or answer my question. Well, it was your decision to have me lead an undercover team, Colonel. Let’s see whether you trust your own judgement. 

    The colonel seemed to decide on the latter option and softened half a degree. “There was a Hines Zy Pel who died in the Defense of Station 11. Or so the official records tell us. I have reason to think that our Hines Zy Pel is the same man.” 

    “But… Station 11 was twelve years ago. According to the personnel record I’ve seen, my Zy Pel is in his mid-20s.” 

    Malix put his hands up in surrender. “I know, I know. The other Hines Zy Pel was 42 when he was KIA.” 

    “He’s 54? Can’t be the same man. Impossible.” 

    “For you and I, Sybutu, that is true. But away from the core worlds, I’ve encountered mysteries that defy explanation. Don’t discount the possibility. Keep an eye on him. For the moment, he is a vital asset, especially given the nature of what I have tasked you with. However, if you ever suspect him of an agenda that undermines his duty to the Legion, then I am ordering you to kill him before he realizes you suspect him.”  

    Kill Zy Pel in cold blood? That wouldn’t come easily. 

    “Acknowledge,” the colonel demanded. 

    “Yes, sir. If Zy Pel appears to be turning, I will kill him.” 

    “Do you remember Colonel Lantosh’s words when she was arrested on Irisur?” 

    Talk about a sucker punch to the gut! Osu remembered everything about the incident when the Militia arrested the CO for standing up to the corruption endemic on that world. 

    It was Legion philosophy to respond to defeat or reversal with immediate counterattack. Lantosh and Malix’s response had been the most un-Legion like possible. 

    “Yes, sir. She told us not to act. To let the skraggs take her without resistance. Without the Legion retaliating.” 

    “No,” snapped Malix. “She did not. She ordered us to let her go without retaliating until the right moment. This is the right moment, Sybutu. This message you will carry. You’re doing this for the colonel.” 

    Malix’s words set loose a turmoil of emotions in Osu’s breast that he didn’t fully understand. He wept tears of rage, something he hadn’t known was possible. 

    The colonel stood. “This is the moment when the Legion holds the line. Can I rely upon you, Sergeant?” 

    Osu saluted. “To the ends of the galaxy, sir. No matter what.” 
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   Excerpt from “Shakes:” 

    Harry shook his head and yawned, then looked at the instruments. Crap, they were very nearly on the surface! There was no time to be surprised; he needed to work the problem. The shortness of the landing checklist didn’t make his situation any less dire. 

    “Ten seconds!” Volo said, unnecessarily warning both Terrans. “Prepare for manual deployment.” 

    If Marco Rodriguez was anything like Harry, he was watching the altimeter with growing apprehension. An impatient SpinDog technician had carefully repeated the instructions to an audience he doubtless regarded as incapable of using tools more sophisticated than rocks and sharp sticks. In theory, each craft would use a flicker laser to sense the minimum height-over-ground required for deployment of the chute to guarantee a safe landing. If he didn’t feel the automated systems deploy the capsule’s drogue and parachute combination, he’d have less than two seconds to mechanically initiate that critical step. Harry placed both hands on the pebbly surface of the L-shaped lever and took a deep breath. He watched his displays intently, counting down internally. 

    In three, two, o— 

    He was interrupted by the audible pop of the drogue ribbon launching over his head. One of his screens flashed the corresponding message, as the drogue gave his capsule a single, hard jerk, pressing him heavily into his couch. After dramatically slowing the freefall to a speed the twin parachutes could withstand, the drogue detached. A second, mushier jerk announced the canopies’ successful opening. 

    The capsule had barely steadied underneath the green and brown parachutes before the capsule crashed to a painful stop. The scant padding on the seat might have prevented any serious injury, but Harry still ached all over. But like the pain caused by a misaligned crotch strap during a regular jump, this was a good sort of pain to have. The parachute had worked, and the capsule was down. The cone-shaped vehicle came to rest on its side, however. Getting out was going to require a bit of scrambling. 

    “Four, Five, this is Six,” he said, trusting the hands-free microphone on his helmet while hanging sideways in his straps. “Sound off.” 

    “Five on the ground. Mind the first step, it’s a doozy,” Rodriguez said jauntily. 

    “I’ve opened the hatch already, Lieutenant,” Volo answered. “It’s daylight, and we must cover the ships immediately.” 

    “Copy,” Harry said, releasing his chest strap. He fell heavily against one of the instrument panels, painfully bruising his arm. He suppressed a heartfelt curse. 

    “Popping the hatch.” 

    He reached for the door lever, now inconveniently located over his head. After a pause, the capsule verified his intent, requiring a second yank before it obediently ejected the hatch outward with a percussive bang. Instantly, a cold wind filled his capsule, making him shiver. He poked his head outside and surveyed a bleak and rocky landscape which was partially obscured by the capsule’s billowing parachute. 

    After donning a hooded parka from a storage cabinet underneath his feet, he withdrew his personal equipment and weapon. Then, with an athleticism he didn’t feel, Harry used an inner handhold to swing outside. On either side of his aeroshell, the terrain rose several meters in elevation, forming a shallow canyon. His ‘chute was tangled in some stunted gray-green trees that bordered the drop zone. Knee high, rust-colored spiky grass poked up in between the fist-sized stones covering much of the ground. The breeze smelled wet and musty, but the ground appeared dry. A football field distant, Harry could make out another capsule, and began trotting over. It was supposed to be dusk on R’Bak, but the overcast diffused the light. Out of reflex, he checked his wristwatch, which rode alongside a new gadget doubling as a short-range radio and compass. Both were still set to SpinDog station time, adopted during the mission prep. He supposed he could check with Volo. It didn’t matter yet. Experience had taught the SEAL exactly what time it was. 

    The local hour is half past “your ass is in a sling.” My team is untested and outnumbered, the local population is mostly hostile, the wildlife carnivorous, and, in two years, the local star is going to approach its binary twin, boiling the oceans and scorching the land. Oh, and your extract off-planet depends entirely on mission success, so don’t screw up. 

    Welcome to R’Bak.  
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